# THE ROLE OF PARKIN IN MAINTAINING PROTEASOME ACTIVITY FOLLOWING ACUTE NEUROTOXIC INSULT

By

Theresa A. Lansdell

## A DISSERTATION

Submitted to Michigan State University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Pharmacology and Toxicology- Environmental Toxicology- Doctor of Philosophy

#### ABSTRACT

# THE ROLE OF PARKIN IN MAINTAINING PROTEASOME ACTIVITY FOLLOWING ACUTE NEUROTOXIC INSULT

By

#### Theresa A. Lansdell

The motor symptoms of Parkinson disease are primarily caused by the progressive degeneration of nigrostriatal dopamine neurons of the substantia nigra pars compacta. While these neurons are susceptible, tuberoinfundibular DA neurons are not affected. Exposure to the neurotoxicant 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahyropyridine (MPTP) results in a similar pattern of DA neuronal susceptibility. The recovery of tuberoinfundibular DA neurons is dependent upon the increased expression of parkin following MPTP exposure. Parkin is an E3 ligase that contains a ubiquitin like domain that can bind to the 26S proteasome and directly enhance its activity. The purpose of this dissertation was to test the hypothesis that increased parkin expression is both necessary and sufficient to maintain proteasome activity following oxidative insult by MPTP. MPTP caused similar oxidative damage to proteins in regions containing axons terminals of nigrostiatal (striatum; ST) and tuberoinfundibular (median eminence; ME) DA neurons, however proteasome activity followed the differential pattern of parkin expression and was decreased in the ST and maintained in the ME. The ST of parkin knockout mice had decreased proteasome activity, accumulation of ubiquitinated TH, and increased oxidatively modified proteins, while these were not affected in the ME. Proteasome activity in the ME of parkin deficient mice was decreased following MPTP but oxidatively modified proteins were not changed in either the ME or ST. To determine if parkin up-regulation could rescue proteasome activity following exposure to MPTP, rAAV expressing Flag-tagged human parkin was injected

into the substantia nigra containing cell bodies of nigrostriatal DA neurons and proteasome activity was measured 24 h post MPTP. Parkin overexpression in the substantia nigra increased basal proteasome activity and prevented MPTP-induced loss of proteasome activity in the ST. rAAV-mediated parkin expression resulted in activation of 26S proteasome activity that was due to an increase in the amount of assembled 26S proteasome. Furthermore, increased parkin expression resulted in the rescue of proteasome mediated turnover of ubiquitinated TH. Although parkin over-expression was not sufficient to rescue NSDA axon terminal DA stores following MPTP exposure, DA turnover was decreased. The data presented here reveal that parkin is necessary and sufficient for the maintenance of 26S proteasome activity in dopaminergic axon terminal regions following acute MPTP exposure. Over-expression of parkin may be beneficial in protecting nigrostriatal DA neurons from cytosolic DA related oxidative damage. In addition, the discovery of small molecules that positively modulate the 26S proteasome may have potential therapeutic applications in the treatment of Parkinson disease. This dissertation is dedicated in loving memory to my father, Robert H. Lansdell. Thank you for always having my back.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This dissertation would not have been possible without the support and encouragement of many people, and I would like to extend my deepest gratitude to each of them. I would first like to thank my committee Dr. Keith Lookingland, Dr. John Goudreau, Dr. Rick Neubig, and Dr. A.J. Robison. My success had so much to do with each of your unique contributions to my committee. To my advisors, Dr. Keith Lookingland, and Dr. John Goudreau; Thank you for the opportunity to do research in your lab. I have learned so much about being an academic researcher from both of you. I especially want to thank Keith for all the time spent helping me overcome my fears of public speaking and in helping me become a better writer. I may have complained and stomped my feet on occasion, but I was always grateful for your help and encouragement.

To all of my past and present labmates, we had some great times. You were also my toughest audience. Thank you for never letting me go forward unprepared! To Brittany Winner, thank you for always standing up for who you are and what you believe. I have taken away many lessons from you.

I could not have made it through graduate school without the love and support of my friends and family. To Jetze, my husband and best friend, how can I ever thank you for your love and support as I spent the many long days in the lab and late nights studying? You never complained. You listened and gave perspective more times than I can count. I am so lucky to have you by my side. To my children, Lucas and Danielle, your shining faces make me smile every day. Thank you for hanging in there, and helping out. I love you both to the moon and back.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF TABLES	ix
LIST OF FIGURES	x
KEY TO ABBREVIATIONS	xiv
Chapter 1. General Introduction	1
Parkinson Disease	1
Dopamine (DA) Neuronal Pathways in the Brain	2
Synthesis of DA and Regulation of Tyrosine Hydroxylase	
Release and Reuptake of DA	7
Basal Ganglia Circuitry and Control of Voluntary Movement	9
Current Therapies for PD	
Pathological Hallmarks of PD	
Etiology of PD	
Environmental Factors	
Genetic Factors	
PD and Oxidative Stress	
Mitochondrial Dysfunction	
Abnormal DA Metabolism	
Abnormal Protein Aggregation	
MPTP is a DA Neuron Specific Neurotoxicant	
MPP <sup>+</sup> is a Redox Cycler	
<i>MPP</i> <sup>+</sup> Inhibits Complex I of the Mitochondria	
MPP <sup>+</sup> and DA Toxicity	
MPP <sup>+</sup> is a Competitive Inhibitor of MAO-B	
MPP <sup>+</sup> and UPS Dysfunction	
MPTP and Differential Susceptibility of Central DA Neurons	
Parkin	
Goal of Dissertation and Experimental Paradigm	
Summary	
Thesis Objective	
REFERENCES	59
Chapter 2. Material and Methods	
Animals	
Drugs and Administration	
Single Acute MPTP	
NSD-1015	
Levodopa/Benserazide	
Ketamine/Xylazine	
Tissue Preparation	
Neurochemical Analyses	

Synaptosome Lysate Preparation	
Proteasome Peptidase Activity Assays	
Native Gel Electrophoresis, in Gel Proteasome Assay and Corresponding	
Western Blot	
Denaturing Western Blots	
Immunoprecipitation	
Immunohistochemistry	
Stereotaxic Surgery	
Behavioral Analyses	100
Statistical Analyses	102
KEFERENCES	104
Chanter 3 TIDA and NSDA avon terminals are differentially suscentible to	9
single acute MPTP exposure	<b>a</b> 106
Introduction	106
Results	108
Differential Responses of Phenotypic Markers in the ST and ME Following	
a Single Injection of MPTP	108
Direct Effects of MPTP and MPP <sup>+</sup> on Proteasome Activity	114
Differential Effects of MPTP on Proteasome Activity	118
Characterization of Decreased Proteasome Activity in the ST Following	
MPTP Exposure	118
Discussion	127
Conclusion	133
REFERENCES	135
Chapter 4. Parkin is necessary to maintain proteasome activity in the ST	144
Introduction	144
Results	145
Park2 <sup>-/-</sup> Mice do not Express Parkin	145
Park2 <sup>-/-</sup> Mice have Decreased Proteasome Activity in the ST but not the ME	147
Clearance of Oxidatively Damaged Proteins in the ST is Dependent upon Par	rkin
Expression	149
The ME of Park2 <sup></sup> Mice is Susceptible to Neurotoxic Insult	149
<i>TH Turnover in the ST of Park2<sup></sup> Mice</i>	152
Discussion	160
Conclusion	164
REFERENCES	165
Chapter 5. Parkin is sufficient to maintain proteasome activity in the ST foll	owing
MPTP exposure	170
Introduction	170
Results	173
Parkin Enhances Proteasome Activity in Vitro	173
Characterization of rAAV Vector Expression in the ST and SN	176

Proteasome Activity in the ST is Enhanced with rAAV2/5 Mediated Over-	184
expression of F-hParkin in the SN	176
rAAV2/5 Mediated Over-expression of F-hParkin Abrogates the Accumulation	ı of
pSer40-TH and Increases TH Activity in the Park2 <sup>-/-</sup> ST	183
Over-expression of F-hParkin does not Rescue DA Stores Following MPTP	
Exposure	186
Discussion	190
Conclusion	196
REFERENCES	198
	20.4
Chapter 6. General Discussion and Concluding Remarks	204
General Discussion	204
MPTP Paradigm	204
Regarding the Use of Park2 <sup>+-</sup> Mice	206
Oxidative Stress, Parkin, and Proteasome Dynamics	207
The Role of Decreased Proteasome Activity in the Degeneration of	
DA Neurons	210
Neuronal Activity and Oxidative Damage	212
Mitochondrial Dysfunction and Decreased Proteasome Activity	216
AAV Mediated F-hParkin Over-expression and Maintenance of Proteasome	
Activity in NSDA Neurons	
Parkin and Recovery of DA in the ST Following MPTP Fyposure	219
Model of ROS Induced Parkin Expression and Maintenance of Proteasome	
Activity	223
Concluding Domonius	223
Concluding Kemarks	223
KEFERENCES	228
APPENDICES	236
APPENDIX A GAIT ANALYSES	237
APPENDIX B MPTP TIMES COURSE IN WT AND PARK2 <sup>-/-</sup> MICE	249
REFERENCES	257

# LIST OF TABLES

Table 1-1	PARK designated PD related loci and associated genes	20
Table 1-2	Common variant risk loci for PD	22
Table 2-1	Description of primary antibodies	96
Table 2-1	Description of secondary antibodies	97
Table A1	Treatment groups for F-hParkin over-expression and gait analysis	241

# LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1-1	Location of major DA pathways in the brain	3
Figure 1-2	DA metabolism in NSDA neurons	5
Figure 1-3	Phosphorylation of Ser residues in the N-terminus of TH controls the catalytic activity and intracellular stability of TH	6
Figure 1-4	The basal ganglia in normal and PD brains	10
Figure 1-5	Pathological hallmarks of PD	15
Figure 1-6	The electron transport chain	26
Figure 1-7	Metabolism or oxidation of cytosolic DA	32
Figure 1-8	Cellular pathways that regulate the presence of misfolded proteins	37
Figure 1-9	The ubiquitin proteasome system (UPS)	40
Figure 1-10	The 26S proteasome	42
Figure 1-11	Bioactivation of MPTP and the effects of $\mathbf{MPP}^+$ on $\mathbf{DA}$ neurons	45
Figure 1-12	<b>MPP<sup>+</sup></b> is structurally related to paraquat and is also subject t redox cycling	<b>o</b> 46
Figure 2-1	Coronal brain sections showing the localization of the micro- punches used to dissect the ST and SN	89
Figure 2-2	Coronal brain sections showing the localization of the ME dissection and ARC micropunch	90
Figure 2-3	Localization of ipsilateral and contralateral stereotaxic injections into the SN	. 101
Figure 3-1	Effect of MPTP on DA and DOPAC concentrations in the ST and ME	. 110
Figure 3-2	Effect of MPTP on the amount and activity of TH in the ST and ME	. 111

Figure 3-3	Effect of MPTP on protein carbonylation in the ST and ME	113
Figure 3-4	Effect of MPTP on parkin protein expression in the ST and ME	115
Figure 3-5	Effect of MPTP and MPP <sup>+</sup> on proteasome activity <i>in vitro</i>	116
Figure 3-6	Effect of DA and its metabolites on proteasome activity <i>in vitro</i>	117
Figure 3-7	Regional effects of MPTP on proteasome activity in the ST, SN, ARC, and ME	119
Figure 3-8	Effects of MPTP on proteasome activity in the P1 and P2 fractions of the ST homogenate	120
Figure 3-9	Effect of MPTP on CT-L, Casp-L, and T-L proteasome activity in the ST	122
Figure 3-10	Effect of MPTP on accumulation of ubiquitinated proteins in the ST	123
Figure 3-11	Effect of MPTP on CT-L catalytic subunit $\beta 5$ expression in the ST and ME	125
Figure 3-12	Effect of MPTP on the amount of assembled 26S and 20S proteasome in the ST	126
Figure 3-13	Effect of MPTP on Nrf1 stabilization in the SN	128
Figure 4-1	Expression of parkin in the ST and ME of C57BL/6J and Park2 <sup>-/-</sup> mice	146
Figure 4-2	Proteasome activity in the ST and ME of C57BL/6J and Park2 <sup>-/-</sup> mice	148
Figure 4-3	Proteasome activity in the P1 and P2 fractions of C57BL/6J and Park2 <sup>-/-</sup> ST homogenates	150
Figure 4-4	Protein carbonylation in the ST and ME of C57BL/6J and Park2 <sup>-/-</sup> mice	151
Figure 4-5	Proteasome activity in the ST and ME of MPTP treated C57BL/6J and Park2 <sup>-/-</sup> mice	153

Figure 4-6	<b>Protein carbonylation in the ST and ME of MPTP treated</b> C57BL/6J and Park2 <sup>-/-</sup> mice
Figure 4-7	TH and pSer40-TH in the ST of C57BL/6J and Park2 <sup>-/-</sup> mice 155
Figure 4-8	DA, DOPAC, and DOPAC to DA ratio in the ST of C57BL/6J and Park2 <sup>-/-</sup> mice
Figure 4-9	DOPA accumulation in the ST of NSD-1015 treated C57BL/6J and Park2 <sup>-/-</sup> mice
Figure 4-10	Ubiquitinated TH in the ST of C57BL/6J and Park2 <sup>-/-</sup> mice 159
Figure 5-1	<i>Effect of 6His-Parkin on in vitro</i> proteasome activity174
Figure 5-2	The effect of 6His-Parkin on proteasome impairment by MPP <sup>+</sup> 175
Figure 5-3	F-hParkin plasmid vector construct
Figure 5-4	Immunohistochemical characterization of rAAV2/5 mediated gene expression in the SN
Figure 5-5	Effect of F-hParkin over-expression in the SN on proteasome activity in the ST
Figure 5-6	Effect of F-hParkin over-expression in the SN on CT-L, Casp-L and T-L proteasome activity in the ST
Figure 5-7	Effect of F-hParkin over-expression in the SN on CT-L, Casp-L And T-L proteasome activity in the ST of MPTP treated mice 182
Figure 5-8	<b>Effect of F-hParkin over-expression in the SN on proteasome assembly and activity in the ST of mice treated with MPTP</b> 184
Figure 5-9	Effect of F-hParkin over-expression in the SN on the accumulation of TH in the ST lf C57BL/6J and Park2 <sup>-/-</sup> mice
Figure 5-10	Effect of F-hParkin over-expression in the SN on DA, DOPAC, and the DOPAC to DA ratio in the ST of C57BL/6J and Park2 <sup>-/-</sup> mice
Figure 5-11	Effect of F-hParkin over-expression in the SN on TH activity in the ST of C57BL/6J and Park2 <sup>-/-</sup> mice

Figure 5-12	Effect of F-hParkin over-expression in the SN on TH activity in the ST of C57BL/6J and Park2 <sup>-/-</sup> mice treated with MPTP 189
Figure 5-13	Effect of F-hParkin over-expression in the SN on DA turnover in the ST of mice treated with MPTP191
Figure 6-1	Model of oxidative stress and proteasome dynamics
Figure 6-2	Model of ROS induced parkin expression, maintenance of proteasome activity, and prevention of protein aggregation 224
Figure A1	The digigait signals
Figure A2	Effect of parkin deficiency on gait variability
Figure A3	Unilateral changes in paw overlap distance and paw placement positioning
Figure A4	Effect of F-hParkin over-expression on gait variability248
Figure B1	<b>Temporal effect of MPTP on ST neurochemistry</b>
Figure B2	Effect of parkin deficiency on the amount of TH 255
Figure B3	<b>Temporal effect of MPTP on CT-L proteasome activity in</b> <b>the ST</b> 256
Figure B4	Temporal effects of MPTP on the amount of 20S and 26S proteasome in the ST

# **KEY TO ABBREVIATIONS**

AADC	Aromatic amino acid decarboxylase
AAV	Adeno-associated virus
AC	Adenylate cyclase
ADP	Adenosine diphosphate
AIPM2	Aminoacyl-tRNA synthase interacting multifunctional protein type 2
ALDH	Aldehyde dehydrogenase
ALP	Autophagy lysosome pathway
ANOVA	Analysis of variance
ARC	Arcuate nucleus
AR-JP	Autosomal recessive juvenile Parkinson disease
ATP	Adenosine triphosphate
ATP13A2	ATPase type 13A2
BCA	Bicinchchonic acid
Casp-L	Caspase-like activity of the proteasome
СМА	Chaparone mediated autophagy
CNS	Central nervous system
COMT	Catechol O-methyl transferase
CPu	Caudate-Putamon
CT-L	Chymotryptic-like activity of the proteasome
2,4-D	2-4-dichlorophenoxyacetic acid
DA	Dopamine

DAergic	Dopaminergic
DAT	Dopamine transporter
DDT	dichloro-diphenyl-trichloro-ethane
DHP	1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,4-dihydropyridine
DJ-1	Parkinsonism Associated Deglycase
DOPA	Dihydroxyphenylalanine
DOPAC	3,4-dihydroxyphenylacetic acid
DOPAL	3,4-dihydroxyphenylacetaldehyde
EIF4G1	Eukaryotic translation initiation factor 4 gamma 1
ETC	Electron transport chain
FBP1	Fuse binding protein 1
FCx	Frontal cortex
F-hParkin	Flag-tagged human parkin
FBX07	F-box only protein 7
GABA	Gamma-amino butyric acid
GAPDH	Glyceraldehyde phosphate dehydrogenase
Glu	Glutamate
GPex	Globus pallidus externa
GPi	Globus pallidus interna
GSH	reduced glutathione
GSSG	oxidized glutathione
Hsc70	Heat shock protein 70
HNE	Hydroxy-2-nonenal

HTRA2	High temperature requirement protein A2
HVA	Homovanillic acid
hParkin	Human parkin
HPLC-ED	High pressure liquid chromatography coupled to electro-detection
IBR	In between RING
IHC	Immunohistochemistry
Κ	Lysine
Lamp-2A	Lysosomal Associated Membrane Protein 2A
LAT-1	Large neutral amino acid transporter 1
LC3	Microtubule-associated protein 1A/1B-light chain 3
Levodopa	Levo-dihydroxyphenylalanine
L-Tyr	L-tyrosine
LRRK2	Leucine rich repeak kinase 2
Maneb	Manganese ethylenebis-dithiocarbamate
MAO-B	Monoamine oxidase-B
MCDA	Mesocortical dopamine
ME	Median eminence
MLDA	Mesolimbic dopamine
MPDP	1-methyl-4-phenyl-2,3-dihydropyridine
$MPP^+$	1-methyl-4-phenylpyridinium
MPPP	1-methyl-4-phenyl-4-propionoxypiperidine
MPTP	1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine
MSN	Medium spiny neuron

MT	microtubule
3-MT	3-methoxytyramine
NAc	Nucleus accumbens
NADH	Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide
NS	Nigrostriatal
NSD-1015	3-hydroxybenylhydrazine
NSDA	Nigrostriatal dopamine
OCT3	Organic Cation Transporter 3
P <sub>i</sub>	Inorganic phosphate
Paris	Parkin interacting substrate
Park2	parkin gene
Park2 <sup>-/-</sup>	Parkin knockout mouse Park2 <sup>tm1Shn</sup>
PD	Parkinson disease
PINK1	PTEN putative induced kinase
РКА	Protein kinase A
PLA2G6	Phospholipase A2 Group VI
PGC-1a	Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-Y-coactivator-1a
PRL	Prolactin
rAAV	Recombinant adeno-associated virus
RING	Really interesting new gene
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
Ser	Serine
SN	Substantia nigra

SNc	Substantia nigra pars compacta
SNCA	alpha synuclein gene
SNr	Substantia nigra reticulata
SOD1	Superoxide dismutase 1
DOS2	Superoxide dismutase 2
ST	Striatum
STN	Subthalamic nucleus
TH	Tyrosine hydroxylase
TH-ir	Tyrosine hydroxylase immunoreactivity
TI	Tuberoinfundibular
TIDA	Tuberoinfundibular dopamine
T-L	Trypsin-like proteasome activity
UCH-L1	Ubiquitin C-terminal hydrolase-L1
Ub	Ubiquitin
UPS	Ubiquitin proteasome system
VMAT-2	Vesicular monoamine transporter 2
VPS35	Vacuolar protein sorting 35 homolog
VTA	Ventral tegmental area

## **Chapter 1. General Introduction**

## **Parkinson Disease**

Parkinson disease (PD) is the second most common neurodegenerative disease after Alzheimer's disease and affects approximately seven million people worldwide and nearly one million people in the United States (Parkinson's Disease Foundation, 2017a). The disease is categorically an age-related disease. The mean age of onset is about 65 years and is rare before the age of 50 (Pringsheim, Jette, Frolkis, & Steeves, 2014). In the United States, PD affects approximately 0.3% of the entire population, but with aging, the prevalence of PD increases. Prevalence increases to 1% for those individuals over the age of 60 (de Lau & Breteler, 2006; Pringsheim et al., 2014).and affects 3.5% of those between the ages of 85 and 89 (Benito-Leon et al., 2003; Bharucha, Bharucha, Bhise, & Schoenberg, 1988; C. C. Chen et al., 2009; Clarke & Moore, 2007; Claveria et al., 2002; de Lau & Breteler, 2006; de Rijk et al., 1995; de Rijk et al., 1997; Fall et al., 1996; S. C. Li et al., 1985; Morgante et al., 2008). As our aging population demographics shift to a more advanced age, we can expect to see the prevalence of neurodegenerative diseases such as PD rise (de Lau & Breteler, 2006; Pringsheim et al., 2014)

The primary symptoms of PD are motor in nature and include slowness of movement (bradykinesia), resting tremor, rigidity, and impaired balance and coordination (Fahn, 2003). While PD is thought of as a motor disease, many patients experience a range of non-motor symptoms that include decreased ability to smell (hyposmia), sleep disturbances, depression, constipation and other autonomic dysfunctions (Fahn, 2003). In many cases, the appearance of these non-motor symptoms can precede the appearance of motor symptoms (Parkinson's Disease Foundation, 2017b). In patients with advanced disease there may be neuropsychiatric symptoms that include dementia, hallucinations and risk-taking behavior (Aarsland et al., 1999). The onset

of PD for each patient has varied onset of symptomology and disease severity. Disease progression may be slow for one patient and rapid for another (Parkinson's Disease Foundation, 2017b).

#### **Dopamine (DA) Neuronal Pathways in the Brain**

There are four major dopaminergic (DA)ergic neuronal populations in the brain (Figure 1-1). Mesolimbic DA neurons originate in the ventral tegmental area and project to the nucleus accumbens and regulate reward, motivation, reinforcement learning, and fear (Felten & Shetty, 2010). Mesocortical DA neurons also originate in the ventral tegmental area but project to the frontal cortex where DA innervation is involved in cognitive control, motivation and emotional response (Felten & Shetty, 2010). Tuberoinfundibular (TI) DA neurons originate in the arcuate nucleus (ARC) and terminate in the median eminence (ME) and are involved in the regulation of prolactin secretion (Felten & Shetty, 2010). TIDA neurons are not affected in PD (Braak & Braak, 2000; J. W. Langston & Forno, 1978). Both the MLDA and MCDA neurons are affected in PD, but to a lesser extent than nigrostriatal (NS) DA neurons which originate in the substantia nigra pars compacta (SN) and terminate in the striatum (ST) (Fearnley & Lees, 1991). NSDA neurons are severely affected in PD and it is the loss of these neurons that results in the loss of the ability to initiate movement (Dauer & Przedborski, 2003).

NSDA neuronal degeneration results in reduced DA innervation to the ST and thus, loss of neurotransmission to the basal ganglia circuitry that controls the initiations of movement. Following the loss of approximately 85% of NSDA neurons, motor symptoms begin to appear and include: slowness of movement (bradykinesia), resting tremor, rigidity, and impaired balance and coordination (Bernheimer, Birkmayer, Hornykiewicz, Jellinger, & Seitelberger, 1973; Cheng, Ulane, & Burke, 2010; Fahn, 2003).



**Figure 1-1 Location of major DA pathways in the brain.** NSDA neurons (Red) cell bodies are located in the SNc and project to the ST. TIDA neurons (blue) have cell bodies in the the(Bernheimer et al., 1973) ARC and project to the ME. Mesocortical and Mesolimbic DA neurons (green) project from the Ventral tegmental area to the NAc or to the FCx Abbreviations: NSDA, nigrostriatal dopamine; SN, substantia nigra pars compacta; TIDA, tuberoinfundibular dopamine; ARC, arcuate nucleus; ME, median eminence; VTA, ventral tegmental area; NAc, nucleus accumbens; FCx, frontal cortex. Image modified from Sagital Section of Human Brain (Anatomy Chart Body, 2016).

## Synthesis of DA and Regulation of Tyrosine Hydroxylase

NSDA neurons function to synthesize DA and release it into the ST where it modulates the basal ganglia circuitry (Hersch et al., 1995). The synthesis and release of DA is depicted in **Figure 1-2**. L-tyrosine (L-Tyr) from the diet is actively transported across the blood brain barrier and into the DA neuron by the large amino acid transporter, LAT-1(Kageyama, Imura, Matsuo, Minato, & Shimohama, 2000). Once in the cytosol, L-Tyr is converted to L-DOPA by tyrosine hydroxylase (TH), the biopterin dependent and rate-limiting enzyme for DA synthesis (Levitt, Spector, Sjoerdsma, & Udenfriend, 1965). L-DOPA is decarboxylated by aromatic Lamino acid decarboxylase (AADC) to produce DA (Jonkers, Sarre, Ebinger, & Michotte, 2001). Cytosolic DA is transported by the vesicular monoamine transporter (VMAT2) into the synaptic vesicle, where it is sequestered until an action potential signals its release into the DA synapse (Lohr & Miller, 2014).

The hydroxylation of L-Tyr by TH is dependent upon the cofactors tetrahydrobiopterin and molecular oxygen (LeWitt et al., 1984; K. M. Roberts & Fitzpatrick, 2013). The enzyme exists as a tetramer covalently trapping ferrous iron at the active sites (Ramsey, Hillas, & Fitzpatrick, 1996). While one of the oxygen atoms is used to hydroxylate L-Tyr, the other is used to hydroxylate tetrahydrobiopterin (K. M. Roberts & Fitzpatrick, 2013). The activity of TH is tightly regulated at both the transcriptional and post-transcriptional level (**Figure 1-3**; allosteric control, covalent modifications, and protein-protein interactions). Short-term regulation of TH occurs via multiple serine phosphorylations of the N-terminal regulatory domain (Nakashima et al., 2011). Ser19 phosphorylation does not directly affect TH activity, but this phosphorylation must be in place before TH is phosphorylated at Ser40 (Dunkley, Bobrovskaya, Graham, von Nagy-Felsobuki, & Dickson, 2004). Ser40 phosphorylation significantly increases TH activity



**Figure 1-2 DA metabolism in NSDA neurons.** L-Tyr is transported by LAT-1 into the DA neuron and is hydroxylated by TH to form DOPA. DOPA is decarboxylated by AADC to produce DA. Cytosolic DA is packaged into vesicles by VMAT2. An action potential causes the release of DA into the synapse where it binds to  $D_1R$  or  $D_2R$ . Synaptic DA is taken back up into the DA neuron by DAT and is either repackaged into DA vesicles or is metabolized. DA is deaminated by MAO-B to form DOPAL, which is oxidized by ALDH to form DOPAC. Abbreviations: L-Tyr, L-tyrosine; LAT-1, large amino acid transporter; NSDA, nigrostriatal dopamine; SNc, substantia nigra pars compacta; TIDA, tuberoinfundibular dopamine; ARC, arcuate nucleus; ME, median eminence; TH, tyrosine hydroxylase; DOPA, dihydroxyphenylalanine; AADC, aromatic amino acid decarboxylase; DA, dopamine; DAT, dopamine transporter; MAO-B, monoamine oxidase B; DOPAL, dihydroxyphenylacetyladehyde; ALDH, aldehyde dehydrogenase; DOPAC, dihydroxyphenylacetic acid. Image made using Servier (Les Laboratoires, 2017).



**Figure 1-3** Phosphorylation of Ser residues in the N-terminus of TH controls the catalytic activity and intracellular stability of TH. In the inactive state, DA traps Fe (III) at the catalytic site, rendering the enzyme inactive. Phosphorylation of Ser19 allows the phosphorylation of Ser40 allowing the release of DA and binding of Fe (II) to the catalytic site. Ser19 and Ser31 phosphorylation promote the degradation of TH by the ubiquitin proteasome system. Abbreviations: TH, tyrosine hydroxylase; S19, Serine 19; S31, Serine 31; S40, Serine 40. Figure adapted from Nakashima et al. (2011).

because it relieves feedback inhibition by cytosolic DA. DA traps the active-site iron in the ferric state, which prevents enzymatic activity (Muga, Arrondo, Martinez, Flatmark, & Haavik, 1998). Ser40 phosphorylated TH is also regulated by the ubiquitin proteasome system (UPS) as inhibition of the proteasome results in increased abundance of phosphorylated Ser40 TH (Doskeland & Flatmark, 2002; Nakashima et al., 2011).

## Release and Reuptake of DA

Once released into the synapse, DA can bind to several different receptors located on either the presynaptic terminal or on the post synaptic neuron. Binding of DA to D2 autoreceptors results in a negative feedback loop that results in both decreased TH activity and decreased release of DA (Timmerman, De Vries, & Westerink, 1990; Westerink & de Vries, 1989). Binding to postsynaptic DA receptors can either activate or inhibit the GABAergic medium spiny neuron depending on the type of DA receptor that is present.

DA receptors are G-protein coupled receptors (Boyd & Mailman, 2012). Based on their ability to stimulate adenylate cyclase (AC) via  $G\alpha_s$  coupling, or inhibit AC via  $G\alpha_{i/o}$  coupling, DA receptors are considered either D1-like or D2-like. D<sub>1</sub>-like receptors (D1R) are coupled to  $G\alpha_s$  (Beaulieu & Gainetdinov, 2011). Binding of DA to D1R stimulates AC and elevates cyclic adenosine monophosphate and activates protein kinase A (PKA). PKA phosphorylates ion channels, which allows sodium ions to enter the neuron and increases the chance of the channels opening, and increases the chances of setting off an action potential. Conversely, DA binding to D2-like receptors (D2R) results in the inhibition of AC and decreases the chances of setting off an action potential (Beaulieu & Gainetdinov, 2011). Most medium spiny neurons in the ST

express either D1R or D2R however, a small proportion express both D1R and D2R (Hersch et al., 1995; Surmeier et al., 1996).

Synaptic DA levels from NSDA neurons are modulated by two neuronal activity states: tonic and phasic transmission (Rice, Patel, & Cragg, 2011). Tonic transmission is related to slow irregular release of small amounts of DA into the extracellular space where it is metabolized by catechol-O-methyl transferase (COMT) either in or on glial cells<sup>1</sup> (J. Chen et al., 2011; Schott et al., 2010). Tonic DA firing is not driven by action potentials but by L-type calcium channel dependent pacemaker-like membrane currents that maintains a constant background level of DAergic activity. Electrochemical studies indicate that the small amount of extracellular DA that is released is not enough to activate post-synaptic neurons but is enough to bind to and activate presynaptic autoreceptors and decrease phasic DA release (May & Wightman, 1989; Suaud-Chagny, Ponec, & Gonon, 1991). Phasic DA transmission is caused by burst spike firing in response to an action potential. Unlike tonic release of DA, phasic release of DA results in synaptic DA that can cross the synapse and binds to postsynaptic DA receptors.

NSDA neurons remove DA from the synapse by reuptake into the presynaptic neuron by the DA transporter (DAT) or by low affinity high volume transport (Cass, Zahniser, Flach, & Gerhardt, 1993; Giros, Jaber, Jones, Wightman, & Caron, 1996; Hensler et al., 2013; Jaber, Jones, Giros, & Caron, 1997). Once back in the cytosol, VMAT2 can transport DA back into the synaptic vesicle for later release, or cytosolic DA can be metabolized by monoamine oxidase B (MAO-B) to DOPAL and subsequently by aldehyde dehydrogenase to the less toxic metabolite,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Controversy exists as to the orientation of COMT on postsynaptic neurons and glial cells. Data by Chen et al. support COMT being oriented outward on the membrane and acting extracellularly on synaptic and extracellular DA. However, data by Schott et al. support COMT being oriented inward suggesting DAT dependent uptake and degradation of DA by COMT.

DOPAC (Marchitti, Deitrich, & Vasiliou, 2007). DOPAC is then metabolized by glial COMT to homovanillic acid (HVA) which is sulfated by Phase II conjugation and excreted. Alternatively, DA that is not taken back up by the neuron can be metabolized to 3-methoxytyramine (3-MT) by glial COMT which is subsequently metabolized to HVA by MAO-B (Mannisto et al., 1992).

#### **Basal Ganglia Circuitry and Control of Voluntary Movement**

The basal ganglia circuitry (**Figure 1-4, Left panel**) enables the initiation of learned motor programs that are stored in the motor cortex. The basal ganglia are a group of brain nuclei that include the ST, globus pallidus (internal and external; GPi and GPex), SN (pars reticulata and pars compacta; SNr and SNc) and the subthalamic nucleus (STN). These nuclei are interconnected to form the basal ganglia circuitry within the cerebral cortex, the thalamus, the midbrain and specific brainstem nuclei.

The ST is the main recipient of excitatory input from several areas of the cortex and sends output to nuclei within the basal ganglia. Major output nuclei in the basal ganglia circuitry include the internal segment of the GPi and the SNr. Outputs from the GPi and SNr make GABAergic inhibitory connections to their target nuclei in the thalamus that prevent the excitation of cortical neurons that would otherwise initiate movement.

The inputs to the ST are received by the medium spiny neurons. Medium spiny neurons are of two types: those that project directly to the GPi and modulate the so-called direct pathway, and those that project to the GPex and establish an indirect pathway to the GPi, via the STN, and modulate the so-called indirect pathway. The direct and indirect pathways have opposite net effects on their respective thalamic target structures.



**Figure 1-4 The basal ganglia in normal and PD brains. Left panel,** Prior to the initiation of movement, the thalamus is inhibited directly and indirectly by GABA innervation from the GPi/SNr. Disinhibition occurs when DA is released from NSDA neurons. DA activates the direct pathway and inhibits the indirect pathway to initiate movement. **Right panel,** Loss of NSDA neurons in PD results in loss of DA innervation to the ST. Decreased activation of the direct pathway and increased activation of the indirect pathway leads to continued inhibition of the thalamus and an inability to initiate movement. Abbreviations: GABA, gamma-aminobutyric acid; GPi, globus pallidus interna; SNr, substantia nigra reticulata; DA, dopamine; NSDA, nigrostriatal dopamine; STN, subthalamic nucleus; GPex, globus pallidus externa; Glu, glutamate.

Activation of the direct pathway excites thalamic neurons that make excitatory connections onto cortical neurons. In the direct pathway, striatal neurons are excited, and when they fire, they inhibit GPi firing which is tonically inhibiting its target in the thalamus. Inhibition of GPi firing to the thalamus results in disinhibition and further excitation of cortical neurons (Pollack, 2001).

Activation of the indirect pathway has an inhibitory effect on thalamic neurons and prevents excitation of cortical neurons. In the indirect pathway, excitatory neurons originating in the STN act to increase GABAergic firing from the GPi. However, GABAergic neurons from the GPex prevent the subthalamic neurons from firing and make the thalamus more active. When neurons from the ST are firing, they inhibit the GPex and disinhibit the subthalamic neurons. With the subthalamic neurons free to fire, GPi neurons prevent the activation of the thalamus (Pollack, 2001).

NSDA neurons originate in the SNc and have long axons that project along the median forebrain bundle and terminate in the ST where they release DA and modulate the direct and indirect pathways. Post synaptic medium spiny neurons within the ST possess either D1R or D2R dopamine receptors (Surmeier, Ding, Day, Wang, & Shen, 2007). Medium spiny neurons with D1R modulate the direct pathway, while medium spiny neurons with D2R modulate the indirect pathway. Activation of the direct pathway results in disinhibition of the thalamus and facilitates movements while activation of the indirect pathway acts to further inhibit the thalamus and acts to inhibit movement (Pollack, 2001).

Depending on which receptor is present, the medium spiny neuron can modulate its respective pathway. Medium spiny neurons within the direct pathway expressing  $G\alpha_s$  coupled D1R are excited by DA while medium spiny neurons within the indirect pathway expressing

 $G\alpha_{iio}$  coupled D2R are inhibited by dopamine (Surmeier et al., 2007). In effect, DA released from NSDA neurons in the ST will activate the direct pathway and facilitate movement and will also inhibit the neurons of the indirect pathway, facilitating movement. In this regard, DA release in the ST is critical in the modulation of motor control. The loss of NSDA neurons results in basal ganglia circuitry that is tipped in favor of the indirect pathway resulting in inhibition of the motor cortex (**Figure 1-4, Right panel**).

## **Current Therapies for PD**

There is currently no cure for PD and despite our ever-growing aging population with an increased prevalence of PD there are limited therapies available. Current therapies of PD address the motor symptoms of PD, which are caused by the loss of NSDA innervation to the ST and resulting dysfunction of the basal ganglia circuitry. These therapies work by either replacing DA, protecting existing pools of DA from metabolism, or bypassing dopaminergic input to the basal ganglia circuitry all together by stimulating targets downstream of the degenerating NSDA neurons. These treatments are often effective in managing the motor symptoms of PD, however they do not prevent further neurodegeneration. Ongoing degeneration makes these treatments only temporarily effective.

Often patients with early disease progression are treated to prevent the metabolism of existing DA. MAO-B is the first enzyme involved in the metabolism of cytosolic DA. MAO-B converts DA to a toxic metabolite, DOPAL which is subsequently metabolized, as previously described, through several steps to homovanillic acid (HVA), a product that can be cleared by excretion. MAO-B inhibitors include selegiline and rasagiline (Engberg, Elebring, & Nissbrandt,

1991; Finberg, 2010). These drugs are well tolerated, but they are not as effective as treatment for more advanced disease.

Treatment of patients with the DA precursor levo-dihydroxyphenylalanine (levodopa) is a successful strategy in managing the motor symptoms of PD (LeWitt, 2015). Levodopa is administered in combination with a peripheral decarboxylase inhibitor such as carbidopa to prevent conversion of levodopa to DA before it can cross the blood brain barrier (Fermaglich, 1974). Levodopa crosses the blood brain barrier while the decarboxylase inhibitor cannot. Once in the brain, levodopa is decarboxylated by AADC to produce DA. The newly synthesized DA compensates for the lack of presynaptic DA in the ST and restores neurotransmission to the medium spiny neurons. While levodopa must be converted in the brain to DA by existing AADC, DA agonists mimic the effects of DA without the need to be metabolized. Current DA agonists used to treat PD include pramipexole, ropinerole, rotigotine, and apomorphine (Bennett & Piercey, 1999; Konta & Frank, 2008; Morgan & Sethi, 2006).

While both levodopa and DA agonist therapy are often highly effective in the treatment of the motor symptoms of PD, they do not abate NSDA neuron degeneration. As the disease progresses, both treatments lose their efficacy. Patients that have been on levodopa for greater than six years often experience motor fluctuations (Stocchi, Jenner, & Obeso, 2010). These patients find that their motor symptoms return before it is time for the next dose. One reason for this "wearing off" is that levodopa has a short half-life and as the disease progresses, there are fewer DA neurons to store the newly made DA (Reichmann & Emre, 2012). Because of this, the DA is more quickly catabolized and cleared from the brain. In addition to "wearing off", these drugs can have unwanted side effects such as dyskinesia, hallucinations, confusion and psychosis (Hersch et al., 1995; Surmeier, Song, & Yan, 1996).

For a limited group of patients with advanced progression of PD that have developed drug induced dyskinesias, surgical treatment is an option. This option is both expensive and invasive. Surgical treatment works by bypassing the degenerating NSDA neurons and directly stimulating the affected brain nuclei within the basal ganglia. In deep brain stimulation, a pulse generator, a device similar to a heart pacemaker, is surgically implanted into the patient's chest wall. The pulse generator sends small electrical currents through wires placed under the skin that lead to permanent electrodes that have been placed in the brain nuclei that are lacking the correct input due to the loss of NSDA neurons (GPi, thalamus or STN). By bypassing NSDA neurons, deep brain stimulation can restore normal neuronal activity downstream of the degenerating NSDA neurons (Almeida et al., 2017).

Protection of existing DA, DA replacement, and deep brain stimulation can all be effective treatments used in the management of motor symptoms caused by PD. Unfortunately, none of the available treatments prevent the ongoing degeneration of NSDA neurons. In developing new therapeutic strategies for the treatment of PD, it would be of great use to identify new targets that would aid in the prevention of further neuronal degeneration.

#### **Pathological Hallmarks of PD**

There are two major pathological findings in the brains of patients with PD (**Fig 1-5**): Depigmentation of the SNc and the presence of Lewy bodies and Lewy neurites (Braak & Braak, 2000). Loss of pigmentation in the SNc is caused by loss of NSDA neurons. NSDA neurons contain a darkly pigmented substance called neuromelanin and because of this the SNc normally appears dark in color (Sulzer & Surmeier, 2013). In patients who have NSDA neurodegeneration the loss of these pigmented neurons results in discoloration of the SNc. In most cases of PD,



Figure 1-5 Pathological hallmarks of PD. A and B, Pigmentation of the SN adapted from <u>http://emedicine.medscape.com</u>. The SN is darkly pigmented in a normal brain while loss of NSDA neurons results in depigmentation of the SN in the Parkinson's disease. C, Hemotoxylin and eosin staining of a Lewy body in the SN. D, Immunohistochemical staining for ubiquitin reveals a large amount of ubiquitin in the core of the Lewy body. E, Immunohisto-chemical staining for  $\alpha$ -synuclein reveals  $\alpha$ -synuclein in the halo of the Lewy body. Modified images from Olanow et al. (Olanow, Perl, DeMartino, & McNaught, 2004).

intracellular inclusion bodies, termed Lewy bodies, are present in the surviving neurons. Lewy bodies are intracytoplasmic proteinaceous inclusions that contain ubiquitinated proteins in its core and are enriched with the polymerized form of the presynaptic protein  $\alpha$ -synuclein. It is not clear if Lewy bodies play a role in killing or protecting the surviving neurons. However, the presence of Lewy bodies suggests that there is a disturbance in protein homeostasis and this disturbance could be an underlying mechanism for NSDA neuron loss.

#### **Etiology of PD**

The cause of PD is largely unknown, however it is thought that a combination of an individual's genetics and environmental exposures contribute in the etiology of this disease. Environmental risk factors include: rural living, consumption of well-water, exposure to pesticides and herbicides, and proximity to industrial plants or quarries (Wirdefeldt et al., 2011). In addition, there are approximately 16 genes that are associated with PD and cause either autosomal dominant or autosomal recessive forms of familial disease (Klein & Westenberger, 2012). The combination of known genetic and environmental factors suggests that some common pathogenic mechanisms exists across the spectrum of PD and are beginning to shed some light on some common themes in the pathogenesis of PD.

## Environmental Factors

Although at times inconsistent, results of epidemiological studies suggest an important role for environmental factors in the development of PD. Incidents of PD are associated with rural living, and the associated features of rural living such as consumption of well-water, gardening, and exposure to pesticides and herbicides (Barbeau, Roy, Bernier, Campanella, &

Paris, 1987; Wirdefeldt et al., 2011). Of all the chemical exposures that have been linked to PD, herbicides and pesticides have been the most widely reported. Meta-analyses of 89 studies found that exposure to pesticides may increase the risk for PD by 30 to 80% (Ahmed, Abushouk, Gabr, Negida, & Abdel-Daim, 2017; Pezzoli & Cereda, 2013; van der Mark et al., 2012). Furthermore, the increased risk associated with pesticides seems to increase with the amount and duration of exposure. Among these chemicals, exposure to rotenone, paraquat, dichlorodiphenyltrichloroethane (DDT), dieldrin and organophosphates have been extensively examined. Of 31 specific agricultural chemicals studied, only a few were found to increase the risk (Odds ratio = 2.5) of developing PD: paraquat, manganese ethylenebis-dithiocarbamate (Maneb) and rotenone (Tanner et al., 2011).

2-4-Dichlorophenoxyacetic acid (2,4-D) is one of the chemicals that comprise Agent Orange, a defoliant that was used in the Korean and Vietnam wars. Although it has not been definitively proven that Agent Orange can cause PD, the US Department of Veterans Affairs has determined that veterans with PD who served in Vietnam are eligible to receive disability compensation from the Veterans Administration (*Blue Water Navy Vietnam Veterans and Agent Orange Exposure*, 2011; "Parkinson's Disease and Agent Orange," 2016),

Besides agricultural exposure of pesticides and herbicides, other toxicants have been proposed to increase risk for PD. These include: polychlorinated biphenyls (Steenland et al., 2006; Weisskopf et al., 2012), solvents (Goldman et al., 2012; Pezzoli & Cereda, 2013; Segal, 2012), and air pollutants (Finkelstein & Jerrett, 2007; Genc, Zadeoglulari, Fuss, & Genc, 2012). Other studies suggest that there is a greater incidence of PD in urban areas that have high levels of industrial emissions of manganese and copper (A. W. Willis et al., 2010). In this vein, occupational exposure to several metals may be related to PD (Gorell et al., 1997; Gorell, Rybicki, Cole

Johnson, & Peterson, 1999). However, these studies on metal exposure are controversial because long-term exposure to metals is not easily measured and differences in methods may have caused inconsistencies from study to study.

There are some environmental exposures that appear to be protective for PD including: cigarette smoking (Kiyohara & Kusuhara, 2011; X. Li, Liu, Shen, & Tang, 2015) and caffeine consumption (Moccia et al., 2016; Palacios et al., 2012; Qi & Li, 2014). . There have been several case-control studies that demonstrate a clear dose-response relationship with cigarette smoking and the risk of developing PD (Benedetti et al., 2000; Gorell et al., 1999; Hellenbrand et al., 1997). However, it is possible that studies on the effects of smoking on PD are biased by selective survival of non-smokers. Regardless, smokers appear to have reduced MAO-B enzymatic activity in the brain and this might account for the protective effect of cigarette smoking (Fowler, Logan, Wang, & Volkow, 2003; Fowler et al., 1996). Consumption of caffeinated beverages is also closely associated with a reduced risk of developing PD (Hernan, Takkouche, Caamano-Isorna, & Gestal-Otero, 2002). The benefit of caffeine is believed to be due to antagonism of the A2A receptors in the brain. These receptors are highly localized to the basal ganglia specifically within the indirect pathway (Bogenpohl, Ritter, Hall, & Smith, 2012). Antagonists of the A2AR can modulate GABA and glutamate levels that act in the indirect pathway to modulate motor activity(Mori, 2014; Mori & Shindou, 2003).

#### Genetic Factors

Most PD cases are idiopathic in nature and have no known origin. Of these patients, only 10-15% report having a family history of PD (Gasser, 2007) and only 5-10% of PD cases are caused by Mendelian inheritance (Antony, Diederich, Kruger, & Balling, 2013). . Genetic factors
appear to be important when there is early onset of PD (before the age of 50). Early PD twin studies found low to similar concordance rates for monozygotic and dizygotic twins, which would suggest that genetics do not play a role in PD. However, in 16 pairs of twins that had been diagnosed with PD before the age of 50, all four monozygotic pairs and only 2 of the 12 dizygotic pairs were concordant (Tanner & Ben-Shlomo, 1999).

To date, about 18 distinct chromosomal regions that are associated with PD (PARK loci) have been identified (Klein & Westenberger, 2012) and of these loci, only six genes have been identified that cause monogenic forms of PD (**Table 1-1**). Mutations in two genes (alpha synuclein; SNCA, and the leucine-rich repeat kinase 2; LRRK2) cause autosomal dominant forms of PD. Mutation in the LRRK2 gene shows variable penetrance (30-70% at age 80 years) but is the most common cause of autosomal dominant PD (Paisan-Ruiz et al., 2004; Zimprich et al., 2004).

Expression of mutated LRRK2 causes alterations in macroautophagy leading to excess mitochondrial clearance that can be prevented by protein kinase A phosphorylation of LC3 (Cherra et al., 2010). Mutations in the SNCA are rare and include point mutations and whole locus multiplications (Polymeropoulos et al., 1997; A. Singleton & Hardy, 2011). Mutations in SNCA are fully penetrant, and cause rapid progressing disease with abundant Lewy body formation. This is important because  $\alpha$ -synuclein is the major component of Lewy bodies and Lewy bodies are present in both familial and sporadic forms of the disease. There appears to be a dose response relationship between SNCA gene dosage and disease severity (Ibanez et al., 2009; Ross et al., 2008). Patients with SNCA duplications commonly develop classical PD, while

Locus	Gene	Chromosome	Inheritance	Onset
		Position		
PARK1	SNCA	4q21-22	Autosomal Dominant	Early
PARK2	PRKN	6q25.2-q27	Autosomal Recessive	Early
PARK3	unknown	2p13	Autosomal Dominant	Early
PARK4	SNCA	4q21-q23	Autosomal Dominant	Early
PARK5	UCH-L1	4p13	Autosomal Dominant	Early
PARK6	PINK1	1р35-р36	Autosomal Recessive	Early
PARK7	DJ-1	1p36	Autosomal Recessive	Early
PARK8	LRRK2	12q12	Autosomal Dominant	Early
PARK9	ATP13A2	1p36	Autosomal Recessive	Early
PARK10	unknown	1p32	Risk Factor	Early
PARK11	unknown	2q36-27	Autosomal Recessive	Early
PARK12	unknown	Xq21-q25	Autosomal Recessive	Early
PARK13	HTRA2	2p12	Risk Factor	Early
PARK14	PLA2G6	22q13.1	Autosomal Recessive	Early
PARK15	FBX07	22q12-q13	Autosomal Recessive	Early
PARK16	unknown	1q32	Risk Factor	Late
PARK17	VPS35	16q11.2	Autosomal Dominant	Late
PARK18	EIF4G1	3q27.1	Autosomal Dominant	Late

**Table 1-1 PARK designated PD related loci and associated genes.** List of the genetic loci associated with PD with the corresponding gene name, type of inheritance, onset of symptoms, and chromosomal position. Abbreviations: SNCA, a-synuclein; PRKN, Parkin; UCH-L1, Ubiquitin Carboxy-Terminal Hydrolase-L1; PINK1, PTEN Induced Putative Kinase 1; LRRK2, leucine rich repeat kinase 2; ATP13A2, ATPase type 13A2; HTRA2, High Temperature requirement protein A2; PLA2G6, Phospholipase A2 Group VI; FBX07, F-box Only Protein 7; VPS35, Vacuolar Protein Sorting 35 Homolog; EIF4G1, Eukaryotic Translation Initiation Factor 4 Gamma 1. Modified from Klein et al. (2012).

patients carrying SNCA triplications have more severe disease (A. B. Singleton et al., 2003). Excess  $\alpha$ -synuclein results in oligomerization, fibrilization, and aggregation which interferes with neuronal homeostasis (Devine, Gwinn, Singleton, & Hardy, 2011).

Mutations in parkin, PTEN putative induced kinase (PINK1), and DJ-1 cause early onset autosomal recessive forms of PD (Bonifati et al., 2003; Fu, Huang, Lin, & Tsai, 2017; Heutink, 2006; Kitada et al., 1998; Valente et al., 2001), and mutations in ATP13A2, PLA2G6, and FBXO7 cause rarer forms of recessive parkinsonism (Di Fonzo et al., 2009; Ramirez et al., 2006; Shi et al., 2011). Mutations in parkin explain about half of all the familial cases of PD (Lucking et al., 2000). Patients with parkin mutations generally have early onset of disease (on average in their 30s) and the phenotype of disease is not distinguishable from those patients with mutations in PINK1 or DJ-1(Bonifati, 2012). Interestingly, these patients typically lack Lewy body pathology, which may highlight the idea that Lewy bodies serve a protective function (Matsumine, 1998). It is interesting to note that Parkin, PINK1, and DJ-1 are all mitochondrial related and involved in oxidative stress mechanisms (Corti et al., 2015).

In addition to monogenic forms of PD, there are over 20 common variants that are recognized to increase the risk for PD (**Table 1-2**). As previously noted, rare mutations in SNCA and LRRK2 cause familial PD. Common variability within SNCA is also associated with risk for sporadic PD {Kruger, 1999 #1540} (Kruger et al., 1999; Hernandez et al., 2016). For example, patients with the combination of the APOE4 allele and NACP allele 1 polymorphisms of the SNCA promoter have a 12.8 fold increased risk for developing PD (Choraki et al., 2014; Maraganore et al., 2006). Common variability within LRRK2 doubles the risk of developing PD (Di Fonzo et al., 2006).

			Odds
SNP	Chromosome	Nominated Gene	Ratio
rs35749011	1	GBA/SYT11	1.824
rs114138760	1	GBA/SYT11	1.586
rs823118	1	RAB7L1/NUCKS1	1.122
rs10797576	1	SIPA1L2	1.131
rs6430538	2	ACMSD/TMEM163	0.875
rs1474055	2	STK39	1.214
rs12637471	3	MCCC1	0.842
rs34311866	4	TMEM175/GAK/DGKQ	0.786
rs34884217	4	TMEM175/GAK/DGKQ	1.105
rs11724635	4	BST1	1.126
rs6812193	4	FAM47E/SCARB2	0.907
rs356182	4	SNCA	0.76
rs7681154	4	SNCA	0.934
rs9275326	6	HLA-DQB1	0.826
rs13201101	6	HLA-DQB1	1.217
rs199347	7	GPNMB	1.11
rs591323	8	FGF20	0.916
rs117896735	10	INPP5F	1.624
rs329648	11	MIR4697	1.105
rs76904798	12	LRRK2	1.155
rs11060180	12	CCDC62	1.105
rs11158026	14	GCH1	0.904
rs2414739	15	VPS13C	1.113
rs14235	16	BCKDK/STX1B	1.103
rs11868035	17	SREBF/RAI1	0.939
rs17649553	17	MAPT	0.769
rs12456492	18	RIT2	0.904
rs8118008	20	DDRGK1	1.111

**Table 1-2** Common variant risk loci for PD. List of the SNPs associated with PD with corresponding chromosome number, gene name, and odds ratio for the risk associated with developing PD (Hernandez et al., 2016).

Glucocerebrocidase is a gene associated with Gaucher's disease, a lysosomal storage disorder (Tsuji et al., 1987). Glucocerebrocidase is an enzyme required to breakdown glucocerebroside to ceramide. The knockdown of glucocerebrocidase results in the accumulation of  $\alpha$ -synuclein. Interestingly, some patients with Gaucher's disease also have parkinsonism (Tayebi et al., 2001). A single heterozygous mutation in the glucocerbrocidase gene increases the risk for developing PD by five fold (Nalls et al., 2013).

The precise cause and mechanism of PD pathogenesis is currently unknown and although monogenic forms of PD are rare in all PD cases, studying the gene mutations involved in familial PD may provide some insight into common pathways underlying NSDA neuronal degeneration. In fact, many of the genetic mutations and environmental exposures that may lead to onset of PD result in the disruption of overlapping molecular pathways.

## **PD and Oxidative Stress**

The exact cause of PD remains unknown. However, in both idiopathic and familial forms of PD, oxidative stress appears to be a common underlying mechanism that leads to NSDA neurodegeneration. Various pathogenic mechanisms are associated with NSDA neuronal degeneration including: mitochondrial dysfunction, increased DA synthesis, neuroinflammation, and impairment of the ubiquitin proteasome system (UPS). These mechanisms are all known to be involved in either the production of reactive oxygen species (ROS) or the removal of oxidatively damaged cellular components.

ROS are chemically reactive species containing oxygen and include (from least reactive to most reactive): singlet oxygen, superoxide radical, hydrogen peroxide, and hydroxyl radical (Hayyan, Hashim, & AlNashef, 2016). In the cell, ROS are produced as a byproduct of normal

aerobic respiration and have a role in cell signaling and homeostasis. Under normal conditions, the cell has sufficient antioxidant capacity to neutralize these reactive species and prevent damage. During biological impairment, increased ROS production can surpass the antioxidant capacity of the cell leading to significant damage to the cell contents. This is known as oxidative stress. ROS that is not neutralized are unstable and participate in the production of toxic peroxides and the generation of free radicals that modify and damage proteins, lipids and DNA. Additionally, some ROS act in redox signaling and the condition of oxidative stress can disrupt normal redox signaling within the cell.

NSDA neurons intrinsically have a high oxidative burden with limited antioxidant capacity. Due to the length of and the massive branching, these neurons have very high metabolic requirements which increases the risk of increased ROS production and susceptibility to oxidative stress (Braak, Ghebremedhin, Rub, Bratzke, & Del Tredici, 2004; W. Matsuda et al., 2009; Sulzer, 2007). Because of this, a moderate oxidative event could be sufficient to overwhelm the antioxidant capacity of the neurons and result in their degeneration. PD is associated with increased DA turnover, mitochondrial dysfunction, neuroinflammation, and increased iron, all of which favor the increased production of ROS (Gao et al., 2008; Mochizuki & Yasuda, 2012; Muftuoglu et al., 2004; Spencer et al., 1998). The oxidative stress hypothesis of DA neuronal degeneration suggests that increased ROS production such as what occurs during increased DA metabolism, mitochondrial dysfunction, and neuroinflammation can lead to a state of oxidative stress that results in the degeneration of these neurons (Fahn & Cohen, 1992). In support of this hypothesis, the SNc of PD patients have evidence of increased levels of 4hydroxy-2-nonenal (HNE), a byproduct of lipid peroxidation (Jenner, 2003; Yoritaka et al., 1996), protein carbonylation (Floor & Wetzel, 1998), DNA and RNA oxidation products 8-

hydroxy-dioxyguanosine and 8-hydroxy-guanasine (Alam et al., 1997; J. Zhang et al., 1999)and decreased levels of reduced glutathione (Sechi, 2010; Bharath, Hsu, Kaur, Rajagopalan, & Andersen, 2002; Pearce, Owen, Daniel, Jenner, & Marsden, 1997)

#### Mitochondrial Dysfunction

Mitochondria are considered the "powerhouse" of the cell because they produce energy, in the form of adenosine triphosphate (ATP) to the cell. Mitochondria produce ATP through the process of oxidative phosphorylation. This process involves the coupling of redox reactions that occur within the enzymatic complexes of the electron transport chain.

The electron transport chain is comprised of a series of four enzymatic complexes (complex I-IV) that are embedded in the inner mitochondrial membrane (**Figure 1-6**). These complexes sequentially catalyze the transfer of single electrons from products of the Krebs Cycle to the terminal electron acceptor, oxygen. In the process, complexes in the electron transport chain use energy from the oxidation of NADH to transport protons across the inner membrane from the matrix to the intermembrane space to form a proton concentration gradient. The proton concentration gradient acts as a pool of free energy that is tapped by ATP synthase. The protons are channeled back down the proton gradient across the inner membrane through ATP synthase. As protons flow down the concentration gradient, they create proton motive force, which drives ATP synthase to catalyze the phosphorylation of ADP to form ATP.

The formation of ATP via the electron transport chain requires a series of redox reactions that result in the reduction of oxygen. Because of this, mitochondria are a primary source of ROS within the cell. Leakage of electrons can occur at complex I and complex III which leads to the transfer of a single electron to oxygen to form superoxide. Once generated, superoxide is



**Figure 1-6 The electron transport chain**. The electron transport chain is comprised of a series of four enzymatic complexes (complex I-IV) that are embedded in the inner mitochondrial membrane (**Figure 1-6**). These complexes sequentially catalyze the transfer of single electrons from products of the Krebs cycle to the terminal electron acceptor, oxygen. In the process, complexes in the electron transport chain use energy from the oxidation of NADH to transport protons across the inner membrane from the matrix to the intermembrane space to form a proton concentration gradient. The proton concentration gradient acts as a pool of free energy that is tapped to channel protons back across the inner membrane through ATP synthase. As protons flow back down the concentration gradient, they create a proton motive force which drives ATP synthase to catalyze the phosphorylation of ADP to form ATP. Image made using Servier (Les Laboratoires, 2017).

dismutated to hydrogen peroxide in healthy mitochondria by superoxide dismutase 2 (SOD2) in the mitochondrial matrix and superoxide dismutase 1 (SOD1) in the mitochondrial intermembrane space. The hydrogen peroxide is then reduced to water by catalase in peroxisomes. In the presence of transition metals such as Fe<sup>2+</sup>, superoxide can be converted to a highly reactive hydroxyl radical. Hydroxyl radicals damage the cell through lipid peroxidation, DNA and protein damage.

DA neurons are highly dependent upon intact and functional mitochondria for their survival. Autonomous pacemaking activity of these neurons depends on  $Ca^{2+}$  influx from voltage dependent L-type calcium channels (Putzier, Kullmann, Horn, & Levitan, 2009).  $Ca^{2+}$  is involved in many cellular processes including the regulation of enzyme activity and programmed cell death (Orrenius, Zhivotovsky, & Nicotera, 2003). Disruption of calcium homeostasis is related to selective degeneration of NSDA neurons (C. S. Chan, Gertler, & Surmeier, 2009). To maintain  $Ca^{2+}$  homeostasis, ATP dependent transporters rapidly transport  $Ca^{2+}$  back across the plasma membrane (Demaurex, Poburko, & Frieden, 2009). DA neurons undergoing tonic DA transmission must constantly remove  $Ca^{2+}$  from the cytosol, and because of this, the energy demand of these cells is quite high. The increased production of ATP in these cells is at the cost of increased ROS production.

Mitochondrial complex I activity is decreased in the SN and ST of patients with idiopathic PD (Mizuno et al., 1989; Schapira, 1993).Additionally, complex I is impaired in the frontal cortex, fibroblasts, blood platelets, lymphocytes and skeletal muscle (Blin et al., 1994; Haas et al., 1995; Mytilineou et al., 1994). Furthermore, many of the environmental and genetic factors that appear to cause PD also influence mitochondrial function (mitochondrial quality control, bioenergetic capacity, calcium homeostasis, subcellular transport, regulation of cell

death pathways). Impaired mitochondrial function leads to increased ROS and, if not neutralized, can damage lipids, proteins and DNA. This damage can harm the integrity of the neuron and accelerate its degeneration.

Pesticides and other toxicants can inhibit the enzymatic complexes of the electron transport chain. In the early nineteen-eighties, a contaminant produced in the synthesis of a street drug related to meperidine was found to cause Parkinson-like symptoms in individuals who selfinjected the drug (J.W. Langston & Palfreman, 2013). Post mortem brains from these patients revealed significant NSDA neuronal degeneration and the presence of Lewy bodies (J. W. Langston et al., 1999). The contaminant was identified as 1- methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6tetrahydropyridine (MPTP). MPTP in the mitochondria inhibits Complex I, which leads to the production of ROS and decreased ATP production (Richardson et al., 2007). Because MPTP was found to inhibit Complex I and caused parkinsonian symptoms, mitochondrial impairment has been an important area of research in PD.

In experimental models, the pesticides paraquat (which causes oxidative stress through redox cycling) and rotenone (which inhibits mitochondrial complex I) both induce loss of NSDA neurons and behavioral changes associated with human PD (Henchcliffe & Beal, 2008). Tanner and coworkers (2011) found that farmers that farmers that used rotenone or paraquat were approximately 2 times more likely to develop PD. Two pesticides, dieldrin and Maneb, can selectively inhibit complex III of the electron transport chain (Bergen, 1971; J. Zhang et al., 2003). Dieldrin belongs to a class of pesticides that also includes dichloro-diphenyl-trichlorethane (DDT) and Maneb is an agricultural fungicide.

Many of the genetic mutations that are associated with familial PD also regulate different aspects of mitochondria function or physiology. Mitochondrial abnormalities have been observed

in mice over-expressing SNCA (Subramaniam, Vergnes, Franich, Reue, & Chesselet, 2014). The A53T SNCA mutation in mice causes mtDNA damage and complex IV impairment as well as increased sensitivity to MPTP and paraquat (Norris et al., 2007). Accumulation of SNCA and decreased complex I activity were reported in mitochondria isolated from the ST and SNc of PD patients compared to healthy subjects (Chinta, Mallajosyula, Rane, & Andersen, 2010). PINK1 and parkin are important for mitochondrial quality control and turnover (Abramov et al., 2011; Clark et al., 2006; Exner et al., 2007; Gegg, Cooper, Schapira, & Taanman, 2009; Geisler et al., 2010). In healthy mitochondria PINK1 is degraded and parkin remains in the cytosol. When the mitochondria is damaged, PINK1 accumulates on the outer mitochondrial membrane and activates the E3 ligase function of parkin by phosphorylating it at Ser65(Shiba-Fukushima et al., 2012). Parkin ubiquitinates is substrates on the outer mitochondrial membrane, which results in mitochondria-associated degradation of the individual proteins by the proteasome and triggers mitophagy (Karbowski & Youle, 2011; Taylor & Rutter, 2011).

Parkin mutations are a common cause of autosomal recessive juvenile PD. Parkin knockout mice (Park2<sup>-/-</sup>) have decreased respiratory chain function with reduced complex I activity in the ST (Exner et al., 2007; Hawong, 2014; Narendra, Tanaka, Suen, & Youle, 2008; Springer & Kahle, 2011). Pink1 knockout mice and human DA neurons have abnormalities in mitochondrial morphology, reduced membrane potential, and increased ROS generation (Wood-Kaczmar et al., 2008). Furthermore, PINK1 and Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice both have synaptic dysfunction that correlates with progressive loss of mitochondrial function and increased ROS in the ST (Johri & Beal, 2012).

DJ-1 is a neuroprotective redox sensor protein (Wilson, 2011). When oxidized, DJ-1 translocates to the mitochondrial outer membrane and protects neurons by an unknown

mechanism (Lev, Ickowicz, Melamed, & Offen, 2008; Yanagida et al., 2009). Loss of DJ-1 function results in fragmentation of mitochondria in mammalian models of PD due to loss of mitochondrial membrane potential (Thomas et al., 2011). Loss of function of DJ-1 leads to decreased in mitochondrial complex I activity, whereas over-expression of DJ-1 confers protection against MPTP impairment of complex I (Kim et al., 2005). Although the function of LRRK2 in relation to the mitochondria is unclear, LRRK2 is associated with the mitochondria outer membrane (Biskup et al., 2006). HTRA2 is a serine peptidase localized to mitochondria and is released during mitochondrial membrane permeabilization during apoptosis (Suzuki et al., 2001). HTRA2 activates autophagy through the digestion of Hax-1, a Bcl-2 family related protein (B. Li et al., 2010). Mutations in HTRA2 make cells more susceptible to oxidative stress (Moisoi et al., 2009).

### Abnormal DA Metabolism

In PD, axon terminal degeneration is thought to occur prior to NSDA neuronal loss (Cheng et al., 2010). In the synthesis and catabolism of DA, many of the metabolites and the catabolic enzymatic processes themselves can be toxic to the neuron. ROS generating enzymes such as TH and flavin-containing enzymes like MAO-B produce hydrogen peroxide as a byproduct of their activity (Haavik, Almas, & Flatmark, 1997; Zang & Misra, 1993). Because of this, abnormal DA homeostasis is a suspect mechanism of PD pathology.

DA is an organic base that consists of a catechol with one amine group (**Figure 1-7**). In the acidic pH of the vesicle, DA is protonated and stable. At more basic pH, as in the cytosol, DA rapidly becomes deprotonated. Deprotonated DA is easily auto-oxidized to form DA quinones that are highly reactive and toxic (He et al., 2011; Sulzer et al., 2000).

Cellular protein function can be irreversibly altered through the formation of 5-cysteinylcatechols on proteins. For example, the formation of DA quinones can lead to the covalent modification and inactivation of tyrosine hydroxylase (Di Giovanni, Pessia, & Di Maio, 2012). DA quinones are potent cellular toxins, and there is evidence that these may contribute to NSDA neuronal loss that occurs in PD (Miyazaki & Asanuma, 2008). Due to the damage that DA quinones can inflict, it is crucial that the amount of cytoplasmic DA be tightly controlled within the DA neuron. There are several mechanisms in place that prevent the accumulation of cytosolic DA: (1) transport of DA into synaptic vesicles by VMAT2, (2) enzymatic metabolism, and (3) polymerization of DA, its toxic quinones to form neuromelanin.

Cytoplasmic DA is packaged into the synaptic vesicles by VMAT2. Disruption of VMAT2 function prevents uptake of cytosolic DA into the vesicles and leads to auto-oxidation, ROS formation, and axon terminal damage (Riddle, Fleckenstein, & Hanson, 2006). In addition, Pifl et al. (Pifl et al., 2014) demonstrated that after correcting for DA nerve terminal loss, vesicular uptake of DA per VMAT2 in the ST is reduced by 53-55% in PD patients compared to normal patients. Mice with elevated VMAT2 are protected from PD related neurotoxic insult (Lohr et al., 2016).

Cytoplasmic DA levels are maintained by metabolic enzymes such as MAO-B on the outer mitochondrial membrane. The mitochondria associated enzyme MAO-B deaminates excess Amounts of cytosolic DA to form the toxic metabolite DOPAL. DOPAL is a toxic aldehyde that can form protein adducts and cause the opening of the mitochondrial transition pore complex, which leads to programmed cell death (Kristal et al., 2001). Because DOPAL is a toxic aldehyde, it must be quickly metabolized to a less toxic product. As described earlier, DOPAL is oxidized



**Figure 1-7 Metabolism or oxidation of cytosolic DA.** At physiologic pH DA is deprotonated and if not metabolized will oxidize to its semiquinone radical. Two DA semiquinone radicals will generate one molecule of DA and one molecule of its quinone. Alternatively, the semiquinone radical can undergo a one-electron oxidation to the quinone. The quinone immediately cyclizes to form aminochrome, which is only stable at acidic pH. To prevent the formation of toxic DA quinones, cytosolic DA is deaminated by MAO-B to produce DOPAL which is oxidized by ALDH to produce DOPAC. DOPAC is methylated by COMT to produce water soluble HVA, which is excreted. Extracellular DA can either be taken back up into the DA neuron via DAT or methylated by COMT to form 3-MT which is deaminated and hydroxylated to produce HVA. Figure based off of (Munoz, Paris, Sanders, Greenamyre, & Segura-Aguilar, 2012).

by ALDH to its acid (3,4-dihydroxyphenylacetic acid, DOPAC) and DOPAC is further methylated by COMT to form HVA which is excreted after sulfation.

Both glia and DA neurons oxidize DA via the mitochondria associated enzyme MAO to form the toxic metabolite, DOPAL, with hydrogen peroxide as a byproduct. During MAO activity, the amount of hydrogen peroxide produced in the cell can increase approximately 100fold (Bao et al., 2009). The SNc is an iron rich environment (Snyder & Connor, 2009). In the presence of this transition metal, the Fenton reaction allows hydrogen peroxide to generate hydroxyl radicals, which are highly reactive. The resulting hydroxyl radicals cause DNA, lipid and protein damage resulting in degeneration of the neuron.

To prevent free radical damage to the neuron, hydrogen peroxide must be neutralized. Hydrogen peroxide can be detoxified via the endogenous antioxidant glutathione (GSH) system. Reduced GSH reacts with hydrogen peroxide to produce water and GSSG via glutathione peroxidase activity. GSSG is recycled back to GSH by the action of GSH reductase using NADPH as a cofactor. GSSG is toxic and reacts with free cysteinyl residues of proteins to form disulfide bonds and results in loss of protein function. Enzymes involved in the citric acid cycle or the electron transport chain are sensitive to this reaction and damage here can lead to mitochondrial dysfunction (Delcambre, Nonnenmacher, & Hiller, 2016).

NSDA neurons are degenerated in PD and, because of this, PD is associated with a higher DA turnover due to the lower number of neurons compensating for the decreased DA innervation (Zigmond, Hastings, & Perez, 2002). The compensatory increase in DA synthesis results in increased MAO activity and thus an increase in MAO associated toxicity. Increased DA turnover also promotes an increase in cytosolic DA, the increased production of toxic DA metabolites and auto-oxidation of DA.

Cytosolic DA can be removed by packaging it into DA vesicles, or metabolism of DA into less toxic metabolites. The remaining cytosolic DA metabolites and oxidation products can be polymerized and sequestered in neuromelanin. Neuromelanin is a dark pigment found in NSDA neurons of the SN (Zecca, Zucca, Wilms, & Sulzer, 2003). It is comprised of proteins and lipids and polymerized oxidation products of DA (Zecca, Zucca, Costi, et al., 2003). Neuromelanin granules are enclosed by a lipid bilayer and can undergo autophagy (Munoz, Huenchuguala, Paris, & Segura-Aguilar, 2012). Neuromelanin production depends on the cytosolic availability of DA and may serve a neuroprotective function. Treatment of DA synthesizing PC-12 cells with levodopa causes increased production of neuromelanin while overexpression of VMAT2, which removes DA from the cytosol, inhibits neuromelanin synthesis (Meiser, Weindl, & Hiller, 2013).

In addition to sequestering cytoplasmic DA and its metabolites, neuromelanin also chelates a large amount of metal ions, such as iron, as well as neuronal toxicants such as paraquat and MPP<sup>+</sup> (D'Amato, Lipman, & Snyder, 1986; Lindquist, Larsson, & Lyden-Sokolowski, 1988). Sequestration of these toxic products acts to prevent iron-catalyzed oxidation of DA and metal ion or toxicant mediated neurotoxicity. The iron bound to neuromelanin is mainly in the ferric state and tightly bound to high affinity sites to remain inactive, thus preventing oxidative reactions (Zecca et al., 1996). Under conditions of excess iron, the high affinity sites are saturated and the excess iron binds to the remaining low affinity binding sites (Zecca et al., 2001). These low affinity sites are not as effective at sequestering the iron. Therefore, the iron remains redox-active and can promote oxidative reactions (Faucheux et al., 2003). Following the death of NSDA neurons, neuromelanin is released into the extracellular space where it induces microglial activation. Several pro-inflammatory molecules are released from the microglia, such as NO, resulting in an inflammatory process (W. Zhang et al., 2011). Due to its composition, neuromelanin is not soluble and is only slowly degraded (Zecca, Zucca, Wilms, et al., 2003). Metal ions and toxicants, which were previously bound to neuromelanin are released in the extracellular space which acts as another source of ROS production (Zecca, Zucca, Zucca, Wilms, et al., 2003). As more neurons and glial cells die, a cycle of oxidative stress leading to more neuronal death and more neuronal death creating more ROS occurs.

## Abnormal Protein Aggregation

Many neurodegenerative diseases are precipitated by oxidative modifications of proteins that result in protein misfolding and subsequent aggregation (Bourdenx et al., 2017; A. B. Singleton et al., 2003; Takalo, Salminen, Soininen, Hiltunen, & Haapasalo, 2013). To prevent damage, post mitotic neurons rely upon tightly controlled cellular protein degradation pathways to remove damaged and unneeded proteins. Damaged or modified proteins can often lead to neuronal dysfunction and neurodegeneration because of a toxic gain of function that creates aberrant cellular pathways, and ultimately, cell death (Winklhofer, Tatzelt, & Haass, 2008). In understanding these neurodegenerative diseases, it is important to understand the cellular pathways that regulate the presence of toxic protein species (**Figure 1-8**). In PD the synaptic protein  $\alpha$ -synuclein oligomerizes, fibrilizes and forms aggregates that are sequestered into cytoplasmic inclusions called Lewy bodies and Lewy neurites (Wan & Chung, 2012). Although the mechanisms by which  $\alpha$ -synuclein aggregates and causes neurodegeneration are not fully known, strong genetic and molecular evidence implicates a crucial role for this protein in PD.

Molecular chaperones are the first line of defense against misfolded proteins (Lopez-Otin, Blasco, Partridge, Serrano, & Kroemer, 2013). Chaperone proteins act to stabilize, or refold, aggregate prone misfolded proteins. Under pathological conditions chaperone proteins can become depleted allowing the aggregate prone proteins to overwhelm the capacity of the chaperone system. When this occurs, the proteins that do not get refolded can be eliminated via one of two proteolytic systems that are in place. The two major proteolytic systems are the autophagy-lysosomal pathway (ALP) and the UPS.

The ALP is thought of as an evolutionarily conserved adaptive response to nutrient deprivation (Levine & Kroemer, 2008). However, the pathway can also be induced by hypoxia and decreased energy supply (Bellot et al., 2009). Under these conditions, intracellular components, including long-lived proteins and cellular organelles, are degraded and the resulting amino acids are recycled back into the cytoplasm to be used in essential biosynthetic pathways. There is increasing evidence that autophagy is important for neuronal survival and that dysregulation of autophagy results in neurodegeneration. Studies on the PD associated transmembrane lysosomal P5-type ATPase (ATP13A2) indicate that loss of function of this

protein is correlated with impaired lysosomal acidification and decreased degradation of lysosomal substrates (Dehay et al., 2012). Both PINK1 and parkin control the process of mitophagy, the autophagic removal of damaged mitochondria (R. F. Roberts, Tang, Fon, & Durcan, 2016)(Lee et al, 2012). Impaired removal of defective mitochondria results in increased oxidative damage, protein modification, protein misfolding and further impairment to protein degradation pathways.

There are three main types of autophagy that are defined by the pathways in which the cargo is delivered to the lysosome. These types are macroautophagy, microautophagy, and



**Figure 1-8 Cellular pathways that regulate the presence of misfolded proteins**. Molecular chaperones are the first line of defense against misfolded proteins. Chaperone proteins act to stabilize, or refold, aggregate prone misfolded proteins. Under pathological conditions chaperone proteins can become depleted allowing the aggregate prone proteins to overwhelm the capacity of the chaperone system. When this occurs, the proteins that do not get refolded can be eliminated via one of two proteolytic systems that are in place. The two major proteolytic systems are the autophagy-lysosomal pathway (ALP) which includes both macroautophagy and chaperone mediated autophagy and the ubiquitin proteasome system (UPS). Adapted from (Lopez-Otin et al., 2013).

chaperone-mediated autophagy (CMA). In macroautophagy some of the cytoplasm, including its organelles is non-selectively degraded (Kanki, 2009; Shintani, Huang, Stromhaug, & Klionsky, 2002). The cytoplasmic contents are engulfed by a double membrane phagophore. This phagophore expands into a cytosolic vesicle called an autophagosome which is targeted to the lysosome (Klionsky, 2005). The outer membrane of the autophagosome fuses with the lysosomal membrane so that hydrolases can enter the inner autophagosome and hydrolyze the contents so that the cellular components that are captured inside the autophagosome can be recycled.

Microautophagy is like macroautophagy except, in microautophagy, the cargo is directly sequestered into the lysosome instead of first being captured in the autophagosome. In this process, a portion of the lysosome invaginates so that it can directly take up cytoplasmic materials at the lysosome surface. After vesicles containing the cytosolic substrates pinch off into the lumen of the lysosome, the contents are rapidly degraded (Kunz, Schwarz, & Mayer, 2004) and the products are recycled.

CMA mediates the selective lysosomal degradation of soluble cytosolic proteins. Chaperone protein, Hsc70, mediates this process by binding to specific cytosolic substrates and delivering them to the lysosomal receptor LAMP-2A (Cuervo & Wong, 2014). The substrate protein is then unfolded and translocated across the lysosomal membrane to be degraded by lysosomal proteases. CMA is crucial to the elimination of certain misfolded proteins, but this system is also subject to the toxic effects of these pathogenic proteins (Cuervo, Stefanis, Fredenburg, Lansbury, & Sulzer, 2004; Martinez-Vicente et al., 2008; Orenstein et al., 2013). For example, both  $\alpha$ -synuclein and LRRK2 are degraded by CMA. However, aberrant forms of these proteins bind to and block LAMP-2A, leading to a blockade of the degradation of CMA substrates (Cuervo & Wong, 2014).

The UPS is the major pathway that mediates the degradation of short-lived soluble proteins within the cell (**Figure 1-9**)(Fuertes, Villarroya, & Knecht, 2003). To be degraded via the UPS, substrates must first be tagged with a polyubiquitin chain (Scheffner, Nuber, & Huibregtse, 1995). A chain of activated ubiquitin monomers is covalently linked to lysine residues of the substrate protein in an ATP-dependent manner. Ubiquitination is carried out in three steps: activation, conjugation and ligation. In the first step, ubiquitin is activated by an E1 ubiquitin activating enzyme which is dependent upon ATP. This results in a thioester linkage between the C-terminal carboxyl group of ubiquitin and the E1 cysteine sulfhydryl group. Once activated E2 ubiquitin conjugating enzymes catalyze the transfer of ubiquitin from E1 to the active site cysteine of the D2 via a trans(thio)esterification reaction. Last, E3 ubiquitin ligase create an isopeptide bond between a lysine of the target protein and the C-terminal glycine of ubiquitin. This step requires the activity of one of the several hundred substrate specific E3 ubiquitin ligases. This process is carried out multiple times until a chain of at least four ubiquitin subunits is produced.

The polyubiquitin chain serves as a recognition signal for the 26S proteasome (Grice & Nathan, 2016). The 26S proteasome is a barrel shaped protein complex (**Figure 1-10**), that consist of a catalytic core (the 20S core proteasome) and regulatory subunits that form two 19S "caps" on either end of the 20S core particle (K. Tanaka, 2009). The 19S caps regulate the entry of protein substrates and modulate the catalytic activities that occur within the barrel of the 20S core particle (Ehlinger & Walters, 2013). The catalytic core is formed by 28 subunits organized in two outer  $\alpha$ -rings and two inner  $\beta$ -rings (K. Tanaka, 2009). The inner  $\beta$ - rings contain the catalytic sites for three proteolytic activities: chymotrypsin-like (CT-L), trypsin-like (T-L) and caspase-like (Cas-L) hydrolytic activity (K. Tanaka, 2009). Proteasomal degradation of the



**Figure 1-9 The ubiquitin proteasome system (UPS).** To be degraded via the UPS, substrates must first be tagged with a polyubiquitin chain. Ubiquitination is carried out in three steps: activation, conjugation and ligation. In the first step, ubiquitin is activated by an E1 ubiquitin activating enzyme which is dependent upon ATP. This results in a thioester linkage between the C-terminal carboxyl group of ubiquitin and the E1 cysteine sulfhydryl group. Once activated E2 ubiquitin conjugating enzymes catalyze the transfer of ubiquitin from E1 to the active site cysteine of the D2 via a trans(thio)esterification reaction. E3 ubiquitin ligases create an isopeptide bond between a lysine of the target protein and the C-terminal glycine of ubiquitin. Finally, the polyubiquitin chain is recognized by the 26S proteasome and the substrate is degraded.

protein substrates results in the production of short peptide fragments that are subjected to further degradation to its individual amino acids by peptidases.

There is mounting evidence that UPS dysfunction is involved in PD. Lewy bodies are a pathological hallmark of PD (Braak & Braak, 2000). The protein aggregates that are sequestered within Lewy bodies are highly ubiquitinated (Olanow et al., 2004). In addition, several components of the UPS, including proteasome subunits, ubiquitinating and deubiquitinating enzymes and proteasome activators are present in Lewy bodies (McNaught, Shashidharan, Perl, Jenner, & Olanow, 2002). Furthermore, several of the PD related gene mutations are in genes that encode for proteins involved in the UPS. Parkin (PARK2) is an E3 ubiquitin ligase (Kitada et al., 1998) that also has the ability to bind to and enhance 26S proteasome activity (Um et al., 2010), UCH-L1 (PARK5) is a deubiquitinating enzyme (Leroy, Boyer, & Polymeropoulos, 1998) and FBX07 (PARK15) is an adaptor protein for an E3 ubiquitin ligase complex called SCF (Deng, Liang, & Jankovic, 2013; Di Fonzo et al., 2009). Post mortem brain tissue from the SN has decreased CT-L and T-L proteasome activity compared to age matched control tissue (McNaught, Belizaire, Isacson, Jenner, & Olanow, 2003; McNaught & Jenner, 2001).

While there is decreased proteasome activity in the SN of PD brain tissue, other brain regions do not appear to have decreased proteasome activity and may even have enhanced proteasome activity (McNaught, Perl, Brownell, & Olanow, 2004). This regional specific reduction in proteasome activity suggests that decreased proteasome activity may either be a precipitating event that predisposes NSDA neurons to degenerate in PD or conversely, decreased proteasome activity could be secondary to the existing pathology of PD.



**Figure 1-10 The 26S proteasome**. The 26S proteasome is a barrel shaped protein complex, that consist of a catalytic core (the 20S core proteasome) and regulatory subunits that form two 19S "caps" on either end. The 20S core particle is comprised of two heptameric  $\beta$ -subunit rings containing the Cas-L, T-L, and CT-L catalytic subunits  $\beta$ 1,  $\beta$ 2, and  $\beta$ 5 and two heptameric  $\alpha$ -subunit rings that form a gate that prohibits entry of proteins into the catalytic chamber. Binding of the 19S regulatory caps to the 20S core opens the gate and depends upon ATP binding to the RPT subunits within the 19S base. Substrate recognition occurs via the RPN subunits of the 19S lid. Image modified from bostonbiochem.com.

## MPTP is a DA Neuron Specific Neurotoxicant

The toxicity of MPTP was discovered in the early nineteen eighties after several drug users inadvertently self-injected "Super Demerol", a street narcotic related to meperidine (J.W. Langston & Palfreman, 2013). The drug was contaminated with MPTP, a side product created in the synthesis of the drug (J. W. Langston, Ballard, Tetrud, & Irwin, 1983). Upon self-injection, the users rapidly developed symptoms that closely resembled late stage PD. These patients were coined "The Frozen Addicts" because their rigid bodies appeared frozen (J.W. Langston & Palfreman, 2013). Upon further investigation, it was found that MPTP induces many of the biochemical, pathological and clinical features of PD in primates as well as mice (Jackson-Lewis & Przedborski, 2007; J. W. Langston et al., 1983). Systemic MPTP exposure closely parallels the pattern of molecular dysfunction to that observed in PD. Despite many similarities between MPTP toxicity and PD, researchers are cautious to note that there are differences between the MPTP neurotoxicant model of PD and idiopathic PD including: disease progression, acute onset and lack of typical Lewy body formation. However, the ability of MPTP toxicity to cause similar molecular pathology within NSDA neurons makes MPTP a useful tool for studying the early molecular events that may be involved in PD.

MPTP is a pro-toxicant (**Fig 1-11**), it is not itself toxic (Dauer & Przedborski, 2003). The small lipophilic molecule is easily able to cross the blood brain barrier and lipid bilayers. MPTP is oxidized to 1-methyl-4- phenyl-2,3-dihydropyridinium (MPDP<sup>+</sup>) by the MAO-B enzyme present in glial cells on the outer membrane of the mitochondria. MPDP<sup>+</sup> is unstable, and is further oxidized to form the toxic metabolite 1-methyl-4-phenylpyridinium ion, (MPP<sup>+</sup>), which is transported out of glial cells and into the extracellular fluid by the organic cation transporter-3,

OCT-3. Because it is charged, MPP<sup>+</sup> cannot cross membrane lipid bilayers, however, it is actively transported specifically into DA neurons by the DAT.

# *MPP*<sup>+</sup> *is a Redox Cycler*

MPP+ is structurally related to the redox cycling agent paraquat (**Figure 1-12**). Although through different mechanisms, both molecules are subject to redox cycling. An electron donor such as NADPH, reduces paraquat before being oxidized by an electron acceptor such as dioxygen to produce superoxide, a major ROS. At physiologic pH and without the help of available enzymes, MPP<sup>+</sup> is a poor redox cycler compared to paraquat (J. D. Adams, Jr., Chang, & Klaidman, 2001). However, in the presence of flavin containing enzymes, such as MAO, ALDH, complex I, or TH, MPP<sup>+</sup> is subject to hydride transfer from the reduced flavin, which is produced during enzymatic activity of the flavin containing enzyme (J. D. Adams, Jr. et al., 2001). This forms the unstable product,1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,4-dihydropyridine (DHP). DHP decays in a one electron step to produce the MPP radical. The MPP radical is a very strong reducing agent that can catalyze the formation of hydroxyl radical from hydrogen peroxide. The MPP radical transfers its extra electron to molecular oxygen to form MPP+ and superoxide anion.

### MPP<sup>+</sup> Inhibits Complex I of the Mitochondria

Once within the DA axon terminal, MPP+ is concentrated in the mitochondria where it inhibits Complex I of the mitochondrial electron transport chain(Nicklas, Youngster, Kindt, & Heikkila, 1987). The complexes of the electron transport chain use energy from the oxidation of NADH to transport protons across the inner membrane from the matrix to the



**Figure 1-11 Bioactivation of MPTP and the effects of MPP<sup>+</sup> on DA neurons**. MPTP crosses the blood brain barrier and is converted to MPP<sup>+</sup> by MAO in glial cells. MPP<sup>+</sup> is transported out of the glial cell by OCT3 and is specifically taken up into DA neurons by DAT. Once in the DA neuron MPP<sup>+</sup> incites its toxicity by accumulating in the mitochondria where it inhibits complex I of the electron transport chain, displacing DA from DA vesicles and directly inhibiting enzymatic activity via the production of the MPP radical. Abbreviations: MPTP, 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine; MAO, monoamine oxidase; MPP<sup>+</sup>, 1-methyl-4-phenylpyridinium ion; OCT3, Organic Cation Transporter 3; DAT, dopamine transporter. Figure adapted from (Dauer & Przedborski, 2003).



Figure 1-12 MPP<sup>+</sup> is structurally related to paraquat and is also subject to redox cycling. A, Structures of MPP<sup>+</sup> and paraquat, **B**, Paraquat is subject to a one electron reduction to give rise to paraquat radical. The paraquat radical transfers the extra electron to molecular oxygen to form superoxide anion. C, MPP<sup>+</sup> is subject to hydride transfer from reduced Flavin produced during MAO activity. Anionic reduced Flavin binds to MPP<sup>+</sup> and reduces it to DHP, which is then oxidized to produce MPP radical. The MPP radical transfers the extra electron to molecular oxygen to form superoxide anion.

intermembrane space, which forms the proton gradient that is needed to drive ATP synthase activity. MPP<sup>+</sup> accumulates in the mitochondria because it is passively transported down the gradient into the mitochondria (Hoppel et al., 1987). Once in the mitochondria, MPP<sup>+</sup> binds to and inhibits complex I of the electron transport chain (Nicklas et al., 1987). Inhibition of complex I can cause cell death due to decreased ATP production (Przedborski et al., 2000), and generation of free radicals and ROS (Cleeter, Cooper, & Schapira, 1992). However, the mitochondrial toxicity of MPP<sup>+</sup> is self-limiting. As MPP<sup>+</sup> binds to and inhibits complex I, the membrane potential falls and less ATP is produced (Nicklas et al., 1987). With the decrease in membrane potential, MPP<sup>+</sup> is no longer able to concentrate within the mitochondria and is released back into the cytosol. Although contributory, it is thought that mitochondrial Complex I inhibition is not the primary mechanism of NSDA neurodegeneration. MPTP exposure results in toxicity independent of any action that occurs in the mitochondria (J. D. Adams, Yang, & Klaidman, 2006).

# MPP<sup>+</sup> and DA Toxicity

Once inside the DA axon terminal, MPP<sup>+</sup> predominantly localizes within the DA vesicles. This occurs via high affinity uptake into the DA vesicle by VMAT2 (Liu, Roghani, & Edwards, 1992). Sequestration of MPP<sup>+</sup> into the DA vesicles appears to be protective as VMAT2 overexpressing cells are resistant to MPP<sup>+</sup> toxicity and VMAT2 knockout mice are more susceptible to MPTP toxicity (Lohr et al., 2016).

Sequestration of MPP<sup>+</sup> into the DA vesicle has a consequence. When MPP<sup>+</sup> enters the vesicle, DA is displaced from within the vesicle into the cytoplasm. While DA is protonated and stable within the acidic confines of the DA vesicle, once it is displaced into the cytosol it

becomes rapidly deprotonated. The deprotonated DA is easily auto-oxidized to form DA quinones and free radicals (He et al., 2011; Sulzer et al., 2000). MPP<sup>+</sup> mediated displacement of DA from vesicles not only leads to cytoplasmic DA oxidation and generation of free radicals, but also leads to DAT mediated reverse transport of DA into the extracellular space and to extracellular oxidation of DA (Lotharius & O'Malley, 2000).

# *MPP*<sup>+</sup> is a Competitive Inhibitor of MAO-B

Under normal conditions cytosolic DA is metabolized to DOPAL by MAO-B. As a substrate of MAO-B, MPTP acts as a competitive inhibitor (Chiba, Trevor, & Castagnoli, 1984; Salach, Singer, Castagnoli, & Trevor, 1984). Competitive inhibition of MAO-B results in reduced ability of the neuron to metabolize cytosolic DA and thus causes increased formation of toxic DA metabolites and oxidation products. Consequently, inhibition of MAO-B results in inhibition of protoxicant conversion to MPP<sup>+</sup> and protection against MPP<sup>+</sup> toxicity (Wu, Chen, & Chiueh, 2000).

# MPP<sup>+</sup> and UPS Dysfunction

MPP<sup>+</sup> directly inhibits the 20S proteasome *in vitro* (Caneda-Ferron et al., 2008) and mice exposed to MPTP exhibit impaired UPS function and accumulation of damaged proteins in the SNc, a characteristic that is similar to what has been observed in the SNc of post-mortem brains of PD patients (McNaught & Jenner, 2001). Marmosets treated with MPTP also have decreased proteasome activity (Zeng et al., 2006). Acute administration of MPTP results in transient impairment of the UPS, while chronic MPTP exposure results in long-term proteasome

inhibition and the formation of protein inclusions that resemble Lewy bodies (Fornai et al., 2005).

#### **MPTP and Differential Susceptibility of Central DA Neurons**

Many different cell types are affected in PD however; central DA neurons are severely affected (Braak & Braak, 2000; Sulzer, 2007). Not all DA neuronal populations are affected in PD. While NSDA neurons degenerate, TIDA neurons retain their DA stores, do not form inclusions, and do not degenerate (Ahlskog, 2005; Braak et al., 2003; J. W. Langston & Forno, 1978; Matzuk & Saper, 1985). Mechanisms responsible for TIDA resistance to neurodegeneration are not understood. Characterization of the responses of TIDA neurons compared to NSDA neurons that degenerate in PD could shed light onto mechanisms that may provide protection.

Cell bodies of TIDA neurons are located in the ARC in the mediobasal hypothalamus and their axons terminate in the ME where they release DA into the hypophyseal portal blood (Ben-Jonathan, Oliver, Weiner, Mical, & Porter, 1977). DA is carried by the portal blood to the anterior pituitary where it tonically inhibits prolactin secretion (Fitzgerald & Dinan, 2008). Reuptake of DA occurs mostly by high volume low affinity transporters, and to a smaller extent by low volume high affinity DAT (Annunziato, Leblanc, Kordon, & Weiner, 1980; Demarest & Moore, 1979; Revay, Vaughan, Grant, & Kuhar, 1996) . The process of DA synthesis, storage, release, and metabolism in TIDA neurons are much the same as in NSDA neurons. The similarities between the NSDA and TIDA neuronal populations provides an interesting platform in which to compare the differential responses of TIDA neurons with neurons that degenerate in PD.

Similar to the differential susceptibility observed in PD DA neuronal populations, neurotoxicant treated animals also present differentially susceptible NSDA and TIDA neurons. Following neurotoxicant exposure, NSDA axon terminals are depleted of DA and exhibit loss of TH-ir cells, while the TIDA neurons are spared (Behrouz, Drolet, Sayed, Lookingland, & Goudreau, 2007; Mogi, Harada, Kojima, Kiuchi, & Nagatsu, 1988; G. L. Willis & Donnan, 1987).

Toxicant distribution, bio-activation, and uptake into the terminal, are not responsible for TIDA neuron resistance to MPTP exposure. The possibilities that there is reduced bioactivation of MPTP by astrocytes in the mediobasal hypothalamus or that there are differences in drug distribution has been suggested as reasons that TIDA neurons are not susceptible to MPTP toxicity (Hirsch, 1992; Hirsch, Faucheux, Damier, Mouatt-Prigent, & Agid, 1997; Uhl, 1998). Differential sensitivity of TIDA and NSDA neurons to MPP<sup>+</sup> is not due differential drug distribution to the DA neuronal populations. In fact, at 4 h post MPTP exposure (when MPP<sup>+</sup> is at its maximal concentration in both the ME and ST) the amount of MPP<sup>+</sup> in the ME is approximately 4 times higher than in the ST (M. Benskey et al., 2012). In addition, primary DA neurons from the mediobasal hypothalamus were not affected by direct exposure to MPP<sup>+</sup>, while the same concentration of MPP<sup>+</sup> markedly increased apoptosis of primary DA neurons from the midbrain (Behrouz et al., 2007). The fact that TIDA neurons are not directly affected by MPP<sup>+</sup> implies that the resistance to MPTP is not due to differences in the bio-activation of MPTP to MPP<sup>+</sup> by astrocytes in the mediobasal hypothalamus. Resistance of TIDA neurons to MPTP does not appear to be due to lower expression of DAT, which might decrease MPP<sup>+</sup> uptake into the TIDA neurons. TIDA neurons are also resistant to rotenone, a toxicant that readily crosses membranes and does not require DAT to enter the neurons (Betarbet et al., 2000; Bywood &

Johnson, 2003; Le et al., 1999). TIDA axon terminals are initially depleted of DA 4 h following MPTP exposure. Following the initial depletion, DA is replenished 16 h following MPTP exposure (Behrouz et al., 2007). The time course of DA depletion and subsequent recovery indicates that MPP<sup>+</sup> within TIDA terminals is sufficient to initially incite some toxicity before the neuron can adapt and recover.

The recovery of TIDA neurons from MPTP toxicity is dependent upon protein synthesis and more specifically the increased expression of the PD related protein, parkin. This is interesting because mutations in the parkin gene result in autosomal recessive familial PD (Kitada et al., 1998). Following MPTP exposure, TIDA neurons up-regulate the expression of parkin mRNA and protein, while NSDA neurons do not (M. Benskey et al., 2012). Furthermore, AAV mediated knockdown of parkin in the ARC prevents the recovery of TIDA neurons following MPTP exposure (M. J. Benskey, Manfredsson, Lookingland, & Goudreau, 2015). Taken together, these data indicate that the recovery of TIDA neurons following MPTP exposure, a neurotoxicant that closely mimics PD pathology, is dependent upon the upregulation of parkin.

## Parkin

Mutations in the parkin gene are the most common cause of familial PD (von Coelln, Dawson, & Dawson, 2004). Autosomal recessive juvenile PD (AR-JP) is associated with large homozygous exon deletions within the long arm of chromosome 6. The association of this locus with AR-JP, led to the discovery of PARK2, the parkin gene (Kitada et al., 1998). Mutations in PARK2 have been identified in familial as well as in sporadic PD patients and these mutations are the most common cause of early onset PD (von Coelln et al., 2004). Many types of parkin

mutations appear to cause AR-JP including: missense and nonsense point mutations, multiplications of entire exons, deletions of entire exons and frameshifts (von Coelln et al., 2004). With the caveat that many published studies are restricted to those with young-onset disease (Grunewald, Kasten, Ziegler, & Klein, 2013), the detection frequency of all types of pathogenic PARK2 variants is 80-90% in familial cases (with onset before 20 years of age) and lower than 10% in sporadic case with onset around 40 years (Periquet, Corti, Jacquier, & Brice, 2005).

PARK2 encodes a protein of 465 amino acids that is specifically expressed in tissue with high energy requirements including: the brain, heart, liver, skeletal muscle, kidney and testis (Kitada 2000). The parkin protein consists of an N-terminal ubiquitin like domain (UBL), a linker region, and a C-terminal region containing two **R**eally Interesting New Gene (RING) domains separated by an in-between RING (IBR) domain. Most PD associated parkin mutations have been localized to the UBL, RING1 or RING2 domains (Marder et al., 2010). It is notable that S-nitrosylation of parkin results in loss of function and this modification has been observed in the brains of patients with idiopathic PD (Chung et al., 2004).

Parkin is an E3 ubiquitin ligase that mediates K48 linked polyqubiquitination, K63 linked ubiquitination, and monoubiquitination. K48 linked polyubiquitination results in 26S Proteasome recognition and degradation of the substrate while K63 linked polyubiquitination results in autophagic degradation of the substrate (Lim, Dawson, & Dawson, 2006). Most parkin mutations that cause AR-JP are located within the UBL, RING1 or RING2 domain and result in the loss of function (Fiesel et al., 2015; Henn, Gostner, Lackner, Tatzelt, & Winklhofer, 2005; Sriram et al., 2005). Most if these mutations inhibit the E3 ubiquitin ligase activity of parkin and because of this, it is thought that parkin loss of function results in decreased ubiquitination of its specific

substrates and corresponding deficits in the degradation of specific proteins and deficits in the mitochondrial quality control pathways that parkin is so integrally involved in. In parkin knockout mice, several parkin substrates including: aminoacyl-tRNA synthase-interacting multifunctional protein type 2 (AIPM2), fuse-binding protein 1 (FBP1) and Paris accumulate, which suggests that parkin mediated polyubiquitination of these proteins is required for their targeting to the 26S proteasome for degradation (Ko, Kim, Sriram, Dawson, & Dawson, 2006; Shin et al., 2011).

Native parkin exists in an auto-inhibited state in which the UBL domain is folded over the RING1 domain where E2 ubiquitin binding would take place. Parkin is recruited to damaged mitochondria by PINK1 which phosphorylates parkin at ser65 of the UBL domain (N. Matsuda & Tanaka, 2010; Narendra et al., 2008). Phosphorylation activates parkin activity by releasing the UBL domain from its folded state resulting in a structure that allows E2 ubiquitin binding (Chaugule et al., 2011; Trempe et al., 2013; Wauer & Komander, 2013; Wauer, Simicek, Schubert, & Komander, 2015). Once in the activated state, parkin ubiquitinates numerous mitochondrial membrane as well as cytosolic proteins (N. C. Chan & Chan, 2011; Geisler et al., 2010; A. Tanaka, 2010; Yoshii, Kishi, Ishihara, & Mizushima, 2011; Ziviani & Whitworth, 2010). Turnover of these proteins requires both parkin and 26S proteasome function. While the proteasome ubiquitin receptors RPN10 and RPN13 bind ubiquitinated proteins, the UBL domain of parkin also binds to these ubiquitin receptors (Aguileta et al., 2015; Dachsel et al., 2005; Sakata et al., 2003). In this manner, binding of parkin to the RPN subunits facilitates 26S proteasome degradation of its ubiquitinated substrates (Um et al., 2010). Upon knockdown of RPN13, parkin is unable to bind to the proteasome causing a significant delay in the clearance of mitochondrial proteins (TIM23, TIM44, TM20), K48 polyubiquitinated parkin and its ubiquitinated substrates (Aguileta et al., 2015).

#### **Goal of Dissertation and Experimental Paradigm**

The overall goals of this dissertation are to characterize parkin-dependent proteasome modulation in central DA neuronal populations and determine if this process contributes to the differential susceptibility of these neurons to neurotoxicant exposure. MPTP is a protoxicant that crosses the blood brain barrier and is oxidized to the DA neuronal specific toxicant, MPP<sup>+</sup>. MPTP exposure causes many of the biochemical, pathological and clinical features of PD.

Following MPTP exposure, parkin mRNA and protein expression is increased in resistant TIDA neurons, while parkin mRNA expression is unchanged in susceptible NSDA neurons (M. Benskey et al., 2012). Parkin is an E3 ubiquitin ligase that contains an UBL domain that has been reported to bind to RPN13 of the proteasome 19S regulatory complex and enhance the activity of the 26S proteasome (Um et al., 2010). Parkin dependent proteasome modulation in central DA neuronal populations will be examined by manipulating levels of parkin expression in mice and measuring proteasome activity in tissue lysates or synaptosome extracts prepared from tissue lysates. In several of the studies presented herein, proteasome activity in WT mice was compared to either parkin knockout mice or mice over-expressing parkin. The exon 3 deletion mutation is one of the most common mutations in AR-JP and results in the absence of parkin protein. To this effect, parkin knockout mice were generated (Jackson Labs) by introducing a frame shift in exon three which results in a premature stop codon in exon 4 that prevents the translation of the parkin protein. Over-expression of parkin was achieved using AAV mediated gene transfer of F-parkin (M. J. Benskey et al., 2015).
The effects of MPTP toxicity vary in intensity with the dose, timing, and route of administration. There are many studies in the literature that utilize sub-acute and chronic dosing paradigms. Chronic administration of MPTP to mice results in degeneration of NSDA neurons and long-lasting inhibition of the UPS (Fornai et al., 2005). Although chronic administration of MPTP does not result in the formation of classic Lewy bodies in mice, it does result in the formation of a-synuclein positive aggregates that also contain ubiquitin (Forno, DeLanney, Irwin, & Langston, 1993; Meredith & Rademacher, 2011). The studies described here utilize a single acute MPTP dosing paradigm which allows the comparison of early events that occur following toxicant exposure that might play a role in the protection of TIDA axon terminals. This dosing paradigm results in decreases in striatal DA and TH immunoreactivity (TH-ir), ROS formation, and early ATP depletion and recovery (P. Chan, DeLanney, Irwin, Langston, & Di Monte, 1991; Chiba et al., 1984; Jackson-Lewis, Jakowec, Burke, & Przedborski, 1995; Lotharius & O'Malley, 2000). Observation of the events that occur following a low dose and short time course of a single injection is crucial to understanding the mechanism that renders some populations of DA neurons vulnerable to MPTP toxicity while others are resistant.

The low exposure dose and short time course following the single acute MPTP exposure paradigm results in initial dysfunction, such as loss of TH and displacement of vesicular DA, in both NSDA and TIDA axon terminals. However, TIDA neurons adapt and recover while NSDA neurons do not (Behrouz et al., 2007; Jackson-Lewis et al., 1995). In both mice and monkeys as well as PD post mortem brains, the loss of TH in NSDA neurons consistently precedes degeneration (Jackson-Lewis et al., 1995; Kastner et al., 1994; Kastner, Hirsch, Herrero, Javoy-Agid, & Agid, 1993). Therefore, axon terminal TH and DA concentrations serve as indices of impending neuronal degeneration. Examination of the early changes in these DA phenotypic markers, that predict DA neuronal susceptibility, and comparison of these events to those in resistant TIDA neurons, will allow the characterization of the effects of differential parkin expression and the resulting effect on proteasome activity within these neuronal populations.

# Summary

PD is a neurodegenerative disease with debilitating motor symptoms that are the consequence of the progressive loss of NSDA neurons. While there is severe loss of NSDA neurons, TIDA neurons of the mediobasal hypothalamus are not affected. A similar pattern of NSDA susceptibility and TIDA resistance occurs in a MPTP model of DA neuronal toxicity. Corresponding with the time frame of recovery of DA stores in TIDA neurons following MPTP exposure, expression of parkin mRNA and protein increases in a dose and time dependent manner in the Arc. However, parkin mRNA and protein expression remains unchanged in the SN. AAV mediated knockdown of parkin expression attenuates the ability of TIDA neurons to recover from this neurotoxic insult. Parkin is an E3 ubiquitin ligase that acts to covalently tag proteins with ubiquitin so that they may be recognized and degraded by the proteasome. Parkin contains a C-terminal RING-IBR-RING motif that is responsible for E3 ligase activity and a UBL domain necessary to bind to the 19S regulatory complex and enhance the activity of the 26S proteasome. Increased parkin expression within TIDA neurons following neurotoxic insult suggests that these DA neurons may have the ability to maintain proteostasis through the upregulation of parkin expression. The overall goals of this dissertation are to characterize parkindependent proteasome modulation in central DA neuronal populations and determine if this process contributes to the differential susceptibility of these neurons to neurotoxicant exposure.

56

#### **Thesis Objective**

The studies described in this dissertation were developed to test the central hypothesis that increased parkin expression in TIDA neurons confers protection from oxidative insult by increasing proteasome activity and that this process contributes to the differential susceptibility of these neurons to neurotoxicant exposure. To this end, the following specific aims were designed to test this hypothesis:

1) Characterization differential proteasome activity in the ST and ME of vehicle and MPTP treated mice.

<u>Hypothesis</u>: Following MPTP exposure, proteasome activity is impaired in brain regions containing the axon terminals of NSDA neurons, but is sustained in regions containing TIDA neurons.

<u>Null Hypothesis</u>: Following MPTP exposure, proteasome activity is not different in regions containing NSDA or TIDA terminals.

2) Determine if parkin expression is necessary to maintain proteasome activity in TIDA neurons following MPTP exposure.

<u>Hypothesis</u>: Experimental alterations in parkin expression will produce corresponding changes in proteasome activity and susceptibility of TIDA neurons in response to MPTP exposure.

<u>Null Hypothesis</u>: Experimental alterations in parkin expression do not produce a change in proteasome activity.

*3)* Determine if over-expression of hParkin in NSDA perikarya in the SN confers resistance to NSDA axon terminals in the ST after MPTP exposure.

<u>Hypothesis</u>: hParkin over-expression in the SN is sufficient to maintain proteasome activity and protect NSDA axon terminals from neurotoxicant insult. <u>Null Hypothesis</u>: hParkin over-expression in the SN is not sufficient to maintain proteasome activity and protect NSDA axon terminals from neurotoxicant insult.

The following chapters describe the research performed to address the above specific aims of this thesis. **Chapter 2** contains details for the Materials and Methods used for all of the studies described. **Chapters 3-5** describes findings as they relate to the Specific Aims of the thesis. **Chapter 6** provides a General Discussion of this research as it relates to previous findings and the information from the literature.

REFERENCES

### REFERENCES

- Aarsland, D., Larsen, J. P., Lim, N. G., Janvin, C., Karlsen, K., Tandberg, E., & Cummings, J. L. (1999). Range of neuropsychiatric disturbances in patients with Parkinson's disease. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry, 67(4), 492-496.
- Abramov, A. Y., Gegg, M., Grunewald, A., Wood, N. W., Klein, C., & Schapira, A. H. (2011). Bioenergetic consequences of PINK1 mutations in Parkinson disease. *PLoS One*, 6(10), e25622. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0025622
- Adams, J. D., Jr., Chang, M. L., & Klaidman, L. (2001). Parkinson's disease--redox mechanisms. *Curr Med Chem*, 8(7), 809-814.
- Adams, J. D., Yang, J., & Klaidman, L. (2006). Focus on Parkinson's Disease Research. New York: Nova Science Publishers.
- Aguileta, M. A., Korac, J., Durcan, T. M., Trempe, J. F., Haber, M., Gehring, K., . . . Husnjak, K. (2015). The E3 ubiquitin ligase parkin is recruited to the 26 S proteasome via the proteasomal ubiquitin receptor Rpn13. *J Biol Chem*, 290(12), 7492-7505. doi:10.1074/jbc.M114.614925
- Ahlskog, J. E. (2005). Challenging conventional wisdom: the etiologic role of dopamine oxidative stress in Parkinson's disease. *Mov Disord*, 20(3), 271-282. doi:10.1002/mds.20362
- Ahmed, H., Abushouk, A. I., Gabr, M., Negida, A., & Abdel-Daim, M. M. (2017). Parkinson's disease and pesticides: A meta-analysis of disease connection and genetic alterations. *Biomed Pharmacother*, 90, 638-649. doi:10.1016/j.biopha.2017.03.100
- Alam, Z. I., Jenner, A., Daniel, S. E., Lees, A. J., Cairns, N., Marsden, C. D., . . . Halliwell, B. (1997). Oxidative DNA damage in the parkinsonian brain: an apparent selective increase in 8-hydroxyguanine levels in substantia nigra. *J Neurochem*, 69(3), 1196-1203.
- Almeida, L., Deeb, W., Spears, C., Opri, E., Molina, R., Martinez-Ramirez, D., . . . Okun, M. S. (2017). Current Practice and the Future of Deep Brain Stimulation Therapy in Parkinson's Disease. Semin Neurol, 37(2), 205-214. doi:10.1055/s-0037-1601893
- Anatomy Chart Body. (2016). Sagittal Section of Human Brain. Anatomy Chart Body. Retrieved from <u>http://anatomybody-charts.us/sagittal-section-of-human-brain/sagittal-section-of-human-brain-2/</u>
- Annunziato, L., Leblanc, P., Kordon, C., & Weiner, R. I. (1980). Differences in the kinetics of dopamine uptake in synaptosome preparations of the median eminence relative to other dopaminergically inervated brain regions. *Neuroendocrinology*, 31(5), 316-320.

- Antony, P. M., Diederich, N. J., Kruger, R., & Balling, R. (2013). The hallmarks of Parkinson's disease. *FEBS J*, 280(23), 5981-5993. doi:10.1111/febs.12335
- Bao, L., Avshalumov, M. V., Patel, J. C., Lee, C. R., Miller, E. W., Chang, C. J., & Rice, M. E. (2009). Mitochondria are the source of hydrogen peroxide for dynamic brain-cell signaling. *J Neurosci*, 29(28), 9002-9010. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1706-09.2009
- Barbeau, A., Roy, M., Bernier, G., Campanella, G., & Paris, S. (1987). Ecogenetics of Parkinson's disease: prevalence and environmental aspects in rural areas. *Can J Neurol Sci*, 14(1), 36-41.
- Beaulieu, J. M., & Gainetdinov, R. R. (2011). The physiology, signaling, and pharmacology of dopamine receptors. *Pharmacol Rev*, 63(1), 182-217. doi:10.1124/pr.110.002642
- Behrouz, B., Drolet, R. E., Sayed, Z. A., Lookingland, K. J., & Goudreau, J. L. (2007). Unique responses to mitochondrial complex I inhibition in tuberoinfundibular dopamine neurons may impart resistance to toxic insult. *Neuroscience*, 147(3), 592-598. doi:10.1016/j.neuroscience.2007.05.007
- Bellot, G., Garcia-Medina, R., Gounon, P., Chiche, J., Roux, D., Pouyssegur, J., & Mazure, N. M. (2009). Hypoxia-induced autophagy is mediated through hypoxia-inducible factor induction of BNIP3 and BNIP3L via their BH3 domains. *Mol Cell Biol*, 29(10), 2570-2581. doi:10.1128/MCB.00166-09
- Ben-Jonathan, N., Oliver, C., Weiner, H. J., Mical, R. S., & Porter, J. C. (1977). Dopamine in hypophysial portal plasma of the rat during the estrous cycle and throughout pregnancy. *Endocrinology*, 100(2), 452-458. doi:10.1210/endo-100-2-452
- Benedetti, M. D., Bower, J. H., Maraganore, D. M., McDonnell, S. K., Peterson, B. J., Ahlskog, J. E., . . . Rocca, W. A. (2000). Smoking, alcohol, and coffee consumption preceding Parkinson's disease: a case-control study. *Neurology*, 55(9), 1350-1358.
- Benito-Leon, J., Bermejo-Pareja, F., Rodriguez, J., Molina, J. A., Gabriel, R., Morales, J. M., & Neurological Disorders in Central Spain Study, G. (2003). Prevalence of PD and other types of parkinsonism in three elderly populations of central Spain. *Mov Disord*, 18(3), 267-274. doi:10.1002/mds.10362
- Bennett, J. P., Jr., & Piercey, M. F. (1999). Pramipexole--a new dopamine agonist for the treatment of Parkinson's disease. *J Neurol Sci*, 163(1), 25-31.
- Benskey, M., Behrouz, B., Sunryd, J., Pappas, S. S., Baek, S. H., Huebner, M., . . . Goudreau, J. L. (2012). Recovery of hypothalamic tuberoinfundibular dopamine neurons from acute toxicant exposure is dependent upon protein synthesis and associated with an increase in parkin and ubiquitin carboxy-terminal hydrolase-L1 expression. *Neurotoxicology*, 33(3), 321-331. doi:10.1016/j.neuro.2012.02.001

- Benskey, M. J., Manfredsson, F. P., Lookingland, K. J., & Goudreau, J. L. (2015). The role of parkin in the differential susceptibility of tuberoinfundibular and nigrostriatal dopamine neurons to acute toxicant exposure. *Neurotoxicology*, 46, 1-11. doi:10.1016/j.neuro.2014.11.004
- Bergen, W. G. (1971). The in vitro effect of dieldrin on respiration of rat liver mitochondria. *Proc Soc Exp Biol Med*, *136*(3), 732-735.
- Bernheimer, H., Birkmayer, W., Hornykiewicz, O., Jellinger, K., & Seitelberger, F. (1973). Brain dopamine and the syndromes of Parkinson and Huntington. Clinical, morphological and neurochemical correlations. *J Neurol Sci*, 20(4), 415-455.
- Betarbet, R., Sherer, T. B., MacKenzie, G., Garcia-Osuna, M., Panov, A. V., & Greenamyre, J. T. (2000). Chronic systemic pesticide exposure reproduces features of Parkinson's disease. *Nat Neurosci*, 3(12), 1301-1306. doi:10.1038/81834
- Bharath, S., Hsu, M., Kaur, D., Rajagopalan, S., & Andersen, J. K. (2002). Glutathione, iron and Parkinson's disease. *Biochem Pharmacol*, 64(5-6), 1037-1048.
- Bharucha, N. E., Bharucha, E. P., Bharucha, A. E., Bhise, A. V., & Schoenberg, B. S. (1988). Prevalence of Parkinson's disease in the Parsi community of Bombay, India. Arch Neurol, 45(12), 1321-1323.
- Biskup, S., Moore, D. J., Celsi, F., Higashi, S., West, A. B., Andrabi, S. A., . . . Dawson, V. L. (2006). Localization of LRRK2 to membranous and vesicular structures in mammalian brain. *Ann Neurol*, 60(5), 557-569. doi:10.1002/ana.21019
- Blin, O., Desnuelle, C., Rascol, O., Borg, M., Peyro Saint Paul, H., Azulay, J. P., . . . et al. (1994). Mitochondrial respiratory failure in skeletal muscle from patients with Parkinson's disease and multiple system atrophy. *J Neurol Sci*, 125(1), 95-101.
- Blue Water Navy Vietnam Veterans and Agent Orange Exposure. (2011). Washington (DC): The National Academies Press.
- Bogenpohl, J. W., Ritter, S. L., Hall, R. A., & Smith, Y. (2012). Adenosine A2A receptor in the monkey basal ganglia: ultrastructural localization and colocalization with the metabotropic glutamate receptor 5 in the striatum. *J Comp Neurol*, 520(3), 570-589. doi:10.1002/cne.22751
- Bonifati, V. (2012). Autosomal recessive parkinsonism. *Parkinsonism Relat Disord*, 18 Suppl 1, S4-6. doi:10.1016/S1353-8020(11)70004-9
- Bonifati, V., Rizzu, P., van Baren, M. J., Schaap, O., Breedveld, G. J., Krieger, E., . . . Heutink, P. (2003). Mutations in the DJ-1 gene associated with autosomal recessive early-onset parkinsonism. *Science*, 299(5604), 256-259. doi:10.1126/science.1077209

- Bourdenx, M., Koulakiotis, N. S., Sanoudou, D., Bezard, E., Dehay, B., & Tsarbopoulos, A. (2017). Protein aggregation and neurodegeneration in prototypical neurodegenerative diseases: Examples of amyloidopathies, tauopathies and synucleinopathies. *Prog Neurobiol*, 155, 171-193. doi:10.1016/j.pneurobio.2015.07.003
- Boyd, K. N., & Mailman, R. B. (2012). Dopamine receptor signaling and current and future antipsychotic drugs. *Handb Exp Pharmacol*(212), 53-86. doi:10.1007/978-3-642-25761-2\_3
- Braak, H., & Braak, E. (2000). Pathoanatomy of Parkinson's disease. J Neurol, 247 Suppl 2, II3-10. doi:10.1007/PL00007758
- Braak, H., Del Tredici, K., Rub, U., de Vos, R. A., Jansen Steur, E. N., & Braak, E. (2003). Staging of brain pathology related to sporadic Parkinson's disease. *Neurobiol Aging*, 24(2), 197-211.
- Braak, H., Ghebremedhin, E., Rub, U., Bratzke, H., & Del Tredici, K. (2004). Stages in the development of Parkinson's disease-related pathology. *Cell Tissue Res*, *318*(1), 121-134. doi:10.1007/s00441-004-0956-9
- Bywood, P. T., & Johnson, S. M. (2003). Mitochondrial complex inhibitors preferentially damage substantia nigra dopamine neurons in rat brain slices. *Exp Neurol*, *179*(1), 47-59.
- Caneda-Ferron, B., De Girolamo, L. A., Costa, T., Beck, K. E., Layfield, R., & Billett, E. E. (2008). Assessment of the direct and indirect effects of MPP+ and dopamine on the human proteasome: implications for Parkinson's disease aetiology. *J Neurochem*, 105(1), 225-238. doi:10.1111/j.1471-4159.2007.05130.x
- Cass, W. A., Zahniser, N. R., Flach, K. A., & Gerhardt, G. A. (1993). Clearance of exogenous dopamine in rat dorsal striatum and nucleus accumbens: role of metabolism and effects of locally applied uptake inhibitors. *J Neurochem*, 61(6), 2269-2278.
- Chan, C. S., Gertler, T. S., & Surmeier, D. J. (2009). Calcium homeostasis, selective vulnerability and Parkinson's disease. *Trends Neurosci*, *32*(5), 249-256. doi:10.1016/j.tins.2009.01.006
- Chan, N. C., & Chan, D. C. (2011). Parkin uses the UPS to ship off dysfunctional mitochondria. *Autophagy*, 7(7), 771-772.
- Chan, P., DeLanney, L. E., Irwin, I., Langston, J. W., & Di Monte, D. (1991). Rapid ATP loss caused by 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine in mouse brain. *J Neurochem*, 57(1), 348-351.
- Chaugule, V. K., Burchell, L., Barber, K. R., Sidhu, A., Leslie, S. J., Shaw, G. S., & Walden, H. (2011). Autoregulation of Parkin activity through its ubiquitin-like domain. *EMBO J*, 30(14), 2853-2867. doi:10.1038/emboj.2011.204

- Chen, C. C., Chen, T. F., Hwang, Y. C., Wen, Y. R., Chiu, Y. H., Wu, C. Y., ... Liou, H. H. (2009). Different prevalence rates of Parkinson's disease in urban and rural areas: a population-based study in Taiwan. *Neuroepidemiology*, 33(4), 350-357. doi:10.1159/000254572
- Chen, J., Song, J., Yuan, P., Tian, Q., Ji, Y., Ren-Patterson, R., . . . Weinberger, D. R. (2011). Orientation and cellular distribution of membrane-bound catechol-O-methyltransferase in cortical neurons: implications for drug development. *J Biol Chem*, 286(40), 34752-34760. doi:10.1074/jbc.M111.262790
- Cheng, H. C., Ulane, C. M., & Burke, R. E. (2010). Clinical progression in Parkinson disease and the neurobiology of axons. *Ann Neurol*, 67(6), 715-725. doi:10.1002/ana.21995
- Cherra, S. J., 3rd, Kulich, S. M., Uechi, G., Balasubramani, M., Mountzouris, J., Day, B. W., & Chu, C. T. (2010). Regulation of the autophagy protein LC3 by phosphorylation. *J Cell Biol*, *190*(4), 533-539. doi:10.1083/jcb.201002108
- Chiba, K., Trevor, A., & Castagnoli, N., Jr. (1984). Metabolism of the neurotoxic tertiary amine, MPTP, by brain monoamine oxidase. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, 120(2), 574-578.
- Chinta, S. J., Mallajosyula, J. K., Rane, A., & Andersen, J. K. (2010). Mitochondrial alphasynuclein accumulation impairs complex I function in dopaminergic neurons and results in increased mitophagy in vivo. *Neurosci Lett*, 486(3), 235-239. doi:10.1016/j.neulet.2010.09.061
- Chouraki V, Seshadri S. (2014). Genetics of Alzheimer's disease. Adv. Genet. 87, 245-294.
  Chung, K. K., Thomas, B., Li, X., Pletnikova, O., Troncoso, J. C., Marsh, L., ... Dawson, T. M. (2004). S-nitrosylation of parkin regulates ubiquitination and compromises parkin's protective function. Science, 304(5675), 1328-1331. doi:10.1126/science.1093891
- Clark, I. E., Dodson, M. W., Jiang, C., Cao, J. H., Huh, J. R., Seol, J. H., . . . Guo, M. (2006). Drosophila pink1 is required for mitochondrial function and interacts genetically with parkin. *Nature*, 441(7097), 1162-1166. doi:10.1038/nature04779
- Clarke, C. E., & Moore, A. P. (2007). Parkinson's disease. Am Fam Physician, 75(7), 1045-1048.
- Claveria, L. E., Duarte, J., Sevillano, M. D., Perez-Sempere, A., Cabezas, C., Rodriguez, F., & de Pedro-Cuesta, J. (2002). Prevalence of Parkinson's disease in Cantalejo, Spain: a doorto-door survey. *Mov Disord*, 17(2), 242-249.
- Cleeter, M. W., Cooper, J. M., & Schapira, A. H. (1992). Irreversible inhibition of mitochondrial complex I by 1-methyl-4-phenylpyridinium: evidence for free radical involvement. J *Neurochem*, 58(2), 786-789.

- Cuervo, A. M., Stefanis, L., Fredenburg, R., Lansbury, P. T., & Sulzer, D. (2004). Impaired degradation of mutant alpha-synuclein by chaperone-mediated autophagy. *Science*, 305(5688), 1292-1295. doi:10.1126/science.1101738
- Cuervo, A. M., & Wong, E. (2014). Chaperone-mediated autophagy: roles in disease and aging. *Cell Res*, 24(1), 92-104. doi:10.1038/cr.2013.153
- D'Amato, R. J., Lipman, Z. P., & Snyder, S. H. (1986). Selectivity of the parkinsonian neurotoxin MPTP: toxic metabolite MPP+ binds to neuromelanin. *Science*, 231(4741), 987-989.
- Dachsel, J. C., Lucking, C. B., Deeg, S., Schultz, E., Lalowski, M., Casademunt, E., . . . Gasser, T. (2005). Parkin interacts with the proteasome subunit alpha4. *FEBS Lett*, *579*(18), 3913-3919. doi:10.1016/j.febslet.2005.06.003
- Dauer, W., & Przedborski, S. (2003). Parkinson's disease: mechanisms and models. *Neuron*, 39(6), 889-909.
- de Lau, L. M., & Breteler, M. M. (2006). Epidemiology of Parkinson's disease. *Lancet Neurol*, 5(6), 525-535. doi:10.1016/S1474-4422(06)70471-9
- de Rijk, M. C., Breteler, M. M., Graveland, G. A., Ott, A., Grobbee, D. E., van der Meche, F. G., & Hofman, A. (1995). Prevalence of Parkinson's disease in the elderly: the Rotterdam Study. *Neurology*, 45(12), 2143-2146.
- de Rijk, M. C., Tzourio, C., Breteler, M. M., Dartigues, J. F., Amaducci, L., Lopez-Pousa, S., ... Rocca, W. A. (1997). Prevalence of parkinsonism and Parkinson's disease in Europe: the EUROPARKINSON Collaborative Study. European Community Concerted Action on the Epidemiology of Parkinson's disease. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry, 62(1), 10-15.
- Dehay, B., Ramirez, A., Martinez-Vicente, M., Perier, C., Canron, M. H., Doudnikoff, E., . . . Bezard, E. (2012). Loss of P-type ATPase ATP13A2/PARK9 function induces general lysosomal deficiency and leads to Parkinson disease neurodegeneration. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 109(24), 9611-9616. doi:10.1073/pnas.1112368109
- Delcambre, S., Nonnenmacher, Y., & Hiller, K. (2016). *Dopamine metabolism and reactive* oxygen species production (L. M. Buhlman Ed.). Switzerland: Springer.
- Demarest, K. T., & Moore, K. E. (1979). Lack of a high affinity transport system for dopamine in the median eminence and posterior pituitary. *Brain Res*, 171(3), 545-551.
- Demaurex, N., Poburko, D., & Frieden, M. (2009). Regulation of plasma membrane calcium fluxes by mitochondria. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, *1787*(11), 1383-1394. doi:10.1016/j.bbabio.2008.12.012

- Deng, H., Liang, H., & Jankovic, J. (2013). F-box only protein 7 gene in parkinsonian-pyramidal disease. JAMA Neurol, 70(1), 20-24. doi:10.1001/jamaneurol.2013.572
- Devine, M. J., Gwinn, K., Singleton, A., & Hardy, J. (2011). Parkinson's disease and alphasynuclein expression. *Mov Disord*, 26(12), 2160-2168. doi:10.1002/mds.23948
- Di Fonzo, A. (2006). A common missense variant in the LRRK2 gene, Gly2385Arg, associated with Parkinson's risk in Tiwan. *Neurogenetics*. 7(3): 133-138.
- Di Fonzo, A., Dekker, M. C., Montagna, P., Baruzzi, A., Yonova, E. H., Correia Guedes, L., . . . Bonifati, V. (2009). FBXO7 mutations cause autosomal recessive, early-onset parkinsonian-pyramidal syndrome. *Neurology*, 72(3), 240-245. doi:10.1212/01.wnl.0000338144.10967.2b
- Di Giovanni, G., Pessia, M., & Di Maio, R. (2012). Redox sensitivity of tyrosine hydroxylase activity and expression in dopaminergic dysfunction. *CNS Neurol Disord Drug Targets*, 11(4), 419-429.
- Doskeland, A. P., & Flatmark, T. (2002). Ubiquitination of soluble and membrane-bound tyrosine hydroxylase and degradation of the soluble form. *Eur J Biochem*, 269(5), 1561-1569.
- Dunkley, P. R., Bobrovskaya, L., Graham, M. E., von Nagy-Felsobuki, E. I., & Dickson, P. W. (2004). Tyrosine hydroxylase phosphorylation: regulation and consequences. J Neurochem, 91(5), 1025-1043. doi:10.1111/j.1471-4159.2004.02797.x
- Ehlinger, A., & Walters, K. J. (2013). Structural insights into proteasome activation by the 19S regulatory particle. *Biochemistry*, 52(21), 3618-3628. doi:10.1021/bi400417a
- Engberg, G., Elebring, T., & Nissbrandt, H. (1991). Deprenyl (selegiline), a selective MAO-B inhibitor with active metabolites; effects on locomotor activity, dopaminergic neurotransmission and firing rate of nigral dopamine neurons. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther*, 259(2), 841-847.
- Exner, N., Treske, B., Paquet, D., Holmstrom, K., Schiesling, C., Gispert, S., ... Haass, C. (2007). Loss-of-function of human PINK1 results in mitochondrial pathology and can be rescued by parkin. *J Neurosci*, 27(45), 12413-12418. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0719-07.2007
- Fahn, S. (2003). Description of Parkinson's disease as a clinical syndrome. *Ann N Y Acad Sci*, 991, 1-14.
- Fahn, S., & Cohen, G. (1992). The oxidant stress hypothesis in Parkinson's disease: evidence supporting it. *Ann Neurol*, 32(6), 804-812. doi:10.1002/ana.410320616

- Fall, P. A., Axelson, O., Fredriksson, M., Hansson, G., Lindvall, B., Olsson, J. E., & Granerus, A. K. (1996). Age-standardized incidence and prevalence of Parkinson's disease in a Swedish community. J Clin Epidemiol, 49(6), 637-641.
- Faucheux, B. A., Martin, M. E., Beaumont, C., Hauw, J. J., Agid, Y., & Hirsch, E. C. (2003). Neuromelanin associated redox-active iron is increased in the substantia nigra of patients with Parkinson's disease. *J Neurochem*, 86(5), 1142-1148.
- Fearnley, J. M., & Lees, A. J. (1991). Ageing and Parkinson's disease: substantia nigra regional selectivity. *Brain*, 114 (*Pt 5*), 2283-2301.
- Felten, D. L., & Shetty, A. N. (2010). *Netter's Atlas of Neuroscience* (2nd Edition ed.). Canada: Elsevier.
- Fermaglich, J. (1974). Treatment of Parkinson's disease with carbidopa, a peripheral decarboxylase inhibitor, and levodopa. *Med Ann Dist Columbia*, 43(12), 587-591.
- Fiesel, F. C., Caulfield, T. R., Moussaud-Lamodiere, E. L., Ogaki, K., Dourado, D. F., Flores, S. C., . . . Springer, W. (2015). Structural and Functional Impact of Parkinson Disease-Associated Mutations in the E3 Ubiquitin Ligase Parkin. *Hum Mutat*, 36(8), 774-786. doi:10.1002/humu.22808
- Finberg, J. P. (2010). Pharmacology of Rasagiline, a New MAO-B Inhibitor Drug for the Treatment of Parkinson's Disease with Neuroprotective Potential. *Rambam Maimonides Med J*, 1(1), e0003. doi:10.5041/RMMJ.10003
- Finkelstein, M. M., & Jerrett, M. (2007). A study of the relationships between Parkinson's disease and markers of traffic-derived and environmental manganese air pollution in two Canadian cities. *Environ Res*, 104(3), 420-432. doi:10.1016/j.envres.2007.03.002
- Fitzgerald, P., & Dinan, T. G. (2008). Prolactin and dopamine: what is the connection? A review article. *J Psychopharmacol*, 22(2 Suppl), 12-19. doi:10.1177/0269216307087148
- Floor, E., & Wetzel, M. G. (1998). Increased protein oxidation in human substantia nigra pars compacta in comparison with basal ganglia and prefrontal cortex measured with an improved dinitrophenylhydrazine assay. *J Neurochem*, 70(1), 268-275.
- Fornai, F., Schluter, O. M., Lenzi, P., Gesi, M., Ruffoli, R., Ferrucci, M., . . . Sudhof, T. C. (2005). Parkinson-like syndrome induced by continuous MPTP infusion: convergent roles of the ubiquitin-proteasome system and alpha-synuclein. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 102(9), 3413-3418. doi:10.1073/pnas.0409713102
- Forno, L. S., DeLanney, L. E., Irwin, I., & Langston, J. W. (1993). Similarities and differences between MPTP-induced parkinsonsim and Parkinson's disease. Neuropathologic considerations. Adv Neurol, 60, 600-608.

- Fowler, J. S., Logan, J., Wang, G. J., & Volkow, N. D. (2003). Monoamine oxidase and cigarette smoking. *Neurotoxicology*, 24(1), 75-82.
- Fowler, J. S., Volkow, N. D., Wang, G. J., Pappas, N., Logan, J., MacGregor, R., ... Cilento, R. (1996). Inhibition of monoamine oxidase B in the brains of smokers. *Nature*, 379(6567), 733-736. doi:10.1038/379733a0
- Fu, R. H., Huang, L. C., Lin, C. Y., & Tsai, C. W. (2017). Modulation of ARTS and XIAP by Parkin Is Associated with Carnosic Acid Protects SH-SY5Y Cells against 6-Hydroxydopamine-Induced Apoptosis. *Mol Neurobiol*. doi:10.1007/s12035-017-0443-4
- Fuertes, G., Villarroya, A., & Knecht, E. (2003). Role of proteasomes in the degradation of short-lived proteins in human fibroblasts under various growth conditions. *Int J Biochem Cell Biol*, 35(5), 651-664.
- Gao, H. M., Kotzbauer, P. T., Uryu, K., Leight, S., Trojanowski, J. Q., & Lee, V. M. (2008). Neuroinflammation and oxidation/nitration of alpha-synuclein linked to dopaminergic neurodegeneration. *J Neurosci*, 28(30), 7687-7698. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0143-07.2008
- Gasser, T. (2007). Update on the genetics of Parkinson's disease. *Mov Disord*, 22 Suppl 17, S343-350. doi:10.1002/mds.21676
- Gegg, M. E., Cooper, J. M., Schapira, A. H., & Taanman, J. W. (2009). Silencing of PINK1 expression affects mitochondrial DNA and oxidative phosphorylation in dopaminergic cells. *PLoS One*, 4(3), e4756. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0004756
- Geisler, S., Holmstrom, K. M., Treis, A., Skujat, D., Weber, S. S., Fiesel, F. C., ... Springer, W. (2010). The PINK1/Parkin-mediated mitophagy is compromised by PD-associated mutations. *Autophagy*, 6(7), 871-878.
- Genc, S., Zadeoglulari, Z., Fuss, S. H., & Genc, K. (2012). The adverse effects of air pollution on the nervous system. *J Toxicol*, 2012, 782462. doi:10.1155/2012/782462
- Giros, B., Jaber, M., Jones, S. R., Wightman, R. M., & Caron, M. G. (1996). Hyperlocomotion and indifference to cocaine and amphetamine in mice lacking the dopamine transporter. *Nature*, *379*(6566), 606-612. doi:10.1038/379606a0
- Goldman, S. M., Quinlan, P. J., Ross, G. W., Marras, C., Meng, C., Bhudhikanok, G. S., . . . Tanner, C. M. (2012). Solvent exposures and Parkinson disease risk in twins. *Ann Neurol*, 71(6), 776-784. doi:10.1002/ana.22629
- Gorell, J. M., Johnson, C. C., Rybicki, B. A., Peterson, E. L., Kortsha, G. X., Brown, G. G., & Richardson, R. J. (1997). Occupational exposures to metals as risk factors for Parkinson's disease. *Neurology*, 48(3), 650-658.

- Gorell, J. M., Rybicki, B. A., Cole Johnson, C., & Peterson, E. L. (1999). Occupational metal exposures and the risk of Parkinson's disease. *Neuroepidemiology*, 18(6), 303-308. doi:26225
- Grice, G. L., & Nathan, J. A. (2016). The recognition of ubiquitinated proteins by the proteasome. *Cell Mol Life Sci*, 73(18), 3497-3506. doi:10.1007/s00018-016-2255-5
- Grunewald, A., Kasten, M., Ziegler, A., & Klein, C. (2013). Next-generation phenotyping using the parkin example: time to catch up with genetics. *JAMA Neurol*, 70(9), 1186-1191. doi:10.1001/jamaneurol.2013.488
- Haas, R. H., Nasirian, F., Nakano, K., Ward, D., Pay, M., Hill, R., & Shults, C. W. (1995). Low platelet mitochondrial complex I and complex II/III activity in early untreated Parkinson's disease. *Ann Neurol*, 37(6), 714-722. doi:10.1002/ana.410370604
- Haavik, J., Almas, B., & Flatmark, T. (1997). Generation of reactive oxygen species by tyrosine hydroxylase: a possible contribution to the degeneration of dopaminergic neurons? J Neurochem, 68(1), 328-332.
- Hawong, H. Y. (2014). *Parkin mediated mitochondrial control in central dopamine neurons*. (PhD), Michigan State Unviersity, East Lansing, MI.
- Hayyan, M., Hashim, M. A., & AlNashef, I. M. (2016). Superoxide Ion: Generation and Chemical Implications. *Chem Rev*, 116(5), 3029-3085. doi:10.1021/acs.chemrev.5b00407
- He, A. Y., Qiu, L. J., Gao, Y., Zhu, Y., Xu, Z. W., Xu, J. M., & Zhang, Z. H. (2011). The role of oxidative stress in neuromelanin synthesis in PC12 cells. *Neuroscience*, 189, 43-50. doi:10.1016/j.neuroscience.2011.05.040
- Hellenbrand, W., Seidler, A., Robra, B. P., Vieregge, P., Oertel, W. H., Joerg, J., . . . Ulm, G. (1997). Smoking and Parkinson's disease: a case-control study in Germany. *Int J Epidemiol*, 26(2), 328-339.
- Henchcliffe, C., & Beal, M. F. (2008). Mitochondrial biology and oxidative stress in Parkinson disease pathogenesis. Nat Clin Pract Neurol, 4(11), 600-609. doi:10.1038/ncpneuro0924
- Henn, I. H., Gostner, J. M., Lackner, P., Tatzelt, J., & Winklhofer, K. F. (2005). Pathogenic mutations inactivate parkin by distinct mechanisms. *J Neurochem*, 92(1), 114-122. doi:10.1111/j.1471-4159.2004.02854.x
- Hensler, J. G., Artigas, F., Bortolozzi, A., Daws, L. C., De Deurwaerdere, P., Milan, L., ... Koek, W. (2013). Catecholamine/Serotonin interactions: systems thinking for brain function and disease. *Adv Pharmacol*, 68, 167-197. doi:10.1016/B978-0-12-411512-5.00009-9

- Hernan, M. A., Takkouche, B., Caamano-Isorna, F., & Gestal-Otero, J. J. (2002). A metaanalysis of coffee drinking, cigarette smoking, and the risk of Parkinson's disease. Ann Neurol, 52(3), 276-284. doi:10.1002/ana.10277
- Hersch, S. M., Ciliax, B. J., Gutekunst, C. A., Rees, H. D., Heilman, C. J., Yung, K. K., ... Levey, A. I. (1995). Electron microscopic analysis of D1 and D2 dopamine receptor proteins in the dorsal striatum and their synaptic relationships with motor corticostriatal afferents. *J Neurosci*, 15(7 Pt 2), 5222-5237.
- Heutink, P. (2006). PINK-1 and DJ-1--new genes for autosomal recessive Parkinson's disease. J Neural Transm Suppl(70), 215-219.
- Hirsch, E. C. (1992). Why are nigral catecholaminergic neurons more vulnerable than other cells in Parkinson's disease? *Ann Neurol*, *32 Suppl*, S88-93.
- Hirsch, E. C., Faucheux, B., Damier, P., Mouatt-Prigent, A., & Agid, Y. (1997). Neuronal vulnerability in Parkinson's disease. *J Neural Transm Suppl*, 50, 79-88.
- Hoppel, C. L., Grinblatt, D., Kwok, H. C., Arora, P. K., Singh, M. P., & Sayre, L. M. (1987). Inhibition of mitochondrial respiration by analogs of 4-phenylpyridine and 1-methyl-4phenylpyridinium cation (MPP+), the neurotoxic metabolite of MPTP. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, 148(2), 684-693.
- Ibanez, P., Lesage, S., Janin, S., Lohmann, E., Durif, F., Destee, A., . . . French Parkinson's Disease Genetics Study, G. (2009). Alpha-synuclein gene rearrangements in dominantly inherited parkinsonism: frequency, phenotype, and mechanisms. *Arch Neurol*, 66(1), 102-108. doi:10.1001/archneurol.2008.555
- Jaber, M., Jones, S., Giros, B., & Caron, M. G. (1997). The dopamine transporter: a crucial component regulating dopamine transmission. *Mov Disord*, 12(5), 629-633. doi:10.1002/mds.870120502
- Jackson-Lewis, V., Jakowec, M., Burke, R. E., & Przedborski, S. (1995). Time course and morphology of dopaminergic neuronal death caused by the neurotoxin 1-methyl-4phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine. *Neurodegeneration*, 4(3), 257-269.
- Jackson-Lewis, V., & Przedborski, S. (2007). Protocol for the MPTP mouse model of Parkinson's disease. *Nat Protoc*, 2(1), 141-151. doi:10.1038/nprot.2006.342
- Jenner, P. (2003). Oxidative stress in Parkinson's disease. Ann Neurol, 53 Suppl 3, S26-36; discussion S36-28. doi:10.1002/ana.10483
- Johri, A., & Beal, M. F. (2012). Mitochondrial dysfunction in neurodegenerative diseases. J Pharmacol Exp Ther, 342(3), 619-630. doi:10.1124/jpet.112.192138

- Jonkers, N., Sarre, S., Ebinger, G., & Michotte, Y. (2001). Benserazide decreases central AADC activity, extracellular dopamine levels and levodopa decarboxylation in striatum of the rat. *J Neural Transm (Vienna)*, *108*(5), 559-570. doi:10.1007/s007020170056
- Kageyama, T., Imura, T., Matsuo, A., Minato, N., & Shimohama, S. (2000). Distribution of the 4F2 light chain, LAT1, in the mouse brain. *Neuroreport*, 11(17), 3663-3666.
- Kanki, T. (2009). [Molecular mechanism of mitochondria autophagy]. *Fukuoka Igaku Zasshi*, 100(9), 291-297.
- Karbowski, M., & Youle, R. J. (2011). Regulating mitochondrial outer membrane proteins by ubiquitination and proteasomal degradation. *Curr Opin Cell Biol*, 23(4), 476-482. doi:10.1016/j.ceb.2011.05.007
- Kastner, A., Herrero, M. T., Hirsch, E. C., Guillen, J., Luquin, M. R., Javoy-Agid, F., . . . Agid, Y. (1994). Decreased tyrosine hydroxylase content in the dopaminergic neurons of MPTP-intoxicated monkeys: effect of levodopa and GM1 ganglioside therapy. *Ann Neurol*, 36(2), 206-214. doi:10.1002/ana.410360213
- Kastner, A., Hirsch, E. C., Herrero, M. T., Javoy-Agid, F., & Agid, Y. (1993).
   Immunocytochemical quantification of tyrosine hydroxylase at a cellular level in the mesencephalon of control subjects and patients with Parkinson's and Alzheimer's disease. J Neurochem, 61(3), 1024-1034.
- Kim, R. H., Smith, P. D., Aleyasin, H., Hayley, S., Mount, M. P., Pownall, S., ... Mak, T. W. (2005). Hypersensitivity of DJ-1-deficient mice to 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6tetrahydropyrindine (MPTP) and oxidative stress. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 102(14), 5215-5220. doi:10.1073/pnas.0501282102
- Kitada, T., Asakawa, S., Hattori, N., Matsumine, H., Yamamura, Y., Minoshima, S., . . . Shimizu, N. (1998). Mutations in the parkin gene cause autosomal recessive juvenile parkinsonism. *Nature*, 392(6676), 605-608. doi:10.1038/33416
- Kiyohara, C., & Kusuhara, S. (2011). Cigarette smoking and Parkinson's disease: a metaanalysis. *Fukuoka Igaku Zasshi*, 102(8), 254-265.
- Klein, C., & Westenberger, A. (2012). Genetics of Parkinson's disease. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med*, 2(1), a008888. doi:10.1101/cshperspect.a008888
- Ko, H. S., Kim, S. W., Sriram, S. R., Dawson, V. L., & Dawson, T. M. (2006). Identification of far upstream element-binding protein-1 as an authentic Parkin substrate. *J Biol Chem*, 281(24), 16193-16196. doi:10.1074/jbc.C600041200
- Konta, B., & Frank, W. (2008). The treatment of Parkinson's disease with dopamine agonists. GMS Health Technol Assess, 4, Doc05.

- Kristal, B. S., Conway, A. D., Brown, A. M., Jain, J. C., Ulluci, P. A., Li, S. W., & Burke, W. J. (2001). Selective dopaminergic vulnerability: 3,4-dihydroxyphenylacetaldehyde targets mitochondria. *Free Radic Biol Med*, 30(8), 924-931.
- Kruger, R.(1999). Increased susceptibility to sporadic Parkinson's disease by a certain combined alpha-synuclein/apolipoprotein E genotype. Ann Neurol, 45(5), 611-7.
- Kunz, J. B., Schwarz, H., & Mayer, A. (2004). Determination of four sequential stages during microautophagy in vitro. *J Biol Chem*, 279(11), 9987-9996. doi:10.1074/jbc.M307905200
- Langston, J. W., Ballard, P., Tetrud, J. W., & Irwin, I. (1983). Chronic Parkinsonism in humans due to a product of meperidine-analog synthesis. *Science*, 219(4587), 979-980.
- Langston, J. W., & Forno, L. S. (1978). The hypothalamus in Parkinson disease. *Ann Neurol*, 3(2), 129-133. doi:10.1002/ana.410030207
- Langston, J. W., Forno, L. S., Tetrud, J., Reeves, A. G., Kaplan, J. A., & Karluk, D. (1999). Evidence of active nerve cell degeneration in the substantia nigra of humans years after 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine exposure. *Ann Neurol*, 46(4), 598-605.
- Langston, J. W., & Palfreman, J. (2013). *The Case of the Frozen Addicts*. Amsterdam, The Netherlands: IOS Press.
- Le, W., Conneely, O. M., Zou, L., He, Y., Saucedo-Cardenas, O., Jankovic, J., . . . Appel, S. H. (1999). Selective agenesis of mesencephalic dopaminergic neurons in Nurr1-deficient mice. *Exp Neurol*, 159(2), 451-458. doi:10.1006/exnr.1999.7191
- Leroy, E., Boyer, R., & Polymeropoulos, M. H. (1998). Intron-exon structure of ubiquitin cterminal hydrolase-L1. *DNA Res*, 5(6), 397-400.
- Les Laboratoires. (2017). Servier Medical Arts. Retrieved from smart.servier.com
- Lev, N., Ickowicz, D., Melamed, E., & Offen, D. (2008). Oxidative insults induce DJ-1 upregulation and redistribution: implications for neuroprotection. *Neurotoxicology*, 29(3), 397-405. doi:10.1016/j.neuro.2008.01.007
- Levine, B., & Kroemer, G. (2008). Autophagy in the pathogenesis of disease. *Cell*, 132(1), 27-42. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2007.12.018
- Levitt, M., Spector, S., Sjoerdsma, A., & Udenfriend, S. (1965). Elucidation of the Rate-Limiting Step in Norepinephrine Biosynthesis in the Perfused Guinea-Pig Heart. J Pharmacol Exp Ther, 148, 1-8.
- LeWitt, P. A. (2015). Levodopa therapy for Parkinson's disease: Pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics. *Mov Disord*, *30*(1), 64-72. doi:10.1002/mds.26082

- LeWitt, P. A., Miller, L. P., Newman, R. P., Burns, R. S., Insel, T., Levine, R. A., ... Calne, D. B. (1984). Tyrosine hydroxylase cofactor (tetrahydrobiopterin) in parkinsonism. Adv Neurol, 40, 459-462.
- Li, B., Hu, Q., Wang, H., Man, N., Ren, H., Wen, L., . . . Wang, G. (2010). Omi/HtrA2 is a positive regulator of autophagy that facilitates the degradation of mutant proteins involved in neurodegenerative diseases. *Cell Death Differ*, 17(11), 1773-1784. doi:10.1038/cdd.2010.55
- Li, S. C., Schoenberg, B. S., Wang, C. C., Cheng, X. M., Rui, D. Y., Bolis, C. L., & Schoenberg, D. G. (1985). A prevalence survey of Parkinson's disease and other movement disorders in the People's Republic of China. *Arch Neurol*, 42(7), 655-657.
- Li, X., Li, W., Liu, G., Shen, X., & Tang, Y. (2015). Association between cigarette smoking and Parkinson's disease: A meta-analysis. Arch Gerontol Geriatr, 61(3), 510-516. doi:10.1016/j.archger.2015.08.004
- Lim, K. L., Dawson, V. L., & Dawson, T. M. (2006). Parkin-mediated lysine 63-linked polyubiquitination: a link to protein inclusions formation in Parkinson's and other conformational diseases? *Neurobiol Aging*, 27(4), 524-529. doi:10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2005.07.023
- Lindquist, N. G., Larsson, B. S., & Lyden-Sokolowski, A. (1988). Autoradiography of [14C]paraquat or [14C]diquat in frogs and mice: accumulation in neuromelanin. *Neurosci Lett*, 93(1), 1-6.
- Liu, Y., Roghani, A., & Edwards, R. H. (1992). Gene transfer of a reserpine-sensitive mechanism of resistance to N-methyl-4-phenylpyridinium. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 89(19), 9074-9078.
- Lohr, K. M., Chen, M., Hoffman, C. A., McDaniel, M. J., Stout, K. A., Dunn, A. R., . . . Miller, G. W. (2016). Vesicular Monoamine Transporter 2 (VMAT2) Level Regulates MPTP Vulnerability and Clearance of Excess Dopamine in Mouse Striatal Terminals. *Toxicol Sci*, 153(1), 79-88. doi:10.1093/toxsci/kfw106
- Lohr, K. M., & Miller, G. W. (2014). VMAT2 and Parkinson's disease: harnessing the dopamine vesicle. *Expert Rev Neurother*, *14*(10), 1115-1117. doi:10.1586/14737175.2014.960399
- Lopez-Otin, C., Blasco, M. A., Partridge, L., Serrano, M., & Kroemer, G. (2013). The hallmarks of aging. *Cell*, 153(6), 1194-1217. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2013.05.039
- Lotharius, J., & O'Malley, K. L. (2000). The parkinsonism-inducing drug 1-methyl-4phenylpyridinium triggers intracellular dopamine oxidation. A novel mechanism of toxicity. J Biol Chem, 275(49), 38581-38588. doi:10.1074/jbc.M005385200

- Lucking, C. B., Durr, A., Bonifati, V., Vaughan, J., De Michele, G., Gasser, T., . . . European Consortium on Genetic Susceptibility in Parkinson's, D. (2000). Association between early-onset Parkinson's disease and mutations in the parkin gene. N Engl J Med, 342(21), 1560-1567. doi:10.1056/NEJM200005253422103
- Mannisto, P. T., Ulmanen, I., Lundstrom, K., Taskinen, J., Tenhunen, J., Tilgmann, C., & Kaakkola, S. (1992). Characteristics of catechol O-methyl-transferase (COMT) and properties of selective COMT inhibitors. *Prog Drug Res*, 39, 291-350.
- Maraganore DM. (2006). Collaborative analysis of alpha-synuclein gene promoter variability and Parkinson disease. *JAMA*. 296(6): 661-670.
- Marchitti, S. A., Deitrich, R. A., & Vasiliou, V. (2007). Neurotoxicity and metabolism of the catecholamine-derived 3,4-dihydroxyphenylacetaldehyde and 3,4dihydroxyphenylglycolaldehyde: the role of aldehyde dehydrogenase. *Pharmacol Rev*, 59(2), 125-150. doi:10.1124/pr.59.2.1
- Marder, K. S., Tang, M. X., Mejia-Santana, H., Rosado, L., Louis, E. D., Comella, C. L., ... Clark, L. N. (2010). Predictors of parkin mutations in early-onset Parkinson disease: the consortium on risk for early-onset Parkinson disease study. *Arch Neurol*, 67(6), 731-738. doi:10.1001/archneurol.2010.95
- Martinez-Vicente, M., Talloczy, Z., Kaushik, S., Massey, A. C., Mazzulli, J., Mosharov, E. V., . . . Cuervo, A. M. (2008). Dopamine-modified alpha-synuclein blocks chaperone-mediated autophagy. J Clin Invest, 118(2), 777-788. doi:10.1172/JCI32806
- Matsuda, N., & Tanaka, K. (2010). Uncovering the roles of PINK1 and parkin in mitophagy. *Autophagy*, 6(7), 952-954. doi:10.4161/auto.6.7.13039
- Matsuda, W., Furuta, T., Nakamura, K. C., Hioki, H., Fujiyama, F., Arai, R., & Kaneko, T. (2009). Single nigrostriatal dopaminergic neurons form widely spread and highly dense axonal arborizations in the neostriatum. *J Neurosci*, 29(2), 444-453. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4029-08.2009
- Matsumine, H. (1998). A loss-of-function mechanism of nigral neuron death without Lewy body formation: autosomal recessive juvenile parkinsonism (AR-JP). *J Neurol*, 245(11 Suppl 3), P10-14.
- Matzuk, M. M., & Saper, C. B. (1985). Preservation of hypothalamic dopaminergic neurons in Parkinson's disease. Ann Neurol, 18(5), 552-555. doi:10.1002/ana.410180507
- May, L. J., & Wightman, R. M. (1989). Effects of D-2 antagonists on frequency-dependent stimulated dopamine overflow in nucleus accumbens and caudate-putamen. J *Neurochem*, 53(3), 898-906.

- McNaught, K. S., Belizaire, R., Isacson, O., Jenner, P., & Olanow, C. W. (2003). Altered proteasomal function in sporadic Parkinson's disease. *Exp Neurol*, 179(1), 38-46.
- McNaught, K. S., & Jenner, P. (2001). Proteasomal function is impaired in substantia nigra in Parkinson's disease. *Neurosci Lett*, 297(3), 191-194.
- McNaught, K. S., Perl, D. P., Brownell, A. L., & Olanow, C. W. (2004). Systemic exposure to proteasome inhibitors causes a progressive model of Parkinson's disease. *Ann Neurol*, 56(1), 149-162. doi:10.1002/ana.20186
- McNaught, K. S., Shashidharan, P., Perl, D. P., Jenner, P., & Olanow, C. W. (2002). Aggresomerelated biogenesis of Lewy bodies. *Eur J Neurosci*, 16(11), 2136-2148.
- Meiser, J., Weindl, D., & Hiller, K. (2013). Complexity of dopamine metabolism. *Cell Commun Signal*, *11*(1), 34. doi:10.1186/1478-811X-11-34
- Meredith, G. E., & Rademacher, D. J. (2011). MPTP mouse models of Parkinson's disease: an update. *J Parkinsons Dis*, 1(1), 19-33. doi:10.3233/JPD-2011-11023
- Miyazaki, I., & Asanuma, M. (2008). Dopaminergic neuron-specific oxidative stress caused by dopamine itself. *Acta Med Okayama*, 62(3), 141-150.
- Mizuno, Y., Ohta, S., Tanaka, M., Takamiya, S., Suzuki, K., Sato, T., . . . Kagawa, Y. (1989).
   Deficiencies in complex I subunits of the respiratory chain in Parkinson's disease.
   *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, 163(3), 1450-1455.
- Moccia, M., Erro, R., Picillo, M., Vitale, C., Longo, K., Amboni, M., . . . Barone, P. (2016). Caffeine consumption and the 4-year progression of de novo Parkinson's disease. *Parkinsonism Relat Disord*, 32, 116-119. doi:10.1016/j.parkreldis.2016.08.005
- Mochizuki, H., & Yasuda, T. (2012). Iron accumulation in Parkinson's disease. J Neural Transm (Vienna), 119(12), 1511-1514. doi:10.1007/s00702-012-0905-9
- Mogi, M., Harada, M., Kojima, K., Kiuchi, K., & Nagatsu, T. (1988). Effects of systemic administration of 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine to mice on tyrosine hydroxylase, L-3,4-dihydroxyphenylalanine decarboxylase, dopamine beta-hydroxylase, and monoamine oxidase activities in the striatum and hypothalamus. J Neurochem, 50(4), 1053-1056.
- Moisoi, N., Klupsch, K., Fedele, V., East, P., Sharma, S., Renton, A., . . . Martins, L. M. (2009). Mitochondrial dysfunction triggered by loss of HtrA2 results in the activation of a brainspecific transcriptional stress response. *Cell Death Differ*, 16(3), 449-464. doi:10.1038/cdd.2008.166
- Morgan, J. C., & Sethi, K. D. (2006). Rotigotine for the treatment of Parkinson's disease. *Expert Rev Neurother*, 6(9), 1275-1282. doi:10.1586/14737175.6.9.1275

- Morgante, L., Nicoletti, A., Epifanio, A., Contrafatto, D., Savica, R., Lanzafame, S., . . . Zappia, M. (2008). Prevalence of Parkinson's disease and other types of parkinsonism in the Aeolian Archipelago, Sicily. *Parkinsonism Relat Disord*, 14(7), 572-575. doi:10.1016/j.parkreldis.2007.11.010
- Mori, A. (2014). Mode of action of adenosine A2A receptor antagonists as symptomatic treatment for Parkinson's disease. *Int Rev Neurobiol*, *119*, 87-116. doi:10.1016/B978-0-12-801022-8.00004-0
- Mori, A., & Shindou, T. (2003). Modulation of GABAergic transmission in the striatopallidal system by adenosine A2A receptors: a potential mechanism for the antiparkinsonian effects of A2A antagonists. *Neurology*, *61*(11 Suppl 6), S44-48.
- Muftuoglu, M., Elibol, B., Dalmizrak, O., Ercan, A., Kulaksiz, G., Ogus, H., . . . Ozer, N. (2004). Mitochondrial complex I and IV activities in leukocytes from patients with parkin mutations. *Mov Disord*, 19(5), 544-548. doi:10.1002/mds.10695
- Muga, A., Arrondo, J. L., Martinez, A., Flatmark, T., & Haavik, J. (1998). The effect of phosphorylation at Ser-40 on the structure and thermal stability of tyrosine hydroxylase. *Adv Pharmacol*, 42, 15-18.
- Munoz, P., Huenchuguala, S., Paris, I., & Segura-Aguilar, J. (2012). Dopamine oxidation and autophagy. *Parkinsons Dis*, 2012, 920953. doi:10.1155/2012/920953
- Munoz, P., Paris, I., Sanders, L. H., Greenamyre, J. T., & Segura-Aguilar, J. (2012). Overexpression of VMAT-2 and DT-diaphorase protects substantia nigra-derived cells against aminochrome neurotoxicity. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 1822(7), 1125-1136. doi:10.1016/j.bbadis.2012.03.010
- Mytilineou, C., Werner, P., Molinari, S., Di Rocco, A., Cohen, G., & Yahr, M. D. (1994). Impaired oxidative decarboxylation of pyruvate in fibroblasts from patients with Parkinson's disease. *J Neural Transm Park Dis Dement Sect*, 8(3), 223-228.
- Nakashima, A., Mori, K., Kaneko, Y. S., Hayashi, N., Nagatsu, T., & Ota, A. (2011). Phosphorylation of the N-terminal portion of tyrosine hydroxylase triggers proteasomal digestion of the enzyme. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, 407(2), 343-347. doi:10.1016/j.bbrc.2011.03.020
- Nalls, MA. (2013). A multicenter study of glucocerebrosidase mutations in dementia with Lewy bodies. Jama Neurol. 70(6): 727-735.
- Narendra, D., Tanaka, A., Suen, D. F., & Youle, R. J. (2008). Parkin is recruited selectively to impaired mitochondria and promotes their autophagy. *J Cell Biol*, 183(5), 795-803. doi:10.1083/jcb.200809125

- Nicklas, W. J., Youngster, S. K., Kindt, M. V., & Heikkila, R. E. (1987). MPTP, MPP+ and mitochondrial function. *Life Sci*, 40(8), 721-729.
- Norris, E. H., Uryu, K., Leight, S., Giasson, B. I., Trojanowski, J. Q., & Lee, V. M. (2007). Pesticide exposure exacerbates alpha-synucleinopathy in an A53T transgenic mouse model. Am J Pathol, 170(2), 658-666. doi:10.2353/ajpath.2007.060359
- Olanow, C. W., Perl, D. P., DeMartino, G. N., & McNaught, K. S. (2004). Lewy-body formation is an aggresome-related process: a hypothesis. *Lancet Neurol*, *3*(8), 496-503. doi:10.1016/S1474-4422(04)00827-0
- Orenstein, S. J., Kuo, S. H., Tasset, I., Arias, E., Koga, H., Fernandez-Carasa, I., . . . Cuervo, A. M. (2013). Interplay of LRRK2 with chaperone-mediated autophagy. *Nat Neurosci*, *16*(4), 394-406. doi:10.1038/nn.3350
- Orrenius, S., Zhivotovsky, B., & Nicotera, P. (2003). Regulation of cell death: the calciumapoptosis link. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol*, 4(7), 552-565. doi:10.1038/nrm1150
- Paisan-Ruiz, C., Jain, S., Evans, E. W., Gilks, W. P., Simon, J., van der Brug, M., . . . Singleton, A. B. (2004). Cloning of the gene containing mutations that cause PARK8-linked Parkinson's disease. *Neuron*, 44(4), 595-600. doi:10.1016/j.neuron.2004.10.023
- Palacios, N., Gao, X., McCullough, M. L., Schwarzschild, M. A., Shah, R., Gapstur, S., & Ascherio, A. (2012). Caffeine and risk of Parkinson's disease in a large cohort of men and women. *Mov Disord*, 27(10), 1276-1282. doi:10.1002/mds.25076
- Parkinson's Disease and Agent Orange. (2016). Retrieved from <u>https://www.publichealth.va.gov/exposures/agentorange/conditions/parkinsonsdisease.as</u> <u>p</u>
- Parkinson's Disease Foundation. (2017a). Statistics on Parkinson's. Retrieved from <u>http://www.pdf.org/parkinson\_statistics</u>
- Parkinson's Disease Foundation. (2017b). Symptoms. Retrieved from <u>http://www.pdf.org/symptoms</u>
- Pearce, R. K., Owen, A., Daniel, S., Jenner, P., & Marsden, C. D. (1997). Alterations in the distribution of glutathione in the substantia nigra in Parkinson's disease. *J Neural Transm* (*Vienna*), 104(6-7), 661-677. doi:10.1007/BF01291884
- Periquet, M., Corti, O., Jacquier, S., & Brice, A. (2005). Proteomic analysis of parkin knockout mice: alterations in energy metabolism, protein handling and synaptic function. J Neurochem, 95(5), 1259-1276. doi:10.1111/j.1471-4159.2005.03442.x
- Pezzoli, G., & Cereda, E. (2013). Exposure to pesticides or solvents and risk of Parkinson disease. *Neurology*, 80(22), 2035-2041. doi:10.1212/WNL.0b013e318294b3c8

- Pifl, C., Rajput, A., Reither, H., Blesa, J., Cavada, C., Obeso, J. A., . . . Hornykiewicz, O. (2014). Is Parkinson's disease a vesicular dopamine storage disorder? Evidence from a study in isolated synaptic vesicles of human and nonhuman primate striatum. *J Neurosci*, 34(24), 8210-8218. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5456-13.2014
- Pollack, A. E. (2001). Anatomy, physiology, and pharmacology of the basal ganglia. *Neurol Clin*, *19*(3), 523-534, v.
- Polymeropoulos, M. H., Lavedan, C., Leroy, E., Ide, S. E., Dehejia, A., Dutra, A., . . . Nussbaum, R. L. (1997). Mutation in the alpha-synuclein gene identified in families with Parkinson's disease. *Science*, 276(5321), 2045-2047.
- Pringsheim, T., Jette, N., Frolkis, A., & Steeves, T. D. (2014). The prevalence of Parkinson's disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Mov Disord*, 29(13), 1583-1590. doi:10.1002/mds.25945
- Przedborski, S., Jackson-Lewis, V., Djaldetti, R., Liberatore, G., Vila, M., Vukosavic, S., & Almer, G. (2000). The parkinsonian toxin MPTP: action and mechanism. *Restor Neurol Neurosci*, *16*(2), 135-142.
- Putzier, I., Kullmann, P. H., Horn, J. P., & Levitan, E. S. (2009). Cav1.3 channel voltage dependence, not Ca2+ selectivity, drives pacemaker activity and amplifies bursts in nigral dopamine neurons. *J Neurosci*, 29(49), 15414-15419. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4742-09.2009
- Qi, H., & Li, S. (2014). Dose-response meta-analysis on coffee, tea and caffeine consumption with risk of Parkinson's disease. *Geriatr Gerontol Int*, 14(2), 430-439. doi:10.1111/ggi.12123
- Ramirez, A., Heimbach, A., Grundemann, J., Stiller, B., Hampshire, D., Cid, L. P., . . . Kubisch, C. (2006). Hereditary parkinsonism with dementia is caused by mutations in ATP13A2, encoding a lysosomal type 5 P-type ATPase. *Nat Genet*, *38*(10), 1184-1191. doi:10.1038/ng1884
- Ramsey, A. J., Hillas, P. J., & Fitzpatrick, P. F. (1996). Characterization of the active site iron in tyrosine hydroxylase. Redox states of the iron. *J Biol Chem*, 271(40), 24395-24400.
- Reichmann, H., & Emre, M. (2012). Optimizing levodopa therapy to treat wearing-off symptoms in Parkinson's disease: focus on levodopa/carbidopa/entacapone. *Expert Rev Neurother*, 12(2), 119-131. doi:10.1586/ern.11.203
- Revay, R., Vaughan, R., Grant, S., & Kuhar, M. J. (1996). Dopamine transporter immunohistochemistry in median eminence, amygdala, and other areas of the rat brain. *Synapse*, 22(2), 93-99. doi:10.1002/(SICI)1098-2396(199602)22:2<93::AID-SYN1>3.0.CO;2-C

- Rice, M. E., Patel, J. C., & Cragg, S. J. (2011). Dopamine release in the basal ganglia. *Neuroscience*, 198, 112-137. doi:10.1016/j.neuroscience.2011.08.066
- Richardson, J. R., Caudle, W. M., Guillot, T. S., Watson, J. L., Nakamaru-Ogiso, E., Seo, B. B., . . Miller, G. W. (2007). Obligatory role for complex I inhibition in the dopaminergic neurotoxicity of 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine (MPTP). *Toxicol Sci*, 95(1), 196-204. doi:10.1093/toxsci/kf1133
- Riddle, E. L., Fleckenstein, A. E., & Hanson, G. R. (2006). Mechanisms of methamphetamineinduced dopaminergic neurotoxicity. *AAPS J*, 8(2), E413-418.
- Roberts, K. M., & Fitzpatrick, P. F. (2013). Mechanisms of tryptophan and tyrosine hydroxylase. *IUBMB Life*, 65(4), 350-357. doi:10.1002/iub.1144
- Roberts, R. F., Tang, M. Y., Fon, E. A., & Durcan, T. M. (2016). Defending the mitochondria: The pathways of mitophagy and mitochondrial-derived vesicles. *Int J Biochem Cell Biol*, 79, 427-436. doi:10.1016/j.biocel.2016.07.020
- Ross, O. A., Braithwaite, A. T., Skipper, L. M., Kachergus, J., Hulihan, M. M., Middleton, F. A., ... Farrer, M. J. (2008). Genomic investigation of alpha-synuclein multiplication and parkinsonism. *Ann Neurol*, 63(6), 743-750. doi:10.1002/ana.21380
- Sakata, E., Yamaguchi, Y., Kurimoto, E., Kikuchi, J., Yokoyama, S., Yamada, S., . . . Kato, K. (2003). Parkin binds the Rpn10 subunit of 26S proteasomes through its ubiquitin-like domain. *EMBO Rep*, 4(3), 301-306. doi:10.1038/sj.embor.embor764
- Salach, J. I., Singer, T. P., Castagnoli, N., Jr., & Trevor, A. (1984). Oxidation of the neurotoxic amine 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine (MPTP) by monoamine oxidases A and B and suicide inactivation of the enzymes by MPTP. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, 125(2), 831-835.
- Schapira, A. H. (1993). Mitochondrial complex I deficiency in Parkinson's disease. *Adv Neurol*, 60, 288-291.
- Scheffner, M., Nuber, U., & Huibregtse, J. M. (1995). Protein ubiquitination involving an E1-E2-E3 enzyme ubiquitin thioester cascade. *Nature*, 373(6509), 81-83. doi:10.1038/373081a0
- Sechi, G. P. (2010). Reduced glutathione and Parkinson's disease. *Mov Disord*, 25(15), 2690-2691. doi:10.1002/mds.23383
- Segal, N. L. (2012). Solvent exposure and Parkinson's disease: co-twin control study. *Twin Res Hum Genet*, 15(3), 468-469. doi:10.1017/thg.2012.16

- Shi, C. H., Tang, B. S., Wang, L., Lv, Z. Y., Wang, J., Luo, L. Z., ... Guo, J. F. (2011). PLA2G6 gene mutation in autosomal recessive early-onset parkinsonism in a Chinese cohort. *Neurology*, 77(1), 75-81. doi:10.1212/WNL.0b013e318221acd3
- Shiba-Fukushima, K., Imai, Y., Yoshida, S., Ishihama, Y., Kanao, T., Sato, S., & Hattori, N. (2012). PINK1-mediated phosphorylation of the Parkin ubiquitin-like domain primes mitochondrial translocation of Parkin and regulates mitophagy. *Sci Rep*, 2, 1002. doi:10.1038/srep01002
- Shin, J. H., Ko, H. S., Kang, H., Lee, Y., Lee, Y. I., Pletinkova, O., . . . Dawson, T. M. (2011). PARIS (ZNF746) repression of PGC-1alpha contributes to neurodegeneration in Parkinson's disease. *Cell*, 144(5), 689-702. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2011.02.010
- Shintani, T., Huang, W. P., Stromhaug, P. E., & Klionsky, D. J. (2002). Mechanism of cargo selection in the cytoplasm to vacuole targeting pathway. *Dev Cell*, *3*(6), 825-837.
- Singleton, A., & Hardy, J. (2011). A generalizable hypothesis for the genetic architecture of disease: pleomorphic risk loci. *Hum Mol Genet*, 20(R2), R158-162. doi:10.1093/hmg/ddr358
- Singleton, A. B., Farrer, M., Johnson, J., Singleton, A., Hague, S., Kachergus, J., ... Gwinn-Hardy, K. (2003). alpha-Synuclein locus triplication causes Parkinson's disease. *Science*, 302(5646), 841. doi:10.1126/science.1090278
- Snyder, A. M., & Connor, J. R. (2009). Iron, the substantia nigra and related neurological disorders. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 1790(7), 606-614. doi:10.1016/j.bbagen.2008.08.005
- Spencer, J. P., Jenner, P., Daniel, S. E., Lees, A. J., Marsden, D. C., & Halliwell, B. (1998). Conjugates of catecholamines with cysteine and GSH in Parkinson's disease: possible mechanisms of formation involving reactive oxygen species. *J Neurochem*, 71(5), 2112-2122.
- Springer, W., & Kahle, P. J. (2011). Regulation of PINK1-Parkin-mediated mitophagy. *Autophagy*, 7(3), 266-278.
- Sriram, S. R., Li, X., Ko, H. S., Chung, K. K., Wong, E., Lim, K. L., . . . Dawson, T. M. (2005). Familial-associated mutations differentially disrupt the solubility, localization, binding and ubiquitination properties of parkin. *Hum Mol Genet*, 14(17), 2571-2586. doi:10.1093/hmg/ddi292
- Steenland, K., Hein, M. J., Cassinelli, R. T., 2nd, Prince, M. M., Nilsen, N. B., Whelan, E. A., . . . Schnorr, T. M. (2006). Polychlorinated biphenyls and neurodegenerative disease mortality in an occupational cohort. *Epidemiology*, 17(1), 8-13.
- Stocchi, F., Jenner, P., & Obeso, J. A. (2010). When do levodopa motor fluctuations first appear in Parkinson's disease? *Eur Neurol*, 63(5), 257-266. doi:10.1159/000300647

- Suaud-Chagny, M. F., Ponec, J., & Gonon, F. (1991). Presynaptic autoinhibition of the electrically evoked dopamine release studied in the rat olfactory tubercle by in vivo electrochemistry. *Neuroscience*, *45*(3), 641-652.
- Subramaniam, S. R., Vergnes, L., Franich, N. R., Reue, K., & Chesselet, M. F. (2014). Region specific mitochondrial impairment in mice with widespread overexpression of alphasynuclein. *Neurobiol Dis*, 70, 204-213. doi:10.1016/j.nbd.2014.06.017
- Sulzer, D. (2007). Multiple hit hypotheses for dopamine neuron loss in Parkinson's disease. *Trends Neurosci*, 30(5), 244-250. doi:10.1016/j.tins.2007.03.009
- Sulzer, D., Bogulavsky, J., Larsen, K. E., Behr, G., Karatekin, E., Kleinman, M. H., ... Zecca, L. (2000). Neuromelanin biosynthesis is driven by excess cytosolic catecholamines not accumulated by synaptic vesicles. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 97(22), 11869-11874. doi:10.1073/pnas.97.22.11869
- Sulzer, D., & Surmeier, D. J. (2013). Neuronal vulnerability, pathogenesis, and Parkinson's disease. *Mov Disord*, 28(6), 715-724. doi:10.1002/mds.25187
- Surmeier, D. J., Ding, J., Day, M., Wang, Z., & Shen, W. (2007). D1 and D2 dopamine-receptor modulation of striatal glutamatergic signaling in striatal medium spiny neurons. *Trends Neurosci*, 30(5), 228-235. doi:10.1016/j.tins.2007.03.008
- Surmeier, D. J., Song, W. J., & Yan, Z. (1996). Coordinated expression of dopamine receptors in neostriatal medium spiny neurons. J Neurosci, 16(20), 6579-6591.
- Suzuki, Y., Imai, Y., Nakayama, H., Takahashi, K., Takio, K., & Takahashi, R. (2001). A serine protease, HtrA2, is released from the mitochondria and interacts with XIAP, inducing cell death. *Mol Cell*, 8(3), 613-621.
- Takalo, M., Salminen, A., Soininen, H., Hiltunen, M., & Haapasalo, A. (2013). Protein aggregation and degradation mechanisms in neurodegenerative diseases. Am J Neurodegener Dis, 2(1), 1-14.
- Tanaka, A. (2010). Parkin-mediated selective mitochondrial autophagy, mitophagy: Parkin purges damaged organelles from the vital mitochondrial network. *FEBS Lett*, 584(7), 1386-1392. doi:10.1016/j.febslet.2010.02.060
- Tanaka, K. (2009). The proteasome: overview of structure and functions. *Proc Jpn Acad Ser B Phys Biol Sci*, 85(1), 12-36.
- Tanner, C. M., & Ben-Shlomo, Y. (1999). Epidemiology of Parkinson's disease. Adv Neurol, 80, 153-159.

- Tanner, C. M., Kamel, F., Ross, G. W., Hoppin, J. A., Goldman, S. M., Korell, M., . . . Langston, J. W. (2011). Rotenone, paraquat, and Parkinson's disease. *Environ Health Perspect*, 119(6), 866-872. doi:10.1289/ehp.1002839
- Tayebi, N. Gaucher disease and parkinonism: a phenotypic and genotypic characterization. Mol. Genet. Metab. 73(4): 313-321.
- Taylor, E. B., & Rutter, J. (2011). Mitochondrial quality control by the ubiquitin-proteasome system. *Biochem Soc Trans*, *39*(5), 1509-1513. doi:10.1042/BST0391509
- Thomas, K. J., McCoy, M. K., Blackinton, J., Beilina, A., van der Brug, M., Sandebring, A., . . . Cookson, M. R. (2011). DJ-1 acts in parallel to the PINK1/parkin pathway to control mitochondrial function and autophagy. *Hum Mol Genet*, 20(1), 40-50. doi:10.1093/hmg/ddq430
- Timmerman, W., De Vries, J. B., & Westerink, B. H. (1990). Effects of D-2 agonists on the release of dopamine: localization of the mechanism of action. *Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch Pharmacol*, 342(6), 650-654.
- Trempe, J. F., Sauve, V., Grenier, K., Seirafi, M., Tang, M. Y., Menade, M., . . . Gehring, K. (2013). Structure of parkin reveals mechanisms for ubiquitin ligase activation. *Science*, 340(6139), 1451-1455. doi:10.1126/science.1237908
- Tsuji, S. (1987). A mutation in the human glucocerebrosidase gene in neuropathic Gaucher's disease. N. Engl J. Med. 316(10): 570-575.
- Uhl, G. R. (1998). Hypothesis: the role of dopaminergic transporters in selective vulnerability of cells in Parkinson's disease. *Ann Neurol*, 43(5), 555-560. doi:10.1002/ana.410430503
- Um, J. W., Im, E., Lee, H. J., Min, B., Yoo, L., Yoo, J., . . . Chung, K. C. (2010). Parkin directly modulates 26S proteasome activity. *J Neurosci*, 30(35), 11805-11814. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2862-09.2010
- Valente, E. M., Bentivoglio, A. R., Dixon, P. H., Ferraris, A., Ialongo, T., Frontali, M., . . . Wood, N. W. (2001). Localization of a novel locus for autosomal recessive early-onset parkinsonism, PARK6, on human chromosome 1p35-p36. *Am J Hum Genet*, 68(4), 895-900.
- van der Mark, M., Brouwer, M., Kromhout, H., Nijssen, P., Huss, A., & Vermeulen, R. (2012). Is pesticide use related to Parkinson disease? Some clues to heterogeneity in study results. *Environ Health Perspect*, 120(3), 340-347. doi:10.1289/ehp.1103881
- von Coelln, R., Dawson, V. L., & Dawson, T. M. (2004). Parkin-associated Parkinson's disease. Cell Tissue Res, 318(1), 175-184. doi:10.1007/s00441-004-0924-4

- Wan, O. W., & Chung, K. K. (2012). The role of alpha-synuclein oligomerization and aggregation in cellular and animal models of Parkinson's disease. *PLoS One*, 7(6), e38545. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0038545
- Wauer, T., & Komander, D. (2013). Structure of the human Parkin ligase domain in an autoinhibited state. *EMBO J*, 32(15), 2099-2112. doi:10.1038/emboj.2013.125
- Wauer, T., Simicek, M., Schubert, A., & Komander, D. (2015). Mechanism of phosphoubiquitin-induced PARKIN activation. *Nature*, 524(7565), 370-374. doi:10.1038/nature14879
- Weisskopf, M. G., Knekt, P., O'Reilly, E. J., Lyytinen, J., Reunanen, A., Laden, F., . . . Ascherio, A. (2012). Polychlorinated biphenyls in prospectively collected serum and Parkinson's disease risk. *Mov Disord*, 27(13), 1659-1665. doi:10.1002/mds.25217
- Westerink, B. H., & de Vries, J. B. (1989). On the mechanism of neuroleptic induced increase in striatal dopamine release: brain dialysis provides direct evidence for mediation by autoreceptors localized on nerve terminals. *Neurosci Lett*, *99*(1-2), 197-202.
- Willis, A. W., Evanoff, B. A., Lian, M., Galarza, A., Wegrzyn, A., Schootman, M., & Racette, B. A. (2010). Metal emissions and urban incident Parkinson disease: a community health study of Medicare beneficiaries by using geographic information systems. *Am J Epidemiol*, 172(12), 1357-1363. doi:10.1093/aje/kwq303
- Willis, G. L., & Donnan, G. A. (1987). Histochemical, biochemical and behavioural consequences of MPTP treatment in C-57 black mice. *Brain Res*, 402(2), 269-274.
- Wilson, M. A. (2011). The role of cysteine oxidation in DJ-1 function and dysfunction. *Antioxid Redox Signal*, 15(1), 111-122. doi:10.1089/ars.2010.3481
- Winklhofer, K. F., Tatzelt, J., & Haass, C. (2008). The two faces of protein misfolding: gain- and loss-of-function in neurodegenerative diseases. *EMBO J*, 27(2), 336-349. doi:10.1038/sj.emboj.7601930
- Wirdefeldt, K., Adami, H. O., Cole, P., Trichopoulos, D., & Mandel, J. (2011). Epidemiology and etiology of Parkinson's disease: a review of the evidence. *Eur J Epidemiol*, 26 Suppl 1, S1-58. doi:10.1007/s10654-011-9581-6
- Wood-Kaczmar, A., Gandhi, S., Yao, Z., Abramov, A. Y., Miljan, E. A., Keen, G., ... Wood, N. W. (2008). PINK1 is necessary for long term survival and mitochondrial function in human dopaminergic neurons. *PLoS One*, *3*(6), e2455. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0002455
- Wu, R. M., Chen, R. C., & Chiueh, C. C. (2000). Effect of MAO-B inhibitors on MPP+ toxicity in Vivo. *Ann N Y Acad Sci*, 899, 255-261.

- Yanagida, T., Tsushima, J., Kitamura, Y., Yanagisawa, D., Takata, K., Shibaike, T., . . . Ariga, H. (2009). Oxidative stress induction of DJ-1 protein in reactive astrocytes scavenges free radicals and reduces cell injury. *Oxid Med Cell Longev*, 2(1), 36-42.
- Yoritaka, A., Hattori, N., Uchida, K., Tanaka, M., Stadtman, E. R., & Mizuno, Y. (1996). Immunohistochemical detection of 4-hydroxynonenal protein adducts in Parkinson disease. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 93(7), 2696-2701.
- Yoshii, S. R., Kishi, C., Ishihara, N., & Mizushima, N. (2011). Parkin mediates proteasomedependent protein degradation and rupture of the outer mitochondrial membrane. *J Biol Chem*, 286(22), 19630-19640. doi:10.1074/jbc.M110.209338
- Zang, L. Y., & Misra, H. P. (1993). Generation of reactive oxygen species during the monoamine oxidase-catalyzed oxidation of the neurotoxicant, 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6tetrahydropyridine. J Biol Chem, 268(22), 16504-16512.
- Zecca, L., Shima, T., Stroppolo, A., Goj, C., Battiston, G. A., Gerbasi, R., . . . Swartz, H. M. (1996). Interaction of neuromelanin and iron in substantia nigra and other areas of human brain. *Neuroscience*, 73(2), 407-415.
- Zecca, L., Tampellini, D., Gerlach, M., Riederer, P., Fariello, R. G., & Sulzer, D. (2001). Substantia nigra neuromelanin: structure, synthesis, and molecular behaviour. *Mol Pathol*, 54(6), 414-418.
- Zecca, L., Zucca, F. A., Costi, P., Tampellini, D., Gatti, A., Gerlach, M., . . . Sulzer, D. (2003). The neuromelanin of human substantia nigra: structure, synthesis and molecular behaviour. J Neural Transm Suppl(65), 145-155.
- Zecca, L., Zucca, F. A., Wilms, H., & Sulzer, D. (2003). Neuromelanin of the substantia nigra: a neuronal black hole with protective and toxic characteristics. *Trends Neurosci*, 26(11), 578-580. doi:10.1016/j.tins.2003.08.009
- Zeng, B. Y., Iravani, M. M., Lin, S. T., Irifune, M., Kuoppamaki, M., Al-Barghouthy, G., . . . Jenner, P. (2006). MPTP treatment of common marmosets impairs proteasomal enzyme activity and decreases expression of structural and regulatory elements of the 26S proteasome. *Eur J Neurosci*, 23(7), 1766-1774. doi:10.1111/j.1460-9568.2006.04718.x
- Zhang, J., Fitsanakis, V. A., Gu, G., Jing, D., Ao, M., Amarnath, V., & Montine, T. J. (2003). Manganese ethylene-bis-dithiocarbamate and selective dopaminergic neurodegeneration in rat: a link through mitochondrial dysfunction. *J Neurochem*, 84(2), 336-346.
- Zhang, J., Perry, G., Smith, M. A., Robertson, D., Olson, S. J., Graham, D. G., & Montine, T. J. (1999). Parkinson's disease is associated with oxidative damage to cytoplasmic DNA and RNA in substantia nigra neurons. *Am J Pathol*, 154(5), 1423-1429. doi:10.1016/S0002-9440(10)65396-5

- Zhang, W., Phillips, K., Wielgus, A. R., Liu, J., Albertini, A., Zucca, F. A., ... Zecca, L. (2011). Neuromelanin activates microglia and induces degeneration of dopaminergic neurons: implications for progression of Parkinson's disease. *Neurotox Res*, 19(1), 63-72. doi:10.1007/s12640-009-9140-z
- Zigmond, M. J., Hastings, T. G., & Perez, R. G. (2002). Increased dopamine turnover after partial loss of dopaminergic neuro
- Zimprich, A., Muller-Myhsok, B., Farrer, M., Leitner, P., Sharma, M., Hulihan, M., . . . Gasser, T. (2004). The PARK8 locus in autosomal dominant parkinsonism: confirmation of linkage and further delineation of the disease-containing interval. Am J Hum Genet, 74(1), 11-19. doi:10.1086/380647
- Ziviani, E., & Whitworth, A. J. (2010). How could Parkin-mediated ubiquitination of mitofusin promote mitophagy? *Autophagy*, 6(5), 660-662. doi:10.4161/auto.6.5.12242

### **Chapter 2. Material and Methods**

# Animals

All experiments were conducted in 8 to12 week old, male, C57BL/6J mice (Jackson Laboratories, Bar Harbor, MA) or in house homozygous parkin (Park2<sup>tm1Shn</sup>) knockout (KO) mice (Goldberg et al., 2003). Purchased animals were acclimated for one week in our animal care facility before experiments were conducted. Mice were randomly assigned to treatment groups, and housed two to five animals per Optimice<sup>®</sup> cage (Animal Care Systems, Centennial, CO), maintained in a light-controlled (12 h light/dark cycle; lights on 0600 h) temperature-controlled (22 ±1°C) room, with standard lab chow and tap water provided *ad libitum*. The Michigan State University Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee approved all experiments using live animals (AUF 10/14 183-00).

## **Drugs and Administration**

Unless otherwise stated, all drugs were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (St. Louis, MO). All drug injections were administered at 0.01 mL/g of body weight.

### Single Acute MPTP

1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine (MPTP) purchased from Santa Cruz Biotechnology (Dallas, Texas) was dissolved in 0.9% sterile saline in a crimped amber vial at a freebase concentration of 2 mg /mL. The solution was vigorously vortexed and placed on ice. Mice received a single injection of either saline (0.01 mL/g; s.c.) or MPTP (20 mg/kg; s.c.) and the experiment was terminated at 2, 4, 6, 8, 12, 16 or 24 h after the MPTP injection. Saline

86

injected control mice were sacrificed 2 h post injection and used as zero time controls for time course studies. In all other cases, all mice were sacrificed either 2 or 24 h after injection depending on the endpoint of the experiment.

## NSD-1015

3-hydroxybenzylhydrazine (NSD-1015) was dissolved in 0.9% sterile saline in a crimped amber vial at a freebase concentration of 10 mg /mL. The solution was vigorously vortexed and placed on ice. Mice were treated with NSD-1015 (100 mg/kg; i.p.) 30 min prior to sacrifice.

## Levodopa/Benserazide

3,4-dihydroxy-L-phenylalanine (Levodopa) was dissolved in 0.9% sterile saline in a crimped amber vial at a freebase concentration of 2.5 mg/mL with the peripheral DOPA decarboxylase inhibitor, benserazide, at a freebase concentration of 1.25 mg/mL. The solution was vigorously vortexed and placed on ice. Levodopa (25 mg/kg; i.p.) and benserazide (12.5 mg/kg; i.p.) were co-administered 1 h prior to the start of the treadmill session for each mouse.

### Ketamine/Xylazine

Ketamine (100 mg/mL Ketathesia<sup>TM,</sup> Butler Schein Animal Health, Dublin, OH) was diluted to 12 mg/mL and xylazine was diluted to 1.8 mg/mL in 0.9% sterile saline. For all surgical procedures mice were anesthetized using an i.p. injection of 120 mg/kg ketamine and 18 mg/kg xylazine.

# **Tissue Preparation**

For biochemical analyses, mice were sacrificed by decapitation and the brains were quickly removed and placed on an ice cooled glass stage. Under a dissecting microscope, the ME was collected using forceps and iridectomy scissors. The location of the ME on the ventral side of the brain is demonstrated in **Figure 2-2A**. The remaining brain was placed on dry ice on its rostral-caudal axis so that the olfactory bulb pointed upward. Frozen coronal sections (500 μm) containing the DA cell body and terminal regions of interest were collected using a cryostat set at -10°C (CTD-Model Harris, International Equipment Co., Needham, MA). Each section was thaw mounted onto glass slides and refrozen on dry ice. The regions of interest were micro-dissected using a modification of the method previously described (Palkovits, 1973, 1983).

**Figures 2-1** and **2-2** demonstrate the locations in the brain were the tissue was collected. Bilateral tissue samples were collected from the ST (**Figure 2-1A**) with a round 18g micropunch and from the SN (**Figure 2-1B**) with an oval 21g micropunch. Samples of the ARC were collected from two consecutive sections (Figure 2-2B) using a round 18g micropunch. The tissue samples that were collected were used for all biochemical assays and were processed for each type of analysis as described below.

For immunohistochemical (IHC) analysis, mice were anesthetized with ketamine/xylazine (26.6 mg/kg ketamine and 4 mg/kg xylazine; i.p.). Once anesthetized, each mouse was transcardially perfused with 0.9% saline followed by 4% paraformaldehyde. The brains were post-fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde for 24 h and then cryoprotected in 30% sucrose for no less than 48 h. Coronal sections (20  $\mu$ m) were prepared with a cryostat (-19°C) and sections were free floated in 0.05 M phosphate buffer containing 0.01% sodium azide.

88



Figure 2-1 Coronal brain sections showing the localization of the micropunches used to dissect the ST and SN. The yellow circles and ovals represent the location of the micropunches. The ST was dissected from a 500  $\mu$ m section about 1.0 mm rostral to Bregma using an 18g round micropunch. The SN was dissected from a 500  $\mu$ m section about 3.1 mm caudal to Bregma using a 21g oval micropunch. Modified from the Mouse Brain Library Atlas (http://www.mbl.org).



**Figure 2-2 Coronal brain sections showing the localization of the ME dissection and ARC micropunch.** The yellow ovals represent the location of the microdissection (ME) or micropunch (ARC). The ME was dissected from the ventral side of the brain. The ARC was dissected from two consecutive 500 µm sections at 1.58 mm and 2.06 mm caudal to Bregma. Modified from the Mouse Brain Library Atlas (http://www.mbl.org).
#### **Neurochemical Analyses**

Microdissected brain tissue samples were placed into cold tissue buffer (0.1M phosphate-citrate buffer, pH 2.5) and sonicated with three 1 sec bursts (Heat Systems Ultrasonics, Plainview, NY). The samples were subjected to centrifugation at 12,000 X g (Beckman Coulter Microfuge, Palo Alto, CA) for 1 min. The content of DA, DOPAC, DOPA, HVA, 3-MT and DOPA in the supernatants was determined with high pressure liquid chromatography coupled with electrochemical detection (HPLC-ED) using a Waters 515 HPLC pump (Waters Corporation, Milford, MA) and an ESA Coulochem 5100A electrochemical detector with an oxidation potential of +0.4V. Neurochemical standards and experimental samples were injected onto a C18 reverse phase analytical column (Bioanalytical Systems, West Lafayette, IN). The HPLC mobile phase (0.5M sodium phosphate, 0.03M citrate, 0.1mM EDTA, 0.03% sodium octylsulfate, 10-15% methanol, pH 2.65) was adjusted by altering concentrations of SOS, methanol and the pH to optimize neurotransmitter peak resolution. Neurochemical content was quantified by comparing the peak heights of each sample to the peak heights of standards of each neurochemical measured.

Tissue pellets were resuspended in 1N NaOH and assayed for protein using the bicinchoninic acid (BCA) protein assay (Walker, 1994). To account for differences in sample size, the neurochemical content was normalized to the amount of protein in each sample and expressed as a concentration of neurochemical in ng per mg protein.

# **Synaptosome Lysate Preparation**

Mice were decapitated 24 h following treatment and the brain was immediately removed. The region containing the ST was blocked using a razor blade in an ice cold stainless steel

matrix; rostrally at the olfactory bulb, and caudally at the optic chiasm. The thick coronal section was then placed on an ice chilled glass stage and the cortical layer was peeled away, leaving only the ST. The ventral ST was cut away just above the anterior commissure. The dorsal ST was placed in a pre-chilled 2 mL Dounce homogenizer containing ice cold isolation buffer (IB; 300 mM sucrose, 10 mM HEPES, 1 mM EGTA, pH 7.4 at 4 °C). The tissue was homogenized using 10 even strokes with a 1 min rest after the fifth stroke (one stroke equals one up and down movement with each stroke taking about 5 sec). The homogenate was transferred to pre-chilled 2 mL Eppendorf tubes. The homogenate was centrifuged at 1000 X g for 5 min at 4 °C. The supernatant was collected (S1) and further centrifuged for 10 min at 21,000 X g at 4 °C. The loose synaptosome pellet was diluted in proteasome assay buffer (10 mM Tris-HCL, pH 8.0 containing 2 mM ATP-Mg<sup>2+</sup>, 1 mM DTT, and 0.1% Triton X-100) and sonicated for 20 sec to lyse the synaptosomes. The lysate was subjected to centrifugation at 14,000 x g for 10 min at 4 °C to remove any debris. The supernatant was assayed for protein using the BCA assay and then used to measure proteasome activity or for Western blot.

#### **Proteasome Peptidase Activity Assays**

Microdissected brain tissue samples were placed into cold proteasome assay buffer (10 mM Tris-HCL, pH 8.0 containing 2 mM ATP-Mg<sup>2+</sup>, 1 mM DTT, and 0.1% Triton X-100) and sonicated for 20 s in an iced water bath. The samples were subjected to centrifugation at 14,000 x g (Beckman Coulter Microfuge, Palo Alto, CA) for 10 min to remove debris. The supernatant was assayed for protein using the BCA assay.

The fluorogenic substrates (2 µL, 100 µM) Suc-LLVY-AMC, Z-LLE-AMC and Z-ARR-AMC (Boston Biochem, Cambridge, MA) were used to measure the chymotrypsin-like (CT-L),

caspase-like (Cas-L) and Trypsin-like (T-L) activity within the tissue lysate. A total of 1  $\mu$ g of protein (2  $\mu$ L of diluted extract in proteasome assay buffer) was added to 16  $\mu$ l of assay buffer containing 100  $\mu$ M substrate in a black 384-well plate. Each peptidase activity was determined by monitoring the fluorescence caused by the release of aminomethylcoumarin using a Tecan Infinite M1000 Pro multi-well plate reader (Tecan, Männedorf, Switzerland) at an excitation wavelength of 380 nm and emission wavelength of 460 nm, with the bandwidth set at 5 nm. Fluorescence was measured at 37 °C every min over a period of 30 min and the maximum increase in fluorescence per second (FU/sec) was used to calculate total peptidase activities of each sample over the linear portion of the curve. Two measurements from each sample were made in triplicate: one with the addition of 100 nM of the specific proteasome inhibitor, bortezomib, and one with vehicle. Specific proteasome activity was calculated by subtracting the values obtained from the assays with inhibitor (non-proteasome related background activity) from the total activity (no inhibitor). Proteasome activity across different extracts was normalized to the amount of protein present in the assay well.

# Native Gel Electrophoresis, in Gel Proteasome Assay and Corresponding Western Blot

Microdissected brain tissue samples were placed into cold proteasome assay buffer (10 mM Tris-HCL, pH 8.0 containing 2 mM ATP-Mg<sup>2+</sup>, 1 mM DTT, and 0.1% Triton X-100) and sonicated for 20 s in an iced water bath. The samples were subjected to centrifugation at 14,000 x g (Beckman Coulter Microfuge, Palo Alto, CA) for 10 min to remove debris. The supernatant was assayed for protein using the BCA assay.

Protein extract (50 µg protein) in 1X loading dye (80 mM Tris-Cl pH 8.3, 45mM boric acid, 1mM EDTA, 20% glycerol, 0.04% bromophenol blue) were electrophoresed in a 4% native

polyacrylamide gel containing 2 mM ATP-Mg<sup>2+</sup> in an ice water bath at 20 mA (c) until the loading dye ran off the gel. The running buffer was ice cold 1X TBE (80 mM Tris-Cl pH 8.3, 45 mM boric acid, 1mM EDTA).

The gel was equilibrated in 10 mM Tris-Cl, pH 8.0 and then incubated in 10 mM Tris-Cl, pH 8.0 containing 2 mM ATP-  $Mg^{2+}$  and 100  $\mu$ M Suc-LLVY-AMC. The gel was incubated at 37° C for 30 min and liberated AMC was visualized with a handheld UV lamp (215 nm) and photographed using. Relative activity of the 26S and 20S bands was determined using ImageStudio software. The density of each band was determined by measuring the signal to area of each band.

To determine the relative amount of 26S and 20S protein complexes, the gel was transferred to PVDF membrane (Millipore, Pittsburgh, MA) using a semidry transfer apparatus at 15 V for 30 min. The membrane was air dried for 1 h to allow the proteins to bind to the membrane. The membrane was stained with Ponceau S and the stained proteins were used as the native loading control. The membrane was de-stained with 0.1 N NaOH and washed three times in Tris buffered saline (TBS) for 5 min before it was blocked in 5% nonfat milk in TBS for 1 h. The membrane was incubated in TBST (Tris buffered saline, 0.1% Tween 20) containing 1:2000 rabbit anti-PSMB5 antibody overnight at 4° C.

Following primary antibody incubation, the membrane was washed three times in TBST and incubated for 1 h at room temperature in TBST containing 5% milk and 1:5000 dilution of horseradish peroxidase (HRP) conjugated goat anti-rabbit antibody. The membrane wash washed four times in TBST and then rinsed in water before adding luminol substrate (Super Signal West Femto Maximum Sensitivity Substrate, Thermo Scientific) to the blot and imaging with the Odyssey-FC imager (LiCor Biosciences). The signal to area of each band was measured using

Image Studio software. The relative amounts of 26S and 20S complex was normalized using the density of the corresponding Ponceau S stained lane.

## **Denaturing Western Blots**

Microdissected brain tissue samples were placed into cold RIPA buffer (10 mM Tris-Cl pH 8.0, 1 mM EDTA, 0.5 mM EGTA, 1% Triton X-100, 0.1% sodium deoxycholate, 0.1% SDS, 140 mM NaCl, 1 mM PMSF, 1X Halt protease phosphatase inhibitor cocktail) and sonicated for 20 s in an iced water bath. The samples were subjected to centrifugation at 14,000 x g (Beckman Coulter Microfuge, Palo Alto, CA) for 10 min at 4° C to remove debris. The supernatant was assayed for protein using the BCA assay. Protein (10 µg) from each sample was diluted in 1X Laemmli sample buffer (62.5 mM sodium phosphate pH 7, 100 mM DTT, 10% glycerol, 2 % SDS, 0.01% bromophenol blue) and boiled for 5 min before loading onto a 4-20% Tris-TGX polyacrylamide gel (BioRad, Hercules, CA). The gel was run in 1X Tris-Glycine running buffer (25 mM Tris, 192 mM glycine, 0.1% SDS, pH8.3) at 150 V until the dye ran off the bottom of the gel.

The gel was equilibrated in Towbin transfer buffer (25 mM Tris, 192 mM glycine, pH8.3, 20% methanol) and transferred to PVDF membrane (Millipore, Pittsburgh, MA) using a semidry transfer apparatus at 15 V for 30 min. The membrane was air dried for 1 h to allow the proteins to bind to the membrane before it was rewet in methanol, rinsed in TBST and blocked in 5% nonfat milk in TBST for 1 h. The membrane was then incubated in primary antibody in 5% BSA/TBST overnight at 4° C. The source, dilution and company supplying each primary antibody used are shown in **Table 2-1**.

Primary Antibody	Dilution	Source	Company
Dinitrophenol, DNP	1:10000	Rabbit	Cell Signaling (14681)
GAPDH	1:5000	Mouse	Sigma (G8795)
GFP	1:1000	Rabbit	Life Technologies (A11122)
K48 Ubiquitin	1:500	Rabbit	Cell Signaling (4289)
K63 Ubiquitin	1:500	Rabbit	Cell Signaling (12930)
Ubiquitin	1:500	Rabbit	Cell Signaling (3933)
Nitrotyrosine	1:1000	Rabbit	Millipore (06-284)
Parkin	1:1000	Rabbit	Cell Signaling (2132)
PSMB5	1:1000	Rabbit	Cell Signaling (12919)
RPN10	1:1000	Rabbit	Cell Signaling (3846)
TH	1:2000	Rabbit	Millipore (AB152)
TH	1:2000	Sheep	Millipore (AB1542)
pSer19-TH	1:1000	Rabbit	Sigma (P2247)
pSer40-TH	1:1000	Rabbit	Cell Signaling (2791)

**Table 2-1 Description of primary antibodies.** Antibody list describes the standard dilution used for immunoblotting or immunohistochemistry, the animal the antibody was derived from (source) as well as the company and catalog number from which the antibody was purchased. Abbreviations: DNP, dinitrophenol; GAPDH, glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase; GFP, green fluorescent protein; K48, lysine 48 branched chains; K63, lysine 63 branched chains; PSMB5, proteasome subunit beta 5, RPN10, regulatory particle number 10; TH, tyrosine hydroxylase.

Secondary Antibody	Dilution	Source	Company
Anti-Mouse IgG- HRP	1:5000	Horse	Cell Signaling (7076)
Anti-Rabbit IgG- HRP	1:5000	Goat	Cell Signaling (7074)
Anti-Sheep IgG-HRP	1:10000	Donkey	Sigma (AB324P)
Cy3 conjugated Anti- Rabbit	1:500	Goat	Jackson Immunoresearch (111- 165-003
Alexa-488 Anti- Sheep	1:500	Donkey	Life Technologies (A11055)

**Table 2-2 Description of secondary antibodies.** Antibody list describes the standard dilution used for immunoblotting or immunohistochemistry, the animal the antibody was derived from as well as the company and catalog number describing where the antibody was purchased.

Following primary antibody incubation, the membrane was washed three times in TBST and incubated for 1 h at room temperature in TBST containing 5% milk and 1:5000 dilution of HRP conjugated secondary antibody. The source, dilution and company supplying each secondary antibody used are shown in **Table 2-2**. The membrane was washed four times in TBST and then rinsed in water before adding luminol substrate (Super Signal West Femto Maximum Sensitivity Substrate, Thermo Scientific) to the blot and imaging with the Odyssey-FC imager (LiCor Biosciences). The signal to area of each band was measured using Image Studio software. The relative amount of each band was normalized to the amount of GAPDH in each lane.

# **Immunoprecipitation**

Microdissected brain tissue samples were placed into cold RIPA buffer (10 mM Tris-Cl pH 8.0, 1 mM EDTA, 0.5 mM EGTA, 1% Triton X-100, 0.1% sodium deoxycholate, 0.1% SDS, 140 mM NaCl, 1 mM PMSF, 1X Halt protease phosphatase inhibitor cocktail) and sonicated for 20 s in an iced water bath. The samples were subjected to centrifugation at 14,000 x g (Beckman Coulter Microfuge, Palo Alto, CA) for 10 min at 4° C to remove debris. The supernatant was assayed for protein using the BCA assay. Tissue lysate (1 mg) was precleared with 30 µL ProteinA agarose bead slurry for 30 min at 4°C. Antibody was added to the precleared lysate (1 µg antibody per mg protein) and the solution was rotated at 4°C overnight. The solution was washed 4 times in 500 µL RIPA buffer by centrifugation at 14,000 x g for 30 s each wash. The final antigen-antibody-bead conjugate was diluted in 20 µL sample buffer and 15 µL was run on a 4-20% denaturing Tris-TGX gel. The gel was transferred to PVDF and was subjected to Western blot for TH, K48 ubiquitin, K63 ubiquitin and nitrotyrosine.

# Immunohistochemistry

Fluorescent immunohistochemistry was used to visualize the location and spread of viral vector mediated expression. Free-floating sections were washed in 0.05 M phosphate buffer containing 0.1% Triton X-100 (PB-TX) and incubated overnight in primary antibody. The source, dilution, and company supplying each primary antibody are shown in **Table 2-1**. The sections were washed in PB-TX three times for 5 min each and incubated in secondary antibody for 1 h at room temperature in the dark. The source, dilution, and company supplying each secondary antibody are shown in **Table 2-2**. Following secondary incubation, the sections were washed in 0.05 M phosphate buffer, mounted onto slides and cover-slipped using ProLong Gold antifade reagent (Molecular Probes, Eugene, OR). Sections were viewed on a Nikon TE-2000-U-Fluorescence Microscope using Metamorph Software (Melville, NY).

#### **Stereotaxic Surgery**

Mice received a unilateral injection to the right, ipsilateral, SN of rAAV2/5-F-Parkin (3 X 10<sup>12</sup> vg/mL) and a unilateral injection to the left, contralateral SN, of rAAV2/5-GFP. Viral vector was engineered by a previous laboratory member, Dr. Matthew Benskey, and packaged by Dr. Frederic Manfredsson (Benskey, Manfredsson, Lookingland, & Goudreau, 2015). Analgesic (ketoprofen, 5 mg/kg, s.c.) was administered prior to surgery. The mice were anesthetized using 120 mg/kg ketamine and 18 mg/kg xylazine and the surgical site was shaved. The animals were placed in a stereotaxic frame and the surgical site was scrubbed three times with alcohol and then betadine. A single incision was made along the rostrocaudal axis of the skull and the tissue overlying the skull was retracted to expose the skull surface. A Hamilton syringe with a 30 gauge blunt tip needle was fitted with parafilm, and then a siliconized pulled borosilicate glass

micropipette with an opening of 60-80 µm was placed over the parafilm. The parafilmed needle was heated to melt the parafilm and form a seal. Unilateral SN injections of 500 nL of rAAV2/5– F-parkin or rAAV2/5-GFP were performed using the following coordinates from Bregma: R/C - 3.0 mm, L/M -1.6 mm and D/V -4.6 mm from the skull. **Figure 2-3** depicts the locations of the rAAV2/5-GFP and rAAV2/5-F-Parkin injections in the SN. The volume was injected at a rate of 125 nL/min using an automated micropump (UltraMicroPump, World Precision Instruments ). The needle was left in place for an additional 5 min to prevent reflux and then slowly withdrawn. The hole in the skull was filled with sterile bone wax and the skin was closed using surgical staples. For identification, ears were marked using an ear punch. Mice were kept on a heating pad until recovery from anesthesia and then returned to their home cages. Mice were given ketoprofen, for pain, 24 h following surgery and checked daily for signs of infection or distress. Staples were removed 10-14 d following surgery. rAAV-treated mice were housed for 4 weeks prior to experiments.

#### **Behavioral Analyses**

Gait dynamics for adult 10-16 week old male C57BL/6J and Park2<sup>tm1Shn</sup> homozygous parkin KO mice (Park2<sup>-/-</sup>) mice were assessed using the DigiGait treadmill and software (Mouse Specifics). Mice were acclimated to the static treadmill, the enclosed acrylic compartment, and lights for 10 min prior to gait analysis. Ventral plane videography captured the gait of each mouse through a transparent treadmill belt over approximately 6 s (Amende et al., 2005; Kale, Amende, Meyer, Crabbe, & Hampton, 2004). Digital images of the paws of each mouse were taken at 150 frames/s as mice ran at a speed of 25 cm/sec with no incline or decline. Each mouse was tested individually on the treadmill, in an enclosed acrylic compartment (5 cm in width, 25



Figure 2-3 Localization of ipsilateral and contralateral stereotaxic injections into the SN. Mice received 500 nL unilateral injection to the right, ipsilateral SN of  $3.4 \times 10^{12}$  vg rAAV2/5-F-Parkin (red) and a unilateral injection to the left, contralateral SN of  $1 \times 10^{12}$  vg rAAV2/5-GFP (green) at the following coordinates from Bregma: R/C -3.0, M/L -1.6 or +1.6, D/V: -4.6. Modified from Paxinos and Watson (2003).

cm in length). Temporal and spatial measurements were indicated by the area of the paw relative to the treadmill belt at each frame. The following gait parameters were measured: swing time, % swing stride, brake time, % brake stride, propel time, % propel stride, stance, % stance stride, stride time, % brake stance, % propel stance, stance/swing, stride length, stride frequency, paw angle, absolute paw angle, paw angle variability, stance width, step angle, stride length variability, step angle variability, stride length CV, stance width CV, step angle CV, swing duration CV, paw area at peak stance, paw area variability at peak stance, hind limb shared stance time, % shared stance, stance factor, gait symmetry, maximal dA/dT, minimal dA/dT, Tau propulsion, overlap distance, paw placement positioning, ataxia coefficient, midline distance, axis distance, and paw drag.

#### **Statistical Analyses**

SigmaPlot was used to conduct power analyses to determine the sample size required for each experiment. The analyses were based on an  $\alpha$  of 0.05 for all planned comparisons and the expected standard error of measurement for each endpoint. For proteasome activity, a sample size of 10 was required to detect a 15% difference with >80% power between the saline and MPTP treated groups. For neurochemical endpoint, a sample size of 8 per group was sufficient to obtain power > 80% and detect a difference of 15% between saline and MPTP treated groups. Mice were assigned random numbers during treatment allowing the experimenter to remain blind to experimental conditions during data collection and analysis.

GraphPad software was used to determine significant differences between groups. If all statistical assumptions were met, a one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) was used to detect statistical significance between two or more groups with a single independent variable. Two-way

ANOVA was used to detect significant differences between two or more groups when there were two independent variables in the study. In experiments were there was an internal control a repeated measures ANOVA was used to detect significant differences. Statistical differences were considered significant when the p value was less than or equal to 0.05. When the ANOVA revealed a significant interaction, a post-hoc Holm-Sidak analysis was used to determine which groups were different. REFERENCES

#### REFERENCES

- Amende, I., Kale, A., McCue, S., Glazier, S., Morgan, J. P., & Hampton, T. G. (2005). Gait dynamics in mouse models of Parkinson's disease and Huntington's disease. *J Neuroeng Rehabil*, 2, 20. doi:10.1186/1743-0003-2-20
- Benskey, M. J., Manfredsson, F. P., Lookingland, K. J., & Goudreau, J. L. (2015). The role of parkin in the differential susceptibility of tuberoinfundibular and nigrostriatal dopamine neurons to acute toxicant exposure. *Neurotoxicology*, 46, 1-11. doi:10.1016/j.neuro.2014.11.004
- Goldberg, M. S., Fleming, S. M., Palacino, J. J., Cepeda, C., Lam, H. A., Bhatnagar, A., . . . Shen, J. (2003). Parkin-deficient mice exhibit nigrostriatal deficits but not loss of dopaminergic neurons. *J Biol Chem*, 278(44), 43628-43635. doi:10.1074/jbc.M308947200
- Kale, A., Amende, I., Meyer, G. P., Crabbe, J. C., & Hampton, T. G. (2004). Ethanol's effects on gait dynamics in mice investigated by ventral plane videography. *Alcohol Clin Exp Res*, 28(12), 1839-1848.
- Palkovits, M. (1973). Isolated removal of hypothalamic or other brain nuclei of the rat. *Brain Res*, *59*, 449-450.
- Palkovits, M. (1983). Punch sampling biopsy technique. Methods Enzymol, 103, 368-376.
- Walker, J. M. (1994). The bicinchoninic acid (BCA) assay for protein quantitation. *Methods Mol Biol*, 32, 5-8. doi:10.1385/0-89603-268-X:5

# Chapter 3. TIDA and NSDA axon terminals are differentially susceptible to a single acute MPTP exposure

## Introduction

The motor symptoms of PD are primarily caused by the chronic and progressive degeneration of NSDA neurons of the SNc. Loss of these neurons results in decreased DA levels within the ST (Ehringer and Hornykiewicz 1960) and deregulation of the basal ganglia circuitry, which normally allows the execution of voluntary movement. While there is severe loss of NSDA neurons, not all dopaminergic neurons are susceptible in PD. Another population of DA neurons, the TIDA neurons in the mediobasal hypothalamus are not affected in this disease (Langston and Forno 1978). The molecular basis of this differential susceptibility remains unclear. An increased understanding of the molecular pathways involved in the differential susceptibility between these neuronal populations could lead to the identification of new targets that could be exploited for the development of neuroprotective strategies and the treatment of PD.

The exact cause of PD is unknown. However, in both familial and sporadic disease, oxidative stress appears to be an underlying mechanism that leads to NSDA neurodegeneration. PD is associated with increased DA turnover (de la Fuente-Fernandez et al. 2001; de la Fuente-Fernandez et al. 2004; Sossi et al. 2006), mitochondrial dysfunction (Mizuno et al. 1989; Schapira 1993), neuroinflammation (McGeer et al. 1988; Bartels et al. 2010; Gerhard et al. 2006), increased iron (Dexter et al. 1989; Sofic et al. 1991; Riederer et al. 1992; Double et al. 2000), and impairment of the UPS (McNaught et al. 2002; Olanow and McNaught 2006; McNaught et al. 2006; Bukhatwa et al. 2010; Chang et al. 2016; Martins-Branco et al. 2012), all

of which favor the increased production of ROS and their resulting damage.

Oxidative modification of proteins can result in conformational changes and misfolding that render the protein inactive and promote the formation of toxic protein aggregates (Mirzaei and Regnier 2008). In this respect, cellular homeostasis is dependent upon the removal of oxidatively damaged proteins. The UPS plays a pivotal role in the selective recognition and degradation of these oxidized proteins (Chung, Dawson, and Dawson 2001; Ross and Pickart 2004; Ciechanover 2005; Lehman 2009). Dysfunction of the UPS can result in the accumulation and aggregation of misfolded proteins, which can further impair catalytic activity within the neuron. Proteasome activity is reduced in susceptible brain regions in PD patients (McNaught et al. 2002; Bukhatwa et al. 2010; McNaught and Jenner 2001; Martins-Branco et al. 2012) and restoration of proteasome activity could be an important therapeutic avenue in the treatment of neurodegenerative diseases.

The neurotoxicant MPTP produces oxidative stress in DA neurons and can replicate the pattern of DA neuronal susceptibility that is seen in PD (Behrouz et al. 2007; Benskey et al. 2012; Benskey et al. 2013; Melamed et al. 1985; Mogi et al. 1988). While both neuronal populations initially respond to the neurotoxicant, TIDA neurons recover from the initial insult, while NSDA neurons do not (Benskey et al. 2012). Recovery of TIDA neurons following MPTP exposure is dependent upon increased expression of parkin mRNA and protein (Benskey et al. 2012). Furthermore, rAAV mediated shRNA knockdown of parkin in the ARC containing cell bodies of TIDA neurons results in susceptibility of these neurons to MPTP (Benskey, Kuhn, et al. 2015). Taken together, it appears that parkin expression is necessary to protect TIDA neurons from neurotoxicity induced by exposure to MPTP. This is important because NSDA neurons rapidly degenerate in patients with loss of parkin function due to homozygous mutations (Kitada

et al. 1998; von Coelln, Dawson, and Dawson 2004) and in patients with sporadic PD, the ventral midbrain, which contains NSDA neurons, has reduced parkin expression (Kitada et al. 1998).

Parkin is an E3 ubiquitin ligase that promotes the degradation of its specific protein substrates via the UPS (Shimura et al. 2000; Olzmann and Chin 2008) and autophagy (Olzmann and Chin 2008; Narendra et al. 2008). In addition to its E3 ligase function, the N-terminal UBL domain of parkin directly interacts with proteasome subunits Rpn10 (Sakata et al. 2003), RPN13 (Aguileta et al. 2015), Rpt6 (Tsai et al. 2003), and α4 (Dachsel et al. 2005) and directly enhances proteasome activity in cell culture (Um et al. 2010; Hyun et al. 2002; Dachsel et al. 2005). **The studies presented here are designed to test the hypothesis that following MPTP exposure, proteasome activity is impaired in brain regions containing the terminals of NSDA neurons where there is loss of parkin protein, and is sustained in regions containing TIDA terminals where parkin expression is increased.** In order to test this hypothesis mice were injected with a single acute dose of MPTP (20 mg/kg, s.c.) or saline (10 mL/kg, s.c.) and were decapitated 24 h post injection. Regional differences in DA, TH, parkin expression, protein carbonylation, proteasome activity, and consequences of proteasome impairment were characterized in the ME and ST.

### Results

Differential Responses of Phenotypic Markers in the ST and ME Following a Single Injection of MPTP

A single acute exposure to MPTP results in sustained depletion of DA vesicular storage pools in NSDA axon terminals, while vesicular DA is recovered in TIDA axon terminals (Benskey et al. 2012; Benskey et al. 2013). DOPAC and DA concentrations were measured in the ST (location of NSDA axon terminals) and ME (location of TIDA axon terminals) 24 h following a single acute MPTP exposure (**Figure 3-1**). The amount of DA in the ST of MPTP treated animals was decreased compared to the saline controls, while the amount of DA in the ME was not different compared to the saline treated controls 24 h post MPTP (**Figure 3-1A**). The unchanged DA in the ME following acute neurotoxicant injury reflects the recovery of terminal DA stores, consistent with prior reported findings (Benskey et al. 2012; Benskey et al. 2013). Striatal DOPAC concentrations decreased in MPTP treated animals compared to saline treated controls, as did DOPAC concentrations in the ME (**Figure 3-1B**). A single acute exposure to MPTP increased the DOPAC to DA ratio in the ST (**Figure 3-1C**), which reflects an increased rate of release, reuptake and metabolism of DA relative to vesicular storage in axon terminals of NSDA neurons (Lookingland and Moore 2005). Conversely, the DOPAC to DA ratio was decreased in the ME, which is consistent with decreased TIDA neuronal activity following MPTP exposure.

Loss of TH in the soma and terminals of NSDA neurons occurs after MPTP exposure and may be an early indicator of the inability of these neurons to recover (Muroyama, Kobayashi, and Mitsumoto 2011) (Benskey et al. 2012; Ara et al. 1998; Jackson-Lewis et al. 1995; Kastner et al. 1994). To determine if there is differential expression of TH in the ST and ME 24 h following MPTP exposure, TH was measured by Western blot. **Figure 3-2A** demonstrates that 24 h following a single acute MPTP injection, TH protein is decreased in the ST and unchanged in the ME. Since the amount of TH was decreased in the ST and maintained in the ME, the relative change in TH activity was measured 24 h post MPTP exposure and 30 min following the administration of the AADC inhibitor, NSD-1015.



Figure 3-1 Effect of MPTP on DA and DOPAC concentrations in the ST and ME. C57BL/6J mice were treated with 20 mg/kg MPTP. Twenty-four h later, the ST and ME were collected and analyzed for DA, and DOPAC by HPLC-ED. The bars represent the mean concentration of (A) DA, (B) DOPAC or (C)the DOPAC to DA ratio. Error bars represent + 1 SEM. \* indicates the treatment was significantly different (P < 0.05, n=8) from the corresponding vehicle control.



Figure 3-2 Effect of MPTP on the amount and activity of TH in the ST and ME. A, C57BL/6J mice were treated with 20 mg/kg MPTP. Twenty-four h later, the ST (left panel) and ME (right panel) were collected and analyzed for TH and GAPDH by Western blot. The bars represent the mean fold change of protein (normalized to GAPDH). Error bars represent + 1 SEM. \* indicates the treatment was significantly different (P < 0.05, n=8) from the corresponding vehicle control. **B**, C57BL/6J mice were treated with 20 mg/kg MPTP or saline for 24 h. All animals were treated with NSD-1015 30 min prior to decapitation. Bars represent the mean fold change. Error bars represent + 1 SEM. Saline control values were 24.92 ± 1.50 ng/mg protein in the ST and 16.61 ± 1.81 **C**, The DOPA to TH ratios. Bars represent the mean DOPA to TH ratio. Error bars represent +1 SEM. \* indicates the treatment was significantly different (P < 0.05, n=8) from the corresponding vehicle control.

Following treatment with MPTP, DOPA accumulation was significantly decreased in both the ST and ME (**Figure 3-2b**). However, the relative change in DOPA accumulation in the ST and ME in the MPTP treated group compared to the saline treated group was not different. When normalized for the amount of TH in each region, it appears that DOPA accumulation per TH (TH activity) was maintained in the ST and decreased in the ME. This change is also reflected in the change in the DOPAC to DA ratios, which indicate that neuronal activity was increased in the ST and decreased in the ME following MPTP exposure.

Differing antioxidant capacities of the ST and ME could cause differential susceptibility to the effects of MPTP. In order to determine if one region sustains more oxidative damage than the other following MPTP exposure, a protein carbonylation assay was used. Protein carbonylation is a type of protein oxidation that forms reactive ketones or aldehydes on side chains of methionine, histidine, and tyrosine to form cysteine disulfide bonds (Davies and Delsignore 1987; Davies, Delsignore, and Lin 1987) (Davies et al, 1987). As a consequence of oxidative modification, carbonyl groups are introduced to protein side chains (Levine 2002) and can be used as a biomarker for oxidative stress. These protein carbonyl groups can be reacted with 2,4-dinitrophenylhydrazine and derivatized to 2,4-dintrophenylhydrozone (DNPhydrozone), which is detected using an antibody directed to the DNP group of the proteins (**Figure 3-3A**). Twenty-four h following MPTP exposure, protein carbonylation was increased in both the ST and the ME (**Figure 3-3B**). Furthermore, there was no difference in the amount of carbonylated protein in the ST and ME suggesting that both regions have similar capacities for ROS production 24 h following MPTP exposure.



**Figure 3-3 Effect of MPTP on protein carbonylation in the ST and ME. A,** Protein carbonyl derivatization and detection. Reactive oxygen species can modify the side chains of methionine, histidine, and tyrosine to form cysteine disulfide bonds (Davies, Delsignore, and Lin 1987). As a consequence of oxidative modification, carbonyl groups are introduced into protein side chains. These carbonyl groups can be derivatized to 2,4-dinitrophenyldyrazone (DNP-hydrozone). These derivatized proteins are then measured using antibody directed at the DNP group of these proteins. B, C57BL/6J mice were treated with saline or 20 mg/kg MPTP (s.c.). Twenty-four h later, the ST and ME were collected and protein carbonylation was measured by dot-blot. The bars represent the mean pmol carbonyls/ug protein. Error bars represent + 1 SEM \* indicates significant difference from the saline control (p<0.05, n=8).

Susceptibility to the effects of acute neurotoxicant exposure on phenotypic markers of DA axon terminal neurochemical activity is dependent upon protein synthesis and upregulation of the UPS linked protein parkin (Benskey et al. 2012; Benskey et al. 2013; Benskey, Manfredsson, et al. 2015). Previous measurements of parkin were made in the cell body regions of these two neuronal populations. In agreement with these findings, parkin protein decreased in the ST and increased in the ME 24 h following MPTP exposure, (**Fig. 3-4**).

# Direct Effects of MPTP and MPP<sup>+</sup> on Proteasome Activity

The N-terminal UBL domain of parkin is important for binding to the 19S regulatory cap of the 26S proteasome and positively modulates 26S catalytic activity *in vitro* (Um et al. 2010; Dachsel et al. 2005). Based on this, it is reasonable to question if differential parkin expression in the ST and ME following MPTP exposure will result in differential proteasome activity in these two regions.

MPTP exposure will be used to induce differential parkin expression in the ST and ME. Therefore, it is important to determine if MPTP or its bioactive metabolite have an effect on proteasome activity. To determine if either MPTP or MPP<sup>+</sup> had any direct effect on proteasome activity, purified 26S proteasome was tested for CT-L proteasome activity in the presence of MPTP, MPP<sup>+</sup> or the proteasome inhibitor bortezomib (**Figure 3-5**). Proteasome activity was not inhibited by the parent molecule MPTP, but was inhibited by the toxic metabolite MPP<sup>+</sup>. MPTP exposure also results in the displacement of DA from the DA vesicle and the formation of reactive metabolites that could form toxic adducts with the proteasome.



**Figure 3-4 Effect of MPTP on parkin protein expression in the ST and ME.** C57BL/6J mice were treated with 20 mg/kg MPTP (s.c.). Twenty-four h later, the ST and ME were collected and parkin protein was measured by Western blot. The bars represent the mean fold change in Parkin normalized to GAPDH. Error bars represent + 1 SEM. \* indicates significant difference from the vehicle (VH) control (p<0.05, n=10).



Figure 3-5 Effect of MPTP and MPP<sup>+</sup> on proteasome activity *in vitro*. Purified 26S proteasome was treated with bortezomib, MPTP or MPP<sup>+</sup> and CT-L activity was measured by measuring the rate of hydrolysis of Suc-LLVY-AMC. The bars represent the mean fluorescent units (FU) released per second per  $\mu$ g protein. Error bars represent +1 SEM. \* indicates significant difference from saline treated control animals (p<0.05, n=4).



Figure 3-6 Effect of DA and its metabolites on proteasome activity *in vitro*. Purified 26S proteasome was treated with either A, DA B, DOPAL or C, DOPAC and CT-L activity was measured by measuring the rate of hydrolysis of Suc-LLVY-AMC. The bars represent the mean fluorescent units (FU) released per second per  $\mu$ g protein and is expressed as % CT-L activity relative to the saline treated control. Error bars represent +1 SEM. \* indicates significant difference from saline treated control animals (p<0.05, n=4).

Therefore, it was also important to determine if there were any direct effects of DA, or its metabolites DOPAL and DOPAC on proteasome activity. None of these metabolites had any effect on proteasome activity (**Figure 3-6**).

#### Differential Effects of MPTP on Proteasome Activity

To determine if there are regional differences in proteasome activity, CT-L activity of the proteasome was measured in tissue lysates collected from regions containing the axon terminals and cell bodies of NSDA neurons (ST and SN), and regions containing the axon terminals and cell bodies of the TIDA neurons (ME and ARC) of mice treated with either vehicle or MPTP for 24 h (**Figure 3-7**). CT-L proteasome activity decreased in the ST of MPTP treated mice compared to the saline treated controls. However, MPTP exposure did not change proteasome activity in the SN. This indicates that in NSDA neurons, proteasome activity is only affected in the terminal regions where MPP<sup>+</sup> gains entry into the DA neuron. CT-L activity in tissue collected from the ME of mice treated with MPTP was not different from the saline treated controls and activity was increased in the ARC.

#### Characterization of Decreased Proteasome Activity in the ST Following MPTP Exposure

Proteasome activity was decreased in the ST, which contains the terminals of the susceptible NSDA neurons. Tissue in the ST contains multiple cell types that may or may not be affected by MPTP exposure. To determine if proteasome activity was affected specifically in the axon terminals of the ST, differential centrifugation was used (**Figure 3-8A**) to separate fractions containing nuclei and cell debris (fraction P1), and synaptosomes (fraction P2). Synaptosomes are pinched off presynaptic terminals that contain all the functional components for



Figure 3-7 Regional effects of MPTP on proteasome activity in the ST, SN, ARC and ME. C57BL/6J mice were treated with either saline or 20 mg/kg MPTP (s.c.). Twenty-four h later, the ST, SN, ARC and ME were collected and CT-L activity of the proteasome was measured using Suc-LLVY-AMC substrate. Bars represent the mean CT-L activity represented as FU/sec/mg protein. Error bars represent +1 SEM. \*\* indicates significant difference from the respective saline injected control (p<0.05, n=10).



Figure 3-8 Effect of MPTP on proteasome activity in the P1 and P2 fractions of the ST homogenate. C57BL/6J mice were treated with either saline or 20 mg/kg MPTP (sc) and were decapitated after 24 h. The entire ST was removed from each side of the brain. The tissue was homogenized and subjected to differential centrifugation. The pellets were resuspended in proteasome assay buffer and CT-L proteasome activity was determined for each pelleted fraction. **A**, Scheme for differential centrifugation. **B**, CT-L activity of P1 and P2 fractions. \* indicates that the group is significantly different from the respective C57BL/6J control (p < 0.05, n=6).

neurotransmitter release, reuptake and vesicular storage, along with the postsynaptic membrane and the postsynaptic density. **Figure 3-8B** demonstrates that in mice treated with MPTP, proteasome activity was reduced in the P2 fraction of the ST homogenate This indicates that MPTP impairs proteasome activity in the axon terminals within the ST.

To further characterize the decreased proteasome activity in the ST following neurotoxicant injury, all three catalytic activities of the proteasome were compared in tissue from the ST of mice treated with MPTP or saline for 24 h (**Figure 3-9**). Both CT-L (**Figure 3-9A**) and Casp-L (**Figure 3-9B**) catalytic activities were modestly impaired in the ST of MPTP treated mice compared to saline treated controls, while T-L (**Figure 3-9C**) catalytic activity was not affected.

The decrease in proteasome activity was modest. This small effect on proteasome activity might not be biologically relevant. To determine if the decrease was biologically significant and was sufficient to cause accumulation of ubiquitinated proteins total ubiquitinated proteins were measured by Western blot. Indeed, mice treated with MPTP had increased amount of ubiquitinated proteins in the ST compared to the saline treated controls (**Figure 3-10**).

Decreased expression of proteasome catalytic subunits in yeast results in reduced proteasome assembly and activity (Wang, Luo, and Reiser, 2008). CT-L activity of the proteasome is due to the rate limiting catalytic activity of the proteasome subunit  $\beta$ 5 (Coux, Tanaka, and Goldberg 1996). Accordingly, it is possible that the MPTP-induced decrease in CT-L activity in the ST might be due to a reduction in  $\beta$ 5 expression. To evaluate this possible mechanism, the amount of  $\beta$ 5 (**Figure 3-11**) was determined in the ST of vehicle and MPTP treated mice. Twenty-four h following MPTP exposure, the amount of  $\beta$ 5 protein expression in the ST was increased. Another possible mechanism of proteasome impairment could be the



Figure 3-9 Effect of MPTP on CT-L, Casp-L, and T-L proteasome activity in the ST. C57BL/6J mice (N=10) were treated with saline or 20 mg/kg MPTP (s.c.). Twenty-four h later, the ST was collected All three catalytic activities were measured in the ST (A) CT-L, (B) Casp-L activity, (C) T-L activity. The bars represent the mean fluorescent units (FU) released per second per  $\mu$ g protein + 1 SEM. \* indicates significant difference from saline treated control animals (p<0.05, n=10).



# Figure 3-10 Effect of MPTP on the accumulation of ubiquitinated proteins in the ST.

C57BL/6J mice (N=10) were treated with 20 mg/kg MPTP (s.c.). Twenty-four h later, the ST was collected and total ubiquitinated proteins was measured by Western blot. The bars represent the mean ratio of ubiquitin to GAPDH error bars represent +1 SEM.\* indicates significant difference from saline treated control animals (p<0.05, n=10).

disassembly of the 26S proteasome. The amount of assembled 26S and 20S proteasome was measured using native Western blot (**Figure 3-12**). The amount of 26S proteasome complex in the ST of mice treated with MPTP was not statistically different from saline treated controls. In addition, the amount of 20S proteasome was significantly increased. When the ratio of 26S to 20S proteasome complex was compared, there was no significant difference in the proportion of one complex over the other. These data indicate that MPTP causes compensatory increase in *de novo* proteasome subunit synthesis and assembly of new proteasome complexes.

Proteasome activity is decreased in the ST and this impairment is sufficient to induce the accumulation of ubiquitinated proteins and cause the increase in expression of the 20S proteasome catalytic subunit  $\beta$ 5. Nrf1 is a transcription factor that responds to the loss of proteasome subunits. Nrf1 is located in the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) lumen and under conditions of oxidative stress is retrotranslocated to the cytosol while still being bound by its Nterminus to the ER membrane. Under normal conditions, retrotranslocated Nrf1 is rapidly degraded by the proteasome. When the proteasome is inhibited, Nrf1 is stabilized, cleaved by Proteases and translocated to the nucleus where it binds to its antioxidant response element and increases the expression of proteasome subunits (Steffen et al. 2010; Radhakrishnan, den Besten, and Deshaies 2014). To test if proteasome inhibition in the ST was sufficient to stabilize Nrf1 in the SN, Nrf1 products were measured by Western blot. Nrf1 can produce three possible bands on a Western blot. The band at 120 kD represents Nrf1 that is proteases and translocated to the nucleus to up-regulate proteasome subunit genes (Steffen et al. 2010; Radhakrishnan, den Besten, and Deshaies 2014) To test if proteasome inhibition in the ST sequestered in the ER. The 110 kD band is partially processed Nrf1, while the band at 95 kD represents Nrf1 that has been cleaved from the ER membrane and translocated to the nucleus (Chepelev et al. 2013). In







А



Figure 3-12 The effect of MPTP on the amount of assembled 26S and 20S proteasome in the ST. C57BL/6J mice were treated with either saline or MPTP (20 mg/kg; s.c.). Twenty-four h later, the ST was collected and the lysate was subjected to native gel electrophoresis. 20S proteasome complex was detected with an antibody directed toward the  $\beta$ 5 catalytic subunit and the 26S proteasome was detected with an antibody directed toward the 19S regulatory subunit RPN10. Bars represent the fold change of complex compared to the saline treated controls. Saline control values were 118±8 for 20S and 67 ±17 for 26S complexes. Error bars represent +1 SEM. **B**, ratio of 26S to 20S complexes error bars represent the propagated SEM. \* indicates significant difference from the saline controls (p<0.05, n=8).
the SN of MPTP treated mice, there was no change in the amount of any of the Nrf1 products (**Figure 3-13A**). This did not come as a surprise because proteasome activity in the SN was not inhibited following MPTP exposure. To determine if MPP<sup>+</sup> inhibition of the proteasome could result in stabilization of Nrf1, differentiated MN9D cells were treated with saline, bortezomib or MPP<sup>+</sup>. Two h following treatment, cell lysates were used to measure Nrf1 by Western blot (**Figure 3-13B**). Treatment of MN9D cells with bortezomib, a known proteasome inhibitor, results in the stabilization and translocation of Nrf1 to the nucleus. Treatment of MN9D cells with MPP<sup>+</sup> results in retrotranslocation of Nrf1 from the ER lumen and its stabilization, but there is no presence of the active transcription factor.

### Discussion

Most neurodegenerative diseases involve the loss of a specific subpopulation of neurons. In PD, NSDA neurons are lost while TIDA neurons are resistant to degeneration (Langston and Forno 1978). An understanding of the ability of the resistant population of neurons to recover may be beneficial in the identification of novel treatments for PD in which the patient could benefit from the protection of healthy NSDA neurons. The DA neuron specific neurotoxicant MPTP recapitulates the specific neuronal population susceptibility that is seen in PD (Langston and Forno 1978; Benskey et al. 2013). In mice, both NSDA and TIDA neuronal populations initially respond to MPTP, however, TIDA neurons recover from the initial neurotoxic insult, while NSDA neuronal toxicity persists (Benskey et al. 2012; Benskey et al. 2013).

The recovery of vesicular DA in the ME following MPTP exposure is dependent upon the expression of parkin in TIDA neurons (Benskey, Manfredsson, et al. 2015). Differential



**Figure 3-13 Effect of MPTP on Nrf1 stabilization in the SN**. **A**, Nrf1 in the SN of MPTP treated mice. C57BL/6J mice were treated with either saline or MPTP (20 mg/kg; s.c.). Six and 24 h later, the SN was collected and the lysate was subjected to Western blot to measure Nrf1 (p120, p110, and p95). **B**, Nrf1 in MN9D cells. MN9D cells were grown in DMEM and differentiated with sodium butyrate for 5 d. The cells were incubated in media containing 100 nM bortezomib (Velc) and 200 mM MPP<sup>+</sup>.

parkin expression following exposure to MPTP is of interest because mutations in the Park2 gene cause autosomal recessive juvenile PD (Hattori et al. 1998; Kitada et al. 1998; Sinha et al. 2005) and oxidative modifications causing parkin loss of function in the ST are found in patients with sporadic PD (Chung et al. 2004). Parkin is an E3 ubiquitin ligase that promotes the degradation of its specific protein substrates via the UPS (Shimura et al. 2000) as well as through autophagy (Olzmann and Chin 2008; Narendra et al. 2008). In addition to its E3 ligase function, the N-terminal UBL domain of parkin interacts with proteasome regulatory subunits Rpn10 (Sakata et al. 2003), RPN13 (Aguileta et al. 2015), Rpt6 (Tsai et al. 2003), and  $\alpha$ 4 (Dachsel et al. 2005) and directly enhances proteasome activity in cell culture (Um et al. 2010; Hyun et al. 2002; Dachsel et al. 2005). The studies in this chapter characterize the differential proteasome activity, which may be associated with differential parkin expression in regions containing TIDA and NSDA axon terminals under conditions of neurotoxicant induced oxidative stress *in vivo*.

NSDA neurons have higher basal neuronal activity than TIDA neurons, which is reflected by the DOPAC to DA ratio as well as the DOPA to TH ratios observed in the NSD-1015 study. The relatively high state of activity in NSDA neurons may come with the consequence of increased ROS production and reduced antioxidant capacity. To prevent toxic DA quinone formation, intraneuronal DA is metabolized to DOPAL by MAO, a reaction that results in the two-electron reduction of oxygen and the production of superoxide and hydroxyl radical (Przedborski et al. 2000). Superoxide and hydroxyl radical production results in the depletion of glutathione, which can render these neurons susceptible to a modest increase in ROS production. Despite the fact that NSDA neurons intrinsically produce more ROS than other DA neuronal populations (Voets et al. 2012; Castro Mdel et al. 2012; Alexeyev 2009; Enochs et al.

1994), there are no regional differences in oxidative protein modification (as measured by protein carbonylation), parkin expression, or proteasome activity in untreated WT mice.

The production of ROS markedly increases in the ST and ventral midbrain following MPTP exposure (Jackson-Lewis and Przedborski 2007). The burden of MPTP-induced ROS likely overwhelms the antioxidant capacity of DA neurons. A single acute exposure of MPTP results in a compensatory increase in NSDA neuronal activity in the ST, while TIDA neuronal activity in the ME is decreased. The increase in activity of the NSDA neurons is likely mediated by loss of DA receptor mediated feedback regulation (either long-loop post-synaptic or autoregulatory presynaptic), which is absent in TIDA neurons that lack a robust presynaptic DA feedback mechanism (Lookingland and Moore 2005). TIDA neurons are instead regulated by changes in circulating prolactin, which tonically activates the TIDA neurons. MPP<sup>+</sup> triggers release of DA from the TIDA axon terminals to the anterior pituitary where is inhibits prolactin release from lactotrophs (Durham et al. 1997). It is feasible that the decrease in neuronal activity of TIDA neurons following MPTP is due to loss of prolactin feedback activation of TIDA neurons. Despite the differing neuronal activity states of NSDA and TIDA neurons following MPTP, protein carbonylation is elevated to the same extent in both the ST and ME 24 h following MPTP exposure, indicating that the antioxidant capacity of both regions has been overwhelmed following MPTP exposure. The observation that parkin is elevated in the ME and not the ST following MPTP exposure suggests that changes in parkin expression are not dependent upon the oxidative modification of proteins within that region.

It was hypothesized that distinct parkin expression profiles in NSDA and TIDA neurons following MPTP exposure would be associated with differential proteasome activity within the ST and ME. In fact, proteasome activity was decreased in the ST, but not the ME 24 h following

MPTP treatment. Interestingly, proteasome activity was not changed in the SN, which contains the cell bodies of NSDA neurons. This is likely because MPP<sup>+</sup> enters the axon terminal via DAT and causes a retrograde mechanism of toxicity in NSDA neurons. Proteasome activity was increased in the ARC, which contains the cell bodies of TIDA neurons. This could, perhaps be due to increased parkin expression in this region following MPTP exposure.

To determine if MPTP or MPP<sup>+</sup> causes direct inhibition of the proteasome, purified 26S proteasome was treated with either MPTP or MPP<sup>+</sup> and tested for CT-L activity. MPP<sup>+</sup> (but not its inactive precursor MPTP) inhibits purified 26S proteasome activity *in vitro* indicating a direct effect of the toxic cation on proteasome function. This observation, however, does not rule out other indirect means of proteasome inhibition *in vivo*. Treatment of mice with MPTP likely causes pronounced oxidative stress and subsequent oxidative damage to proteins including the proteasome within the neuron.

Decreased proteasome activity in the ST following MPTP exposure was further characterized *in vivo*. Proteasome impairment following MPTP exposure occurs in both the P1 fraction, which contains cell bodies and cellular debris as well as the P2 fraction, which contains synaptosomes and membrane fragments. This indicates that proteasome impairment is occurring within the axon terminals of the ST. It is important to understand that neurotransmitter heterogeneity is a limitation of synaptosomal studies. Only about 35% of the synaptosomes in a striatal synaptosome preparation can be identified as dopaminergic (Dunkley et al. 1986). However, MPP<sup>+</sup> is selectively transported into dopaminergic terminals and it is likely that the proteasome impairment observed in the P2 fraction comes from the dopaminergic synaptosomes.

The proteasome has three proteolytic activities; CT-L, Casp-L and T-L (Kisselev and Goldberg 2005). Of these, the CT-L activity is rate-limiting for proteasome substrate degradation

(Rock et al. 1994). Exposure to MPTP impairs both CT-L and Casp-L activities of the proteasome in the ST; the decrease in activity is sufficient to cause the accumulation of ubiquitinated proteins and induce *de novo* synthesis of new proteasome subunits that are assembled into the 20S proteasome. It should be noted that, although T-L activity was not decreased in these assays, other serine proteases that are abundant in the brain (Wang, Luo, and Reiser 2008) could contribute to non-proteasome specific T-L activity.

Although the proteasome has multiple catalytic activities, inhibition of all three is not needed to prevent protein substrate degradation. Most proteasome inhibitors that inhibit the CT-L sites are hydrophobic molecules, while inhibitors of T-L activity must contend with charged residues within the T-L catalytic binding pocket and tend to be less cell permeable (Kisselev and Goldberg 2001). Therefore, many synthetic proteasome inhibitors impair CT-L catalytic activity and have weak to no effect on the T-L catalytic site. Nevertheless, inhibition of CT-L proteasome activity causes a large reduction in the rate of protein substrate degradation (Rock et al. 1994; Chen and Hochstrasser 1996; Heinemeyer et al. 1997), while inhibition of the T-L or Casp-L catalytic activities have limited control over the rate of protein degradation (Kisselev et al. 1999; Heinemeyer et al. 1997; Arendt and Hochstrasser 1997).

MPP<sup>+</sup> is a mitochondrial complex I inhibitor and parkin plays a role in mitochondrial quality control (Exner et al. 2007; Narendra et al. 2008; Springer and Kahle 2011; Hawong 2014). The amount of parkin is not increased in the ST following MPTP compared to the saline treated controls and the modest decrease in parkin protein in the ST following MPTP exposure likely reflects normal turnover of existing parkin. One might suggest that complex I inhibition by MPP<sup>+</sup> results in decreased ATP production, which is necessary to maintain the 26S proteasome complex. While ATP is transiently decreased by about 10% shortly (1-3 h) after MPTP

exposure, ATP is not noticeably different from control mice 24 h after MPTP exposure (Cosi and Marien 1998; Chan et al. 1991; Irwin, DeLanney, and Langston 1993). Consistent with this time course of MPTP effects, no change in the amount of assembled 26S proteasome was observed in the ST 24 h after MPTP exposure. Since maintenance of assembled 26S proteasome is ATP-dependent, the unaltered levels of assembled 26S proteasome in the ST following MPTP treatment could imply that there was sufficient ATP to keep the 26S proteasome from disassembling following MPTP treatment.

There is a growing body of evidence that parkin is necessary for maintenance of central DA neurons (Benskey, Manfredsson, et al. 2015; Petrucelli et al. 2002; Narendra et al. 2008; Jiang et al. 2004) and that parkin can act to enhance proteasome activity (Tanaka et al. 2001; Sakata et al. 2003; Aguileta et al. 2015; Tsai et al. 2003; Dachsel et al. 2005; Um et al. 2010; Hyun et al. 2002). The necessity of parkin to maintain proteasome activity following neurotoxic insult will be explored in Chapter 4 of this dissertation.

## Conclusion

NSDA neurons are susceptible to neurotoxicant exposure while TIDA neurons are able to recover. MPTP exposure results in similar oxidative damage to proteins in regions containing the axon terminals of NSDA and TIDA neurons yet parkin expression is increased in TIDA neurons but not in NSDA neurons. Parkin is an E3 ubiquitin ligase that can directly bind to the 26S proteasome and enhance its activity. The increase in parkin expression is neuroprotective for TIDA neurons (Benskey, Manfredsson, et al. 2015). Regional differences in proteasome activity appear to be associated with parkin expression, as proteasome activity is decreased in the ST and maintained in the ME following MPTP exposure. However, this observation is correlative and

the causal contribution of parkin expression to proteasome activity must be examined in more detail. Further characterization of proteasome activity following neurotoxicant exposure demonstrates that decreased proteasome activity occurs in the axon terminals innervating the ST and affects both CT-L and Casp-L proteasome activity, but not T-L activity. The modest decrease in proteasome activity is sufficient to induce the accumulation of ubiquitinated proteins, the production of β5 catalytic subunits, and the assembly of new 20S proteasome in the ST.

REFERENCES

### REFERENCES

- Aguileta, M. A., J. Korac, T. M. Durcan, J. F. Trempe, M. Haber, K. Gehring, S. Elsasser, O. Waidmann, E. A. Fon, and K. Husnjak. 2015. 'The E3 ubiquitin ligase parkin is recruited to the 26 S proteasome via the proteasomal ubiquitin receptor Rpn13', *J Biol Chem*, 290: 7492-505.
- Alexeyev, M. F. 2009. 'Is there more to aging than mitochondrial DNA and reactive oxygen species?', *FEBS J*, 276: 5768-87.
- Ara, J., S. Przedborski, A. B. Naini, V. Jackson-Lewis, R. R. Trifiletti, J. Horwitz, and H. Ischiropoulos. 1998. 'Inactivation of tyrosine hydroxylase by nitration following exposure to peroxynitrite and 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine (MPTP)', *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 95: 7659-63.
- Arendt, C. S., and M. Hochstrasser. 1997. 'Identification of the yeast 20S proteasome catalytic centers and subunit interactions required for active-site formation', *Proc Natl Acad Sci U* S A, 94: 7156-61.
- Bartels, A. L., A. T. Willemsen, J. Doorduin, E. F. de Vries, R. A. Dierckx, and K. L. Leenders. 2010. '[11C]-PK11195 PET: quantification of neuroinflammation and a monitor of antiinflammatory treatment in Parkinson's disease?', *Parkinsonism Relat Disord*, 16: 57-9.
- Behrouz, B., R. E. Drolet, Z. A. Sayed, K. J. Lookingland, and J. L. Goudreau. 2007. 'Unique responses to mitochondrial complex I inhibition in tuberoinfundibular dopamine neurons may impart resistance to toxic insult', *Neuroscience*, 147: 592-8.
- Benskey, M., B. Behrouz, J. Sunryd, S. S. Pappas, S. H. Baek, M. Huebner, K. J. Lookingland, and J. L. Goudreau. 2012. 'Recovery of hypothalamic tuberoinfundibular dopamine neurons from acute toxicant exposure is dependent upon protein synthesis and associated with an increase in parkin and ubiquitin carboxy-terminal hydrolase-L1 expression', *Neurotoxicology*, 33: 321-31.
- Benskey, M. J., N. C. Kuhn, J. J. Galligan, J. Garcia, S. E. Boye, W. W. Hauswirth, C. Mueller, S. L. Boye, and F. P. Manfredsson. 2015. 'Targeted gene delivery to the enteric nervous system using AAV: a comparison across serotypes and capsid mutants', *Mol Ther*, 23: 488-500.
- Benskey, M. J., F. P. Manfredsson, K. J. Lookingland, and J. L. Goudreau. 2015. 'The role of parkin in the differential susceptibility of tuberoinfundibular and nigrostriatal dopamine neurons to acute toxicant exposure', *Neurotoxicology*, 46: 1-11.
- Benskey, M., K. Y. Lee, K. Parikh, K. J. Lookingland, and J. L. Goudreau. 2013. 'Sustained resistance to acute MPTP toxicity by hypothalamic dopamine neurons following chronic

neurotoxicant exposure is associated with sustained up-regulation of parkin protein', *Neurotoxicology*, 37: 144-53.

- Bukhatwa, S., B. Y. Zeng, S. Rose, and P. Jenner. 2010. 'A comparison of changes in proteasomal subunit expression in the substantia nigra in Parkinson's disease, multiple system atrophy and progressive supranuclear palsy', *Brain Res*, 1326: 174-83.
- Castro Mdel, R., E. Suarez, E. Kraiselburd, A. Isidro, J. Paz, L. Ferder, and S. Ayala-Torres. 2012. 'Aging increases mitochondrial DNA damage and oxidative stress in liver of rhesus monkeys', *Exp Gerontol*, 47: 29-37.
- Chan, P., L. E. DeLanney, I. Irwin, J. W. Langston, and D. Di Monte. 1991. 'Rapid ATP loss caused by 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine in mouse brain', *J Neurochem*, 57: 348-51.
- Chang, K. H., G. J. Lee-Chen, Y. R. Wu, Y. J. Chen, J. L. Lin, M. Li, I. C. Chen, Y. S. Lo, H. C. Wu, and C. M. Chen. 2016. 'Impairment of proteasome and anti-oxidative pathways in the induced pluripotent stem cell model for sporadic Parkinson's disease', *Parkinsonism Relat Disord*, 24: 81-8.
- Chen, P., and M. Hochstrasser. 1996. 'Autocatalytic subunit processing couples active site formation in the 20S proteasome to completion of assembly', *Cell*, 86: 961-72.
- Chepelev, N. L., H. Zhang, H. Liu, S. McBride, A. J. Seal, T. E. Morgan, C. E. Finch, W. G. Willmore, K. J. Davies, and H. J. Forman. 2013. 'Competition of nuclear factor-erythroid 2 factors related transcription factor isoforms, Nrf1 and Nrf2, in antioxidant enzyme induction', *Redox Biol*, 1: 183-9.
- Chung, K. K., V. L. Dawson, and T. M. Dawson. 2001. 'The role of the ubiquitin-proteasomal pathway in Parkinson's disease and other neurodegenerative disorders', *Trends Neurosci*, 24: S7-14.
- Chung, K. K., B. Thomas, X. Li, O. Pletnikova, J. C. Troncoso, L. Marsh, V. L. Dawson, and T. M. Dawson. 2004. 'S-nitrosylation of parkin regulates ubiquitination and compromises parkin's protective function', *Science*, 304: 1328-31.
- Ciechanover, A. 2005. 'Intracellular protein degradation: from a vague idea thru the lysosome and the ubiquitin-proteasome system and onto human diseases and drug targeting', *Cell Death Differ*, 12: 1178-90.
- Cosi, C., and M. Marien. 1998. 'Decreases in mouse brain NAD+ and ATP induced by 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1, 2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine (MPTP): prevention by the poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase inhibitor, benzamide', *Brain Res*, 809: 58-67.
- Coux, O., K. Tanaka, and A. L. Goldberg. 1996. 'Structure and functions of the 20S and 26S proteasomes', *Annu Rev Biochem*, 65: 801-47.

- Dachsel, J. C., C. B. Lucking, S. Deeg, E. Schultz, M. Lalowski, E. Casademunt, O. Corti, C. Hampe, N. Patenge, K. Vaupel, A. Yamamoto, M. Dichgans, A. Brice, E. E. Wanker, P. J. Kahle, and T. Gasser. 2005. 'Parkin interacts with the proteasome subunit alpha4', *FEBS Lett*, 579: 3913-9.
- Davies, K. J., and M. E. Delsignore. 1987. 'Protein damage and degradation by oxygen radicals. III. Modification of secondary and tertiary structure', *J Biol Chem*, 262: 9908-13.
- Davies, K. J., M. E. Delsignore, and S. W. Lin. 1987. 'Protein damage and degradation by oxygen radicals. II. Modification of amino acids', *J Biol Chem*, 262: 9902-7.
- de la Fuente-Fernandez, R., J. Q. Lu, V. Sossi, S. Jivan, M. Schulzer, J. E. Holden, C. S. Lee, T. J. Ruth, D. B. Calne, and A. J. Stoessl. 2001. 'Biochemical variations in the synaptic level of dopamine precede motor fluctuations in Parkinson's disease: PET evidence of increased dopamine turnover', *Ann Neurol*, 49: 298-303.
- de la Fuente-Fernandez, R., V. Sossi, Z. Huang, S. Furtado, J. Q. Lu, D. B. Calne, T. J. Ruth, and A. J. Stoessl. 2004. 'Levodopa-induced changes in synaptic dopamine levels increase with progression of Parkinson's disease: implications for dyskinesias', *Brain*, 127: 2747-54.
- Dexter, D. T., F. R. Wells, A. J. Lees, F. Agid, Y. Agid, P. Jenner, and C. D. Marsden. 1989. 'Increased nigral iron content and alterations in other metal ions occurring in brain in Parkinson's disease', *J Neurochem*, 52: 1830-6.
- Double, K. L., M. Gerlach, M. B. Youdim, and P. Riederer. 2000. 'Impaired iron homeostasis in Parkinson's disease', *J Neural Transm Suppl*: 37-58.
- Dunkley, P. R., P. E. Jarvie, J. W. Heath, G. J. Kidd, and J. A. Rostas. 1986. 'A rapid method for isolation of synaptosomes on Percoll gradients', *Brain Res*, 372: 115-29.
- Durham, R. A., M. J. Eaton, K. E. Moore, and K. J. Lookingland. 1997. 'Effects of selective activation of dopamine D2 and D3 receptors on prolactin secretion and the activity of tuberoinfundibular dopamine neurons', *Eur J Pharmacol*, 335: 37-42.
- Ehringer, H., and O. Hornykiewicz. 1960. '[Distribution of noradrenaline and dopamine (3hydroxytyramine) in the human brain and their behavior in diseases of the extrapyramidal system]', *Klin Wochenschr*, 38: 1236-9.
- Enochs, W. S., T. Sarna, L. Zecca, P. A. Riley, and H. M. Swartz. 1994. 'The roles of neuromelanin, binding of metal ions, and oxidative cytotoxicity in the pathogenesis of Parkinson's disease: a hypothesis', *J Neural Transm Park Dis Dement Sect*, 7: 83-100.
- Exner, N., B. Treske, D. Paquet, K. Holmstrom, C. Schiesling, S. Gispert, I. Carballo-Carbajal, D. Berg, H. H. Hoepken, T. Gasser, R. Kruger, K. F. Winklhofer, F. Vogel, A. S. Reichert, G. Auburger, P. J. Kahle, B. Schmid, and C. Haass. 2007. 'Loss-of-function of

human PINK1 results in mitochondrial pathology and can be rescued by parkin', J Neurosci, 27: 12413-8.

- Gerhard, A., N. Pavese, G. Hotton, F. Turkheimer, M. Es, A. Hammers, K. Eggert, W. Oertel, R. B. Banati, and D. J. Brooks. 2006. 'In vivo imaging of microglial activation with [11C](R)-PK11195 PET in idiopathic Parkinson's disease', *Neurobiol Dis*, 21: 404-12.
- Hattori, N., H. Matsumine, S. Asakawa, T. Kitada, H. Yoshino, B. Elibol, A. J. Brookes, Y. Yamamura, T. Kobayashi, M. Wang, A. Yoritaka, S. Minoshima, N. Shimizu, and Y. Mizuno. 1998. 'Point mutations (Thr240Arg and Gln311Stop) [correction of Thr240Arg and Ala311Stop] in the Parkin gene', *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, 249: 754-8.
- Hawong, Hae-Young. 2014. 'Parkin Mediated Mitochondrial Quality Control in Central Dopamine Neurons', Michigan State University.
- Heinemeyer, W., M. Fischer, T. Krimmer, U. Stachon, and D. H. Wolf. 1997. 'The active sites of the eukaryotic 20 S proteasome and their involvement in subunit precursor processing', J Biol Chem, 272: 25200-9.
- Hyun, D. H., M. Lee, N. Hattori, S. Kubo, Y. Mizuno, B. Halliwell, and P. Jenner. 2002. 'Effect of wild-type or mutant Parkin on oxidative damage, nitric oxide, antioxidant defenses, and the proteasome', *J Biol Chem*, 277: 28572-7.
- Irwin, I., L. E. DeLanney, and J. W. Langston. 1993. 'MPTP and aging. Studies in the C57BL/6 mouse', *Adv Neurol*, 60: 197-206.
- Jackson-Lewis, V., M. Jakowec, R. E. Burke, and S. Przedborski. 1995. 'Time course and morphology of dopaminergic neuronal death caused by the neurotoxin 1-methyl-4phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine', *Neurodegeneration*, 4: 257-69.
- Jackson-Lewis, V., and S. Przedborski. 2007. 'Protocol for the MPTP mouse model of Parkinson's disease', *Nat Protoc*, 2: 141-51.
- Jiang, H., Y. Ren, J. Zhao, and J. Feng. 2004. 'Parkin protects human dopaminergic neuroblastoma cells against dopamine-induced apoptosis', *Hum Mol Genet*, 13: 1745-54.
- Kastner, A., M. T. Herrero, E. C. Hirsch, J. Guillen, M. R. Luquin, F. Javoy-Agid, J. A. Obeso, and Y. Agid. 1994. 'Decreased tyrosine hydroxylase content in the dopaminergic neurons of MPTP-intoxicated monkeys: effect of levodopa and GM1 ganglioside therapy', *Ann Neurol*, 36: 206-14.
- Kisselev, A. F., T. N. Akopian, K. M. Woo, and A. L. Goldberg. 1999. 'The sizes of peptides generated from protein by mammalian 26 and 20 S proteasomes. Implications for understanding the degradative mechanism and antigen presentation', *J Biol Chem*, 274: 3363-71.

- Kisselev, A. F., and A. L. Goldberg. 2001. 'Proteasome inhibitors: from research tools to drug candidates', *Chem Biol*, 8: 739-58.
- — . 2005. 'Monitoring activity and inhibition of 26S proteasomes with fluorogenic peptide substrates', *Methods Enzymol*, 398: 364-78.
- Kitada, T., S. Asakawa, N. Hattori, H. Matsumine, Y. Yamamura, S. Minoshima, M. Yokochi, Y. Mizuno, and N. Shimizu. 1998. 'Mutations in the parkin gene cause autosomal recessive juvenile parkinsonism', *Nature*, 392: 605-8.
- Langston, J. W., and L. S. Forno. 1978. 'The hypothalamus in Parkinson disease', *Ann Neurol*, 3: 129-33.
- Lehman, N. L. 2009. 'The ubiquitin proteasome system in neuropathology', *Acta Neuropathol*, 118: 329-47.
- Levine, R. L. 2002. 'Carbonyl modified proteins in cellular regulation, aging, and disease', *Free Radic Biol Med*, 32: 790-6.
- Lookingland, K. J., and K.E. Moore. 2005. 'Functional neuroanatomy of hypothalamic dopaminergic neuroendocrine systems.' in S.B. Dunnett, M. Bentivoglio, M. Bjorklund and T Hokfelt (eds.), *Handbook of Chemical Neuroanatomy* (Elsevier: Amsterdam).
- Martins-Branco, D., A. R. Esteves, D. Santos, D. M. Arduino, R. H. Swerdlow, C. R. Oliveira, C. Januario, and S. M. Cardoso. 2012. 'Ubiquitin proteasome system in Parkinson's disease: a keeper or a witness?', *Exp Neurol*, 238: 89-99.
- McGeer, P. L., S. Itagaki, B. E. Boyes, and E. G. McGeer. 1988. 'Reactive microglia are positive for HLA-DR in the substantia nigra of Parkinson's and Alzheimer's disease brains', *Neurology*, 38: 1285-91.
- McNaught, K. S., R. Belizaire, P. Jenner, C. W. Olanow, and O. Isacson. 2002. 'Selective loss of 20S proteasome alpha-subunits in the substantia nigra pars compacta in Parkinson's disease', *Neurosci Lett*, 326: 155-8.
- McNaught, K. S., T. Jackson, R. JnoBaptiste, A. Kapustin, and C. W. Olanow. 2006. 'Proteasomal dysfunction in sporadic Parkinson's disease', *Neurology*, 66: S37-49.
- McNaught, K. S., and P. Jenner. 2001. 'Proteasomal function is impaired in substantia nigra in Parkinson's disease', *Neurosci Lett*, 297: 191-4.
- Melamed, E., J. Rosenthal, M. Globus, O. Cohen, Y. Frucht, and A. Uzzan. 1985. 'Mesolimbic dopaminergic neurons are not spared by MPTP neurotoxicity in mice', *Eur J Pharmacol*, 114: 97-100.

- Mirzaei, H., and F. Regnier. 2008. 'Protein:protein aggregation induced by protein oxidation', J Chromatogr B Analyt Technol Biomed Life Sci, 873: 8-14.
- Mizuno, Y., S. Ohta, M. Tanaka, S. Takamiya, K. Suzuki, T. Sato, H. Oya, T. Ozawa, and Y. Kagawa. 1989. 'Deficiencies in complex I subunits of the respiratory chain in Parkinson's disease', *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, 163: 1450-5.
- Mogi, M., M. Harada, K. Kojima, K. Kiuchi, and T. Nagatsu. 1988. 'Effects of systemic administration of 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine to mice on tyrosine hydroxylase, L-3,4-dihydroxyphenylalanine decarboxylase, dopamine beta-hydroxylase, and monoamine oxidase activities in the striatum and hypothalamus', *J Neurochem*, 50: 1053-6.
- Muroyama, A., S. Kobayashi, and Y. Mitsumoto. 2011. 'Loss of striatal dopaminergic terminals during the early stage in response to MPTP injection in C57BL/6 mice', *Neurosci Res*, 69: 352-5.
- Narendra, D., A. Tanaka, D. F. Suen, and R. J. Youle. 2008. 'Parkin is recruited selectively to impaired mitochondria and promotes their autophagy', *J Cell Biol*, 183: 795-803.
- Olanow, C. W., and K. S. McNaught. 2006. 'Ubiquitin-proteasome system and Parkinson's disease', *Mov Disord*, 21: 1806-23.
- Olzmann, J. A., and L. S. Chin. 2008. 'Parkin-mediated K63-linked polyubiquitination: a signal for targeting misfolded proteins to the aggresome-autophagy pathway', *Autophagy*, 4: 85-7.
- Petrucelli, L., C. O'Farrell, P. J. Lockhart, M. Baptista, K. Kehoe, L. Vink, P. Choi, B. Wolozin, M. Farrer, J. Hardy, and M. R. Cookson. 2002. 'Parkin protects against the toxicity associated with mutant alpha-synuclein: proteasome dysfunction selectively affects catecholaminergic neurons', *Neuron*, 36: 1007-19.
- Przedborski, S., V. Jackson-Lewis, R. Djaldetti, G. Liberatore, M. Vila, S. Vukosavic, and G. Almer. 2000. 'The parkinsonian toxin MPTP: action and mechanism', *Restor Neurol Neurosci*, 16: 135-42.
- Radhakrishnan, S. K., W. den Besten, and R. J. Deshaies. 2014. 'p97-dependent retrotranslocation and proteolytic processing govern formation of active Nrf1 upon proteasome inhibition', *Elife*, 3: e01856.
- Riederer, P., A. Dirr, M. Goetz, E. Sofic, K. Jellinger, and M. B. Youdim. 1992. 'Distribution of iron in different brain regions and subcellular compartments in Parkinson's disease', Ann Neurol, 32 Suppl: S101-4.

- Rock, K. L., C. Gramm, L. Rothstein, K. Clark, R. Stein, L. Dick, D. Hwang, and A. L. Goldberg. 1994. 'Inhibitors of the proteasome block the degradation of most cell proteins and the generation of peptides presented on MHC class I molecules', *Cell*, 78: 761-71.
- Ross, C. A., and C. M. Pickart. 2004. 'The ubiquitin-proteasome pathway in Parkinson's disease and other neurodegenerative diseases', *Trends Cell Biol*, 14: 703-11.
- Sakata, E., Y. Yamaguchi, E. Kurimoto, J. Kikuchi, S. Yokoyama, S. Yamada, H. Kawahara, H. Yokosawa, N. Hattori, Y. Mizuno, K. Tanaka, and K. Kato. 2003. 'Parkin binds the Rpn10 subunit of 26S proteasomes through its ubiquitin-like domain', *EMBO Rep*, 4: 301-6.
- Schapira, A. H. 1993. 'Mitochondrial complex I deficiency in Parkinson's disease', *Adv Neurol*, 60: 288-91.
- Shimura, H., N. Hattori, Si Kubo, Y. Mizuno, S. Asakawa, S. Minoshima, N. Shimizu, K. Iwai, T. Chiba, K. Tanaka, and T. Suzuki. 2000. 'Familial Parkinson disease gene product, parkin, is a ubiquitin-protein ligase', *Nat Genet*, 25: 302-5.
- Sinha, R., B. Racette, J. S. Perlmutter, and A. Parsian. 2005. 'Prevalence of parkin gene mutations and variations in idiopathic Parkinson's disease', *Parkinsonism Relat Disord*, 11: 341-7.
- Sofic, E., W. Paulus, K. Jellinger, P. Riederer, and M. B. Youdim. 1991. 'Selective increase of iron in substantia nigra zona compacta of parkinsonian brains', *J Neurochem*, 56: 978-82.
- Sossi, V., R. de la Fuente-Fernandez, M. Schulzer, J. Adams, and J. Stoessl. 2006. 'Age-related differences in levodopa dynamics in Parkinson's: implications for motor complications', *Brain*, 129: 1050-8.
- Springer, W., and P. J. Kahle. 2011. 'Regulation of PINK1-Parkin-mediated mitophagy', *Autophagy*, 7: 266-78.
- Steffen, J., M. Seeger, A. Koch, and E. Kruger. 2010. 'Proteasomal degradation is transcriptionally controlled by TCF11 via an ERAD-dependent feedback loop', *Mol Cell*, 40: 147-58.
- Tanaka, K., T. Suzuki, T. Chiba, H. Shimura, N. Hattori, and Y. Mizuno. 2001. 'Parkin is linked to the ubiquitin pathway', *J Mol Med (Berl)*, 79: 482-94.
- Tsai, Y. C., P. S. Fishman, N. V. Thakor, and G. A. Oyler. 2003. 'Parkin facilitates the elimination of expanded polyglutamine proteins and leads to preservation of proteasome function', *J Biol Chem*, 278: 22044-55.

- Um, J. W., E. Im, H. J. Lee, B. Min, L. Yoo, J. Yoo, H. Lubbert, C. Stichel-Gunkel, H. S. Cho, J. B. Yoon, and K. C. Chung. 2010. 'Parkin directly modulates 26S proteasome activity', J *Neurosci*, 30: 11805-14.
- Voets, A. M., M. Huigsloot, P. J. Lindsey, A. M. Leenders, W. J. Koopman, P. H. Willems, R. J. Rodenburg, J. A. Smeitink, and H. J. Smeets. 2012. 'Transcriptional changes in OXPHOS complex I deficiency are related to anti-oxidant pathways and could explain the disturbed calcium homeostasis', *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 1822: 1161-8.
- von Coelln, R., V. L. Dawson, and T. M. Dawson. 2004. 'Parkin-associated Parkinson's disease', *Cell Tissue Res*, 318: 175-84.
- Wang, Y., W. Luo, and G. Reiser. 2008. 'Trypsin and trypsin-like proteases in the brain: proteolysis and cellular functions', *Cell Mol Life Sci*, 65: 237-52.

### Chapter 4. Parkin is necessary to maintain proteasome activity in the ST

## Introduction

Most cellular proteins are targeted for degradation by the 26S proteasome. In fact, over 30% of newly synthesized proteins are misfolded (Schubert et al. 2000) and even if proteins are folded into their correct tertiary structures, they often undergo damage due to ROS and other environmental stresses (Sherman and Goldberg 2001). These misfolded and damaged proteins are not normally observed in healthy cells because they are rapidly degraded by the UPS. Neuronal intracellular inclusions are a common feature of many neurodegenerative diseases (Lowe et al. 2001). In fact, an important pathological hallmark of PD is the presence of Lewy bodies in the surviving neurons (Pollanen, Dickson, and Bergeron 1993). Intracellular inclusions are composed of heavily ubiquitinated protein aggregates, some of which is  $\alpha$ -synuclein which implies a connection between failure of UPS associated protein quality control and neurodegeneration (Olanow et al. 2004; Tofaris et al. 2003).

The parkin protein provides a link between familial and sporadic PD and UPS impairment. For greater than 50% of patients with AR-JP the causative gene mutation is in the parkin gene (Kitada et al. 1998). In sporadic PD, oxidative and nitrosative stress results in S-nitrosylation of parkin and a dramatic decrease in UPS activity (Yao et al. 2004).

The neurotoxicant MPTP produces oxidative stress in DA neurons and can replicate the pattern of DA neuronal susceptibility that is seen in PD (Benskey et al. 2012; Behrouz et al. 2007; Melamed et al. 1985; Mogi et al. 1988). NSDA neurons are susceptible to neurotoxicant exposure while TIDA neurons recover. While MPTP exposure results in oxidative damage to proteins in both NSDA and TIDA axon terminal regions, parkin expression is increased only in

the TIDA neurons and not NSDA neurons. Regional differences in proteasome activity appear to be associated with parkin expression, as proteasome activity is decreased in the ST and maintained in the ME following MPTP exposure. However, this observation is correlative and the causal contribution of parkin expression to proteasome activity will be examined here in more detail.

The studies presented in this chapter are designed to test the hypothesis that parkin expression is necessary to maintain proteasome activity following MPTP exposure. In order to test this hypothesis, proteasome activity of mice that were deficient in parkin expression was compared to proteasome activity in WT mice. In addition, markers of oxidative protein damage (protein carbonylation) and changes in DA phenotypic markers (TH expression and activity) were also explored.

#### Results

# Park2<sup>-/-</sup> Mice do not Express Parkin

Park2<sup>tm1Shn</sup> knockout mice (Park2<sup>-/-</sup>) model the exon 3 deletion mutation that is most common in AR-JP. In these mice, a frame shift and premature stop codon in exon 5 are introduced by replacing exon 3 with the enhanced green fluorescent protein (EGFP) gene (Goldberg et al. 2003). Western blot with an antibody directed toward parkin indicated the absence of the parkin protein in both the ST and the ME of the Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice (**Figure 4-1**). Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice were backcrossed to C57BL/6J inbred mice for over 20 generations before being made available by Jackson Labs and established as a breeding colony *in house* for several years. In this dissertation, all comparisons of Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice were made to C57BL/6J mice, which from



**Figure 4-1 Expression of parkin in the ST and ME of C57BL/6J and Park2**<sup>-/-</sup> **mice**. C57BL/6J and Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice were decapitated and lysates from the ST and ME were analyzed for parkin and GAPDH by Western blot.

here on in will be referred to as WT mice. Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice have increased extracellular DA in the ST, reduced synaptic excitability of ST medium spiny neurons, and behavioral deficits related to dysfunction of the NSDA neuronal pathway (Goldberg et al. 2003). For gait analysis of Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice compared to WT controls data see **Appendix 1**.

# Park2<sup>-/-</sup> Mice have Decreased Proteasome Activity in the ST but not the ME

In Chapter 3, observations were made that suggested that regional differences in proteasome activity following neurotoxicant exposure might be related to regional differences in parkin expression. Parkin protein concentrations and proteasome activity are both decreased in the ST following MPTP-induced injury. Conversely, parkin protein expression increases in the ME following MPTP treatment and this is associated with maintenance of proteasome activity in this PD resistant subset of DA neurons. Given the correlation of proteasome function and parkin expression following MPTP treatment in PD susceptible and PD resistant brain regions, it is plausible that proteasome activity may be dependent upon parkin expression.

Based on the hypothesis that parkin expression is necessary to maintain proteasome activity in the ST and ME following acute toxicant-induced injury, CT-L proteasome activity and protein carbonylation were compared in the ST and ME of WT and Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice. Proteasome activity was decreased in the ST of the Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice (**Fig. 4-2A**) indicating that maintenance of basal proteasome activity in the ST is dependent on parkin expression. However, proteasome activity was maintained in the ME of Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice compared to WT mice which indicates that maintenance of basal proteasome activity in the ME is not dependent upon parkin expression (**Figure 4-2B**).



Figure 4-2 Proteasome activity in the ST and ME of C57BL/6J and Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice. CT-L activity of the proteasome was measured in lysates from the ST (A) and ME (B) of C57BL/6J and Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice using Suc-LLVY-AMC as the substrate. Bars represent the mean % CT-L activity compared to the WT controls. Error bars represent +1 SEM. \* indicates significant difference from the WT control (p < 0.05, n=8).

Parkin protein is specifically expressed throughout the cytoplasm of neurons in the brain and not in glial cells (Stichel et al. 2000). To determine if decreased proteasome activity was localized to the axon terminals within the ST, CT-L proteasome activity was measured in the P1 and P2 fractions of striatal homogenates (**Figure 4-3**). Proteasome activity was decreased in both the P1 and the P2 fractions indicating that loss of parkin affects proteasome activity of both the terminals and cell bodies of neurons in the ST.

## Clearance of Oxidatively Damaged Proteins in the ST is Dependent upon Parkin Expression

Damaged proteins are not normally observed in healthy cells because they are rapidly degraded by the UPS. To determine if changes in proteasome activity resulted in accumulation of damaged proteins, homogenates from the ST and ME of WT and Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice were examined for protein carbonylation. Mice that were deficient of parkin were more susceptible to oxidative damage in the ST, as indicated by the increase in protein carbonylation, compared to the WT mice (**Figure 4-4A**). This indicates that clearance of oxidatively damaged proteins in the ST is dependent upon parkin expression. As expected, protein carbonyls did not accumulate in the ME of Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice compared to WT mice (**Figure 4-4B**) indicating that under basal conditions, clearance of oxidatively damaged proteins is not dependent upon parkin expression.

# *The ME of Park2<sup>-/-</sup> Mice is Susceptible to Neurotoxic Insult*

There are regional differences in proteasome activity in Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice that are not apparent in WT mice. NSDA neurons have higher basal neuronal activity than TIDA neurons, which may come with the consequence of increased ROS production and reduced antioxidant capacity. This suggests that an added neurotoxic insult might result in loss of proteasome



Figure 4-3 Proteasome activity in the P1 and P2 fractions of C57BL/6J and Park2<sup>-/-</sup> ST homogenates. C57BL/6J and Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice were decapitated and the entire ST was removed from each side of the brain. The tissue was homogenized and subjected to differential centrifugation. The pellets were resuspended in proteasome assay buffer and CT-L proteasome activity was determined for each pelleted fraction. A, Scheme for differential centrifugation. B, CT-L activity of P1 and P2 fractions. \* indicates that the group is significantly different from the respective C57BL/6J control. # indicates that the group is significantly different from its respective P1 control. (p < 0.05, n=6).



Figure 4-4 Protein carbonylation in the ST and ME of C57BL/6J and Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice. The ST (A) and ME (B) were collected from C57BL/6J and Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice and the amount of protein carbonyls was measured by dot-blot. The bars represent the mean pmol carbonyls/mg protein. Error bars represent +1 SEM. \* indicates significant difference from the WT control (p < 0.05, n=8).

activity in the ME of Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice but not WT mice. To this end, WT and Park2-/- mice were treated with a single acute dose of MPTP and proteasome activity was measured in the ST and ME 24 h later (**Figure 4-5**). As previously described, the ST of WT mice had impaired proteasome activity 24 h following MPTP exposure and the state of parkin deficiency resulted in decreased proteasome activity. The combination of parkin deficiency and MPTP exposure resulted in an additive loss of proteasome activity. In the ME, proteasome activity was not affected in Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice, however Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice treated with MPTP had decreased proteasome activity.

Protein carbonylation was measured in the ST and ME of WT and Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice 24 h following a single acute exposure to MPTP (**Figure 4-6**). Interestingly, while the state of parkin deficiency results in increased oxidative damage to proteins in the ST compared to the WT, the added insult of MPTP exposure resulted in decreased oxidative damage in the ST. While proteasome activity was reduced in the ME of MPTP treated Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice (**Figure 4-5**), proteins in the ME of Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice did not incur oxidative damage following MPTP exposure (**Figure 4-6**).

# TH Turnover in the ST of Park2<sup>-/-</sup> Mice

Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice have reduced proteasome activity in the ST and since proteasome activity is necessary for the efficient turnover of TH (Congo Carbajosa et al. 2015; Nakashima et al. 2013; Nakashima et al. 2011), the effect of parkin deficiency on TH in the ST of Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice was compared to WT mice (**Figure 4-7**). In the ST of Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice, there was more phosphorylated TH than in the WT mice, which suggests that there is more active TH in the ST



**Figure 4-5** Proteasome activity in the ST and ME of MPTP treated C57BL/6J and Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice. C57BL/6J and Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice were treated with either saline or MPTP (20 mg/kg; s.c.). Twenty-four h later, the ST and ME were collected and CT-L activity of the proteasome was measured using Suc-LLVY-AMC substrate. **A**, CT-L proteasome activity in the ST. **B**, CT-L proteasome activity in the ME. Error bars represent +1SEM. \* indicates significant difference from the corresponding saline treated control mice, # indicates significant difference between the same treatment between the strains (p<0.05, n=10).



Figure 4-6 Protein carbonylation in the ST and ME of MPTP treated C57BL/6J and Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice. C57BL/6J and Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice were treated with either saline or MPTP (20 mg/kg; s.c.). Twenty-four h later, the **A**, ST and **B**, ME were collected and protein carbonylation was measured by dot-blot. The bars represent the mean pmol carbonyls/ug protein. \* indicates significant difference from the saline control (p<0.05, n=8). \* indicates significant difference between strains within the same treatment (p<0.05, n=10).

B

A



Figure 4-7 TH and pSer40-TH in the ST of C57BL/6J and Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice. The ST of C57BL/6J and Park2<sup>-/-</sup> were analyzed for TH, pSer40-TH and pSer19-TH by Western blot. The bars represent the mean **A**, TH to GAPDH ratio **B**, pSer40-TH to GAPDH ratio and C, the mean ratio of pSer40-TH to TH ratio. Error bars represent +1 SEM. \* indicates that the group was significantly different from the WT controls (P < 0.05, N=8).

of Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice. However, DA neurochemistry (**Figure 4-8**) illustrates that there was no significant effect of parkin deficiency on DA, DOPAC or DOPAC/DA in the ST.

The measurement of DA is not a direct indication of the activity of TH. Tyrosine is first converted to DOPA by TH and then DOPA is decarboxylated by AADC to form DA. To test if Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice had more TH activity, WT and Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice were injected with NSD-1015, a drug that blocks the activity of AADC, the enzyme necessary for the conversion of DOPA to DA. DOPA accumulation was used as an indicator of TH activity (**Figure 4-9**). Upon NSD-1015 treatment, DOPA accumulation in the ST was not different between the Park2<sup>-/-</sup> and WT mice. However, when DOPA was normalized to the amount of Ser40 phosphorylated TH, it became clear that although there is not a difference in the amount of DOPA, there is more active TH available in the ST of Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice.

Proteasome activity is required for the efficient turnover of TH (Nakashima et al. 2013; Nakashima et al. 2011; Congo Carbajosa et al. 2015). Since there is more phosphorylated TH in Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice and TH must be phosphorylated in order to be ubiquitinated and degraded (Congo Carbajosa et al. 2015), ubiquitinated TH was measured. TH was immunoprecipitated (IP) from ST lysates of C57BL/6J and Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice and ubiquitinated TH was visualized by Western blot (**Figure 4-10A**). The input lanes demonstrate that there is more ubiquitinated protein in the ST of Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice compared to WT mice. The immunoprecipitation output demonstrates that there is more ubiquitinated TH present in the IPs from the Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice.

Polyubiquitin chains are formed when the C-terminus of ubiquitin is linked to a lysine (K) residue on the previously added ubiquitin molecule. Polyubiquitin on defined lysines (K; primarily K48 and K63) are related to protein degradation. K48 linked polyubiquitin chains serve as a degradation signal for the 26S proteasome while K63 linked polyubiquitin chains



Figure 4-8 DA, DOPAC and, the DOPAC to DA ratio in the ST of C57BL/6J and Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice. C57BL/6J and Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice were decapitated and ST were collected and analyzed for DA and DOPAC by HPLC-ED. The bars represent the mean concentration of A, DA, B, DOPAC and C, DOPAC/DA ratio. Error bars represent +1 SEM. \* indicates that the group is significantly different from the respective C57BL/6J control. # indicates that the group is significantly different from its respective P1 control. (p < 0.05, n=10).



Figure 4-9 DOPA accumulation in the ST of NSD-1015 treated C57BL/6J and Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice. Male C57BL/6J mice and Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice were treated with 100 mg/kg NSD-1015. Thirty min following NSD-1015 injection, the mice were decapitated and the ST was analyzed for DOPA. The columns represent **A**, the mean concentration of DA **B**, the fold change of pSer40-TH **C**, the mean concentration of DOPA **D**, the mean ratio of DOPA to pSer40-TH +1 SEM. \*DOPA concentrations were significantly different from the WT controls (p < 0.05, n=8).



B

**Figure 4-10 Ubiquitinated TH in the ST of C57BL/6J and Park2**<sup>-/-</sup> **mice.** C57BL/6J and Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice were decapitated and the ST was collected. TH was immunoprecipitated from the ST homogenates and subjected to Western blot for **A**, ubiquitin and **B**, K48-linked ubiquitin and K63-linked ubiquitin.



serve as a signal for autophagy (Komander and Rape 2012). **Figure 4-10B** demonstrates that TH from the ST of Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice have accumulated both K63 linked polyubiquitinated TH and K48 linked polyubiquitinated TH.

## Discussion

In mice, the recovery of vesicular DA in the ME following MPTP exposure is dependent upon the expression of parkin in TIDA neurons (Benskey et al. 2015). Twenty-four h following neurotoxicant exposure, parkin protein expression is increased in the ME and decreased in the ST. Parkin is an E3 ubiquitin ligase that promotes the degradation of its specific protein substrates via the UPS (Shimura et al. 2000) as well as through autophagy (Olzmann and Chin 2008; Narendra et al. 2008). In addition to its E3 ligase function, the N-terminal UBL domain of parkin interacts with proteasome regulatory subunits Rpn10 (Sakata et al. 2003), RPN13 (Aguileta et al. 2015), Rpt6 (Tsai et al. 2003), and  $\alpha$ 4 (Dachsel et al. 2005) and directly enhances proteasome activity (Um et al. 2010; Hyun et al. 2002; Dachsel et al. 2005). In Chapter 3, regional differences in proteasome activity correspond with changes in parkin expression following neurotoxicant exposure. Data in this chapter demonstrate that parkin is necessary to maintain basal proteasome activity in the ST but not the ME.

For experiments presented in this chapter Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice were used. These mice have the exon 3 deletion mutation that is most prevalent in early onset familial PD. Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice have increased extracellular DA in the ST and reduced postsynaptic excitability compared to WT mice (Goldberg et al. 2003). As a result, Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice demonstrate motor deficits related to dysfunction of the NSDA pathway (Goldberg et al. 2003). While PD patients with this mutation have significant loss of NSDA neurons, the number of TH-ir neurons in the SN in Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice

remain comparable to WT mice (Goldberg et al. 2003). This difference between mice and humans may be due to different lifetime environmental exposures or perhaps mice have compensatory mechanisms available that prevent the loss of these neurons.

There is a growing body of evidence that parkin is necessary for maintenance of central DA neuronal function (Benskey et al. 2015; Petrucelli et al. 2002; Narendra et al. 2008; Jiang et al. 2004) and that parkin can act to enhance proteasome activity *in vitro* (Tanaka et al. 2001; Sakata et al. 2003; Aguileta et al. 2015; Tsai et al. 2003; Dachsel et al. 2005; Um et al. 2010; Hyun et al. 2002). Proteasome activity is decreased in the ST of Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice while activity is not changed in the ME. This might be due to the higher level of NSDA neuronal activity in the ST compared to TIDA neuronal activity in the ME, which may make the ST more prone to oxidative stress and damage than the ME. Along these lines, an increase in oxidative damage in the ST but not the ME of Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice is observed and this corresponds to decreased proteasome activity in the ST and maintained proteasome activity and limit oxidative damage under basal conditions while it is not necessary under basal conditions in the ME.

To test the hypothesis that parkin expression is necessary to maintain proteasome activity under conditions of added oxidative insult, Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice were treated with MPTP and proteasome activity was measured in the ST and ME. Maintenance of proteasome activity in the ME following this oxidative insult appears to be dependent upon parkin expression as proteasome activity was decreased in the ME of MPTP treated Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice but not in WT mice. Interestingly, parkin expression does not appear to be necessary to protect proteins in the ST and ME against oxidative damage, as parkin deficiency results in reduced oxidative damage following neurotoxic insult. This is likely due adaptive mechanisms aimed at compensating for

the presence of ROS and the accumulation of damaged proteins. Periquet and co-workers (2005) identified 87 proteins that were differentially expressed between WT and Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice some of these are antioxidants that might be activated by exposure to MPTP. Carboylation can influence cell-signaling pathways implicated in the antioxidant response. For example, KEAP1 (Kelch like associated protein 1) sequesters Nrf2 (nuclear factor like 2) in the cytoplasm. When KEAP1 is carbonylated, it is degraded by the proteasome and releases Nrf2. Nrf2 is then free to bind to the antioxidant response element and increases the expression of antioxidant genes (Jowsey et al, 2003).

Parkin protein is specifically and non-homogenously expressed in the cytoplasm of neurons in the brain and is not present in glial cells (Stichel et al. 2000). Differential centrifugation was used to determine if proteasome activity was decreased thoughout the ST. Proteasome activity is decreased in both the P1 and the P2 fractions from the ST homogenates of Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice indicating that proteasome impairment was not enriched at the axon terminals. Measurement of proteasome activity within the S2 fraction may have added some value to this assay, unfortunately the samples were too dilute to obtain accurate measurements of activity.

Parkin has an important role in mitochondrial quality control and a reduction in mitochondrial respiration is observed in synaptosomes derived from the ST of Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice (Exner et al. 2007; Narendra et al. 2008; Springer and Kahle 2011; Hawong 2014). Defective mitochondrial respiration can result in ATP depletion. The maintenance of the 26S proteasome complex is dependent upon ATP binding and it is possible that decreased proteasome activity in the ST of Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice is due disassembly of the 26S proteasome secondary to ATP depletion. Although the rate of ATP synthesis is decreased in striatal synaptosomes, the decreased rate is compensated for and there is no difference in the amount of ATP in Park2<sup>-/-</sup> and WT mice
(Pickrell and Youle 2015). Furthermore, physiologic levels of ATP (in the mM range) have a negative effect on 26S proteasome activity. Under stress conditions, where ATP levels are lower, 26S proteasome activity actually increases from the basal level (Huang et al. 2010). Based on these reasons, it is unlikely that ATP depletion accounts for MPTP induced decrease in 26S proteasome activity.

TH is the rate limiting enzyme in DA synthesis (Levitt et al. 1965) and its activity is regulated by both short-term (allosteric regulation, tetrahydrobiopterin availability, catecholamine feedback inhibition and phosphorylation) and long-term transcriptional mechanisms (Fujisawa and Okuno 2005). In addition, TH activity is also regulated through its turnover by the UPS in the short-term and autophagy in the long-term (Congo Carbajosa et al. 2015; Nakashima et al. 2013). While TH is not a specific substrate of parkin E3 ligase function, Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice had increased levels of TH phosphorylated at Ser19 and Ser40, post-translational modifications that are essential for TH activity. This data would seem to be in contrast to work by Goldberg and co-workers (2003) who demonstrated that there was no difference in the number of THir neurons in the SN or their projections in the ST of Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice compared to WT mice. However, their work quantitated the number of neurons that were THir and not the actual amount of TH or amount of TH per cell.

While Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice appear to have more activated TH in the ST, Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice do not have different amounts of DA, or more directly DOPA, compared to WT controls. When the level of DOPA is normalized to the amount of Ser40 phosphorylated TH, the amount of DOPA per TH was decreased in the ST of Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice compared to the WT controls. It appears that there is more TH in Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice but it is likely that the TH is ubiquitinated and perhaps inactive. In fact, TH immunoprecipitated from the ST of Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice has increased K48 linked

polyubiquitin as well as K63 linked polyubiquitin. These increases likely reflect the decreased activity of the proteasome in Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice and the delayed turnover of activated TH.

# Conclusion

Following neurotoxicant exposure, parkin expression is increased in TIDA neurons while it is not in NSDA neurons. The increase in parkin expression is essential for the recovery of DA in TIDA neurons. In Chapter 3, regional differences in proteasome activity corresponded with changes in parkin expression. Here it was demonstrated that parkin is necessary to maintain basal levels of proteasome activity in the ST but not in the ME. Correlating with regional differences in proteasome activity, the amount of oxidatively damaged proteins was increased in the ST but not the ME of Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice compared to WT mice. Finally, the amount of TH and phosphorylated TH in the ST of Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice was increased compared to the ST of WT mice while the amount of DOPA produced by the enzyme was unchanged. The increase in TH appears to be due to decreased turnover of the protein as both K48 and K63 linked polyubiquitinated TH accumulated in striatal immunoprecipitates of Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice but not detectible in WT mice.

REFERENCES

#### REFERENCES

- Aguileta, M. A., J. Korac, T. M. Durcan, J. F. Trempe, M. Haber, K. Gehring, S. Elsasser, O. Waidmann, E. A. Fon, and K. Husnjak. 2015. 'The E3 ubiquitin ligase parkin is recruited to the 26 S proteasome via the proteasomal ubiquitin receptor Rpn13', *J Biol Chem*, 290: 7492-505.
- Behrouz, B., R. E. Drolet, Z. A. Sayed, K. J. Lookingland, and J. L. Goudreau. 2007. 'Unique responses to mitochondrial complex I inhibition in tuberoinfundibular dopamine neurons may impart resistance to toxic insult', *Neuroscience*, 147: 592-8.
- Benskey, M., B. Behrouz, J. Sunryd, S. S. Pappas, S. H. Baek, M. Huebner, K. J. Lookingland, and J. L. Goudreau. 2012. 'Recovery of hypothalamic tuberoinfundibular dopamine neurons from acute toxicant exposure is dependent upon protein synthesis and associated with an increase in parkin and ubiquitin carboxy-terminal hydrolase-L1 expression', *Neurotoxicology*, 33: 321-31.
- Benskey, M. J., F. P. Manfredsson, K. J. Lookingland, and J. L. Goudreau. 2015. 'The role of parkin in the differential susceptibility of tuberoinfundibular and nigrostriatal dopamine neurons to acute toxicant exposure', *Neurotoxicology*, 46: 1-11.
- Congo Carbajosa, N. A., G. Corradi, M. A. Verrilli, M. J. Guil, M. S. Vatta, and M. M. Gironacci. 2015. 'Tyrosine hydroxylase is short-term regulated by the ubiquitin-proteasome system in PC12 cells and hypothalamic and brainstem neurons from spontaneously hypertensive rats: possible implications in hypertension', *PLoS One*, 10: e0116597.
- Dachsel, J. C., C. B. Lucking, S. Deeg, E. Schultz, M. Lalowski, E. Casademunt, O. Corti, C. Hampe, N. Patenge, K. Vaupel, A. Yamamoto, M. Dichgans, A. Brice, E. E. Wanker, P. J. Kahle, and T. Gasser. 2005. 'Parkin interacts with the proteasome subunit alpha4', *FEBS Lett*, 579: 3913-9.
- Exner, N., B. Treske, D. Paquet, K. Holmstrom, C. Schiesling, S. Gispert, I. Carballo-Carbajal, D. Berg, H. H. Hoepken, T. Gasser, R. Kruger, K. F. Winklhofer, F. Vogel, A. S. Reichert, G. Auburger, P. J. Kahle, B. Schmid, and C. Haass. 2007. 'Loss-of-function of human PINK1 results in mitochondrial pathology and can be rescued by parkin', *J Neurosci*, 27: 12413-8.
- Fujisawa, H., and S. Okuno. 2005. 'Regulatory mechanism of tyrosine hydroxylase activity', *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, 338: 271-6.
- Goldberg, M. S., S. M. Fleming, J. J. Palacino, C. Cepeda, H. A. Lam, A. Bhatnagar, E. G. Meloni, N. Wu, L. C. Ackerson, G. J. Klapstein, M. Gajendiran, B. L. Roth, M. F. Chesselet, N. T. Maidment, M. S. Levine, and J. Shen. 2003. 'Parkin-deficient mice

exhibit nigrostriatal deficits but not loss of dopaminergic neurons', *J Biol Chem*, 278: 43628-35.

- Hawong, Hae-Young. 2014. 'Parkin Mediated Mitochondrial Quality Control in Central Dopamine Neurons', Michigan State University.
- Huang, H., X. Zhang, S. Li, N. Liu, W. Lian, E. McDowell, P. Zhou, C. Zhao, H. Guo, C. Zhang, C. Yang, G. Wen, X. Dong, L. Lu, N. Ma, W. Dong, Q. P. Dou, X. Wang, and J. Liu. 2010. 'Physiological levels of ATP negatively regulate proteasome function', *Cell Res*, 20: 1372-85.
- Hyun, D. H., M. Lee, N. Hattori, S. Kubo, Y. Mizuno, B. Halliwell, and P. Jenner. 2002. 'Effect of wild-type or mutant Parkin on oxidative damage, nitric oxide, antioxidant defenses, and the proteasome', *J Biol Chem*, 277: 28572-7.
- Jiang, H., Y. Ren, J. Zhao, and J. Feng. 2004. 'Parkin protects human dopaminergic neuroblastoma cells against dopamine-induced apoptosis', *Hum Mol Genet*, 13: 1745-54.
- Kitada, T., S. Asakawa, N. Hattori, H. Matsumine, Y. Yamamura, S. Minoshima, M. Yokochi, Y. Mizuno, and N. Shimizu. 1998. 'Mutations in the parkin gene cause autosomal recessive juvenile parkinsonism', *Nature*, 392: 605-8.
- Komander, D., and M. Rape. 2012. 'The ubiquitin code', Annu Rev Biochem, 81: 203-29.
- Levitt, M., S. Spector, A. Sjoerdsma, and S. Udenfriend. 1965. 'Elucidation of the Rate-Limiting Step in Norepinephrine Biosynthesis in the Perfused Guinea-Pig Heart', *J Pharmacol Exp Ther*, 148: 1-8.
- Lowe, J., J. Mayer, M. Landon, and R. Layfield. 2001. 'Ubiquitin and the molecular pathology of neurodegenerative diseases', *Adv Exp Med Biol*, 487: 169-86.
- Melamed, E., J. Rosenthal, M. Globus, O. Cohen, Y. Frucht, and A. Uzzan. 1985. 'Mesolimbic dopaminergic neurons are not spared by MPTP neurotoxicity in mice', *Eur J Pharmacol*, 114: 97-100.
- Mogi, M., M. Harada, K. Kojima, K. Kiuchi, and T. Nagatsu. 1988. 'Effects of systemic administration of 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine to mice on tyrosine hydroxylase, L-3,4-dihydroxyphenylalanine decarboxylase, dopamine beta-hydroxylase, and monoamine oxidase activities in the striatum and hypothalamus', *J Neurochem*, 50: 1053-6.
- Nakashima, A., Y. S. Kaneko, Y. Kodani, K. Mori, H. Nagasaki, T. Nagatsu, and A. Ota. 2013. 'Intracellular stability of tyrosine hydroxylase: phosphorylation and proteasomal digestion of the enzyme', *Adv Pharmacol*, 68: 3-11.
- Nakashima, A., K. Mori, Y. S. Kaneko, N. Hayashi, T. Nagatsu, and A. Ota. 2011.
  'Phosphorylation of the N-terminal portion of tyrosine hydroxylase triggers proteasomal digestion of the enzyme', *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, 407: 343-7.

- Narendra, D., A. Tanaka, D. F. Suen, and R. J. Youle. 2008. 'Parkin is recruited selectively to impaired mitochondria and promotes their autophagy', *J Cell Biol*, 183: 795-803.
- Olanow, C. W., D. P. Perl, G. N. DeMartino, and K. S. McNaught. 2004. 'Lewy-body formation is an aggresome-related process: a hypothesis', *Lancet Neurol*, 3: 496-503.
- Olzmann, J. A., and L. S. Chin. 2008. 'Parkin-mediated K63-linked polyubiquitination: a signal for targeting misfolded proteins to the aggresome-autophagy pathway', *Autophagy*, 4: 85-7.
- Petrucelli, L., C. O'Farrell, P. J. Lockhart, M. Baptista, K. Kehoe, L. Vink, P. Choi, B. Wolozin, M. Farrer, J. Hardy, and M. R. Cookson. 2002. 'Parkin protects against the toxicity associated with mutant alpha-synuclein: proteasome dysfunction selectively affects catecholaminergic neurons', *Neuron*, 36: 1007-19.
- Pickrell, A. M., and R. J. Youle. 2015. 'The roles of PINK1, parkin, and mitochondrial fidelity in Parkinson's disease', *Neuron*, 85: 257-73.
- Pollanen, M. S., D. W. Dickson, and C. Bergeron. 1993. 'Pathology and biology of the Lewy body', *J Neuropathol Exp Neurol*, 52: 183-91.
- Sakata, E., Y. Yamaguchi, E. Kurimoto, J. Kikuchi, S. Yokoyama, S. Yamada, H. Kawahara, H. Yokosawa, N. Hattori, Y. Mizuno, K. Tanaka, and K. Kato. 2003. 'Parkin binds the Rpn10 subunit of 26S proteasomes through its ubiquitin-like domain', *EMBO Rep*, 4: 301-6.
- Schubert, U., L. C. Anton, J. Gibbs, C. C. Norbury, J. W. Yewdell, and J. R. Bennink. 2000. 'Rapid degradation of a large fraction of newly synthesized proteins by proteasomes', *Nature*, 404: 770-4.
- Sherman, M. Y., and A. L. Goldberg. 2001. 'Cellular defenses against unfolded proteins: a cell biologist thinks about neurodegenerative diseases', *Neuron*, 29: 15-32.
- Shimura, H., N. Hattori, Si Kubo, Y. Mizuno, S. Asakawa, S. Minoshima, N. Shimizu, K. Iwai, T. Chiba, K. Tanaka, and T. Suzuki. 2000. 'Familial Parkinson disease gene product, parkin, is a ubiquitin-protein ligase', *Nat Genet*, 25: 302-5.
- Springer, W., and P. J. Kahle. 2011. 'Regulation of PINK1-Parkin-mediated mitophagy', *Autophagy*, 7: 266-78.
- Stichel, C. C., M. Augustin, K. Kuhn, X. R. Zhu, P. Engels, C. Ullmer, and H. Lubbert. 2000. 'Parkin expression in the adult mouse brain', *Eur J Neurosci*, 12: 4181-94.
- Tanaka, K., T. Suzuki, T. Chiba, H. Shimura, N. Hattori, and Y. Mizuno. 2001. 'Parkin is linked to the ubiquitin pathway', *J Mol Med (Berl)*, 79: 482-94.

- Tofaris, G. K., A. Razzaq, B. Ghetti, K. S. Lilley, and M. G. Spillantini. 2003. 'Ubiquitination of alpha-synuclein in Lewy bodies is a pathological event not associated with impairment of proteasome function', *J Biol Chem*, 278: 44405-11.
- Tsai, Y. C., P. S. Fishman, N. V. Thakor, and G. A. Oyler. 2003. 'Parkin facilitates the elimination of expanded polyglutamine proteins and leads to preservation of proteasome function', *J Biol Chem*, 278: 22044-55.
- Um, J. W., E. Im, H. J. Lee, B. Min, L. Yoo, J. Yoo, H. Lubbert, C. Stichel-Gunkel, H. S. Cho, J. B. Yoon, and K. C. Chung. 2010. 'Parkin directly modulates 26S proteasome activity', J *Neurosci*, 30: 11805-14.
- Yao, D., Z. Gu, T. Nakamura, Z. Q. Shi, Y. Ma, B. Gaston, L. A. Palmer, E. M. Rockenstein, Z. Zhang, E. Masliah, T. Uehara, and S. A. Lipton. 2004. 'Nitrosative stress linked to sporadic Parkinson's disease: S-nitrosylation of parkin regulates its E3 ubiquitin ligase activity', *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 101: 10810-4.

# Chapter 5. Parkin is sufficient to maintain proteasome activity in the ST following MPTP exposure

#### Introduction

The motor symptoms of PD are caused by the loss of NSDA neurons which results in decreased DA levels within the ST (Ehringer and Hornykiewicz 1960) and the resulting deregulation of the basal ganglia circuitry. While NSDA neurons are affected in PD, TIDA neurons in the mediobasal hypothalamus are not susceptible (Langston and Forno 1978). An increased understanding of the molecular pathways involved in the differential susceptibility between these neuronal populations could lead to the identification of pathways within the TIDA neurons that may be exploited to protect against progressive loss of NSDA neurons of a PD patient.

Although the cause of PD is unknown, cumulative evidence suggests that oxidative stress plays a key role in the progression of this debilitating disease. In brains from PD patients increased oxidative protein damage is evident in the SN (Floor and Wetzel 1998) as well as decreased levels of the reduced antioxidant glutathione (Bharath et al. 2002; Pearce et al. 1997). Oxidative modification of proteins can result in conformational changes and misfolding that render the protein inactive and promotes the formation of toxic protein aggregates (Mirzaei and Regnier 2008). In this respect, cellular homeostasis is dependent upon the removal of oxidatively damaged proteins.

The UPS plays a pivotal role in the selective recognition and degradation of oxidized proteins (Chung, Dawson, and Dawson 2001; Ross and Pickart 2004; Ciechanover 2005; Lehman 2009) and has been implicated in the pathogenesis of several neurodegenerative diseases including Alzheimer's Disease, amyotrophic lateral sclerosis and PD (Ciechanover and Brundin

2003). In fact, proteasome activity is reduced in susceptible brain regions from PD patients (McNaught et al. 2002; Bukhatwa et al. 2010; McNaught and Jenner 2001; Martins-Branco et al. 2012). This highly regulated proteolytic system affects many cellular processes through the selective degradation of an assortment of protein substrates. Dysfunction of the UPS can result in the accumulation and aggregation of misfolded proteins, which can further impair catalytic activity within the neuron.

The proteasome is a large multi-protease complex that contains multiple peptidase activities including CT-L, Casp-L and T-L activities that degrade its substrate proteins into short polypeptides and amino acids (Hershko and Ciechanover 1998). The 20S core proteasome particle is ATP-independent and can degrade small denatured or intrinsically disordered proteins. Larger ordered proteins are degraded by the 26S proteasome, an ATP-dependent complex that is composed of the 20S core particle and the 19S regulatory complex. Protein degradation by the 26S proteasome is initiated by covalent attachment of ubiquitin to the protein through the action of E1 ubiquitin activating, E2 ubiquitin conjugating, and E3 ubiquitin ligating enzymes (Scheffner, Nuber, and Huibregtse 1995). For proteins degraded via the UPS, the 19S regulatory particle is necessary to recognize polyubiquitin linked proteins and translocate the substrates into the catalytic chamber of the 20S core (Chung, Dawson, and Dawson 2001).

As demonstrated in **Figure 3-3**, the neurotoxicant MPTP is useful in producing oxidative stress in DA neurons and can replicate the pattern of DA neuronal susceptibility that is seen in PD (Behrouz et al. 2007; Benskey et al. 2012; Benskey et al. 2013; Melamed et al. 1985; Mogi et al. 1988). While both NSDA and TIDA neuronal populations initially respond to the neurotoxicant, TIDA neurons recover from the initial insult, while NSDA neurons do not (Benskey et al. 2012). Recovery of TIDA neurons following MPTP exposure is dependent upon increased expression of parkin mRNA and protein (Benskey et al. 2012). In contrast, there is no change in parkin mRNA expression or the amount of parkin protein decreases in susceptible NSDA neurons following MPTP exposure. Furthermore, rAAV mediated shRNA knockdown of parkin in the ARC containing cell bodies of TIDA neurons results in susceptibility of these neurons to MPTP (Benskey, Kuhn, et al. 2015). Taken together, it appears that parkin expression is necessary to protect TIDA neurons from neurotoxic exposure to MPTP.

The ventral midbrain containing NSDA neurons has reduced parkin expression in sporadic PD (Kitada et al. 1998) and NSDA neurons rapidly degenerate in patients with loss of parkin function due to homozygous mutations (Kitada et al. 1998; von Coelln, Dawson, and Dawson 2004). Parkin is an E3 ubiquitin ligase that promotes the degradation of its specific protein substrates via the UPS (Shimura et al. 2000; Olzmann and Chin 2008) and autophagy (Olzmann and Chin 2008; Narendra et al. 2008). In addition to its E3 ligase function, the N-terminal UBL domain of parkin directly interacts with proteasome subunits Rpn10 (Sakata et al. 2003), RPN13 (Aguileta et al. 2015), Rpt6 (Tsai et al. 2003), and  $\alpha$ 4 (Dachsel et al. 2005) and directly enhances proteasome activity (Um et al. 2010; Hyun et al. 2002; Dachsel et al. 2005).

In Chapters 3 & 4, it was revealed that following MPTP exposure the increase in parkin expression is essential for the maintenance of proteasome activity in the ME and for the efficient turnover of the PD related UPS substrate TH which is critical to maintaining neurotransmitter levels in central DA neurons. In the present chapter, studies are designed to test the hypothesis that increased parkin expression is sufficient to maintain proteasome activity in the ST following MPTP exposure and that maintenance of proteasome activity will result in the efficient turnover of TH. In order to test this hypothesis, proteasome activity in the ipsilateral F-hParkin over-expressing ST was compared to the contralateral ST. In addition, changes in TH expression and enzymatic activity were examined in these experiments to determine if F-hParkin over-expression was successful in facilitating the recovery of the NSDA neurons following neurotoxicant exposure.

#### Results

# Parkin Enhances Proteasome Activity in Vitro

In the previous chapter, it was demonstrated that basal proteasome activity is decreased in the ST of Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice compared to WT mice and that these mice are unable to maintain proteasome activity following MPTP exposure (Chapter 4). Um and co-workers (Um et al. 2010) demonstrated that parkin over-expression in HEK cells results in enhanced proteasome activity. To determine if purified parkin can increase proteasome activity in a cell free system, the activity of untreated purified 26S proteasome was measured and compared to the activity of 26S proteasome that had been treated with either bovine serum albumin (BSA) or 6His-Parkin (**Figure 5-1**). When tested *in vitro*, there was a small increase in proteasome activity in the presence of 6His-Parkin, but not BSA which indicates that parkin can directly modulate proteasome activity.

In Chapter 3, it was demonstrated that MPP<sup>+</sup> causes a concentration dependent decrease in proteasome activity *in vitro*. To determine if 6His-Parkin could protect the proteasome from MPP<sup>+</sup> impairment, dose responses to MPP<sup>+</sup> were measured in the presence of vehicle, BSA or 6His-Parkin (**Figure 5-2**). Treatment with 6His-Parkin results in an upward shift of the MPP<sup>+</sup> dose response curve, indicating that proteasome activity was enhanced compared to that of vehicle alone (**Figure 5-2**).



Figure 5-1 Effect of 6His-Parkin on *in vitro* proteasome activity. Purified 26S proteasome in proteasome activity buffer was left untreated or treated with 10 nM BSA or 10 nM 6His-Parkin and CT-L activity was measured using 100  $\mu$ M Suc-LLVY-AMC as a substrate. Bars represent the mean fold change in CT-L proteasome activity. Error bars represent +1 SEM. \* Indicates that CT-L activity was significantly different from the untreated control (P < 0.05, n= 4).



Figure 5-2 The effect of 6His-Parkin on proteasome impairment by MPP<sup>+</sup>. Purified 26S proteasome (1 nM) was treated with either 10 nM bovine serum albumin or 10 nM 6HisParkin. The samples were then treated with various concentrations of MPP<sup>+</sup>. Proteasome activity was measured and expressed as fluorescent units released per s. Error bars represent fold change from untreated 26S proteasome + 1 SEM. \* indicates significant difference to the corresponding MPP+ sample (P < 0.05, n=4).

# Characterization of rAAV Vector Expression in the ST and SN

Since parkin protein is necessary to maintain proteasome activity in the ME following MPTP exposure, we hypothesized that rAAV2/5 mediated over-expression of F-hParkin in the SN containing NSDA neuron cell bodies would restore proteasome activity in the ST of Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice and maintain proteasome activity following MPTP exposure. Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice were injected unilaterally with rAAV2/5 F-hParkin (**Figure 5-3**) and on the contralateral side with rAAV2/5 GFP. **Figure 5-4** shows immunohistochemical characterization of TH (red) and GFP (green) expressing neurons. NSDA neurons that were successfully transduced were expressing both TH and GFP (yellow). GFP expression was observed in about 15% of the NSDA soma in the SN. Four weeks following rAAV-F-hParkin injection, unilateral parkin protein expression in the ST of Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice was demonstrated in 75% of the rAAV-F-hParkin injected animals by Western blot. Mice that did not demonstrate detectable amounts of parkin in the Western blot were excluded from the data analysis for this experiment.

Proteasome Activity in the ST is Enhanced with rAAV2/5 Mediated Over-expression of FhParkin in the SN.

Four weeks following rAAV-F-hParkin injection, CT-L proteasome activity of the GFP or F-hParkin expressing ST was compared to activity in the ST of WT control mice injected with rAAV2/5 GFP (**Figure 5-5**). CT-L proteasome activity was not different between the uninjected side and the rAAV-GFP injected side of the WT control animal ST (**Figure 5-5A**). Proteasome activity was decreased in the ST of GFP injected Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice compared to the GFP injected WT mice (**Figure 5-5B**). However, proteasome activity in the ST of the F-hParkin injected side of



**Figure 5-3 F-hParkin vector construct. A,** hParkin WT containing the N-terminal UBL domain, linker region, RING-1, IBR, and RING2 domains. **B,** N-terminal Flag tag on hParkin for insertion into pTR-UF11. **C**, Map of the rAAV vector pTR UF11 containing the AAV2 inverted terminal repeats, Flag-hParkin cDNA and a CMV-chicken  $\beta$ -actin promoter.





the Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice was not significantly different from WT GFP treated controls. Changes in proteasome activity were further characterized by measuring changes in CT-L, Cas-L, and T-L activity (**Figure 5-6**). Over-expression of F-hParkin results in increased CT-L and T-L activity, but not Cas-L activity.

To determine if F-hParkin over-expression was sufficient to restore proteasome activity following a single acute exposure to MPTP, Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice were unilaterally injected in the SN with rAAV2/5 F-hParkin and rAAV2/5 GFP contralaterally. Four weeks later, the mice were treated with either saline or MPTP and decapitated after 24 h. Proteasome activity was measured in the GFP and F-hParkin expressing ST (**Figure 5-7**). CT-L proteasome activity in the ST of the GFP expressing side of WT and Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice were reduced following MPTP exposure as compared to vehicle treated animals (**Figure 5-7A**). Over-expression of hParkin in Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice increased CT-L activity compared to the GFP expressing side of the ST. MPTP also caused a decrease in Casp-L activity on the GFP expressing ST, but did not have a significant effect on the hParkin over-expressing side (**Figure 5-7B**). T-L activity was increased on the hParkin over-expressing side of the ST in vehicle treated animals and T-L activity did not decrease in the ST with exogenous hParkin over-expression following MPTP treatment (**Figure 5-7C**).

Twenty-four h following MPTP exposure, the amount of 26S proteasome complex was unchanged in the ST, while the amount of 20S complex was increased compared to the saline treated controls (**Figure 3-12**). In addition, the amount of PSMβ5 in the ST was increased (**Figure 3-11**). To further evaluate observed changes in total proteasome activity following MPTP exposure, we sought to determine the changes occurred specifically in 26S or 20S proteasome activity. To this end, mice were injected unilaterally with rAAV2/5-GFP/rAAV2/5-F-hParkin and an in-gel CT-L assay was used in conjunction with a native gel Western blot to



**Figure 5-6 Effect of F-hParkin over-expression in the SN on CT-L, Casp-L and T-L proteasome activity in the ST.** Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice were injected with 500 nL rAAV2/5 Flag-hParkin (500 nL; 3.4 X10<sup>12</sup> vg/mL) in the SN and rAAV2/5 GFP in the contralateral SN. Four weeks following rAAV injections tissue from the ST was collected and proteasome activity was measured. **A**, CT-L activity; **B**, Casp-L activity; **C**, T-L activity. Bars represent the mean FU/sec/µg protein. Error bars represent +1 SEM. \* indicates significant difference from the WT rAAV GFP injected control ST (p<0.05, n=10).



**Figure 5-7 Effect of F-hParkin over-expression in the SN on CT-L, Casp-L and T-L proteasome activity in the ST of MPTP treated mice.** Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice were injected with 500 nL rAAV2/5 Flag-hParkin (500 nL; 3.4 X10<sup>12</sup> vg/mL) in the SN and rAAV2/5 GFP in the contralateral SN. Four weeks following rAAV injections mice were injected with either saline or 20 mg/kg MPTP. Twenty-four h following injections tissue from the ST was collected and proteasome activity was measured. A, CT-L activity; B, Casp-L activity; C, T-L activity. Bars represent the mean FU/sec/µg protein. Error bars represent +1 SEM. \* indicates significant difference from the saline injected animals (p<0.05, n=10). determine both the activity and amount of the 26S and 20S components of the proteasome complex (**Figure 5-8**). In saline treated mice, F-hParkin over-expression caused an increase in 26S CT-L activity compared to the GFP over-expressing side. This increase in 26S CT-L activity on the F-hParkin over-expressing side corresponded with an increase in the amount of 26S proteasome. Twenty-four h post MPTP, 26S CT-L activity was decreased on the GFP overexpressing side, whereas 26S CT-L activity was maintained on the F-hParkin over-expressing side. The decrease in 26S proteasome activity on the GFP over-expressing side corresponded with a decrease in the amount of 26S proteasome, whereas the increase in 26S proteasome activity on the F-hParkin expressing side corresponded with maintained 26S proteasome activity.

# rAAV2/5 Mediated Over-expression of F-hParkin Abrogates the Accumulation of pSer40-TH and Increases TH activity in the Park2<sup>-/-</sup> ST

Data presented in Chapter 4 demonstrated that although DA stores in the ST of Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice are similar to that in the ST of WT mice, Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice accumulate ubiquitinated TH in the ST. To determine if over-expression of F-hParkin and restoration of proteasome activity was sufficient to allow effective turnover of TH, mice were injected unilaterally with rAAV2/5-GFP/rAAV2/5-hParkin and lysates from the ST were subjected to Western blot for TH and pSer40-TH (**Figure 5-9**). As shown in **Figure 4-7**, Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice have increased pSer40-TH in the ST compared to WT mice. Over-expression of F-hParkin in the ST of WT mice did not result in any change to either TH or pSer30 TH, over-expression of F-hParkin in the ST of Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice resulted in decreased pSer40-TH compared to the GFP injected side. Furthermore, the





**Figure 5-9 Effect of F-hParkin over-expression in the SN on accumulation of TH in the ST of C57BL/6J and Park2**<sup>-/-</sup> **mice.** C57BL/6J and Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice were injected with 500 nL rAAV2/5 Flag-hParkin (500 nL; 3.4 X10<sup>12</sup> vg/mL) in the ipsilateral SN and rAAV GFP in the contralateral SN. Four weeks following rAAV2/5 injections tissue from the ST was collected and lysates were subjected to SDS page. TH was analyzed by Western blot using antibodies against TH and pSer40-TH. The bars represent the mean TH to GAPDH reatios. Error bars represent +1 SEM. \* indicates significant difference from the GFP control (p <0.05, n=10).

amount of pSer40-TH was less than that of the ST from GFP injected WT mice. Interestingly, this did not affect the amount of DA or DOPAC in the ipsilateral side of the ST (**Figure 5-10**).

The measurement of DOPA following pharmacological blockade of conversion to DA is an index of the *in vivo* activity of TH (Demarest and Moore 1980; Demarest, Alper, and Moore 1979). Tyrosine is first converted to DOPA by TH and then DOPA is decarboxylated by AADC to form DA. To test if Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice had increased TH activity, WT and Park2-/- mice were injected unilaterally with rAAV2/5-GFP/rAAV2/5-hParkin. Four weeks later, mice were injected with NSD-1015, a drug that blocks the activity of AADC, the enzyme necessary for the conversion of DOPA to DA. DOPA accumulation was used as an indicator of TH activity (**Figure 5-11**). WT mice over-expressing F-hParkin had no significant change in TH activity. However, Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice that were over-expressing F-hParkin in the ST had increased TH activity compared to the GFP injected side.

#### Over-expression of F-hParkin does not Rescue DA Stores Following MPTP Exposure

F-hParkin over-expression increases the activity of pSer40-TH, and it is possible that this increase could facilitate the recovery of DA stores following an exposure to MPTP. Therefore, it is reasonable to question if F-hParkin over-expression will result in increased TH activity following MPTP exposure. Mice unilaterally expressing rAAV-GFP/rAAV-hParkin were treated with a single acute dose of MPTP and 24 h later treated with the AADC inhibitor, NSD-1015. DOPA accumulation and pSer40-TH were measured as indicators of TH activity. **Figure 5-12** demonstrates that pSer40-TH activity was increased on the F-hParkin expressing side of the ST in both the WT and Park2<sup>-/-</sup> saline treated mice. However, pSer40-TH activity remained



Figure 5-10 Effect of F-hParkin over-expression in the SN on DA, DOPAC, and the DOPAC to DA ratio in the ST of C57BL/6J and Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice. The effects of F-hParkin on concentrations of DA, DOPAC and, the ratio of DOPAC to DA in axon terminals of NSDA neurons in the ST of C57BL/6J mice (A-C) and Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice (D-F). C57BL/6J and Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice received unilateral 500 nL stereotaxic injections of rAAV-F-hParkin (3.4 X  $10^{12}$  vg/mL) into the right, SN. The left, contralateral SN was injected with 1 X  $10^{12}$  vg/mL of rAAV-GFP and used as a control. Four weeks following injections, mice were sacrificed and the ipsilateral and contralateral ST were analyzed for DA (A and D), DOPAC (B and E), and the DOPAC to DA ratio (C and F). Bars represent the mean neurochemical concentration or ratio. Error bars represent +1 SEM. \* Indicates significant difference (P <0.05, n=10) from the saline treated controls.



Figure 5-11 Effect of F-hParkin over-expression in the SN on TH activity in the ST of C57BL/6J and Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice. C57BL/6J and Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice (n=15) received unilateral 500 nL stereotaxic injections of rAAV-F-Parkin (3.4 X  $10^{12}$ ) into the SN. The contralateral SN was injected with 3.4 X  $10^{12}$  rAAV-GFP and was used as an internal control. Four weeks following injection the mice were injected with 100 mg/kg NSD-1015. Thirty min following injection, mice were decapitated and the ST was analyzed for DOPA. The bars represent mean ratio of DOPA to pSer40-TH. Error bars represent +1 SEM. \*DOPA to TH ratios were significantly different (p < 0.05) from the contralateral GFP controls.



Figure 5-12 Effect of F-hParkin over-expression in the SN on TH activity in the ST of C57BL/6J and Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice treated with MPTP. Male C57BL/6J and Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice (n=15) received unilateral 500 nL stereotaxic injections of rAAV-F-Parkin ( $3.4 \times 10^{12}$ ) into the SN. The contralateral SN was injected with  $3.4 \times 10^{12}$  rAAV-GFP and was used as an internal control. Four weeks following injection mice were treated with either vehicle (saline) or 20 mg/kg MPTP. Two h following MPTP injection, the animals were injected with 100 mg/kg NSD-1015. Thirty min following NSD-1015 injection, the mice were decapitated and the ST was analyzed for DOPA. The columns represent mean concentration of DOPA +1 SEM. \*DOPA concentrations were significantly different (p < 0.05) from the respective controls.

decreased following MPTP exposure regardless of F-hParkin over-expression. The ST of rAAV-

GFP/rAAV-hParkin over-expressing WT and Park2-/- mice were also analyzed for neuro-

chemical content (**Figure 5-13**). In both WT and the Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice, a single acute exposure to MPTP resulted in sustained depletion of DA, decreased DOPAC and increased DOPAC to DA ratios, which is indicative of increased DA turnover. In both the WT and Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice, there was no significant difference between the GFP and F-Parkin expressing sides of the ST for either DOPAC or DA. However, F-hParkin over-expression in WT mice did result in a decrease in the DOPAC to DA ratio following MPTP exposure. **Figure 5-13** also demonstrates that TH activity following MPTP exposure was not rescued by F-hParkin over-expression.

#### Discussion

Most neurodegenerative diseases involve the loss of a specific subpopulation of neurons. In PD, NSDA neurons are lost while TIDA neurons are resistant to degeneration (Langston and Forno 1978). The DA neuron specific neurotoxicant MPTP recapitulates the specific neuronal population susceptibility that is seen in PD (Langston and Forno 1978; Benskey et al. 2013). In mice, both NSDA and TIDA neuronal populations initially respond to MPTP, however, TIDA neurons recover from neurotoxic insult, while NSDA neurons do not (Benskey et al. 2012; Benskey et al. 2013). The recovery of vesicular DA in the ME following MPTP exposure is dependent upon the expression of parkin in TIDA neurons (Benskey, Manfredsson, et al. 2015). Differential parkin expression following exposure to MPTP is of interest because mutations in the Park2 gene cause autosomal recessive juvenile PD (Hattori et al. 1998; Kitada et al. 1998; Sinha et al. 2005) and oxidative modifications causing parkin loss of function in the ST are found in patients with sporadic PD (Chung et al. 2004). Parkin is an E3 ubiquitin ligase that promotes the degradation of its specific protein substrates via the UPS (Shimura et al. 2000) as



Figure 5-13 Effect of F-hParkin over-expression in the SN on DA turnover in the ST of mice treated with MPTP. C57BL/6J (top panels) and Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice (bottom panels) received unilateral 500 nL stereotaxic injections of rAAV-F-hParkin (3.4 X  $10^{12}$  vg/mL) into the SN. The contralateral SN was injected with 1 X  $10^{12}$  vg/mL of rAAV-GFP and used as a control. Four weeks following injections, mice were treated with saline or 20 mg/kg MPTP. Twenty-four h later, the ST was analyzed for DA, DOPAC, and the DOPAC to DA ratio. Bars represent the mean neurochemical concentration. Error bars represent +1 SEM. \* Indicates significant difference (P < 0.05, n=10) from the saline treated controls.

well as through autophagy (Olzmann and Chin 2008; Narendra et al. 2008). In addition to its E3 ligase function, the N-terminal UBL domain of parkin interacts with proteasome regulatory subunits Rpn10 (Sakata et al. 2003), RPN13 (Aguileta et al. 2015), Rpt6 (Tsai et al. 2003), and  $\alpha$ 4 (Dachsel et al. 2005) and directly enhances proteasome activity (Um et al. 2010; Hyun et al. 2002; Dachsel et al. 2005). In the previous two chapters, it was revealed that following MPTP exposure the increase in parkin expression is essential for the maintenance of proteasome activity in the ME and for the efficient turnover of the PD related UPS substrate, TH. The current chapter shows that increased parkin expression is sufficient to maintain proteasome activity in regions containing NSDA axon terminals under conditions of neurotoxicant induced oxidative stress.

It was hypothesized that increased expression of parkin would be sufficient to enhance proteasome activity. Parkin over-expression in HEK cells expressing ubiquitinated GFP have increased degradation of the GFP substrate and this effect is independent of the E3 ligase function of parkin (Um et al. 2010). To determine if parkin causes a direct effect on the proteasome, purified 26S proteasome was treated with purified 6His-Parkin and tested for CT-L activity. 6His-Parkin had a modest increase in CT-L activity while BSA had no effect. The lack of effect in the BSA treated controls indicates that the shift in activity was not due to the addition of protein but specifically due to 6His-Parkin. In addition, MPP<sup>+</sup> dose response curves in the presence of 6His-Parkin were shifted upward, and the IC50 of MPP<sup>+</sup> increased from 1  $\mu$ M to 3  $\mu$ M. This indicates that even though MPP+ directly impairs proteasome activity, 6His-Parkin was able to enhance unimpaired proteasome function.

There is a possibility that 26S proteasome preparation is co-purified with parkin or other UBL domain containing proteins. However, 26S proteasome was isolated from erythrocytes

which do not express parkin (Uhlen et al. 2010; Uhlen 2010). This does not rule out the presence of other UBL containing proteins. In fact, Rad23 is expressed in these cells (Kakhniashvili, Bulla, and Goodman 2004). Rad23 contains a UBL domain and could be isolated along with the 26S proteasome (Liang et al. 2014). Despite this possibility, addition of parkin to the 26S proteasome preparation enhanced proteasome activity. Further Western blot would need to be done in order to identify any endogenous UBL containing proteins that were co-purified with the 26S proteasome. Never-the-less, these data are consistent with the conclusion that 6His-Parkin can directly modulate proteasome activity *in vitro*.

NSDA neurons are susceptible to MPTP toxicity and do not up-regulate parkin expression following neurotoxicant exposure (Benskey et al. 2012). In addition, parkin expression is necessary to maintain proteasome activity following neurotoxic insult (Figure 4-5). Experiments described in this chapter were designed to determine if AAV mediated exogenous parkin expression in the SN could restore proteasome activity to the ST in MPTP-treated WT and Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice. To achieve increased parkin expression in NSDA neuron axon terminals in the ST, rAAV2/5 F-hParkin was unilaterally injected into the SN and rAAV2/5 GFP was injected into the contralateral SN and used as an internal rAAV injected control. The best candidate for a rAAV injection control would have been rAAV Flag, however it was discovered that Flag antibodies were highly nonspecific in the mouse brain (Shevtsova et al. 2006). GFP afforded the ability to confirm the localization of the injection by both IHC and Western blot. Expression of GFP had no effect on proteasome activity compared to the ST of un-injected control mice. While rAAV2/5 mediated GFP expression within the contralateral SN of Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice resulted in reduced proteasome activity compared to the GFP expressing ST of WT mice, expression of FhParkin to the ipsilateral SN of Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice restored proteasome activity to the ipsilateral ST

indicating that expression of exogenous F-hParkin was sufficient to restore proteasome activity in parkin deficient mice to the basal state similar to that observe in WT mice.

In order to further characterize the effect of F-hParkin expression on the proteasome, all three proteolytic activities of the proteasome were measured in the control and F-hParkin expressing ST. Exogenous parkin expression resulted in increased CT-L and T-L activity compared to the contralateral GFP expressing ST. Although it is likely that F-hParkin enhances T-L activity of the proteasome, it should be noted that, other serine proteases are abundant in the brain (Wang, Luo, and Reiser 2008) and although unlikely, F-hParkin expression might have contributed to increased non-proteasome specific T-L activity. Proteins that bind to non-catalytic sites on the proteasome and either enhance or inhibit its activity are considered allosteric modulators of the proteasome. It is common for allosteric modulators to increase the activity of one catalytic site while decreasing another catalytic site (Gaczynska and Osmulski 2014). For example, activation of the 20S proteasome occurs upon allosteric binding to PA28 and results in varied effects of the three catalytic activities (Realini et al. 1997).

Since parkin binds to the 19S regulatory complex and enhances proteasome activity, we examined if F-hParkin might participate in the assembly of the 26S proteasome. Native in gel CT-L assays and Western blots revealed that 26S activity was increased and that there was more 26S proteasome in the presence of F-hParkin than in the presence of GFP. These data demonstrate that parkin facilitates the assembly of the 19S and 20S complexes to form more 26S proteasome. This indicates that as parkin is upregulated in the TIDA neurons following neurotoxicant exposure, it is stimulating the assembly of more 26S proteasome.

While 26S activity is increased with exogenous F-hParkin expression, concurrent changes in 20S proteasome activity cannot be ruled out. While there is far more 20S proteasome

complex than 26S proteasome complex there was very little 20S proteasome activity detectible on the in-gel assay. The paucity of detectable 20S proteasome activity could reflect that most of the 20S proteasome complex is in a closed/inactive state in our activity buffer containing an excess of ATP-Mg<sup>2+</sup> (Osmulski, Hochstrasser, and Gaczynska 2009). In the native in-gel assay, MPTP decreased CT-L activity in the GFP expressing ST as expected. 26S proteasome activity was diminished on the GFP over-expressing side of the ST, however, this was not due to decreased amounts of 26S complex. 26S CT-L activity is maintained in the side ipsilateral to FhParkin over expression and this was associated with an increase in the amount of 26S. Taken together, these results suggest parkin facilitates the assembly of 26S proteasome and increases proteasome activity during neurotoxicant induced oxidative stress.

TH is the rate limiting enzyme in the biosynthesis of DA and is efficiently degraded by the UPS. Chapter 4 demonstrated that phosphorylated and ubiquitinated TH accumulates in the ST of Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice, suggesting a role for parkin in this process. Exogenous expression of F-hParkin results in decreased pSer40-TH with increased activity of existing TH compared to the GFP expressing control ST. Normal DA and DOPAC levels in the F-hParkin expressing side of the ST suggests that the smaller amount of pSer40-TH is equally capable of producing the same amount of DOPA as the larger amount in the GFP expressing ST.

In mice, exposure to MPTP results in depletion of DA and loss of THir in the ST. The hypothesis was tested that increased F-hParkin expression might facilitate the efficient turnover of damaged TH following exposure to MPTP and allow the DA vesicles to refill with DA. Despite successful expression of F-hParkin in the ST, ST DA content remained depleted 24 h following MPTP and was not different from the control ST. The lack of effect of parkin on axon terminal vesicular stores is likely related to the mechanism of toxicant action. MPP<sup>+</sup> binds

to VMAT2 and is transported into the storage vesicle where it displaces DA into the cytoplasm (Lotharius and O'Malley 2000). It is thought that these vesicles release MPP<sup>+</sup> into the synapse and the toxicant is recycled back into axon terminals via DAT and repackaged into the DA vesicle.

One possible reason why DA is not replenished in the F-hParkin expressing ST is that parkin ubiquitinates cdcRel1/Sept5 targeting it for degradation by the UPS (Zhang et al. 2000). Sept5 competes with alpha-SNAP for binding to the SNARE complex and suppresses membrane fusion and exocytosis (Beites, Campbell, and Trimble 2005). It is possible that vesicles cannot release MPP<sup>+</sup> and consequently they cannot be refilled with DA. It is interesting to note that at least in the WT ST expressing F-hParkin, the DOPAC to DA ratio is normalized, which suggests that DA turnover is restored in the unlesioned neurons. This might be a result of DA feedback to TH resulting in decreased activity. Indeed, the DOPA to pSer40-TH ratio in the F-hParkin expressing ST of MPTP treated mice appears to be decreased compared to the control ST.

# Conclusion

In PD, NSDA neurons are affected while TIDA neurons are not susceptible. MPTP recapitulates the regional susceptibility that is seen in PD. Following neurotoxicant exposure, recovery of TIDA neurons is dependent upon the increased expression of parkin (Benskey et al. 2012). Parkin is an E3 ligase that can also bind to the 26S proteasome and enhance proteasome activity. In Chapter 4, maintenance of proteasome activity in the ST and ME following MPTP exposure was found to be dependent upon the expression of parkin and the state of parkin deficiency resulted in accumulation of ubiquitinated pSer40-TH. Here it was demonstrated that exogenously expressed F-hParkin was sufficient to restore proteasome activity in Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice

and this resulted in a decrease in pSer40-TH accumulation in the ST of Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice. However, following MPTP exposure, DA vesicles were not replenished in the ST expressing F-hParkin. However, the DOPAC to DA ratio was diminished on the F-hParkin side of the ST suggesting that exogenous parkin expression might limit the pool of active TH and enhance feedback of cytosolic DA on TH. If so, this enhanced feedback on TH might be important in controlling the deleterious effects of toxic DA metabolites on the DA neuron.

REFERENCES
#### REFERENCES

- Aguileta, M. A., J. Korac, T. M. Durcan, J. F. Trempe, M. Haber, K. Gehring, S. Elsasser, O. Waidmann, E. A. Fon, and K. Husnjak. 2015. 'The E3 ubiquitin ligase parkin is recruited to the 26 S proteasome via the proteasomal ubiquitin receptor Rpn13', *J Biol Chem*, 290: 7492-505.
- Behrouz, B., R. E. Drolet, Z. A. Sayed, K. J. Lookingland, and J. L. Goudreau. 2007. 'Unique responses to mitochondrial complex I inhibition in tuberoinfundibular dopamine neurons may impart resistance to toxic insult', *Neuroscience*, 147: 592-8.
- Beites, C. L., K. A. Campbell, and W. S. Trimble. 2005. 'The septin Sept5/CDCrel-1 competes with alpha-SNAP for binding to the SNARE complex', *Biochem J*, 385: 347-53.
- Benskey, M., B. Behrouz, J. Sunryd, S. S. Pappas, S. H. Baek, M. Huebner, K. J. Lookingland, and J. L. Goudreau. 2012. 'Recovery of hypothalamic tuberoinfundibular dopamine neurons from acute toxicant exposure is dependent upon protein synthesis and associated with an increase in parkin and ubiquitin carboxy-terminal hydrolase-L1 expression', *Neurotoxicology*, 33: 321-31.
- Benskey, M. J., N. C. Kuhn, J. J. Galligan, J. Garcia, S. E. Boye, W. W. Hauswirth, C. Mueller, S. L. Boye, and F. P. Manfredsson. 2015. 'Targeted gene delivery to the enteric nervous system using AAV: a comparison across serotypes and capsid mutants', *Mol Ther*, 23: 488-500.
- Benskey, M. J., F. P. Manfredsson, K. J. Lookingland, and J. L. Goudreau. 2015. 'The role of parkin in the differential susceptibility of tuberoinfundibular and nigrostriatal dopamine neurons to acute toxicant exposure', *Neurotoxicology*, 46: 1-11.
- Benskey, M., K. Y. Lee, K. Parikh, K. J. Lookingland, and J. L. Goudreau. 2013. 'Sustained resistance to acute MPTP toxicity by hypothalamic dopamine neurons following chronic neurotoxicant exposure is associated with sustained up-regulation of parkin protein', *Neurotoxicology*, 37: 144-53.
- Bharath, S., M. Hsu, D. Kaur, S. Rajagopalan, and J. K. Andersen. 2002. 'Glutathione, iron and Parkinson's disease', *Biochem Pharmacol*, 64: 1037-48.
- Bukhatwa, S., B. Y. Zeng, S. Rose, and P. Jenner. 2010. 'A comparison of changes in proteasomal subunit expression in the substantia nigra in Parkinson's disease, multiple system atrophy and progressive supranuclear palsy', *Brain Res*, 1326: 174-83.
- Chung, K. K., V. L. Dawson, and T. M. Dawson. 2001. 'The role of the ubiquitin-proteasomal pathway in Parkinson's disease and other neurodegenerative disorders', *Trends Neurosci*, 24: S7-14.

- Chung, K. K., B. Thomas, X. Li, O. Pletnikova, J. C. Troncoso, L. Marsh, V. L. Dawson, and T. M. Dawson. 2004. 'S-nitrosylation of parkin regulates ubiquitination and compromises parkin's protective function', *Science*, 304: 1328-31.
- Ciechanover, A. 2005. 'Intracellular protein degradation: from a vague idea thru the lysosome and the ubiquitin-proteasome system and onto human diseases and drug targeting', *Cell Death Differ*, 12: 1178-90.
- Ciechanover, A., and P. Brundin. 2003. 'The ubiquitin proteasome system in neurodegenerative diseases: sometimes the chicken, sometimes the egg', *Neuron*, 40: 427-46.
- Dachsel, J. C., C. B. Lucking, S. Deeg, E. Schultz, M. Lalowski, E. Casademunt, O. Corti, C. Hampe, N. Patenge, K. Vaupel, A. Yamamoto, M. Dichgans, A. Brice, E. E. Wanker, P. J. Kahle, and T. Gasser. 2005. 'Parkin interacts with the proteasome subunit alpha4', *FEBS Lett*, 579: 3913-9.
- Demarest, K. T., R. H. Alper, and K. E. Moore. 1979. 'Dopa accumulation is a measure of dopamine synthesis in the median eminence and posterior pituitary', *J Neural Transm*, 46: 183-93.
- Demarest, K. T., and K. E. Moore. 1980. 'Accumulation of L-dopa in the median eminence: an index of tuberoinfundibular dopaminergic nerve activity', *Endocrinology*, 106: 463-8.
- Ehringer, H., and O. Hornykiewicz. 1960. '[Distribution of noradrenaline and dopamine (3hydroxytyramine) in the human brain and their behavior in diseases of the extrapyramidal system]', *Klin Wochenschr*, 38: 1236-9.
- Floor, E., and M. G. Wetzel. 1998. 'Increased protein oxidation in human substantia nigra pars compacta in comparison with basal ganglia and prefrontal cortex measured with an improved dinitrophenylhydrazine assay', *J Neurochem*, 70: 268-75.
- Gaczynska, M., and P. A. Osmulski. 2014. 'Harnessing proteasome dynamics and allostery in drug design', *Antioxid Redox Signal*, 21: 2286-301.
- Hattori, N., H. Matsumine, S. Asakawa, T. Kitada, H. Yoshino, B. Elibol, A. J. Brookes, Y. Yamamura, T. Kobayashi, M. Wang, A. Yoritaka, S. Minoshima, N. Shimizu, and Y. Mizuno. 1998. 'Point mutations (Thr240Arg and Gln311Stop) [correction of Thr240Arg and Ala311Stop] in the Parkin gene', *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, 249: 754-8.
- Hershko, A., and A. Ciechanover. 1998. 'The ubiquitin system', Annu Rev Biochem, 67: 425-79.
- Hyun, D. H., M. Lee, N. Hattori, S. Kubo, Y. Mizuno, B. Halliwell, and P. Jenner. 2002. 'Effect of wild-type or mutant Parkin on oxidative damage, nitric oxide, antioxidant defenses, and the proteasome', *J Biol Chem*, 277: 28572-7.

- Kakhniashvili, D. G., L. A. Bulla, Jr., and S. R. Goodman. 2004. 'The human erythrocyte proteome: analysis by ion trap mass spectrometry', *Mol Cell Proteomics*, 3: 501-9.
- Kitada, T., S. Asakawa, N. Hattori, H. Matsumine, Y. Yamamura, S. Minoshima, M. Yokochi, Y. Mizuno, and N. Shimizu. 1998. 'Mutations in the parkin gene cause autosomal recessive juvenile parkinsonism', *Nature*, 392: 605-8.
- Langston, J. W., and L. S. Forno. 1978. 'The hypothalamus in Parkinson disease', Ann Neurol, 3: 129-33.
- Lehman, N. L. 2009. 'The ubiquitin proteasome system in neuropathology', *Acta Neuropathol*, 118: 329-47.
- Liang, R. Y., L. Chen, B. T. Ko, Y. H. Shen, Y. T. Li, B. R. Chen, K. T. Lin, K. Madura, and S. M. Chuang. 2014. 'Rad23 interaction with the proteasome is regulated by phosphorylation of its ubiquitin-like (UbL) domain', *J Mol Biol*, 426: 4049-60.
- Lotharius, J., and K. L. O'Malley. 2000. 'The parkinsonism-inducing drug 1-methyl-4phenylpyridinium triggers intracellular dopamine oxidation. A novel mechanism of toxicity', J Biol Chem, 275: 38581-8.
- Martins-Branco, D., A. R. Esteves, D. Santos, D. M. Arduino, R. H. Swerdlow, C. R. Oliveira, C. Januario, and S. M. Cardoso. 2012. 'Ubiquitin proteasome system in Parkinson's disease: a keeper or a witness?', *Exp Neurol*, 238: 89-99.
- McNaught, K. S., R. Belizaire, P. Jenner, C. W. Olanow, and O. Isacson. 2002. 'Selective loss of 20S proteasome alpha-subunits in the substantia nigra pars compacta in Parkinson's disease', *Neurosci Lett*, 326: 155-8.
- McNaught, K. S., and P. Jenner. 2001. 'Proteasomal function is impaired in substantia nigra in Parkinson's disease', *Neurosci Lett*, 297: 191-4.
- Melamed, E., J. Rosenthal, M. Globus, O. Cohen, Y. Frucht, and A. Uzzan. 1985. 'Mesolimbic dopaminergic neurons are not spared by MPTP neurotoxicity in mice', *Eur J Pharmacol*, 114: 97-100.
- Mirzaei, H., and F. Regnier. 2008. 'Protein:protein aggregation induced by protein oxidation', J Chromatogr B Analyt Technol Biomed Life Sci, 873: 8-14.
- Mogi, M., M. Harada, K. Kojima, K. Kiuchi, and T. Nagatsu. 1988. 'Effects of systemic administration of 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine to mice on tyrosine hydroxylase, L-3,4-dihydroxyphenylalanine decarboxylase, dopamine beta-hydroxylase, and monoamine oxidase activities in the striatum and hypothalamus', *J Neurochem*, 50: 1053-6.

- Narendra, D., A. Tanaka, D. F. Suen, and R. J. Youle. 2008. 'Parkin is recruited selectively to impaired mitochondria and promotes their autophagy', *J Cell Biol*, 183: 795-803.
- Olzmann, J. A., and L. S. Chin. 2008. 'Parkin-mediated K63-linked polyubiquitination: a signal for targeting misfolded proteins to the aggresome-autophagy pathway', *Autophagy*, 4: 85-7.
- Osmulski, P. A., M. Hochstrasser, and M. Gaczynska. 2009. 'A tetrahedral transition state at the active sites of the 20S proteasome is coupled to opening of the alpha-ring channel', *Structure*, 17: 1137-47.
- Pearce, R. K., A. Owen, S. Daniel, P. Jenner, and C. D. Marsden. 1997. 'Alterations in the distribution of glutathione in the substantia nigra in Parkinson's disease', *J Neural Transm* (*Vienna*), 104: 661-77.
- Realini, C., C. C. Jensen, Z. Zhang, S. C. Johnston, J. R. Knowlton, C. P. Hill, and M. Rechsteiner. 1997. 'Characterization of recombinant REGalpha, REGbeta, and REGgamma proteasome activators', *J Biol Chem*, 272: 25483-92.
- Ross, C. A., and C. M. Pickart. 2004. 'The ubiquitin-proteasome pathway in Parkinson's disease and other neurodegenerative diseases', *Trends Cell Biol*, 14: 703-11.
- Sakata, E., Y. Yamaguchi, E. Kurimoto, J. Kikuchi, S. Yokoyama, S. Yamada, H. Kawahara, H. Yokosawa, N. Hattori, Y. Mizuno, K. Tanaka, and K. Kato. 2003. 'Parkin binds the Rpn10 subunit of 26S proteasomes through its ubiquitin-like domain', *EMBO Rep*, 4: 301-6.
- Scheffner, M., U. Nuber, and J. M. Huibregtse. 1995. 'Protein ubiquitination involving an E1-E2-E3 enzyme ubiquitin thioester cascade', *Nature*, 373: 81-3.
- Shevtsova, Z., J. M. Malik, U. Michel, U. Scholl, M. Bahr, and S. Kugler. 2006. 'Evaluation of epitope tags for protein detection after in vivo CNS gene transfer', *Eur J Neurosci*, 23: 1961-9.
- Shimura, H., N. Hattori, Si Kubo, Y. Mizuno, S. Asakawa, S. Minoshima, N. Shimizu, K. Iwai, T. Chiba, K. Tanaka, and T. Suzuki. 2000. 'Familial Parkinson disease gene product, parkin, is a ubiquitin-protein ligase', *Nat Genet*, 25: 302-5.
- Sinha, R., B. Racette, J. S. Perlmutter, and A. Parsian. 2005. 'Prevalence of parkin gene mutations and variations in idiopathic Parkinson's disease', *Parkinsonism Relat Disord*, 11: 341-7.
- Tsai, Y. C., P. S. Fishman, N. V. Thakor, and G. A. Oyler. 2003. 'Parkin facilitates the elimination of expanded polyglutamine proteins and leads to preservation of proteasome function', *J Biol Chem*, 278: 22044-55.

Uhlen, M. 2010. 'The Human Protein Atlas'. http://www.proteinatlas.org/.

- Uhlen, M., P. Oksvold, L. Fagerberg, E. Lundberg, K. Jonasson, M. Forsberg, M. Zwahlen, C. Kampf, K. Wester, S. Hober, H. Wernerus, L. Bjorling, and F. Ponten. 2010. 'Towards a knowledge-based Human Protein Atlas', *Nat Biotechnol*, 28: 1248-50.
- Um, J. W., E. Im, H. J. Lee, B. Min, L. Yoo, J. Yoo, H. Lubbert, C. Stichel-Gunkel, H. S. Cho, J. B. Yoon, and K. C. Chung. 2010. 'Parkin directly modulates 26S proteasome activity', J *Neurosci*, 30: 11805-14.
- von Coelln, R., V. L. Dawson, and T. M. Dawson. 2004. 'Parkin-associated Parkinson's disease', *Cell Tissue Res*, 318: 175-84.
- Wang, Y., W. Luo, and G. Reiser. 2008. 'Trypsin and trypsin-like proteases in the brain: proteolysis and cellular functions', *Cell Mol Life Sci*, 65: 237-52.
- Zhang, Y., J. Gao, K. K. Chung, H. Huang, V. L. Dawson, and T. M. Dawson. 2000. 'Parkin functions as an E2-dependent ubiquitin- protein ligase and promotes the degradation of the synaptic vesicle-associated protein, CDCrel-1', *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 97: 13354-9.

## **Chapter 6. General Discussion and Concluding Remarks**

# **General Discussion**

PD is a chronic and progressive neurodegenerative disease that is characterized by resting tremor, slowness of movement, rigidity, and impaired balance and coordination. PD is a common disease that affects nearly one million people in the United States (National Parkinson's Foundation). The disease is categorically an age related disease and as our aging population shifts to more advanced age, we can expect to see the prevalence of this debilitating disease rise (Pringsheim et al. 2014). There is currently no cure for PD and despite our increasing aging population there are limited therapies available. While these therapies temporarily address the primary motor symptoms of PD, none of these can stop the progressive nature of this disease.

Most neurodegenerative diseases involve the loss of a specific subpopulation of neurons. The primary symptoms of PD are motor in nature and are due to the chronic and progressive degeneration of NSDA neurons. NSDA axon terminals supply DA to the medium spiny neurons in the ST and modulate the basal ganglia circuitry allowing the selection of movement. While NSDA neurons are affected in PD, hypothalamic TIDA neurons are not susceptible (Langston and Forno 1978). An understanding of the molecular mechanisms that afford protection to TIDA neurons may facilitate the development of neuroprotective strategies that could slow, or halt the progressive neurodegeneration of NSDA neurons in patients with PD.

#### MPTP Paradigm

In this dissertation, early events that occur in DA neurons following a single acute exposure to MPTP are described. MPTP is a DA neuron specific toxicant and exposure results in increased ROS production largely through inciting mitochondrial dysfunction and metabolism of DA displaced from storage vesicles within the DA neuronal axon terminals. Exposure to MPTP closely parallels the pattern of susceptibility that is observed in PD (Jackson-Lewis and Przedborski 2007; Langston et al. 1983). Despite the similarities between MPTP toxicity and PD, it is important to note that there are differences between the MPTP neurotoxicant model of PD and idiopathic PD including: pathological progression, acute onset, and lack of Lewy Body formation. However, MPTP recapitulates the selective neuronal population sensitivity that is seen in PD (Langston and Forno 1978; Benskey et al. 2013). In mice, both NSDA and TIDA neuronal populations initially respond to MPTP, however, TIDA neurons recover from the initial neurotoxic insult, while NSDA neuronal toxicity persists (Benskey et al. 2012; Benskey et al. 2013). The ability of MPTP toxicity to cause similar molecular pathology within NSDA neurons makes this neurotoxicant a useful tool for studying the early molecular events that may be involved in PD.

The recovery of vesicular DA in TIDA neurons following MPTP exposure is dependent upon the increased expression of parkin (Benskey, Manfredsson, et al. 2015). While parkin is increased in TIDA neurons it is decreased in NSDA neurons following MPTP exposure (Benskey et al. 2012). Differential parkin expression following exposure to MPTP is of interest because mutations in the PARK2 gene cause autosomal recessive juvenile PD (Hattori et al. 1998; Kitada et al. 1998; Sinha et al. 2005) and oxidative modifications causing parkin loss of function in the ST are found in patients with sporadic PD (Chung et al. 2004).

Parkin is an E3 ubiquitin ligase that promotes the degradation of its specific protein substrates via the UPS (Shimura et al. 2000) as well as autophagy (Olzmann and Chin 2008; Narendra et al. 2008). In addition to its E3 ligase function, the N-terminal UBL domain of parkin

interacts with proteasome regulatory subunits Rpn10, RPN13, Rpt6, and α4 (Sakata et al. 2003; Aguileta et al. 2015; Tsai et al. 2003; Dachsel et al. 2005) and directly enhances proteasome activity in cell culture (Um et al. 2010; Hyun et al. 2002; Dachsel et al. 2005). This dissertation describes regional differences in proteasome activity which are associated with differential parkin expression in regions containing TIDA and NSDA axon terminals under conditions of neurotoxicant induced oxidative stress *in vivo*.

In many experiments presented here, a single low dose of MPTP with a relatively short time course was used. The purpose was to identify early events that occur in TIDA axon terminals that are associated with increased parkin expression. Following the identification of these early molecular events that occur during the recovery of TIDA neurons, it could be determined if parkin protein expression was necessary and sufficient to reproduce these events within and protect NSDA neurons.

# Regarding the use of Park2<sup>-/-</sup> Mice

To determine the necessity of parkin in maintaining proteasome activity and limiting oxidative damage, Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice were used. These mice have the exon 3 deletion mutation that is most prevalent in early onset familial PD. Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice have increased extracellular DA in the ST and reduced postsynaptic excitability compared to WT mice (Goldberg et al. 2003). As a result, Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice demonstrate motor deficits related to dysfunction of the NSDA neuronal pathway (Goldberg et al. 2003). While PD patients with this mutation have significant loss of NSDA neurons, the number of TH-ir neurons in the SN in Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice remain comparable to WT mice (Goldberg et al. 2003). This difference between mice and humans may be due to different lifetime environmental exposures. Alternatively, it is possible that Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice have

compensatory mechanisms available that humans do not and these prevent the loss of NSDA neurons. Future studies might benefit from utilizing either rAAV Parkin-shRNA or an inducible parkin knockout which would not be subject to lifetime compensation for loss of parkin expression

# Oxidative Stress, Parkin, and Proteasome Dynamics

There is a growing body of evidence that parkin is necessary for maintenance of central DA neurons (Benskey, Manfredsson, et al. 2015; Petrucelli et al. 2002; Narendra et al. 2008; Jiang et al. 2004) and that parkin can act to enhance proteasome activity (Tanaka et al. 2001; Sakata et al. 2003; Aguileta et al. 2015; Tsai et al. 2003; Dachsel et al. 2005; Um et al. 2010; Hyun et al. 2002). It was hypothesized that distinct parkin expression profiles in NSDA and TIDA neurons would be associated with differential proteasome activity within the ST and ME. To test this hypothesis mice were treated with MPTP to induce distinctive parkin profiles in the ST and ME. In fact, 24 h following MPTP exposure, proteasome activity is decreased in the ST where parkin is decreased, but not the ME where parkin is increased following MPTP treatment (Figure 3-4; Figure 3-7) Further, proteasome activity is decreased in the ST of Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice while activity is not changed in the ME (Figure 4-2). An increase in oxidative damage in the ST but not the ME of Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice was observed, which corresponds with decreased proteasome activity in the ST and maintained proteasome activity in the ME (Figure 4-4). This suggests that parkin is necessary in the ST to maintain proteasome activity under basal conditions while it is not necessary in the ME. Interestingly, when Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice are exposed to MPTP, proteasome activity is no longer maintained in the ME (Figure 4-5). Therefore, parkin is necessary to

maintain proteasome activity in the ME following MPTP exposure associated with oxidative stress.

The proteasome is composed of the 20S catalytic core particle and the 19S regulatory complex. Although the 20S core particle can degrade small disordered proteins in an ATP independent manner, larger ordered proteins require a polyubiquitin tag that is recognized by the 19S regulatory complex before they are translocated into the 20S catalytic chamber to be degraded in an ATP dependent process. The 26S and 20S proteasome exist in a dynamic equilibrium within the cell. In order to limit damage caused by oxidative stress and loss of ATP, changes in proteasome composition and structure modulate the 26S and 20S dynamics and promote the degradation of oxidized proteins. Figure 6-1 illustrates a proposed model of proteasome dynamics under conditions of oxidative stress and how these changes modulate proteasome activity in response to ROS (Aiken et al. 2011). Under non-oxidative conditions, the 26S proteasome is the major degradative complex. In the early phase of oxidative stress, 26S proteasome activity is increased. With persistent oxidative stress, the 26S proteasome disassembles to the 20S proteasome so that disordered proteins can be degraded independent of ATP and ubiquitin. Under prolonged oxidative stress, a decrease in 26S activity triggers the de novo synthesis of new proteasome components and the assembly of functional proteasome complexes (Figure 6-1).

In the studies presented here, WT mice were exposed to MPTP which caused a decrease in 26S proteasome activity in the ST and a compensatory increase in *de novo* synthesis of the  $\beta$ 5 catalytic subunit of the 20S complex and the RPN10 subunit of the 19S regulatory complex and an increase in the amount of assembled 20S proteasome complex. The events described here indicate that 24 h following MPTP represents a snapshot of prolonged oxidative stress in the ST



**Figure 6-1 Model of oxidative stress and proteasome dynamics.** Under non-oxidative conditions, the 26S proteasome is the major degradative complex. Early in an oxidative insult, the 26S proteasome is activated by an unknown mechanism. With persistent oxidative stress, the 26S proteasome disassembles into the 20S proteasome so that disordered proteins can be degraded independent of ATP and ubiquitin. Under prolonged oxidative stress, a decrease in 26S activity triggers the *de novo* synthesis of new proteasome components and the assembly of functional proteasome complexes (Aiken et al. 2011).

as previously proposed (Aiken et al., 2011). Additional time-course data (**Appendix 2**) indicate that proteasome assembly and activity in the ST of WT mice treated with MPTP follow the response described in **Figure 6-1**. In contrast, 26S proteasome assembly and activity also increase in parkin deficient mice, but to a lesser extent than WT mice. In addition, the increase in 26S assembly and activity is delayed in the ST of Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice compared to WT mice. Therefore, the early increase in 26S assembly and activity in the ST of MPTP treated mice are dependent upon the presence of parkin

# The Role of Decreased Proteasome Activity in the Degeneration of DA Neurons

Mutations in the PARK2 gene explain about half of all the familial cases of PD (Lucking et al. 2000) and oxidative modifications causing loss of parkin function are found in the ST of patients with sporadic PD (Chung et al. 2004). Mutations in parkin produce rare forms of early onset familial PD (Kitada et al. 1998) which indicates the importance of parkin for NSDA neuronal survival. While mutations in parkin only account for 5-10% of all cases of PD (de Lau and Breteler 2006) oxidative damage to parkin results in its loss of function. S-nitrosylation of cysteines within the RING domains of parkin are found in the SN of PD patients (Chung et al. 2004). In addition, DA can covalently modify parkin causing it to become insoluble and aggregate. Brains of patients with sporadic PD have DA-modified inactive parkin in the SN (LaVoie et al. 2005).

Parkin contains an N-terminal UBL domain that can bind to and enhance proteasome function. Data from this dissertation provide support that parkin is both necessary and sufficient to maintain proteasome activity and limit the accumulation of oxidatively modified proteins in the ST. Indeed, tissue from the ST of Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice have decreased proteasome activity and

increased oxidatively modified proteins compared to WT mice while tissue from the ME was not affected (**Figure 4-2 and Figure 4-4**). This likely reflects the relatively high state of activity and higher energy needs of NSDA neurons, which comes with the consequence of increased intrinsic ROS production and reduced antioxidant capacity (Voets et al. 2012; Castro Mdel et al. 2012; Alexeyev 2009; Enochs et al. 1994).

The various pathogenic mechanisms that are associated with PD (i.e. mitochondrial dysfunction, abnormal DA metabolism, and neuroinflammation) all result in increased ROS production and oxidative stress. Oxidative modifications of proteins causes protein misfolding, and if damaged and modified proteins are not removed they will form toxic aggregates that lead to neuronal dysfunction and degeneration (Ross and Poirier 2004). There are two pathways that regulate the presence of toxic protein species, the lysosomal degradation pathway and the UPS. In neurons, late endosomes and lysosomes are localized in the soma and dendrites (Parton, Simons, and Dotti 1992). Proteolytic organelles that are contained in portions of the neuron where the surface area to volume is high, such as the axon and the highly arborized terminals of NSDA neurons, do not degrade materials efficiently (Tai and Schuman 2008). Accordingly, a large portion of endocytosed proteins must be pooled into multi-vesicular bodies and transported to the soma for breakdown. Because of this, these neurons are largely dependent upon the UPS to facilitate the rapid removal of damaged and unneeded proteins. This is important because protein aggregates that are the result of impaired degradation have been observed in the neuropathology of PD (Ross and Poirier 2004).

The data presented here are in line with the hypothesis that parkin serves a protective function in NSDA neurons by maintaining proteasome activity and allowing the efficient degradation of oxidized proteins. Following MPTP exposure, the amount of parkin mRNA is not

increased in NSDA neurons and parkin protein is decreased in the ST (Benskey et al. 2012), perhaps due to oxidative modifications that render the protein inactive and insoluble or due to its normal turnover. While over-expression of F-hParkin over-expression restored proteasome activity in the ST following MPTP exposure, it is important to know for the further development of AAV-hParkin studies if F-hParkin also appears in the insoluble fraction of the tissue lysate.

#### Neuronal Activity and Oxidative Damage

Results from studies presented here demonstrate that increased parkin expression is both necessary and sufficient to maintain proteasome activity in regions containing TIDA and NSDA axon terminals under conditions of neurotoxicant induced oxidative stress (**Figure 4-5; Figure 5-7; Figure 5-8**). However, under basal conditions, parkin is necessary in the ST, but not the ME to maintain proteasome activity (**Figure 4-2**). This phenomenon may be a result of the high energy requirements of NSDA neurons compared to TIDA neurons.

Due to the length of and the extensive branching of NSDA axons (less than 1% of the NSDA neuron cell volume is accounted for by the soma), these neurons have extremely high metabolic requirements that increases the risk of increased ROS production and susceptibility to oxidative stress (Sulzer 2007; Braak et al. 2004; Matsuda et al. 2009). In addition, NSDA neurons have higher basal neuronal activity than TIDA neurons, which is reflected by the DOPAC to DA ratio (**Figure 3-1C**).

The relatively high state of activity in NSDA neurons comes with the consequence of increased ROS production and reduced antioxidant capacity. To prevent toxic DA quinone formation, cytosolic DA must be metabolized to DOPAL by MAO, a reaction that results in the two-electron reduction of oxygen and the production of superoxide and hydroxyl radical

(Przedborski et al. 2000). Buffering of superoxide and hydroxyl radical results in the depletion of glutathione which can render these neurons susceptible to a modest increase in ROS. Despite the fact that NSDA neurons intrinsically produce more ROS than other DA neuronal populations (Voets et al. 2012; Castro Mdel et al. 2012; Alexeyev 2009; Enochs et al. 1994), there are no regional differences in oxidative protein modification (as measured by protein carbonylation; Figure 3-3), parkin expression (Figure 3-4), or proteasome activity (Figure 3-7) in untreated WT mice. These results suggest that under basal conditions the antioxidant system is sufficient to neutralize the ROS that is produced in both regions. However, the theory that NSDA neurons intrinsically produce more ROS than other DA neuronal populations and are more susceptible to oxidative stress (Voets et al. 2012; Castro Mdel et al. 2012; Alexeyev 2009; Enochs et al. 1994) is supported by the observation that parkin deficient mice have increased oxidative protein modifications (as measured by protein carbonylation; Figure 4-4) in the ST. The observation of elevated oxidatively damaged proteins in the ST of Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice also indicates that parkin plays a role in limiting the amount of oxidatively damaged protein in brain regions containing axon terminals of NSDA neurons. The fact that there is a correlation between the increase in oxidatively modified proteins in the ST but not the ME and decreased proteasome activity in the ST and maintained proteasome activity in the ME of parkin deficient mice (Figure 4-5) supports the possibility that parkin is necessary in the ST to maintain proteasome activity and limit the presence of oxidatively damaged proteins under basal conditions. Further studies will be needed to measure protein aggregation in these neurons following neurotoxicant exposure and the effect of F-hParkin over-expression in the SN.

The production of ROS markedly increases in the ST and ventral midbrain following MPTP exposure (Jackson-Lewis and Przedborski 2007). A single acute exposure of MPTP

results in a compensatory increase in NSDA neuronal activity of the unlesioned NSDA axon terminals in the ST which is reflected by the DOPAC to DA ratio (**Figure 3-1**). The increase in activity of the NSDA neurons is likely mediated by loss of DA receptor mediated feedback regulation (either long-loop post-synaptic or autoregulatory presynaptic), which is absent in TIDA neurons that lack a robust presynaptic DA feedback mechanism (Lookingland and Moore 2005). TIDA neurons are instead, regulated by changes in circulating prolactin which tonically activates the TIDA neurons. MPP<sup>+</sup> triggers release of DA from the TIDA axon terminals to the anterior pituitary where it inhibits prolactin release from lactotrophs (Durham et al. 1997). It is feasible that the decrease in neuronal activity of TIDA neurons following MPTP is due to loss of prolactin feedback activation of TIDA neurons.

Despite the differing neuronal activity states of NSDA and TIDA neurons following MPTP exposure, protein carbonylation is elevated to the same extent in both the ST and the ME 24 h following MPTP exposure (**Figure 3-3**), indicating that the antioxidant capacity of both regions is overwhelmed following this single low dose MPTP exposure. Accordingly, it would be interesting to determine the antioxidant threshold for NSDA and TIDA terminals using lower doses of MPTP. Regardless, the observation that parkin is elevated in the ME and not the ST following MPTP exposure (**Figure 3-4**) suggests that changes in parkin expression are not triggered by the oxidative modification of proteins within the region. In this regard, differential expression of parkin could be due to differential expression of FosB and dFosB which are upregulated in regions containing TIDA soma, but not NSDA soma (Patterson et al. 2016).

Susceptibility to increased ROS production due to MPTP exposure is much harder to interpret in the Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice. While there is a decrease in proteasome activity in both the ST and ME of MPTP treated Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice, the amount of oxidatively damaged proteins did not

correspond to these changes. Surprisingly, parkin expression does not appear to be necessary to limit oxidized proteins in the ST and ME following neurotoxic insult (**Figure 4-6**), as the state of parkin deficiency results in reduced oxidative protein modifications in the ST and no change in the ME following MPTP exposure. A compensatory shift in degradation pathways for oxidatively damaged proteins may have occurred in the context of impaired proteasome activity. This is not an uncommon feature of proteasome impairment, inhibition of the UPS often leads to a compensatory increase in autophagic activity that might account for this decrease in oxidatively damaged proteins (Pandey et al. 2007; Ding et al. 2007; Rzymski et al. 2009). Future studies observing autophagic shifts in TIDA and NSDA neurons could be beneficial in understanding the roles of both the UPS and the ALP under conditions of oxidative stress.

Another possibility is that Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice have adapted mechanisms that are aimed at compensating for the presence of ROS and the accumulation of damaged proteins. Eighty-seven proteins are differentially expressed in the ST of WT and Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice (Periquet et al. 2005). Several of these proteins are antioxidants that might be important in neutralizing ROS following exposure to MPTP. For example, one such protein is a carbonyl reductase which would have obvious implications for measuring carbonylated proteins as an index of oxidative stress. GSH S-transferase is also elevated in the ST of Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice (Periquet et al. 2005). Under conditions of oxidative stress, TH can be modified by glutathionylation and this results in its reduced activity (Borges et al. 2002) and consequential reduction in cytosolic DA and the resultant DA oxidation products. In addition, glutathionylation can influence cell signaling pathways implicated in the antioxidant response. For example, Nrf2 is a transcription factor that regulates the expression of antioxidant proteins. Under non-oxidative conditions, Nrf2 is sequestered in the cytoplasm by Keap1 so that Cullin 3 can ubiquitinate Nrf2 and allow its degradation by the

proteasome (Zhang 2006). Glutathione S-transferase can potentiate the glutathionylation of Keap1 so that it is degraded by the proteasome and releases Nrf2 (Carvalho et al. 2016). Nrf2 is then free to translocate to the nucleus and bind to the antioxidant response element and increases the expression of other antioxidant genes.

#### Mitochondrial Dysfunction and Decreased Proteasome Activity

The maintenance of assembled 26S proteasome complex is dependent upon sufficient ATP within the cell. Both the state of parkin deficiency and exposure to MPP+ result in mitochondrial dysfunction and it could be argued that depletion of ATP is the cause of decreased proteasome activity.  $MPP^+$  is a mitochondrial complex I inhibitor and while ATP is transiently decreased by about 10% shortly (1-3 h) after MPTP exposure, complex I inhibition is limited and by 24 h the amount of ATP is not noticeably different from control mice (Cosi and Marien 1998; Chan et al. 1991; Irwin, DeLanney, and Langston 1993). Consistent with this time course of MPTP effects, proteasome activity was impaired at 24 h – a time when there was no change in the amount of assembled 26S proteasome (**Figure 3-12**). Since maintenance of assembled 26S proteasome is ATP-dependent, the unaltered levels of assembled 26S proteasome in the ST following MPTP treatment are consistent with the conclusion that there is sufficient ATP to keep the 26S proteasome from disassembling following MPTP treatment.

Along the same lines, parkin has an important role in mitochondrial quality control and a reduction in mitochondrial respiration is observed in synaptosomes derived from the ST of Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice (Exner et al. 2007; Narendra et al. 2008; Springer and Kahle 2011; Hawong 2014). Although the rate of ATP synthesis is decreased in ST synaptosomes from Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice compared to WT mice, the decreased rate is compensated for and there is no difference in the

amount of ATP (Pickrell and Youle 2015). However, if ATP levels had been depleted, it is important to note that physiologic levels of ATP (i.e. mM range) have a negative effect on 26S proteasome activity. Under stress conditions, where ATP levels are lower, 26S proteasome activity actually increases from the basal level (Huang et al. 2010). Based on these reasons, it is unlikely that ATP depletion accounts for either Park2<sup>-/-</sup> related or MPTP induced decrease in 26S proteasome activity.

# AAV Mediated F-hParkin Over-expression and Maintenance of Proteasome Activity in NSDA Neurons

NSDA neurons are susceptible to MPTP toxicity and do not up-regulate parkin expression while TIDA neurons are resistant to MPTP and do upregulate parkin. Data presented in this dissertation implicate increased parkin expression in TIDA neurons in the maintenance of proteasome activity and alleviation of oxidatively modified proteins from the axon terminal following neurotoxic insult (**Figures 4-5 and Figure 4-6**). Based on these findings, it was hypothesized that over-expression of F-hParkin in neurons in the SN would be sufficient to maintain proteasome activity in the axon terminals of NSDA neurons following neurotoxicant exposure.

Gene therapy is a treatment paradigm in which populations of cells are genetically modified in order to relieve the disease symptoms. To determine if exogenous parkin expression in the SN could restore proteasome activity to the ST, we employed viral vector mediated gene transfer. Adeno-Associated Viral (AAV) mediated gene transfer is the most common genetic therapy approach taken in the central nervous system and has been used in over 20 human clinical trials (Lim, Airavaara, and Harvey 2010). Viral vectors are engineered from WT viruses

so that the genes that are needed for their replication are removed from the genome. Once injected, these viral particles are unable to replicate themselves but can infect cells and transfer the genetic material to the nucleus leading to irreversible genetic modification within the host tissue. Adeno-Associated viruse (AAV)2/5 has specific tropism for neurons (Aschauer, Kreuz, and Rumpel 2013), has been used in human clinical trials, and was therefore used in these studies.

rAAV F-hParkin was unilaterally injected into the SN and rAAV GFP was injected into the contralateral SN and used as an internal AAV injected control. To determine if GFP expression had any effect on proteasome activity, CT-L proteasome activity of the GFP expressing ST was compared to that of the un-injected side. Expression of GFP has no effect on proteasome activity compared to the ST of un-injected control mice (**Figure 5-5A**). As is expected, proteasome activity within the contralateral SN of Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice with AAV mediated GFP expression had reduced proteasome activity compared to the GFP expressing ST of WT mice (**Figure 5-5B**). However, expression of F-hParkin in the SN of Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice restores proteasome activity compared to the contralateral GFP expressing side and the WT control.

The increased proteasome activity following rAAV-hParkin expression is associated with increased amounts of assembled 26S proteasome, although changes in 20S proteasome activity cannot be ruled out. Indeed, there is far more 20S proteasome complex than 26S proteasome complex (**Figure 5-8B**). There was, however, very little 20S proteasome activity detectible on the in-gel assay (**Figure 5-8A**). The paucity of detectable 20S proteasome activity likely reflects that most of the 20S proteasome complex is in a closed/inactive state in the activity buffer containing an excess of ATP-Mg<sup>2+</sup> (Osmulski, Hochstrasser, and Gaczynska 2009). In fact, atomic force microscopy imaging of the 20S proteasome indicates that most of the

20S proteasome complex exists in the closed/inactive state with a small percentage in the open/active conformation at any given time (Gaczynska and Osmulski 2011).

F-hParkin over-expression in the SN results in increased proteasome activity in the ST of both the saline and MPTP treatment groups (Figure 5-6 and Figure 5-7), which is likely due to increased amounts of 26S proteasome (Figure 5-8B). MPTP exposure results in decreased CT-L activity associated with the 26S proteasome complex in the GFP expressing ST. However, the decrease in 26S activity is not due to decreased amounts of 26S complex (Figure 3-12 and Figure 5-8). 26S CT-L activity is maintained in the ST ipsilateral to F-hParkin over expression and this is associated with an increase in the amount of 26S complex. Taken together, these results suggest F-hParkin over-expression facilitates the assembly of 26S proteasome and increases 26S proteasome activity during neurotoxicant induced oxidative stress. F-hParkin overexpression reults in increases in assembled 26S proteasome which allows the maintenance of proteasome activity following neurotoxic insult. Specifically, these data demonstrate for the first time that increased F-hParkin expression is sufficient to allow the maintenance of proteasome activity following oxidative insult. Future work exploring functional point mutations within the UBL domain of parkin will shed light on whether parkin mediated modulation of the 26S proteasome occurs through a UBL domain dependent mechanism.

#### Parkin and Recovery of DA in the ST Following MPTP Exposure

While TIDA neurons up-regulate parkin expression and recover following MPTP exposure, NSDA neurons do not. We aimed to determine if over-expression of F-hParkin within the SN was sufficient to allow the maintenance of proteasome activity and TH levels following MPTP exposure. TH is the rate limiting enzyme in DA synthesis (Levitt et al. 1965) and its activity is regulated by both short-term (allosteric regulation, tetrahydrobiopterin availability, catecholamine feedback inhibition and phosphorylation) and long-term transcriptional mechanisms (Fujisawa and Okuno 2005). In addition, TH activity is also regulated through its turnover by the UPS in the short-term and autophagy in the long-term (Congo Carbajosa et al. 2015; Nakashima et al. 2013). While TH is not a specific substrate of parkin E3 ligase function, Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice had increased levels of TH phosphorylated at Ser19 and Ser40, post-translational modifications that are essential for TH activity (**Figure 4-7 and Figure 4-10**). These data would seem to be in contrast to immunohistochemistry data that demonstrates that the number of THir neurons in the SN or their projections in the ST of Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice are similar to that of WT mice (Goldberg et al. 2003; Perez and Palmiter 2005). However, their work quantitated the number of neurons that were THir and not the actual amount of TH or amount of TH per cell. A separate proteomic study did find that Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice have increased TH compared to WT mice (Periquet et al. 2005).

Parkin expression is necessary to maintain proteasome activity and facilitate the normal degradation of TH in the ST (**Figure 4-7 and Figure 4-10**). While Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice appear to have more phosphorylated TH in the ST which might indicate more activated TH, Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice do not have different amounts of DA, or TH in situ activity (i.e. DOPA accumulation), compared to WT controls. However, when the level of DOPA is normalized to the amount of Ser40 phosphorylated TH, the amount of DOPA per TH was decreased in the ST of Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice compared to the WT controls. It appears that there is more TH in Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice but it is likely that the TH is ubiquitinated and perhaps inactive. In fact, TH immunoprecipitated from the ST of Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice has increased K48 linked polyubiquitin as well as K63 linked polyubiquitin (**Figure** 

**4-10**). These differences in the amount of TH likely reflect delayed turnover of ubiquitinated TH due to decreased activity of the proteasome in Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice.

While parkin is necessary for the efficient turnover of TH, the results from these studies reveal that F-hParkin over-expression is sufficient for the recovery of proteasome activity, and normal levels of TH which were previously impaired in the ST of Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice (**Figure 5-9**). It is interesting to note that in the ST expressing F-hParkin, the compensatory increase in the DOPAC to DA ratio in MPTP treated WT mice is normalized (**Figure 5-13**), which suggests that DA turnover is dampened in the remaining unlesioned neurons. This might be a result of restored cytosolic DA feedback onto TH resulting in decreased TH activity. Indeed, the DOPA to pSer40-TH ratio in the F-hParkin expressing ST of MPTP treated mice appears to be decreased compared to the control ST.

Cytosolic DA is prone to auto-oxidation and forms severely toxic DA quinones (Lotharius and O'Malley 2000). The ability to mitigate increases in cytosolic DA is important for the recovery of DA neurons. F-hParkin over-expression increases proteasome activity in NSDA neurons and may prevent cytosolic DA related oxidative damage to the neuron caused by a compensatory increase in neuronal activity in the unlesioned neurons, a major component of MPTP toxicity as well as PD. Although it was found that loss of parkin expression in the ST results in increased protein oxidation, it remains to be seen if F-hParkin over expression reduces protein oxidation in the ST following MPTP. The initial protein carbonylation assays in the ST of Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice exposed to MPTP were muddied by possible compensatory antioxidant mechanisms in these mice. Future work in measuring protein carbonylation in MPTP exposed WT mice expressing F-hParkin will be useful in determining the ability to prevent oxidative protein damage. The effectiveness of F-hParkin over-expression in reducing cytosolic DA

turnover may give validity to the idea that proteasome activating drugs may be an effective strategy in both reducing oxidatively damaged due to oxidation of cytosolic DA and increased DA turnover.

Despite the successful over-expression of F-hParkin within the SN, concentrations of DA were not replenished within 24 h following MPTP exposure (**Figure 5-13**). The inability of F-hParkin over-expressing NSDA neurons to recover DA following MPTP exposure is in line with reports from other investigators (Benskey, Kuhn, et al. 2015; Paterna et al. 2007). It is likely that the lack of effect of parkin on axon terminal vesicular stores of DA is related to the mechanism of MPP<sup>+</sup>. Once in the DA terminal, MPP<sup>+</sup> binds to VMAT2 and is transported into the storage vesicle where it displaces DA into the cytoplasm (Lotharius and O'Malley 2000). It is believed that these vesicles release MPP<sup>+</sup> into the synapse and the toxicant is recycled back into axon terminals via DAT and repackaged into the DA vesicle. Parkin over-expression in SH-SY5Y and DAT expressing HEK293 cells causes increases cell surface expression of DAT (Jiang, Jiang, and Feng 2004). This might allow increased recycling of MPP<sup>+</sup> as it is released from the vesicle into the synapse. Further studies are needed to demonstrate the effect of F-hParkin over-expression and increased DAT surface expression on both DA and MPP<sup>+</sup> recycling.

Another possible reason why DA is not replenished in the F-hParkin expressing ST is that exogenous F-hParkin differs from endogenous parkin. The human parkin that was expressed in these experiments contained an N-terminal FLAG tag which consists mostly of a string of charged aspartic acid residues. The FLAG tag was originally intended to be used for enhanced immunodetection and immunopurification of the human protein as opposed to the endogenously expressed murine parkin; although, antibodies directed toward the FLAG tag proved to be highly nonspecific in the mouse brain (Shevtsova et al. 2006). It is possible that the N-terminal FLAG

tag could have disrupted proper folding of the parkin protein. In endogenously expressed parkin, the UBL domain folds back on the parkin protein and blocks the ubiquitin binding site, Cys431 (Dove and Klevit 2013). The N-terminal tag may present a more open tertiary structure which may allow ubiquitin binding and E3 ligase function including auto-ubiquitination of parkin, a process that regulates the activity and amount of parkin within the cell (Caulfield, Fiesel, and Springer 2015; Burchell, Chaugule, and Walden 2012). However, the F-hParkin construct has previously been functionally validated in mechanistic studies (Imai et al. 2001; Imai, Soda, and Takahashi 2000; Moore 2006; Geisler et al. 2010; Benskey, Manfredsson, et al. 2015). In addition, the studies presented here demonstrate that F-hParkin is detected in the ipsilateral ST by Western blot (**Figure 5-4**) and is able to rescue proteasome activity (**Figure 5-5**, **Figure 5-7 and Figure 5-8**) and allow efficient TH turnover (**Figure 5-9**). This suggests that the UBL domain was functional at least in binding to the 26S proteasome. Regardless, future studies may benefit from expression of a hParkin construct that does not utilize an N-terminal tag.

#### Model of ROS Induced Parkin Expression and Maintenance of Proteasome Activity

In this dissertation, it was hypothesized that distinct parkin expression profiles in NSDA and TIDA neurons would be associated with differential proteasome activity within the ST and ME following neurotoxic insult with MPTP. Indeed, parkin expression was found to be both necessary and sufficient to maintain proteasome activity in the ME following MPTP exposure. While parkin expression is associated with corresponding changes in proteasome activity in these two regions, it does not appear to limit the amount of carbonylated proteins in the ME. **Figure 6-2** illustrates the role that parkin might play in limiting protein aggregation in the ME following



**Figure 6-2** Model of ROS induced parkin expression, maintenance of proteasome activity, and prevention of aggregate formation. In the ST (top panel), reactive oxygen species result in oxidative modifications to proteins. Oxidized proteins that are not degraded will form toxic and insoluble protein aggregates. In the ME (bottom panel) In, reactive oxygen species also result in oxidative modifications to proteins. Parkin expression is increased allowing increased assembly of 26S proteasome. Increased 26S proteasome allows the degradation of oxidized proteins.

an oxidative insult. A single acute exposure to MPTP results in a similar increase in the amount of protein carbonyls in the ST and ME. Oxidatively modified and misfolded proteins must be degraded or they will form toxic and insoluble protein aggregates within the neuron. In this way, the amount and activity of the 26S proteasome plays a key role in limiting the formation of these aggregates. Twenty-four h following MPTP exposure, parkin protein expression was decreased in the ST and proteasome activity also decreased. Since there was no change in the amount of oxidized protein compared to the ME, this might indicate that more of the oxidized proteins has formed insoluble protein aggregates. On the other hand, parkin expression and 26S proteasome activity is increased in the ME. Maintained proteasome activity in the ME may allow increased degradation of oxidized proteins and prevent the formation of protein aggregates. To test this hypothesis, further experiments could be done to demonstrate the presence, or lack of, protein aggregates within the insoluble fraction of the ST and ME tissue lysates.

# **Concluding Remarks**

The motor symptoms of PD are due to the chronic and progressive degeneration of NSDA neurons. While NSDA neurons are affected in PD, hypothalamic TIDA neurons are not susceptible (Langston and Forno 1978). An understanding of the molecular mechanisms that afford protection to TIDA neurons may facilitate the development of neuroprotective strategies that could slow, or halt the progressive neurodegeneration of NSDA neurons in patients with PD. Exposure to MPTP closely parallels the pattern of molecular dysfunction that is observed in PD (Jackson-Lewis and Przedborski 2007; Langston et al. 1983) and recapitulates the specific neuronal population sensitivity that is seen in PD (Langston and Forno 1978; Benskey et al. 2013). In mice, both NSDA and TIDA neuronal populations initially respond to MPTP, however,

TIDA neurons recover from the initial neurotoxic insult, while NSDA neuronal toxicity persists (Benskey et al. 2012; Benskey et al. 2013).

The recovery of vesicular DA in TIDA neurons following MPTP exposure is dependent upon the increased expression of parkin (Benskey, Manfredsson, et al. 2015). While parkin is increased in TIDA neurons it is decreased in NSDA neurons following MPTP exposure (Benskey et al. 2012). Differential parkin expression following exposure to MPTP is of interest because mutations in the PARK2 gene cause autosomal recessive juvenile PD (Hattori et al. 1998; Kitada et al. 1998; Sinha et al. 2005) and oxidative modifications causing parkin loss of function in the ST are found in patients with sporadic PD (Chung et al. 2004).

Parkin is an E3 ubiquitin ligase that promotes the degradation of its specific protein substrates via the UPS (Shimura et al. 2000) as well as autophagy (Olzmann and Chin 2008; Narendra et al. 2008). In addition to its E3 ligase function, the N-terminal UBL domain of parkin interacts with proteasome regulatory subunits Rpn10, Rpn13, Rpt6, and  $\alpha$ 4 (Sakata et al. 2003; Aguileta et al. 2015; Tsai et al. 2003; Dachsel et al. 2005) and directly enhances proteasome activity in cell culture (Um et al. 2010; Hyun et al. 2002; Dachsel et al. 2005). Experiments presented in this dissertation demonstrate that regionally specific parkin expression results in regionally specific increases in 26S proteasome activity following neurotoxic insult. Specifically, these data demonstrate for the first time that maintenance of proteasome activity in the ME following oxidative insult is dependent upon parkin expression. Parkin deficient mice have decreased proteasome activity in the ST and the decrease in proteasome activity in the absence of parkin is associated with increased oxidative damage. Based on this protective ability, F-hParkin over-expression in NSDA neurons proved successful in restoring proteasome activity in the ST of parkin deficient mice and maintaining proteasome activity following neurotoxic at exposure.

The work presented in this dissertation suggest the utility of future research into whether  $Park2^{-/-}$  mice are more susceptible to  $\alpha$ -synuclein preformed fibril aggregation and if parkin over-expression in the SN can protect NSDA neurons from degeneration in this model of PD. Additionally, work presented here suggest that parkin over-expression results in increased proteasome activity and that proteasome activation may be an idea target for small molecule therapeutics aimed at preventing further degeneration of neurons.

REFERENCES

#### REFERENCES

- Aguileta, M. A., J. Korac, T. M. Durcan, J. F. Trempe, M. Haber, K. Gehring, S. Elsasser, O. Waidmann, E. A. Fon, and K. Husnjak. 2015. 'The E3 ubiquitin ligase parkin is recruited to the 26 S proteasome via the proteasomal ubiquitin receptor Rpn13', *J Biol Chem*, 290: 7492-505.
- Aiken, C. T., R. M. Kaake, X. Wang, and L. Huang. 2011. 'Oxidative stress-mediated regulation of proteasome complexes', *Mol Cell Proteomics*, 10: R110 006924.
- Alexeyev, M. F. 2009. 'Is there more to aging than mitochondrial DNA and reactive oxygen species?', *FEBS J*, 276: 5768-87.
- Aschauer, D. F., S. Kreuz, and S. Rumpel. 2013. 'Analysis of transduction efficiency, tropism and axonal transport of AAV serotypes 1, 2, 5, 6, 8 and 9 in the mouse brain', *PLoS One*, 8: e76310.
- Benskey, M., B. Behrouz, J. Sunryd, S. S. Pappas, S. H. Baek, M. Huebner, K. J. Lookingland, and J. L. Goudreau. 2012. 'Recovery of hypothalamic tuberoinfundibular dopamine neurons from acute toxicant exposure is dependent upon protein synthesis and associated with an increase in parkin and ubiquitin carboxy-terminal hydrolase-L1 expression', *Neurotoxicology*, 33: 321-31.
- Benskey, M. J., N. C. Kuhn, J. J. Galligan, J. Garcia, S. E. Boye, W. W. Hauswirth, C. Mueller, S. L. Boye, and F. P. Manfredsson. 2015. 'Targeted gene delivery to the enteric nervous system using AAV: a comparison across serotypes and capsid mutants', *Mol Ther*, 23: 488-500.
- Benskey, M. J., F. P. Manfredsson, K. J. Lookingland, and J. L. Goudreau. 2015. 'The role of parkin in the differential susceptibility of tuberoinfundibular and nigrostriatal dopamine neurons to acute toxicant exposure', *Neurotoxicology*, 46: 1-11.
- Benskey, M., K. Y. Lee, K. Parikh, K. J. Lookingland, and J. L. Goudreau. 2013. 'Sustained resistance to acute MPTP toxicity by hypothalamic dopamine neurons following chronic neurotoxicant exposure is associated with sustained up-regulation of parkin protein', *Neurotoxicology*, 37: 144-53.
- Borges, C. R., T. Geddes, J. T. Watson, and D. M. Kuhn. 2002. 'Dopamine biosynthesis is regulated by S-glutathionylation. Potential mechanism of tyrosine hydroxylast inhibition during oxidative stress', *J Biol Chem*, 277: 48295-302.
- Braak, H., E. Ghebremedhin, U. Rub, H. Bratzke, and K. Del Tredici. 2004. 'Stages in the development of Parkinson's disease-related pathology', *Cell Tissue Res*, 318: 121-34.

- Burchell, L., V. K. Chaugule, and H. Walden. 2012. 'Small, N-terminal tags activate Parkin E3 ubiquitin ligase activity by disrupting its autoinhibited conformation', *PLoS One*, 7: e34748.
- Carvalho, A. N., C. Marques, R. C. Guedes, M. Castro-Caldas, E. Rodrigues, J. van Horssen, and M. J. Gama. 2016. 'S-Glutathionylation of Keap1: a new role for glutathione Stransferase pi in neuronal protection', *FEBS Lett*, 590: 1455-66.
- Castro Mdel, R., E. Suarez, E. Kraiselburd, A. Isidro, J. Paz, L. Ferder, and S. Ayala-Torres. 2012. 'Aging increases mitochondrial DNA damage and oxidative stress in liver of rhesus monkeys', *Exp Gerontol*, 47: 29-37.
- Caulfield, T. R., F. C. Fiesel, and W. Springer. 2015. 'Activation of the E3 ubiquitin ligase Parkin', *Biochem Soc Trans*, 43: 269-74.
- Chan, P., L. E. DeLanney, I. Irwin, J. W. Langston, and D. Di Monte. 1991. 'Rapid ATP loss caused by 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine in mouse brain', *J Neurochem*, 57: 348-51.
- Chung, K. K., B. Thomas, X. Li, O. Pletnikova, J. C. Troncoso, L. Marsh, V. L. Dawson, and T. M. Dawson. 2004. 'S-nitrosylation of parkin regulates ubiquitination and compromises parkin's protective function', *Science*, 304: 1328-31.
- Congo Carbajosa, N. A., G. Corradi, M. A. Verrilli, M. J. Guil, M. S. Vatta, and M. M. Gironacci. 2015. 'Tyrosine hydroxylase is short-term regulated by the ubiquitin-proteasome system in PC12 cells and hypothalamic and brainstem neurons from spontaneously hypertensive rats: possible implications in hypertension', *PLoS One*, 10: e0116597.
- Cosi, C., and M. Marien. 1998. 'Decreases in mouse brain NAD+ and ATP induced by 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1, 2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine (MPTP): prevention by the poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase inhibitor, benzamide', *Brain Res*, 809: 58-67.
- Dachsel, J. C., C. B. Lucking, S. Deeg, E. Schultz, M. Lalowski, E. Casademunt, O. Corti, C. Hampe, N. Patenge, K. Vaupel, A. Yamamoto, M. Dichgans, A. Brice, E. E. Wanker, P. J. Kahle, and T. Gasser. 2005. 'Parkin interacts with the proteasome subunit alpha4', *FEBS Lett*, 579: 3913-9.
- de Lau, L. M., and M. M. Breteler. 2006. 'Epidemiology of Parkinson's disease', *Lancet Neurol*, 5: 525-35.
- Ding, W. X., H. M. Ni, W. Gao, T. Yoshimori, D. B. Stolz, D. Ron, and X. M. Yin. 2007. 'Linking of autophagy to ubiquitin-proteasome system is important for the regulation of endoplasmic reticulum stress and cell viability', *Am J Pathol*, 171: 513-24.

- Dove, K. K., and R. E. Klevit. 2013. 'Structural Biology: Parkin's Serpentine Shape Revealed in the Year of the Snake', *Curr Biol*, 23: R691-3.
- Durham, R. A., M. J. Eaton, K. E. Moore, and K. J. Lookingland. 1997. 'Effects of selective activation of dopamine D2 and D3 receptors on prolactin secretion and the activity of tuberoinfundibular dopamine neurons', *Eur J Pharmacol*, 335: 37-42.
- Enochs, W. S., T. Sarna, L. Zecca, P. A. Riley, and H. M. Swartz. 1994. 'The roles of neuromelanin, binding of metal ions, and oxidative cytotoxicity in the pathogenesis of Parkinson's disease: a hypothesis', *J Neural Transm Park Dis Dement Sect*, 7: 83-100.
- Exner, N., B. Treske, D. Paquet, K. Holmstrom, C. Schiesling, S. Gispert, I. Carballo-Carbajal, D. Berg, H. H. Hoepken, T. Gasser, R. Kruger, K. F. Winklhofer, F. Vogel, A. S. Reichert, G. Auburger, P. J. Kahle, B. Schmid, and C. Haass. 2007. 'Loss-of-function of human PINK1 results in mitochondrial pathology and can be rescued by parkin', *J Neurosci*, 27: 12413-8.
- Fujisawa, H., and S. Okuno. 2005. 'Regulatory mechanism of tyrosine hydroxylase activity', *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, 338: 271-6.
- Gaczynska, M., and P. A. Osmulski. 2011. 'Atomic force microscopy of proteasome assemblies', *Methods Mol Biol*, 736: 117-32.
- Geisler, S., K. M. Holmstrom, A. Treis, D. Skujat, S. S. Weber, F. C. Fiesel, P. J. Kahle, and W. Springer. 2010. 'The PINK1/Parkin-mediated mitophagy is compromised by PD-associated mutations', *Autophagy*, 6: 871-8.
- Goldberg, M. S., S. M. Fleming, J. J. Palacino, C. Cepeda, H. A. Lam, A. Bhatnagar, E. G. Meloni, N. Wu, L. C. Ackerson, G. J. Klapstein, M. Gajendiran, B. L. Roth, M. F. Chesselet, N. T. Maidment, M. S. Levine, and J. Shen. 2003. 'Parkin-deficient mice exhibit nigrostriatal deficits but not loss of dopaminergic neurons', *J Biol Chem*, 278: 43628-35.
- Hattori, N., H. Matsumine, S. Asakawa, T. Kitada, H. Yoshino, B. Elibol, A. J. Brookes, Y. Yamamura, T. Kobayashi, M. Wang, A. Yoritaka, S. Minoshima, N. Shimizu, and Y. Mizuno. 1998. 'Point mutations (Thr240Arg and Gln311Stop) [correction of Thr240Arg and Ala311Stop] in the Parkin gene', *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, 249: 754-8.
- Hawong, Hae-Young. 2014. 'Parkin Mediated Mitochondrial Quality Control in Central Dopamine Neurons', Michigan State University.
- Huang, H., X. Zhang, S. Li, N. Liu, W. Lian, E. McDowell, P. Zhou, C. Zhao, H. Guo, C. Zhang, C. Yang, G. Wen, X. Dong, L. Lu, N. Ma, W. Dong, Q. P. Dou, X. Wang, and J. Liu. 2010. 'Physiological levels of ATP negatively regulate proteasome function', *Cell Res*, 20: 1372-85.

- Hyun, D. H., M. Lee, N. Hattori, S. Kubo, Y. Mizuno, B. Halliwell, and P. Jenner. 2002. 'Effect of wild-type or mutant Parkin on oxidative damage, nitric oxide, antioxidant defenses, and the proteasome', *J Biol Chem*, 277: 28572-7.
- Imai, Y., M. Soda, H. Inoue, N. Hattori, Y. Mizuno, and R. Takahashi. 2001. 'An unfolded putative transmembrane polypeptide, which can lead to endoplasmic reticulum stress, is a substrate of Parkin', *Cell*, 105: 891-902.
- Imai, Y., M. Soda, and R. Takahashi. 2000. 'Parkin suppresses unfolded protein stress-induced cell death through its E3 ubiquitin-protein ligase activity', *J Biol Chem*, 275: 35661-4.
- Irwin, I., L. E. DeLanney, and J. W. Langston. 1993. 'MPTP and aging. Studies in the C57BL/6 mouse', *Adv Neurol*, 60: 197-206.
- Jackson-Lewis, V., and S. Przedborski. 2007. 'Protocol for the MPTP mouse model of Parkinson's disease', *Nat Protoc*, 2: 141-51.
- Jiang, H., Q. Jiang, and J. Feng. 2004. 'Parkin increases dopamine uptake by enhancing the cell surface expression of dopamine transporter', *J Biol Chem*, 279: 54380-6.
- Jiang, H., Y. Ren, J. Zhao, and J. Feng. 2004. 'Parkin protects human dopaminergic neuroblastoma cells against dopamine-induced apoptosis', *Hum Mol Genet*, 13: 1745-54.
- Kitada, T., S. Asakawa, N. Hattori, H. Matsumine, Y. Yamamura, S. Minoshima, M. Yokochi, Y. Mizuno, and N. Shimizu. 1998. 'Mutations in the parkin gene cause autosomal recessive juvenile parkinsonism', *Nature*, 392: 605-8.
- Langston, J. W., P. Ballard, J. W. Tetrud, and I. Irwin. 1983. 'Chronic Parkinsonism in humans due to a product of meperidine-analog synthesis', *Science*, 219: 979-80.
- Langston, J. W., and L. S. Forno. 1978. 'The hypothalamus in Parkinson disease', *Ann Neurol*, 3: 129-33.
- LaVoie, M. J., B. L. Ostaszewski, A. Weihofen, M. G. Schlossmacher, and D. J. Selkoe. 2005. 'Dopamine covalently modifies and functionally inactivates parkin', *Nat Med*, 11: 1214-21.
- Levitt, M., S. Spector, A. Sjoerdsma, and S. Udenfriend. 1965. 'Elucidation of the Rate-Limiting Step in Norepinephrine Biosynthesis in the Perfused Guinea-Pig Heart', *J Pharmacol Exp Ther*, 148: 1-8.
- Lim, S. T., M. Airavaara, and B. K. Harvey. 2010. 'Viral vectors for neurotrophic factor delivery: a gene therapy approach for neurodegenerative diseases of the CNS', *Pharmacol Res*, 61: 14-26.

- Lookingland, K. J., and K.E. Moore. 2005. 'Functional neuroanatomy of hypothalamic dopaminergic neuroendocrine systems.' in S.B. Dunnett, M. Bentivoglio, M. Bjorklund and T Hokfelt (eds.), *Handbook of Chemical Neuroanatomy* (Elsevier: Amsterdam).
- Lotharius, J., and K. L. O'Malley. 2000. 'The parkinsonism-inducing drug 1-methyl-4phenylpyridinium triggers intracellular dopamine oxidation. A novel mechanism of toxicity', *J Biol Chem*, 275: 38581-8.
- Lucking, C. B., A. Durr, V. Bonifati, J. Vaughan, G. De Michele, T. Gasser, B. S. Harhangi, G. Meco, P. Denefle, N. W. Wood, Y. Agid, A. Brice, Group French Parkinson's Disease Genetics Study, and Disease European Consortium on Genetic Susceptibility in Parkinson's. 2000. 'Association between early-onset Parkinson's disease and mutations in the parkin gene', N Engl J Med, 342: 1560-7.
- Matsuda, W., T. Furuta, K. C. Nakamura, H. Hioki, F. Fujiyama, R. Arai, and T. Kaneko. 2009. 'Single nigrostriatal dopaminergic neurons form widely spread and highly dense axonal arborizations in the neostriatum', *J Neurosci*, 29: 444-53.
- Moore, D. J. 2006. 'Parkin: a multifaceted ubiquitin ligase', Biochem Soc Trans, 34: 749-53.
- Nakashima, A., Y. S. Kaneko, Y. Kodani, K. Mori, H. Nagasaki, T. Nagatsu, and A. Ota. 2013. 'Intracellular stability of tyrosine hydroxylase: phosphorylation and proteasomal digestion of the enzyme', *Adv Pharmacol*, 68: 3-11.
- Narendra, D., A. Tanaka, D. F. Suen, and R. J. Youle. 2008. 'Parkin is recruited selectively to impaired mitochondria and promotes their autophagy', *J Cell Biol*, 183: 795-803.
- Olzmann, J. A., and L. S. Chin. 2008. 'Parkin-mediated K63-linked polyubiquitination: a signal for targeting misfolded proteins to the aggresome-autophagy pathway', *Autophagy*, 4: 85-7.
- Osmulski, P. A., M. Hochstrasser, and M. Gaczynska. 2009. 'A tetrahedral transition state at the active sites of the 20S proteasome is coupled to opening of the alpha-ring channel', *Structure*, 17: 1137-47.
- Pandey, U. B., Y. Batlevi, E. H. Baehrecke, and J. P. Taylor. 2007. 'HDAC6 at the intersection of autophagy, the ubiquitin-proteasome system and neurodegeneration', *Autophagy*, 3: 643-5.
- Parton, R. G., K. Simons, and C. G. Dotti. 1992. 'Axonal and dendritic endocytic pathways in cultured neurons', *J Cell Biol*, 119: 123-37.
- Paterna, J. C., A. Leng, E. Weber, J. Feldon, and H. Bueler. 2007. 'DJ-1 and Parkin modulate dopamine-dependent behavior and inhibit MPTP-induced nigral dopamine neuron loss in mice', *Mol Ther*, 15: 698-704.

- Patterson, J. R., E. J. Kim, J. L. Goudreau, and K. J. Lookingland. 2016. 'FosB and DeltaFosB expression in brain regions containing differentially susceptible dopamine neurons following acute neurotoxicant exposure', *Brain Res*, 1649: 53-66.
- Perez, F. A., and R. D. Palmiter. 2005. 'Parkin-deficient mice are not a robust model of parkinsonism', *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 102: 2174-9.
- Periquet, M., O. Corti, S. Jacquier, and A. Brice. 2005. 'Proteomic analysis of parkin knockout mice: alterations in energy metabolism, protein handling and synaptic function', J Neurochem, 95: 1259-76.
- Petrucelli, L., C. O'Farrell, P. J. Lockhart, M. Baptista, K. Kehoe, L. Vink, P. Choi, B. Wolozin, M. Farrer, J. Hardy, and M. R. Cookson. 2002. 'Parkin protects against the toxicity associated with mutant alpha-synuclein: proteasome dysfunction selectively affects catecholaminergic neurons', *Neuron*, 36: 1007-19.
- Pickrell, A. M., and R. J. Youle. 2015. 'The roles of PINK1, parkin, and mitochondrial fidelity in Parkinson's disease', *Neuron*, 85: 257-73.
- Pringsheim, T., N. Jette, A. Frolkis, and T. D. Steeves. 2014. 'The prevalence of Parkinson's disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis', *Mov Disord*, 29: 1583-90.
- Przedborski, S., V. Jackson-Lewis, R. Djaldetti, G. Liberatore, M. Vila, S. Vukosavic, and G. Almer. 2000. 'The parkinsonian toxin MPTP: action and mechanism', *Restor Neurol Neurosci*, 16: 135-42.
- Ross, C. A., and M. A. Poirier. 2004. 'Protein aggregation and neurodegenerative disease', *Nat Med*, 10 Suppl: S10-7.
- Rzymski, T., M. Milani, D. C. Singleton, and A. L. Harris. 2009. 'Role of ATF4 in regulation of autophagy and resistance to drugs and hypoxia', *Cell Cycle*, 8: 3838-47.
- Sakata, E., Y. Yamaguchi, E. Kurimoto, J. Kikuchi, S. Yokoyama, S. Yamada, H. Kawahara, H. Yokosawa, N. Hattori, Y. Mizuno, K. Tanaka, and K. Kato. 2003. 'Parkin binds the Rpn10 subunit of 26S proteasomes through its ubiquitin-like domain', *EMBO Rep*, 4: 301-6.
- Shevtsova, Z., J. M. Malik, U. Michel, U. Scholl, M. Bahr, and S. Kugler. 2006. 'Evaluation of epitope tags for protein detection after in vivo CNS gene transfer', *Eur J Neurosci*, 23: 1961-9.
- Shimura, H., N. Hattori, Si Kubo, Y. Mizuno, S. Asakawa, S. Minoshima, N. Shimizu, K. Iwai, T. Chiba, K. Tanaka, and T. Suzuki. 2000. 'Familial Parkinson disease gene product, parkin, is a ubiquitin-protein ligase', *Nat Genet*, 25: 302-5.
- Sinha, R., B. Racette, J. S. Perlmutter, and A. Parsian. 2005. 'Prevalence of parkin gene mutations and variations in idiopathic Parkinson's disease', *Parkinsonism Relat Disord*, 11: 341-7.
- Springer, W., and P. J. Kahle. 2011. 'Regulation of PINK1-Parkin-mediated mitophagy', *Autophagy*, 7: 266-78.
- Sulzer, D. 2007. 'Multiple hit hypotheses for dopamine neuron loss in Parkinson's disease', *Trends Neurosci*, 30: 244-50.
- Tai, H. C., and E. M. Schuman. 2008. 'Ubiquitin, the proteasome and protein degradation in neuronal function and dysfunction', *Nat Rev Neurosci*, 9: 826-38.
- Tanaka, K., T. Suzuki, T. Chiba, H. Shimura, N. Hattori, and Y. Mizuno. 2001. 'Parkin is linked to the ubiquitin pathway', *J Mol Med (Berl)*, 79: 482-94.
- Tsai, Y. C., P. S. Fishman, N. V. Thakor, and G. A. Oyler. 2003. 'Parkin facilitates the elimination of expanded polyglutamine proteins and leads to preservation of proteasome function', *J Biol Chem*, 278: 22044-55.
- Um, J. W., E. Im, H. J. Lee, B. Min, L. Yoo, J. Yoo, H. Lubbert, C. Stichel-Gunkel, H. S. Cho, J. B. Yoon, and K. C. Chung. 2010. 'Parkin directly modulates 26S proteasome activity', J *Neurosci*, 30: 11805-14.
- Voets, A. M., M. Huigsloot, P. J. Lindsey, A. M. Leenders, W. J. Koopman, P. H. Willems, R. J. Rodenburg, J. A. Smeitink, and H. J. Smeets. 2012. 'Transcriptional changes in OXPHOS complex I deficiency are related to anti-oxidant pathways and could explain the disturbed calcium homeostasis', *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 1822: 1161-8.
- Zhang, D. D. 2006. 'Mechanistic studies of the Nrf2-Keap1 signaling pathway', *Drug Metab Rev*, 38: 769-89.

APPENDICES

# APPENDIX A DIFFERENCES IN GAIT BETWEEN C57BL/6J AND PARK2<sup>-/-</sup> MICE AND DEPENDENCE ON PARKIN

### Introduction

Mutations in the Parkin gene, Park2, cause autosomal recessive juvenile onset parkinsonism. In 2004 Perez and co-workers (Perez & Palmiter, 2005) examined if mutations in the mouse parkin gene also caused a parkinsonian phenotype in mice. An extensive behavioral screen was used to evaluate neurological function, motor ability, emotionality, learning and memory in aged Parkin deficient mice. While these mice exhibit nigrostriatal deficits including increased extracellular DA, and a reduction in synaptic excitability, there is no loss of dopaminergic nigral neurons (M. S. Goldberg et al., 2003). While Goldberg et al described behavioral impairments in measuring slips per step, rotorod behavior, and somatosensory adhesive removal, Perez et al (2004) indicated that the behavioral profile of the parkin deficient mice was similar to that of control mice and they argue that parkin deficient mice are not a robust model of parkinsonism. In PD patients, observations of gait dynamics can be useful in characterizing motor changes. These patients tend to have increased variability in stride compared to healthy control subjects (Blin, Ferrandez, & Serratrice, 1990; Hausdorff, Cudkowicz, Firtion, Wei, & Goldberger, 1998; Hausdorff et al., 2003; Schaafsma et al., 2003; Wu & Krishnan, 2010). While gait dynamics have been reported in mice exposed to acute doses of MPTP (Amende et al., 2005; N. R. Goldberg, Hampton, McCue, Kale, & Meshul, 2011; Rommelfanger et al., 2007), observations in temporal and spatial gait indices have not been reported for parkin deficient mice. The goal of the current study is to investigate the effects of parkin deficiency and the dependence on parkin on gait dynamics using the DigiGait treadmill and analysis software.

### Methods

Experiment 1: Do Park2-/- mice have increased variability in gait compared to C57BL/6J mice Adult (20 weeks; n = 10 per group) male C57BL/6J mice (Jackson Labs, Bar Harbor, ME) and Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice (Park2<sup>tm1Shn</sup>) had continuous access to standard lab chow and water and were maintained on a 12:12-hr light : dark cycle. Gait dynamics were assessed using the DigiGait treadmill and software (Mouse Specifics). Mice were acclimated to the treadmill for 10 min prior to gait analysis. Ventral plane videography captured the gait of each mouse through a transparent treadmill belt over a time period of about 6 s (Amende et al., 2005; Kale, Amende, Meyer, Crabbe, & Hampton, 2004). Digital images of the paws of each mouse were taken at 150 frames/sec as mice ran at a speed of 25 cm/sec with no incline or decline. Each mouse was tested individually on the treadmill, in an enclosed acrylic compartment (5 cm in width, 25 cm in length). Temporal and spatial measurements were indicated by the area of the paw relative to the treadmill belt at each frame. The following gait parameters were measured: swing time, % swing stride, brake time, % brake stride, propel time, % propel stride, stance, % stance stride, stride time, % brake stance, % propel stance, stance/swing, stride length, stride frequency, paw angle, absolute paw angle, paw angle variability, stance width, step angle, stride length variability, step angle variability, stride length CV, stance width CV, step angle CV, swing duration CV, paw area at peak stance, paw area variability at peak stance, hind limb shared stance time, % shared stance, stance factor, gait symmetry, max dA/dT, min dA/dT, Tau propulsion, overlap distance, paw placement positioning, ataxia coefficient, midline distance, axis distance, and paw drag.

Experiment 2: Is parkin over-expression sufficient to restore gait dynamics in Park2-/- mice? Surgery

Twenty-five male Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice, age 10-20 weeks were used in this experiment (**Table 1**). Fifteen Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice (Group 1, Park2<sup>tm1Shn</sup> from our in house breeding colony) received a right SN injection of rAAV2/5-F-Parkin (3 X 10<sup>12</sup> vg/mL) and a left SN injection of of 3.4 X 10<sup>12</sup> vg/mL rAAV2/5 GFP. Analgesic (ketoprofen, 5 mg/kg, s.c.) was administered prior to surgery. The mice were anesthetized using 120 mg/kg ketamine and 18 mg/kg xylazine and the surgical site was shaved. The animals were placed in a stereotaxic frame and the surgical site was scrubbed three times with alcohol and then betadine prior to making the incision. A single incision was made along the rostrocaudal axis of the skull and the tissue overlying the skull was retracted to expose the skull surface. A Hamilton syringe with a 30 gauge blunt tip needle was fitted with parafilm, and then a siliconized pulled glass micropipette with an opening of 60-80 µm was placed over the parafilm to form a seal. Unilateral SN injections of 500 nL of rAAV2/5-F-parkin or rAAV2/5 GFP was performed using the following coordinates from Bregma: R/C - 3.0, L/M -1.6 and D/V -4.6 from the skull. The volume was injected at a rate of 125 nL/min using an automated micropump. The needle was left in place for an additional 5 min to prevent reflux and the needle was slowly withdrawn.

The hole in the skull was filled with sterile bone wax and the skin was replaced and closed using surgical staples. For identification, ears will be marked using an ear punch. Mice will be kept on a heating pad until recovery from anesthesia and then returned to their home cages. Mice were given ketoprofen, for pain, 24 h following surgery and checked daily for signs of infection or distress. Staples were removed 10-14 d following surgery. Animals were housed for 4 weeks prior to the experiment.

239

### Gait Analysis

Adult (20 weeks; n = 10 per group) male C57BL/6J mice (Group 2, Jackson Labs, Bar Harbor, ME) and Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice (Group 3, Park2<sup>tm1Shn</sup> from our in house breeding colony) had continuous access to standard lab chow and water and were maintained on a 12:12-hr light : dark cycle. Four weeks after surgery, gait dynamics of the mice were assessed using the DigiGait treadmill and software (Mouse Specifics) as described above.

### **Statistics**

Each parameter for variability in gait was analyzed by ANOVA, using one-way comparisons between C57BL/6J and Park2<sup>-/-</sup> groups for gait dynamics. For gait dynamics, left fore, right fore, left hind and right hind paws were analyzed individually unless otherwise specified. Mice that did not run were excluded from the study.

Group	Ν	Strain	Description
1	15	Park2 <sup>-/-</sup>	3.4 X 10 <sup>12</sup> vg/mL rAAV2/5-F-Parkin, ipsilateral
			3.4 X 10 <sup>12</sup> vg/mL rAAV2/5-GFP, contralateral
2	10	C57BL/6J	Naive
3	10	Park2 <sup>-/-</sup>	Naive

Table A1 Treatment groups for F-hParkin over-expression and gait analysis.

### **Results and Discussion**

Characterization of temporal and spatial gait indices have not been reported for Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice. The goal of the current study was to investigate the effects of parkin deficiency on gait dynamics. The Digigate treadmill and software allows the analysis of each digital paw print and provides a dynamic gait signal; giving the history of paw placement through the sequence of strides that are recorded. The signals are comprised of a stride interval, which includes the stance duration (when the paw is in contact with the walking surface), plus the swing duration (when the paw is not in contact with the surface) (**Figure AA-1**).

Analysis of gaits and comparison of the Parkin deficient mice with the WT control mice indicate that there is no difference in primary gait measures including the durations of the stride, swing, stance, propulsion, brake or paw angle. In addition, there is no difference in the mean stride length, or stride frequency. While these parameters were not changed in the parkin deficient mice, the step-to-step placement of the paws was irregular. Increased variability in paw angle, stride length, paw area at peak stance, and swing duration were all significantly increased in the hind limbs of Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice compared to the C57BL/6J mice (**Figure AA- 2**). One measurement of variability, the ataxia coefficient, is a cumulative measure of step-to-step variability that is increased in human PD patients. This coefficient was significantly increased in the hind paws of Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice compared to WT mice. These differences are of interest because PD patients tend to have increased variability in their step placement compared to healthy control subjects (Blin et al., 1990; Hausdorff et al., 1998; Hausdorff et al., 2003; Schaafsma et al., 2003; Wu & Krishnan, 2010). In mice, measures of step to step variability are also increased in a toxin-induced mouse models of PD (Amende et al., 2005).

242



**Figure A1 The digigait signals**. The signals are comprised of the stride interval which includes the stance duration (when the paw is in contact with the surface), plus the swing duration (when the paw is not in contact with the surface). The stance phase is comprised of braking and propulsion phases. (Image taken from Mouse Specifics).



Figure A2 Effect of parkin deficiency on gait variability. Ventral plane videography captured the gait of WT C57BL/6J and Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice (N=10 per group) while walking on a treadmill at 25 cm/s. Bars represent the mean. Error bars represent +1 SEM. \* indicates significant difference from the C57BL/6J control mice (p < 0.05, n=10).

Under normal conditions, mice will place their hindpaw so that they overlap the previous forepaw positions. Paw overlap distance is the distance in which the hindpaw is sustained within the area of forepaw across successive steps. Overlap distance was significantly increased in the right fore and hindlimb of the Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice (**Figure AA-3**). Weaker hindlimbs can result in altered dynamics of paw rise and placement during the entire stance. The fact that this change was unilateral suggests that there have been asymmetric changes in the brain. Paw placement positioning (PPP) is a similar measurement that indicates changes in balance. This metric measures the extent of ipsilateral paw overlap while the mouse is at peak stance. PPP was increased on the left side of the Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice. A larger contact area of hindpaw with the area of forepaw suggests a potential shift in the center of gravity. Taken together the data might suggest that weakness in the right hindlimb is compensated for by shifting the center of gravity to the left side.

As mice that are deficient in parkin have increased step-to-step variability, the hypothesis that changes in gait dynamics are parkin dependent was tested. Parkin deficient mice were unilaterally injected with rAAV2/5-F-Parkin in the SN and four weeks later were subjected to gait analysis and compared to naïve C57BL/6J and Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice. **Figure AA-4** demonstrates that unilateral over-expression of F-hParkin in the SN reduces the variability on the opposing side of the body.

### Conclusion

In these studies, gait dynamics of C57BL/6J and Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice were compared. It was found that Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice have increased step to step variability and unilateral weekness that may result in a shift in the center of gravity. Changes in gait may not be directly related to deficiency of parkin

245

protein. In the next study, mice were unilaterally injected with rAAV2/5-F-Parkin and gait was analyzed to determine if over-expression of parkin in the SN can rescue Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice from this phenotype. Unilateral F-hParkin over-expression in the SN is able to rescue the normal gait phenotype on the opposing side of the injection. Further studies should be completed with bilateral injections of rAAV2/5 F-hParkin compared to the vector control. In addition, it should be determined if parkin maintains normal gait through a DA dependent mechanism.



**Figure A3 Unilateral changes in Paw overlap distance and paw placement positioning. A.** Under normal conditions, mice tend to place their hindpaw so that they overlap the previous forepaw positions at peak stance. Picture from *Nature Reviews Neuroscience* 10, 519-529 (July 2009). B. Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice have a right sided increase in overlap distance. **B**. Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice have a Left sided increase in PPP.



**Figure A4 Effect of F-hParkin over-expression on gait variability.**  $Park2^{-/-}$  mice (n=10) received unilateral 500 nL stereotaxic injections of rAAV-F-Parkin (3.4 X 10<sup>12</sup>) into the right, SN (+). The right, contralateral SN was injected with 3.4 X 10<sup>12</sup> rAAV-GFP and was used as an internal control. Four weeks following injection mice were subjected to Ventral plane videography on a treadmill running at 25 cm/s to capture the gait of each mouse. Gait was compared to naïve WT C57BL/6J and Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice (n=8). The columns represent mean gait index measurement+1 SEM. \*indicates that gait index is significantly different (p < 0.05) from the GFP injected side.

## APPENDIX B TEMPORAL CHANGES IN 26S AND 20S PROTEASOME ACTIVITY IN STRIATAL SYNAPTOSOMES FOLLOWING AN ACUTE DOSE OF MPTP

### Introduction

The neurotoxicant MPTP produces oxidative stress in DA neurons and can replicate the pattern of DA neuronal survival that is seen in PD (Behrouz, Drolet, Sayed, Lookingland, & Goudreau, 2007; M. Benskey et al., 2012). TIDA neurons are dependent upon increased parkin expression for their recovery (M. J. Benskey, Manfredsson, Lookingland, & Goudreau, 2015). To determine the timing in which changes in proteasome activity occurred, studies were undertaken to characterize the temporal effects of MPTP in C57BL/6J and Park2<sup>-/-</sup>. For these studies, groups of C57BL/6J and Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice were treated with MPTP for various amounts of time and changes in neurochemistry, TH, and proteasome activity were measured. In some cases, measurements were made in more than one study and the times measured were slightly different. Due to the large degree of freedom in these studies the groups were underpowered and the data was difficult to validate statistically. Because of this and the incomplete nature of these studies, the results have been placed in this appendix for future reference.

### **Results and Discussion**

### Temporal Changes in Neurochemistry

MPTP exposure results in a loss of NSDA axon terminal DA stores, a decrease in DA metabolism and an increase in DA turnover which is due to increased activity of the remaining NSDA neurons (Benskey et al., 2012). To determine the response to MPTP over time, samples collected from the ST of saline and MPTP treated animals were used to compare neurochemical



**Figure B1 Temporal effect of MPTP on ST neurochemistry.** C57BL/6J and Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice were treated with MPTP (20 mg/kg; sc) for the indicated time. The mice were decapitated and the striatum was analyzed for DA, DOPAC, DOPAL, DOPET and HVA content (n=10). Bars represent the mean +SEM. \* Indicates statistically significant (p < .05) from the respective vehicle control.

profiles of C57BL/6J and Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice (**Figure B1**). Upon treatment with MPTP, C57BL/6J and Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice behave differently neurochemically. First, depletion in DA occurs differently between the two strains. DA is depleted early in the C57BL/6J mice (about a 50% reduction compared to the saline control). Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice maintain the basal level of DA until 8 h following MPTP exposure. This may be because Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice have increased and more active TH (**Figure B2**, **Figure 4-7**). By 8 h (in both the C57BL/6J and Park2<sup>-/-</sup> animals) DA was decreased to about 25% of the respective controls.

In C57BL/6J mice, as DA is depleted, the concentration of DOPAC is also reduced. Following MPTP exposure, DOPAC levels were decreased by about 50% in the C57BL/6J animals by 8 h and remained decreased for the remainder of the experiment (**Figure B1**). However, there was no statistically significant change in the amount of DOPAC in the Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice. Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice have increased extracellular DA compared to C57BL/6J mice (M. S. Goldberg et al., 2003). Interestingly, the DOPAC to DA ratio, a measure of cytosolic DA turnover was increased early in the C57BL/6J mice and in both the C57BL/6J and Park2<sup>-/-</sup> animals, the DOPAC to DA ratio was increased at 8, 12, and 24 h following MPTP.

Cytosolic DA is converted by monoamine oxidase (MAO) to its toxic metabolite, DOPAL, which is further oxidized to DOPAC via aldehyde dehydrogenase (ALDH) or to DOPET via aldehyde reductase. DOPAL is significantly more toxic to DA neurons than DA. As a result of oxidative stress, major lipid peroxidation products (4-hydroxynonenal, malondialdehyde) can competivitly inhibit ALDH activity leading to toxic levels of DOPAL (Yinsmaa et al, 2009). Therefore, the decrease in the amount of DOPAC may reflect changes in the activity of ALDH due to competitive inhibition with other aldhehydes produced during oxidative stress. DOPAL peaks were very small and thus the measurements were highly variable, with many samples having undetectable amounts of DOPAL. Because of this high degree of variability, no statistically significant changes in DOPAL were detected in this experiment. Although the changes in DOPAL appear to be at the limit of detection for our HPLC. DOPET was also highly variable. However, the amount of DOPET is increased by 12 h in the Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice. This suggests that at least some of the DOPAL was shunted to the alternative AR pathway late after MPTP exposure.

### Temporal Changes in TH

Based on the changes in DA seen early following MPTP exposure, the amount of TH in the ST of C56BL/6J and Park2<sup>-/-</sup> was measured (**Figure B2**). The amount of TH was higher in the ST of Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice compared to C57BL/6J, and while the C57BL/6J mice sustain total TH for 8 h, the Park2<sup>-/-</sup> demonstrate decreases in TH after only 2 h. By 24 h, TH in the ST of both the C57BL/6J and Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice was decreased and did not appear to be different from each other.

### Temporal Changes in Proteasome Activity

Proteasome activity was measured in the ST of C57BL/6J and Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice that were treated with either vehicle or 20 mg/kg MPTP . In the C57BL/6J mice, proteasome activity initially rose at 2 h following MPTP exposure and then declined over time. On the other hand, proteasome activity did not rise until 4 h in the Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice (**Figure B3-A**). In a second experiment, proteasome activity in C57BL/6J mice increased by 4 h and then declined while in the Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice, proteasome activity increased by 8 h (**Figure B3-B**). Despite the differences in



**Figure B2 Effect of parkin deficiency on the amount of TH.** C57BL/6J and Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice were treated with MPTP (20 mg/kg; sc) for the indicated time. The mice were decapitated and striatal synaptosomes were prepared and subjected to denaturing electrophoresis and Western blot with an antibody directed toward TH and Pser40-TH. Bars represent the mean +SEM. \* Indicates statistically significant (p < .05) from the respective vehicle control.



**Figure B3 Temporal effect of MPTP on CT-L proteasome activity in the ST.** C57BL/6J and Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice were treated with MPTP (20 mg/kg; sc) for the indicated time. The mice were the ST was collected and proteasome activity was measured using the CT-L substrate Suc-LLVY-AMC and FU/sec/ug represents the linear portion of the degradation curve. **A**, Experiment 1 with C57BL/6J and Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice **B**, Experiment 2 with C57BL/6J mice **C**, Experiment 3 with Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice. Bars represent the mean +SEM. \* Indicates statistically significant from the respective vehicle control (p < .05, n=10 per group).









Figure B4 Temporal effects of MPTP on the amount of 20S and 26S proteasome in the ST. A, C57BL/6J and B, Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice were treated with MPTP and 4, 6, 8, 12, and 24 h later the ST was collected and analyzed for 26S (right graph, presence of RPN10) and 20S (left graph, presence of b5 with no RPN10). By native gel electrophoresis followed by Western blot. The bars represent the mean fold change of 20S and 26S proteasome complexes. Error bars represent +1 SEM. Open symbols indicate time points that were significantly different from the vehicle control. (p < 0.05, n=10).

B

timing, both experiments indicate that there is a delay in the increase in 26S activity in the ST of Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice following MPTP exposure.

Native gel electrophoresis of ST lysates allowed the determination of the relative amount of assembled 26S and 20S proteasome complex. **Figure B4** demonstrates that the amount of 26S proteasome complex in the ST of C57BL/6J mice increases early after MPTP exposure and then decreases over time while the 20S complex steadily increases over time. In the ST of Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice, 26S complex is decreased early after MPTP exposure and then increases by 12 h. 20S complex in Park2<sup>-/-</sup> mice does not significantly change over the time of the experiment. This suggests that parkin is necessary for the initial rise in 26S proteasome complex. Data in chapter 5 (**Figure 5-8**) demonstrate that increased F-hParkin expression increases the assembly of the 26S proteasome and is likely responsible for the early increase in proteasome activity following MPTP exposure.

REFERENCES

### REFERENCES

- Amende, I., Kale, A., McCue, S., Glazier, S., Morgan, J. P., & Hampton, T. G. (2005). Gait dynamics in mouse models of Parkinson's disease and Huntington's disease. *J Neuroeng Rehabil*, 2, 20. doi:10.1186/1743-0003-2-20
- Behrouz, B., Drolet, R. E., Sayed, Z. A., Lookingland, K. J., & Goudreau, J. L. (2007). Unique responses to mitochondrial complex I inhibition in tuberoinfundibular dopamine neurons may impart resistance to toxic insult. *Neuroscience*, 147(3), 592-598. doi:10.1016/j.neuroscience.2007.05.007
- Benskey, M., Behrouz, B., Sunryd, J., Pappas, S. S., Baek, S. H., Huebner, M., ... Goudreau, J. L. (2012). Recovery of hypothalamic tuberoinfundibular dopamine neurons from acute toxicant exposure is dependent upon protein synthesis and associated with an increase in parkin and ubiquitin carboxy-terminal hydrolase-L1 expression. *Neurotoxicology*, 33(3), 321-331. doi:10.1016/j.neuro.2012.02.001
- Benskey, M. J., Manfredsson, F. P., Lookingland, K. J., & Goudreau, J. L. (2015). The role of parkin in the differential susceptibility of tuberoinfundibular and nigrostriatal dopamine neurons to acute toxicant exposure. *Neurotoxicology*, 46, 1-11. doi:10.1016/j.neuro.2014.11.004
- Blin, O., Ferrandez, A. M., & Serratrice, G. (1990). Quantitative analysis of gait in Parkinson patients: increased variability of stride length. *J Neurol Sci*, 98(1), 91-97.
- Goldberg, M. S., Fleming, S. M., Palacino, J. J., Cepeda, C., Lam, H. A., Bhatnagar, A., . . . Shen, J. (2003). Parkin-deficient mice exhibit nigrostriatal deficits but not loss of dopaminergic neurons. *J Biol Chem*, 278(44), 43628-43635. doi:10.1074/jbc.M308947200
- Goldberg, N. R., Hampton, T., McCue, S., Kale, A., & Meshul, C. K. (2011). Profiling changes in gait dynamics resulting from progressive 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6tetrahydropyridine-induced nigrostriatal lesioning. *J Neurosci Res*, 89(10), 1698-1706. doi:10.1002/jnr.22699
- Hausdorff, J. M., Cudkowicz, M. E., Firtion, R., Wei, J. Y., & Goldberger, A. L. (1998). Gait variability and basal ganglia disorders: stride-to-stride variations of gait cycle timing in Parkinson's disease and Huntington's disease. *Mov Disord*, 13(3), 428-437. doi:10.1002/mds.870130310
- Hausdorff, J. M., Schaafsma, J. D., Balash, Y., Bartels, A. L., Gurevich, T., & Giladi, N. (2003). Impaired regulation of stride variability in Parkinson's disease subjects with freezing of gait. *Exp Brain Res*, 149(2), 187-194. doi:10.1007/s00221-002-1354-8

- Kale, A., Amende, I., Meyer, G. P., Crabbe, J. C., & Hampton, T. G. (2004). Ethanol's effects on gait dynamics in mice investigated by ventral plane videography. *Alcohol Clin Exp Res*, 28(12), 1839-1848.
- Perez, F. A., & Palmiter, R. D. (2005). Parkin-deficient mice are not a robust model of parkinsonism. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 102(6), 2174-2179. doi:10.1073/pnas.0409598102
- Rommelfanger, K. S., Edwards, G. L., Freeman, K. G., Liles, L. C., Miller, G. W., & Weinshenker, D. (2007). Norepinephrine loss produces more profound motor deficits than MPTP treatment in mice. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 104(34), 13804-13809. doi:10.1073/pnas.0702753104
- Schaafsma, J. D., Giladi, N., Balash, Y., Bartels, A. L., Gurevich, T., & Hausdorff, J. M. (2003). Gait dynamics in Parkinson's disease: relationship to Parkinsonian features, falls and response to levodopa. *J Neurol Sci*, 212(1-2), 47-53.
- Wu, Y., & Krishnan, S. (2010). Statistical analysis of gait rhythm in patients with Parkinson's disease. *IEEE Trans Neural Syst Rehabil Eng*, 18(2), 150-158. doi:10.1109/TNSRE.2009.2033062